# On conjectures of Sharifi

Fukaya Takako\*and Kazuya Kato<sup>†</sup>

August 15, 2012

#### Abstract

R. Sharifi formulated remarkable conjectures which relate arithmetic of cyclotomic fields to modular curves. We give partial solutions to his conjectures.

Contents.

- 0. Introduction
- 1. Preliminaries on modular curves
- 2. Beilinson elements in  $K_2$  of modular curves
- 3. Beilinson elements in Galois cohomology
- 4. *p*-adic *L*-functions in two variables
- 5. The map  $\varpi$
- 6. The map  $\Upsilon$
- 7. Conjectures of Sharifi.
- 8. Some results on p-adic L-functions in two variables
- 9. Study of Galois cohomology
- 10. Proofs of our results on Sharifi conjectures
- 11. Some relation to Iwasawa theory of modular forms

# 0 Introduction

**0.1.** In their proof of Iwasawa main conjecture, Mazur and Wiles [32] used deep relations between modular curves and the arithmetic of cyclotomic fields, extending the earlier work [46] of Ribet.

In the paper [51] etc., Sharifi formulated remarkable conjectures which tell that stronger relations exist between these two subjects.

We give partial solutions to his conjectures.

**0.2.** Let  $p \ge 5$  be a prime number.

The conjectures in Sharifi [51] relate modular curves  $X_1(Np^r)$  to the cyclotomic fields  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r})$  (N is prime to p and  $r \geq 0$ ; it is assumed that p does not divide the order  $\varphi(N)$  of  $(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ ) and our main results stated in section 7.2 consider this relation. For simplicity, in this Introduction, we assume N = 1.

<sup>\*</sup>partially supported by NSF

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>partially supported by NSF

**0.3.** Ideal class groups of cyclotomic fields.

For  $r \geq 1$ , let  $\zeta_{p^r}$  be a primitive  $p^r$ -th root of unity, and let  $\operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))\{p\}$  be the *p*-power part of the ideal class group  $\operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))$  of the cyclotomic field  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r})$ .

Let

$$X = \varprojlim_{r} \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))\{p\}$$

where the inverse limit is taken with respect to the norm maps of ideal class groups. Then X is a finitely generated  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -module. Let

$$K = \bigcup_{r \ge 1} \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r})$$

The action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})$  on X makes X a  $\Lambda$ -module, where  $\Lambda$  is the completed group algebra  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})]] = \lim_{m \to \infty} \mathbb{Z}_p[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r})/\mathbb{Q})]$ . We have decompositions

$$X = X^+ \oplus X^-, \quad \Lambda \xrightarrow{\cong} \Lambda^+ \times \Lambda^-,$$

according to the action of the complex conjugation, and  $X^{\pm}$  is a  $\Lambda^{\pm}$ -module.

#### **0.4.** Modular curves.

Let  $r \geq 1$ , and consider the compactified modular curve  $X_1(p^r)$  of level  $p^r$ . Let  $H_r$  be the ordinary part of  $H^1(X_1(p^r)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z}_p) = H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(p^r) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Z}_p)$  with respect to the dual Hecke operator  $T^*(p)$ .

Let  $\mathfrak{h}_r$  be the subring of  $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(H_r)$  generated over  $\mathbb{Z}_p$  by the dual Hecke operators  $T^*(n) : H_r \to H_r$   $(n \ge 1)$ . The Eisenstein ideal  $I_r \subset \mathfrak{h}_r$  is the ideal of  $\mathfrak{h}_r$  generated by  $1 - T^*(p)$  and  $1 - T^*(\ell) + \ell \langle \ell \rangle^{-1}$  for prime numbers  $\ell \neq p$ , where  $\langle \ell \rangle \in \mathfrak{h}_r$  is the diamond operator.

Let

$$H = \varprojlim_r H_r, \quad \mathfrak{h} = \varprojlim_r \mathfrak{h}_r, \quad I = \varprojlim_r I_r \subset \mathfrak{h}.$$

Then H/IH and  $\mathfrak{h}/I$  are finitely generated as  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -modules. By the action of the complex conjugation, we have a decomposition  $H = H^+ \oplus H^-$  as an  $\mathfrak{h}$ -module.

#### **0.5.** Homomorphisms $\varpi$ and $\Upsilon$ .

As is explained below, we have homomorphisms

$$\varpi: H^-/IH^- \to X^-, \quad \Upsilon: X^- \to H^-/IH^-$$

which relate modular curves and cyclotomic fields, and which are the subjects of Conjecture 0.11 below.

These homomorphisms are compatible with the  $\Lambda^-$ -module structure of  $X^-$  and the  $\mathfrak{h}$ -module structure on  $H^-/IH^-$  with respect to the following ring homomorphism  $\Lambda^- \to \mathfrak{h}$ : Note that we have an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q}) \cong \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}, \quad \sigma_c \leftrightarrow c \ (c \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}), \quad \sigma_c(\zeta_{p^r}) = \zeta_{p^r}^c$$

Let  $\Lambda \to \mathfrak{h}$  be the homomorphism which sends  $\sigma_c \in \operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})$  to  $c\langle c \rangle \in \mathfrak{h}$ , where  $\langle c \rangle \in \mathfrak{h}^{\times}$  is the diamond operator. Then this ring homomorphism factors through the quotient  $\Lambda^-$  of  $\Lambda$ .

**0.6.** A conjecture of McCallum and Sharifi on the arithmetic of cyclotomic fields.

Before we introduce the definition of the homomorphism  $\varpi$ , we review a conjecture of McCallum and Sharifi. They studied the elements

$$\{1-\zeta_{p^r}^u, 1-\zeta_{p^r}^v\} \in \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-/p^r \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^- \quad (u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/p^r \mathbb{Z} - \{0\})$$

where

$$\{\,,\,\}:\mathbb{Z}[1/p,\zeta_{p^r}]^{\times}\times\mathbb{Z}[1/p,\zeta_{p^r}]^{\times}\to\mathrm{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^{-}/p^r\mathrm{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^{-}$$

is a pairing defined by using the cup product of Galois cohomology (see [34], [51]). Note that  $1 - \zeta_{p^r}^u \in \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_{p^r}, 1/p]^{\times}$ . Basing on their study, McCallum and Sharifi have

# Conjecture 0.7. $\{1-\zeta_{p^r}^u, 1-\zeta_{p^r}^v\}$ for $u, v \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ generate $Cl(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-/p^r Cl(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-$ .

**0.8.** This conjecture gives a new understanding of the important group  $\operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-/p^r \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-$ . But if we consider only the world of cyclotomic fields, we may not find a strong philosophy which supports this conjecture. However, Sharifi formulated deep conjectures on the relation between the world of cyclotomic fields and the world of modular curves, for which the above conjecture 0.7 is a corollary. Furthermore, by using the relation with modular curves, he proved the above conjecture 0.7 in the case p < 1000 ([49]).

### **0.9.** Definition of $\varpi$ .

The theory of modular symbols gives special elements  $[u:v]_r$   $(u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z} - \{0\})$  of  $H_r$  which generate  $H_r$  as a  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -module (see 2.4.1, 4.4.1).

In [51] 5.7, Sharifi proved that there is a homomorphism  $H^-_r \to \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-/p^r \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^$ which sends the minus part  $[u:v]_r$  of  $[u:v]_r$  to  $\{1-\zeta_{p^r}^u, 1-\zeta_{p^r}^v\}$  for any  $u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z}-\{0\}$ .

Sharifi conjectured ([51] 5.8) that this map factors through the quotient  $H_r^-/I_rH_r^-$  of  $H_r^-$ . In this paper, we prove this conjecture, and prove that these homomorphisms for  $r \ge 1$  induce a homomorphism  $\varpi : H^-/IH^- \to \lim_r \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-/p^r\operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^- = X^-$ .

#### **0.10.** Definition of $\Upsilon$ .

We use the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  on H.

Let  $K = \bigcup_r \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r})$  as before, and let L be the largest unramified pro-p abelian extension of K. Then class field theory gives an isomorphism

$$X \cong \operatorname{Gal}(L/K).$$

The action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/K)$  on H/IH factors through the abelian quotient group  $X \cong \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$ . The action of X on the part  $H^-/IH^-$  of H/IH is trivial, and for  $\sigma \in X$  and  $x \in H/IH$ , we have  $\sigma(x) - x \in H^-/IH^-$ .

As is shown in [51],  $H^+/IH^+$  is free of rank 1 as an  $\mathfrak{h}/I$ -module. Furthermore, we have a canonical basis e of  $H^+/IH^+$  as an  $\mathfrak{h}/I$ -module (see 6.3.18). We have a homomorphism

$$\Upsilon: X^- \to H^-/IH^- \; ; \; \sigma \mapsto \sigma(e) - e.$$

Conjecture 0.11 (Sharifi [51], Conjecture 5.2 and Remark at the end of section 5).

$$\varpi \circ \Upsilon = 1, \quad \Upsilon \circ \varpi = 1.$$

In fact, as is explained in 7.1.14, this conjecture is slightly stronger than the original one in [51].

0.12. Relation with the conjecture of McCallum and Sharifi.

The conjecture 0.11 implies the conjecture 0.7 of McCallum and Sharifi. In fact, since the projection  $X^- \to \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-/p^r\operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-$  is surjective, the surjectivity of  $\varpi : H^-/IH^- \to X^-$  implies that  $H^-_r \to \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-/p^r\operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-$  is surjective. Since  $H^-_r$  is generated by  $[u : v]^-_r$ , we have that  $\operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-/p^r\operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^-$  is generated by  $\{1 - \zeta_{p^r}^u, 1 - \zeta_{p^r}^v\}$  with  $u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z} - \{0\}$ . It is easy to see that these elements are generated by those for which  $u, v \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ .

0.13. Relation with Iwasawa theory.

The above conjecture 0.11 of Sharifi gives a deeper understanding of  $X^-$  than the Iwasawa main conjecture.

Recall that Iwasawa main conjecture proved by Mazur-Wiles states  $X^- \sim \Lambda^-/(\xi)$ where  $\xi$  is the *p*-adic Riemann zeta function,  $(\xi)$  is the ideal of  $\Lambda^-$  generated by  $\xi$ , and  $\sim$  means that these  $\Lambda$ -modules have the same invariants called characteristic ideals. (To simplify the description of this Introduction, here we eliminate the pole of the *p*-adic Riemann zeta function and denote by  $\xi$  a slight modification of the actual *p*-adic Riemann zeta function. See 4.1.2 for the precise formulation.)

In the course of their proof of Iwasawa main conjecture, Mazur and Wiles showed that  $X^-$  is isomorphic to B/IB for some faithful  $\mathfrak{h}$ -submodule B of  $H^-$  via something like the map  $\Upsilon$ , that the homomorphism  $\Lambda^- \to \mathfrak{h}$  in 0.5 induces an isomorphism  $\Lambda^-/(\xi) \cong \mathfrak{h}/I$ , and  $X^- \cong B/IB \sim \mathfrak{h}/I \cong \Lambda^-/(\xi)$ . They did not consider a map like  $\varpi$ . Sharifi considers the two maps  $\varpi$  and  $\Upsilon$  which give a deep understanding of  $X^-$ .

We have a canonical isomorphism  $H^-/IH^- \cong S_\Lambda/IS_\Lambda$  as  $\mathfrak{h}$ -modules, where  $S_\Lambda$  is the space of ordinary  $\Lambda$ -adic cusp forms (see section 1.5) and the  $\mathfrak{h}$ -module structure of  $S_\Lambda$ here is that  $T^*(n) \in \mathfrak{h}$  acts on  $S_\Lambda$  as the usual operator T(n) on  $S_\Lambda$ . It is known that  $S_\Lambda$ is the dualizing module of the ring  $\mathfrak{h}$  in the sense of commutative ring theory ([19] section 7). Hence the consequence  $X^- \cong S_\Lambda/IS_\Lambda$  of Conjecture 0.11 has interesting consequences that the structure of the  $\Lambda$ -module  $X^-$  is determined by the ring  $\mathfrak{h}$  and that it is described by the space of ordinary  $\Lambda$ -adic cusp forms.

Our results are the following (see section 7.2).

**Theorem 0.14.** Let  $\xi' \in \Lambda^-$  be the derivative of the p-adic Riemann zeta function  $\xi$  (see 7.2.2). Then as a map  $H^-/IH^- \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \to H^-/IH^- \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ , we have

$$\xi'\Upsilon\circ\varpi=\xi'$$

**Theorem 0.15.** Assume that either one of the following (i) and (ii) is satisfied.

(i) The p-adic Riemann zeta function  $\xi$  has no multiple zero.

(ii) The class of  $(1 - T^*(p))\{0, \infty\} \in H^-$  generates  $H^-/IH^- \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  as an  $\mathfrak{h} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ -module.

Here  $\{0,\infty\}$  denotes the path from the cusp 0 to the cusp  $\infty$ .

Then we have:

- (1)  $\varpi \circ \Upsilon = 1$ .  $\Upsilon \circ \varpi \equiv 1$  modulo the p-primary torsion of  $H^-/IH^-$ .
- (2)  $X^- \cong (H^-/IH^-)/(tor)$  where (tor) is the p-primary torsion part of  $H^-/IH^-$ .

(3) The conjecture 0.7 is true.

**Theorem 0.16.** Assume that  $H^-/IH^- \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  is generated by one element as a module over  $\mathfrak{h} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ . Then the conjecture 0.7 is true.

**Remark 0.17.** (1) In all known examples,  $\xi$  has no multiple zero (see the sentences after 3.1 of Greenberg [15]).

(2) The assumption (ii) in Theorem 0.15 is closely related to the work [49] of Sharifi. In that work, he proved the conjecture 0.7 under an assumption which is slightly stronger than (ii). Our proof of Theorem 0.15 assuming (ii) follows his method in [49].

(3) We can prove the above theorems for each component of  $\Lambda^-$  corresponding to an odd power of the Teichmüller character. See section 7.2.

(4) Sharifi formulated his conjectures also for  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r})$  and  $X_1(Np^r)$   $(r \ge 1)$  with fixed N such that p does not divide  $\varphi(N)$ . In this paper, we study this generalized situation. See section 7.2 for our results.

0.18. We introduce another conjecture of Sharifi in [51]. Let

$$\mathcal{C} = (\sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{1 - \zeta_{p^r}\} \cdot [a])_{r \ge 1}$$
  
$$\in X^{-}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] := \varprojlim_{r} \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^{-}/p^r \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^r}))^{-} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}].$$

On the other hand, let

$$\mathcal{L} = \left(\sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} T^*(p)^{-r} [1:a]_r \cdot [a]\right)_{r \ge 1} \in H[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] := \varprojlim_r H_r \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$$

be the *p*-adic *L* function in two variables of Mazur-Kitagawa for modular forms ([30], [24]; See section 4.4 of this paper for a review).

Conjecture 0.19. The homomorphism

$$\Upsilon: X^-[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \to (H^-/IH^-)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$$

sends  $\mathcal{C}$  to the minus part  $\mathcal{L}^{-} \mod I$  of  $\mathcal{L} \mod I$ .

From the above Theorem 0.15, we can deduce

**Theorem 0.20.** Under the assumption of Theorem 0.15, the classes of  $\Upsilon(\mathcal{C})$  and  $\mathcal{L}^-$  in  $((H^-/IH^-)/(tor))[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  coincide.

**0.21.** For an earlier work on conjectures of Sharifi, see Busuioc [4]. We heard that G. Stevens has some results on conjectures of Sharifi, especially on Conjecture 5.8 in Sharifi [51].

We use a commutative diagram

Here:

" $K_2$ " denotes a certain *p*-adic completion of the inverse system of  $K_2$  of  $X_1(p^r)$ .

The homomorphism (1) "sends" (more precisely, the map (1) is the inverse limit of the maps in finite levels which send)  $[u:v]_r^- \in H_r^-/IH_r^-$  to the Beilinson element  $\{g_{0,u/p^r}, g_{0,v/p^r}\}$  in " $K_2$ ", where  $g_{\alpha,\beta}$  ( $(\alpha,\beta) \in (\frac{1}{p^r}\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z})^2 - \{(0,0)\}$ ) is the function on  $X_1(p^r)$ called a Siegel unit. See section 3.3 for details. In the introduction of his paper [51], Sharifi expected that Beilinson elements would be useful for the study of his conjectures. In this paper, we try to realize his expectation.

The homomorphism (2) is the evaluation at the  $\infty$ -cusp of the modular curve. It "sends"  $\{g_{0,u/p^r}, g_{0,v/p^r}\}$  to  $\{1 - \zeta_{p^r}^u, 1 - \zeta_{p^r}^v\}$ . See section 5.2 for details. The composition of (1) and (2) is the map  $\varpi$ . Hence the composition of the upper rows is  $\Upsilon \circ \varpi$ .

 $S_{\Lambda}$  is the space of ordinary  $\Lambda$ -adic cusp forms. The left vertical arrow is a kind of *p*-adic logarithm (see section 4.3 for details). The right vertical arrow is the multiplication by  $\xi'$ .

The commutativity of the square is proved by the study of Galois cohomology in section 9 (the derivative  $\xi'$  appears in the study in section 9.3). On the other hand, one can prove that the composition  $H^- \to ''K_2'' \to S_\Lambda \to S_\Lambda/IS_\Lambda \cong H^-/IH^-$  is  $\xi'$  times the natural projection (see section 8.1). From these, we have Theorem 0.14 (see section 10.1 for details). In fact, in the actual construction of the map (1), some denominator appears (the map (1) is not defined integrally), and this is the reason why we need  $\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ in Theorem 0.14.

Next, Theorem 0.15 under the assumption (i) is deduced from Theorem 0.14 as follows. By the assumption (i),  $\xi'$  is invertible in  $\Lambda^-/(\xi) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p = \mathfrak{h}/I \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ , and hence we have  $\Upsilon \circ \varpi = 1$  on  $H^-/IH^- \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ . From this and by some arguments (see 7.1.3), we obtain  $\varpi \circ \Upsilon = 1$  on  $X^-$ . This shows the surjectivity of  $\varpi$  and hence we can deduce the conjecture 0.7 by the argument in 0.12.

Theorem 0.16 is also deduced from Theorem 0.14. See section 10.2.

Our proof of Theorem 0.15 under the assumption (ii) is a sort of modification of the method of Sharifi in [49].

**0.23.** This paper contains some general results which we hope to be useful not only for the applications to the conjectures of Sharifi. For example, in sections 3.2 and 3.3, we study Beilinson elements for Hida family as in Ochiai [37]. In section 4.4, we compare the *L*-functions of Mazur-Kitagawa in two variables with the *p*-adic *L*-functions in two variables obtained by using Beilinson elements, also as in Ochiai [37]. Our results seem not to be covered by those in [37] in the points that we use Beilinson elements associated to more general modular symbols [u : v], and that we use a new pairing ((, )) defined in section 1.9 to compare these two kinds of *p*-adic *L*-functions in two variables.

**0.24.** The plan of this paper is as follows.

After preparations in sections 1-4, we give the definition of the map  $\varpi$  (resp.  $\Upsilon$ ) in section 5 (resp. section 6). (From section 6, as is explained in section 6.1, we fix a character  $\theta$  and study the  $\theta$ -component.)

In section 7, we introduce conjectures of Sharifi and state our results on his conjectures. In sections 8–10, we prove our results on his conjectures.

In section 11, we describe some relation to Iwasawa theory of modular forms.

**0.25.** We thank Romyar Sharifi for stimulating discussions and very helpful comments. We thank John Coates for his consistent encouragement, and Masato Kurihara for a lot of precious advice.

### 0.26. Notation and convention

Let  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  be an algebraic closure of  $\mathbb{Q}$ . For each prime number  $\ell$ , let  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$  be an algebraic closure of  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ . We fix an embedding  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathbb{C}$  and an embedding  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$  for each prime number  $\ell$ .

For  $n \geq 1$ , let  $\zeta_n = e^{2\pi i/n} \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}} \subset \mathbb{C}$ .

We fix a prime number  $p \ge 5$ . Our assumption  $p \ge 5$  comes from the fact that in many places in this paper, we use results of H. Hida and M. Ohta in which they assume  $p \ge 5$ . (Results in §3.1 hold also for p = 2, 3 and results in §4.2 hold also for p = 3.)

In this paper in the places where we present an isomorphism  $M \cong M(r)$  for a  $\mathbb{Z}_{p}$ module M and  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$  without telling which isomorphism we take, they are given by the base  $(\zeta_{p^n})_n$  of  $\mathbb{Z}_p(1)$ .

# 1 Preliminaries on modular curves and modular forms

In this section 1, we review modular curves and modular forms. We also supply a new deifnition ((, )) (section 1.6), an improvement (1.7.12), and a new result (section 1.8) as well. A reason why this section 1 is long is that the formulations in the works which we refer to in this paper differ in delicate ways depending on the authors, and so we have to present our formulation carefully.

### 1.1 Modular curves

For generality of modular curves, see for example [23].

**1.1.1.** For integers  $m, M \geq 1$  such that  $m + M \geq 5$  we have the modular curve X(m, M) with cusps, which is a proper curve over  $\mathbb{Z}$ , and the modular curve Y(m, M) without cusps, which is an open subscheme of X(m, M). They are characterized as follows. Over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/mM], Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM]$  is the moduli space of triples  $(E, e_1, e_2)$  with E an elliptic curve and  $e_1, e_2$  sections of E such that  $me_1 = Me_2 = 0$  and such that  $\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z} \to E$ ;  $(a, b) \mapsto ae_1 + be_2$  is injective. The scheme X(m, M) (resp. Y(m, M)) is the integral closure of the projective j-line  $\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{Z}}$  (resp. the affine j-line  $\text{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[j])$ ) in  $Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM]$ . (Cf. [6], [23].)

**1.1.2.** If m|m' and M|M', we have the canonical morphisms  $X(m', M') \to X(m, M)$ and  $Y(m', M') \to Y(m, M)$ . Over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/m'M']$ , it corresponds to the morphism of moduli functors  $(E, e_1, e_2) \mapsto (E, e'_1, e'_2)$  where  $e'_1 = (m'/m)e_1$ ,  $e'_2 = (M'/M)e_2$ .

**1.1.3.** For  $M \ge 3$ , let X(M) = X(M, M), Y(M) = Y(M, M). For  $M \ge 4$ , let  $X_1(M) = X(1, M)$ ,  $Y_1(M) = Y(1, M)$ .

**1.1.4.** The group  $GL(2, \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})$  acts on X(M) and on Y(M) in the way that  $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$ :  $Y(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M] \to Y(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M]$  sends the class of  $(E, e_1, e_2)$  to the class of  $(E, e'_1, e'_2)$  where

$$\begin{pmatrix} e_1' \\ e_2' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} e_1 \\ e_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

The modular curve X(m, M) (resp. Y(m, M))  $(m \ge 1, M \ge 1, m + M \ge 5)$  is the quotient of X(L) (resp. Y(L)), where m|L, M|L, by action of the subgroup  $G_L(m, M)$  of  $GL(2, \mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z})$  defined by

$$G_L(m, M) = \{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in GL(2, \mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z}) \\ \mid a \equiv 1 \mod m, b \equiv 0 \mod m, c \equiv 0 \mod M, d \equiv 1 \mod M \}.$$

If m|L, M|L, we will identify  $X_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/L, \zeta_m]$  (resp.  $Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/L, \zeta_m]$ ) with the quotient of  $X(L) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/L]$  (resp.  $Y(L) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/L]$ ) by the action of

$$\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in GL(2, \mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z}) \mid c \equiv 0 \mod M, d \equiv 1 \mod M, ad - bc \equiv 1 \mod m \}.$$

It is a quotient of  $X(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/L]$  (resp.  $Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/L]$ ) if m|M.

**1.1.5.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be the upper half plane.

We have the canonical map

$$\mathcal{H} \to Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C})$$

which sends  $\tau \in \mathcal{H}$  to the class of  $(E, e_1, e_2)$  where E is the elliptic curve  $\mathbb{C}/(\mathbb{Z}\tau + \mathbb{Z})$  over  $\mathbb{C}$  and  $e_1 = \tau/m, e_2 = 1/M \pmod{\mathbb{Z}\tau + \mathbb{Z}}$ .

The action of  $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$  on  $\mathcal{H}$  commutes with the action of  $GL(2,\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})$  on Y(M).

**1.1.6.** In the paper [22] to which we refer often in this paper, the notation X(m, M) (resp. Y(m, M)) was used for  $X(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$  (resp.  $Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ ).

**1.1.7.** Cusp forms and modular forms of weight 2. The space  $S_2(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  of cusp forms of weight 2 on  $X(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}} = X(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$  is the space  $\Gamma(X(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}}, \Omega^1)$ , where  $\Omega^1$  is the sheaf of differential forms on  $X(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ . The space  $M_2(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  of modular forms of weight 2 on  $X(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is the space  $\Gamma(X(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}}, \Omega^1(\log\{\text{cusps}\}))$  of differential forms which may have logarithmic poles along the cusps.

Let  $S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} = S_2(1, M)_{\mathbb{Q}}, M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} = M_2(1, M)_{\mathbb{Q}}.$ 

### **1.2** Hecke operators

**1.2.1.** Consider the modular curves X(m, M) and Y(m, M). We review Hecke operators T(n) and dual Hecke operators  $T^*(n)$   $(n \ge 1, (n, m) = 1)$ , and diamond operators, which act on the cohomology groups  $H^i(X(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})$ ,  $H^i(Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})$ , the space of cusp forms  $S_2(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ , the space of modular forms  $M_2(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ , and the K-groups  $K_i(X(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/L])$  and  $K_i(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/L])$   $(L \ge 1)$ , etc.

In this paper, dual Hecke operators are used more than Hecke operators.

**1.2.2.** Diamond operator  $\langle a \rangle$   $(a \in (\mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  where m|L and M|L). It is an automorphism of Y(m, M) (or of X(m, M)) induced by the automorphism  $\begin{pmatrix} 1/a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix}$  of Y(L) (or of X(L)).

If m|M, in the identification of  $Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)$  with a quotient of Y(m, M) (1.1.4), the automorphism of  $\langle a \rangle \otimes 1$  of  $Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)$  is compatible with  $\langle a \rangle$  of Y(m, M).

**1.2.3.** Let  $m \ge 1, M \ge 1, m + M \ge 5$ , and let  $\ell$  be a prime number. Then the Hecke operator  $T(\ell)$  and the dual Hecke operator  $T^*(\ell)$  are defined as follows.

Let  $Y(m(\ell), M)$  (resp.  $Y(m, M(\ell))$ ) be the quotient of Y(L) where  $m\ell|L$  and M|L(resp. m|L and  $M\ell|L$ ) by the subgroup of  $G_L(m, M)$  consisting of all elements  $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$ such that  $b \equiv 0 \mod m\ell$  (resp.  $c \equiv 0 \mod M\ell$ ). Let

$$\psi_{\ell}: Y(m, M(\ell)) \to Y(m, M)$$

be the unique morphism which is compatible with the map  $\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ ;  $\tau \mapsto \ell \tau$ . Let  $\pi : Y(m, M(\ell)) \to Y(m, M)$  be the canonical projection. We will use later the following moduli interpretations of  $Y(m, M(\ell)) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]$  and  $\psi_{\ell}, \pi : Y(m, M(\ell)) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell] \to Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]$ . Over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]$ ,  $Y(m, M(\ell)) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]$  represents the isomorphism classes of quadruples  $(E, e_1, e_2, C)$  where  $(E, e_1, e_2)$  is as in the moduli description of  $Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]$ , C is a subgroup scheme of E which is étale locally isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}/M\ell\mathbb{Z}$  and étale locally generated by some  $e'_2$  such that  $e_2 = \ell e'_2$ ,  $\pi$  represents  $(E, e_1, e_2, C) \mapsto (E, e_1, e_2)$ , and  $\psi_{\ell}$  represents  $(E, e_1, e_2, C) \mapsto (E/(MC), e_1 \mod MC, e'_2 \mod MC)$ .

Then

$$T(\ell) = (\psi_{\ell})_* \pi^*, \quad T^*(\ell) = \pi_* \psi_{\ell}^*.$$

**1.2.4.** For an integer  $n = \ell^e$  with  $\ell$  a prime number which does not divide m and with  $e \ge 0$ , T(n) and  $T^*(n)$  are defined as follows. If  $\ell$  divide M,

$$T(\ell^{e}) = T(\ell)^{e}, \quad T^{*}(\ell^{e}) = T^{*}(\ell)^{e}.$$

If  $\ell$  does not divide M, they are defined inductively by  $T(1) = T^*(1) = 1$  and

$$T(\ell^{e+2}) = T(\ell)T(\ell^{e+1}) + T(\ell^{e})\langle\ell\rangle \cdot \ell, \quad T^*(\ell^{e+2}) = T^*(\ell)T^*(\ell^{e+1}) + T^*(\ell^{e})\langle\ell\rangle^{-1} \cdot \ell.$$

For an integer  $n = \prod_i \ell_i^{e(i)}$  where  $\ell_i$  are distinct prime numbers which do not divide m,

$$T(n) = \prod_{i} T(\ell_i^{e(i)}), \quad T^*(n) = \prod_{i} T^*(\ell_i^{e(i)}).$$

We have

$$T(n_1)T(n_2) = T(n_2)T(n_1), \quad T^*(n_1)T^*(n_2) = T^*(n_2)T^*(n_1),$$
$$T(n)\langle a \rangle = \langle a \rangle T(n), \quad T^*(n)\langle a \rangle = \langle a \rangle T^*(n)$$

 $(n_1, n_2, n \ge 1, (a, M) = 1)$ . We have

$$T(n) = T^*(n)\langle n \rangle$$
 if  $(n, mM) = 1$ .

**1.2.5.** T(n) and  $T^*(n)$  are the transposes of each other in the Poincaré duality  $H^1(X(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z}) \times H^1(X(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Z}$  and in the Poincaré duality  $H^1(Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z}) \times H^1_c(Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Z}$ . Here  $H^1_c$  is the cohomology with compact supports.

From here, we consider the case m = 1.

**1.2.6.** Let  $\mathfrak{h}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}}$  (resp.  $\mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}}$ ) be the subring of  $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Z}}(H^1(X_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z}))$  (resp.  $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Z}}(H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z}))$  generated over  $\mathbb{Z}$  by  $T^*(n)$   $(n \ge 1)$  and  $\langle n \rangle$  ((n, M) = 1).

They are commutative rings. They act also on  $S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  (resp.  $M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ ).

We have a canonical ring homomorphism  $\mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}} \to \mathfrak{h}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}}$  by restricting  $T^*(n)$  and  $\langle n \rangle$  on  $H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})$  to  $H^1(X_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})$ .

**1.2.7.** The *p*-adic (dual) Hecke algebra  $\mathfrak{h}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p} = \mathfrak{h}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p$  (resp.  $\mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p} = \mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p$ ) is generated by  $T^*(n)$   $(n \geq 1)$  over  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ . This is because for a prime number  $\ell$  which does not divide M, we have  $\langle \ell \rangle^{-1} = \ell^{-1}(T^*(\ell^2) - T^*(\ell)^2)$ .

**1.2.8.** For a scheme C over  $\mathbb{Q}$ , we will denote by  $H^m_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(C)$  the étale cohomology  $H^m_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(C \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Z}_p)$ .

**1.2.9.** As a module over  $\mathfrak{h}(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ ,  $H^1(X_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q})$  is a free module of rank 2. The action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  on  $H^1_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p = H^1(X_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}_p$  over  $\mathfrak{h}(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$  has the following properties (1) and (2).

(1) For a prime number  $\ell$  which does not divide Mp, the action is unramified at  $\ell$ , and we have

$$\det(1 - Fr_{\ell}^{-1}u) = 1 - T(\ell)u + \ell\langle\ell\rangle u^2 = 1 - \langle\ell\rangle T^*(\ell)u + \ell\langle\ell\rangle u^2$$

Here  $Fr_{\ell}$  is the arithmetic Frobenius of  $\ell$ .

(2) The determinant of  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  is  $\kappa(\sigma)^{-1}\langle\sigma\rangle^{-1}$ . Here  $\kappa : \operatorname{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}) \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$  is the cyclotomic character, and  $\langle\sigma\rangle$  denotes  $\langle a\rangle$  for the  $a \in (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  such that  $\sigma(\zeta_M) = \zeta_M^a$ .

This is well known.

**1.2.10.** Assume p|M. In this paper, the ordinary component  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}$  (resp.  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))^{\text{ord}}$ ) of  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))$  (resp.  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))$ ) is defined to be the part on which the action of  $T^*(p)$  (not T(p)) is bijective. For  $x \in H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))$  (resp.  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))$ ), the ordinary component  $x^{\text{ord}} \in H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}$  (resp.  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))^{\text{ord}}$ ) of x is given as  $x^{\text{ord}} = \lim_{n \to \infty} T^*(p)^{n!}x$ .

We denote by  $\mathfrak{h}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}}$  (resp.  $\mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}}$ ) the image of  $\mathfrak{h}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$  (resp.  $\mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ ) in the endomorphism ring of  $H^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\mathrm{ord}}$  (resp.  $H^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))^{\mathrm{ord}}$ ).

**1.2.11.** The ordinary part for T(p) is defined also. In this paper, we mainly consider the ordinary part for  $T^*(p)$ .

### **1.3** Cusps of $X_1(M)$

We recall descriptions of cusps of  $X_1(M)$  and the relations of Hecke operators at cusps.

**1.3.1.** Let  $P_M$  be the set of all pairs  $(a, b) \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  such that a, b generate  $\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  as an ideal.

#### **1.3.2.** Over $\mathbb{C}$ , we have

$$\{ \text{cusp of } X_1(M)(\mathbb{C}) \} = \Gamma_1(M) \setminus \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q}) \stackrel{(1)}{=} \Gamma_1(M) \setminus (SL(2,\mathbb{Z})/\{\pm 1\}) / \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \mathbb{Z} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\stackrel{(2)}{=} P_M / \sim$$

where  $/\sim$  is the quotient by the following equivalence relation  $\sim: (a, b) \sim (a', b')$  if and only if  $a' = \epsilon a$  and  $b' \equiv \epsilon b \mod a$  with  $\epsilon \in \{\pm 1\}$ . Here the identification (1) sends the class of  $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$  to the class of  $a/c = g \infty \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$ , and the identification (2) sends the class of  $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$  to the class of  $(c, d) \in P_M$ .

In particular,  $(0,1) \in P_M$  corresponds to the cusp  $\infty \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$  and  $(1,0) \in P_M$ corresponds to  $0 \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$ . The cusps of  $X_1(M)(\mathbb{C})$  corresponding to  $(0,b) \in P_M$  with  $b \in (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  are called  $\infty$ -cusps. But "the"  $\infty$ -cusp means the cusp  $\infty \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$ . The cusps of  $X_1(M)(\mathbb{C})$  corresponding to  $(a,b) \in P_M$  with  $a \in (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  (which depend only on a) are called 0-cusps.

**1.3.3.** All cusps of  $X_1(M)$  are rational over  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M)$ . More precisely, if  $(a, b) \in P_M$  and if R denotes the positive divisor of M such that (a) = (R) as an ideal of  $\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$ , then the residue field of the cusp of  $X_1(M)$  determined by (a, b) is  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_R) \cap \mathbb{R}$  if M = R or if M = 2R, and is  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_R)$  otherwise.

In particular, the residue fields of  $\infty$ -cusps (resp. 0-cusps) of  $X_1(M)$  are  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M) \cap \mathbb{R}$ (resp.  $\mathbb{Q}$ ).

**1.3.4.** An algebraic description of cusps is as follows. Let  $M \ge 4$ .

Let  $\mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M][[q^{1/M}]][q^{-1}]$  be the formal power series ring in one variable  $q^{1/M}$ .  $(q^{1/M}$  is the variable and q is understood as the *M*-th power of  $q^{1/M}$ .)

For  $(a, b) \in P_M$ , let

$$\infty_M(a,b): \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/M,\zeta_M][[q^{1/M}]][q^{-1}]) \to Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M]$$

be the morphism corresponding to the *M*-torsion point  $q^{a/M}\zeta_M^b \mod q^{\mathbb{Z}}$  of the *q*-Tate elliptic curve  $E_q$  over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M][[q^{1/M}]][q^{-1}]$ . This morphism  $\infty_M(a, b)$  gives the cusp of  $X_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M)$  corresponding to  $(a, b) \in P_M$  (1.3.2).

For  $c \in (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ , we have  $\langle c \rangle \circ \infty_M(a, b) = \infty_M(ac, bc)$ .

**1.3.5.** Let  $S = \text{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_M][[q^{1/M}]][1/q])$ . Let  $\ell$  be a prime number. We review the relation between cusps and dual Hecke operators  $T^*(\ell)$  which we will use in section 5.

(1) Assume  $\ell \not\mid M$ . Then we have the following commutative diagram in which the left square is cartesian.

Here  $S' = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_M][[q^{1/M\ell}]][1/q])$ . The left vertical arrow is  $\infty_M(a, b)$ . The right vertical arrow is  $(\infty_M(a', b), \infty_M(a, b'))$  where  $a', b' \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $a = \ell a', b = \ell b'$ . The left upper horizontal arrow is the canonical one, and the right horizontal arrow is  $(\psi_{\ell}, \alpha)$ , where  $\psi_{\ell}$ corresponds to the homomorphism  $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_M][[q^{1/M}]][1/q] \to \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_M][[q^{1/M}]][1/q]$ ;  $q^{1/M} \mapsto q^{\ell/M}$ of degree  $\ell$  and  $\alpha$  corresponds to the isomorphism  $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_M][[q^{1/M}]][1/q] \to \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_M][[q^{1/M\ell}]][1/q]$ which sends  $q^{1/M}$  to  $q^{1/M\ell}$ . The middle vertical arrow is (for the moduli interpretation of  $Y(1, M(\ell))$  in 1.2.3)

$$((E_q, q^{a/M}\zeta_M^b, C), (E_q, q^{a/M}\zeta_M^b, C')),$$

where the  $\ell$ -torsion part of C (resp. C') is generated by  $\zeta_{\ell}$  (resp.  $q^{1/\ell}$ ).

Let  $R \ge 1$  be the divisor of M such that (a) = (R) as an ideal of  $\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$ .

(2) Assume  $\ell | M$  but  $\ell / R$ . Assume  $b = \ell b'$  for some  $b' \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$ . Then we have the following commutative diagram in which the left square is cartesian.

where the left vertical arrow is  $\infty_M(a, b)$ , the right vertical arrow is  $\infty_M(a, b')$ , the middle vertical arrow is (for the moduli interpretation of  $Y(1, M(\ell))$  in 1.2.3)  $(E_{q^\ell}, q^{\ell a/M} \zeta_M^b, C)$ where C is the cyclic subgroup of  $E_{q^\ell}$  of order  $M\ell$  generated by  $q^{a/M} \zeta_M^{b'} \mod q^{\ell \mathbb{Z}}$ , the left upper horizontal arrow is associated to  $q^{1/M} \mapsto q^{\ell/M}$ , the left lower horizontal arrow is the canonical projection, and the right lower horizontal arrow is  $\psi_\ell$ .

(3) Assume  $\ell | R$ . Then we have the following commutative diagram in which the left square is cartesian.

where a' ranges over all elements of  $\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  such that  $\ell a' = a$ , the left vertical arrow is  $\infty_M(a, b)$ , the right vertical arrow at a' is  $\infty_M(a', b)$ , the middle vertical arrow at a' is  $(E_q, q^{a/M} \zeta_M^b, C)$  where C is the cyclic subgroup of  $E_q$  of order  $M\ell$  generated by  $q^{a'/M} \zeta_{M\ell}^{\tilde{b}} \mod q^{\mathbb{Z}}$  where  $\tilde{b}$  is any lifting of b to  $\mathbb{Z}/M\ell\mathbb{Z}$ , the left upper horizontal arrow is the canonical one, the right upper horizontal arrow is associated to  $q^{1/M} \to q^{\ell/M}$ , the left lower horizontal arrow is the canonical projection, and the right lower horizontal arrow is  $\psi_{\ell}$ .

In these (1)-(3),  $T^*(\ell)$  is compatible with  $v_*u^*$  where u (resp. v) is the right (resp. left) upper horizontal arrow of the diagram.

### **1.4** Another model $X'_1(M)$

**1.4.1.** Let  $X'_1(M)$  be the quotient of X(L)  $(M|L, L \ge 3)$  by the subgroup

$$\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in GL(2, \mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z}) \mid a \equiv 1 \mod M, c \equiv 0 \mod M \right\}.$$

(Recall that the corresponding condition for  $X_1(M)$  was  $c \equiv 0 \mod M$  and  $d \equiv 1 \mod M$ .) Define similarly an open set  $Y'_1(M)$  of  $X'_1(M)$  as a quotient of Y(L).

For  $M \ge 4$ ,  $Y'_1(M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[1/M]$  is the moduli space over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/M]$  of an elliptic curve E with an injective homomorphism  $\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}(1) \to E$ .

**1.4.2.** The schemes  $X'_1(M)$  and  $X_1(M)$  are related by the two isomorphisms

$$v_M: X'_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M] \xrightarrow{\cong} X_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M], \quad w_M: X'_1(M) \cong X_1(M).$$

The isomorphism  $v_M$  is given by the identifications

$$X'_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M]$$

= the quotient of 
$$X(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M]$$
 by  $\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in GL(2, \mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z}) \mid c \equiv 0, a \equiv d \equiv 1 \mod M \}$   
=  $X_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M].$ 

The induced isomorphism  $Y'_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M] \cong Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M]$  corresponds to the isomorphism of moduli functors given by  $(E, \alpha) \mapsto (E, \beta)$ , where E is an elliptic curve,  $\alpha : \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}(1) \to E$  and  $\beta : \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z} \to E$  are injective homomorphisms, and  $\alpha(\zeta_M^a) = \beta(a)$  for  $a \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$ .

The morphism  $v_M : Y'_1(M)(\mathbb{C}) \xrightarrow{\cong} Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C})$  is regarded as the identity map of  $\Gamma_1(M) \setminus \mathcal{H}$ .

The isomorphism  $w_M : Y'_1(M) \xrightarrow{\cong} Y_1(M)$  is the unique isomorphism which gives over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/M]$  the isomorphism of moduli functors  $(E, \alpha) \to (E/C, \beta)$   $(\alpha : \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}(1) \to E, \beta : \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z} \to E)$ , where C is the image of  $\alpha$ , and  $\beta$  sends 1 to the image of an M-division point e of E such that the Weil pairing sends  $(\alpha(\zeta_M), e)$  to  $\zeta_M$ .

Via  $\mathcal{H} \to X'_1(M)(\mathbb{C})$  and  $\mathcal{H} \to X_1(M)(\mathbb{C})$ ,  $w_M$  corresponds to  $\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ ;  $\tau \mapsto -1/M\tau$ . This  $w_M$  is called the Atkin-Lehner involution.

**1.4.3.** Via the isomorphism  $w_M$ , T(n) (resp.  $T^*(n)$ ) on  $X'_1(M)$   $(n \ge 1)$  corresponds to  $T^*(n)$  (resp. T(n)) on  $X_1(M)$ , and  $\langle a \rangle$   $(a \in (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$  on  $X'_1(M)$  corresponds to  $\langle a \rangle^{-1}$  on  $X_1(M)$ .

1.4.4. Note that we have two isomorphisms

$$v_M, w_M : H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M)) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X'_1(M)).$$

This isomorphism  $v_M$  is regarded as the identity map of  $H^1(\Gamma_1(M) \setminus \mathcal{H}, \mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p$ .

**Lemma 1.4.5.** (1) The isomorphism  $v_M : H^1(X_1(M)) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^1(X'_1(M))$  preserves the actions of Hecke operators, dual Hecke operators and diamond operators, but changes the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  as follows. For  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  and for  $x \in H^1(X_1(M))$ , we have

$$v_M(\sigma x) = \langle \sigma \rangle \sigma v_M(x)$$

where  $\langle \sigma \rangle$  is as in 1.2.9.

(2) The isomorphism  $w_M : H^1(X_1(M)) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^1(X'_1(M))$  preserves the actions of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ , but exchanges the action of T(n) on one side with the action of  $T^*(n)$  on the other, and the action of  $\langle a \rangle$   $(a \in (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$  on one side with the action of  $\langle a \rangle^{-1}$  on the other.

Proof. (1) The statement about Hecke (resp. dual Hecke) operators and diamond operators is clear. We consider the Galois action. Let  $\sigma$  and a be as above. The automorphism  $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \text{ on } X(M) \text{ induces } 1 \otimes \sigma \text{ on } X'_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M) \text{ but induces } \langle a \rangle \otimes \sigma \text{ on } X_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M).$  Hence  $\text{Via } v_M : X'_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M) \cong X_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M), 1 \otimes \sigma \text{ on } X'_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M) \text{ corresponds to } \langle a \rangle \otimes \sigma \text{ on } X_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M).$  The statement about the action of  $\text{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Q})$  follows from this.

(2) follows from 1.4.3.

### 

### **1.5** *p*-adic relation of modular forms of different weights

Modular forms which appear in this paper are mainly of weight 2. However in several places in sections 4, 7, 8, we use the fact that modular forms weight 2 are related p-adically to modular forms of higher weights. We review this in this section 1.5. We also review ordinary  $\Lambda$ -adic modular forms.

**1.5.1.** Fix an integer  $N \ge 1$  which is prime to p. Let

$$H := \varprojlim_{r} H^{1}_{\text{\'et}}(X_{1}(Np^{r}))^{\text{ord}}, \quad \tilde{H} := \varprojlim_{r} H^{1}_{\text{\'et}}(Y_{1}(Np^{r}))^{\text{ord}},$$
$$\mathfrak{h} = \varprojlim_{r} \mathfrak{h}(Np^{r})^{\text{ord}}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}, \quad \mathfrak{H} = \varprojlim_{r} \mathfrak{H}(Np^{r})^{\text{ord}}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}.$$

Then  $\mathfrak{h}$  acts on H and  $\mathfrak{H}$  acts on  $\tilde{H}$ . We have a surjective ring homomorphism  $\mathfrak{H} \to \mathfrak{h}$  defined by restricting the actions on  $\tilde{H}$  to H.

**1.5.2.** Let

$$\Lambda := \varprojlim_{r} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] = \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]].$$

We have canonical ring homomorphisms

 $\Lambda \to \mathfrak{h}, \quad \Lambda \to \mathfrak{H}$ 

which send the group element [a] of  $\Lambda$   $(a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$  to the diamond operator  $\langle a \rangle$ .

**1.5.3.** For a commutative ring R, let Q(R) be the total quotient ring of R defined by

$$Q(R) = \{a/b \mid a, b \in R, b \text{ is a non-zero-divisor of } R\}.$$

**1.5.4.** Regard  $1+p\mathbb{Z}_p$  as a subgroup of  $\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times \{1\} \subset \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ , and regard  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[1+p\mathbb{Z}_p]]$  as a subring of  $\Lambda$ . Then the homomorphisms  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[1+p\mathbb{Z}_p]] \to \mathfrak{h}$  and  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[1+p\mathbb{Z}_p]] \to \mathfrak{H}$  are finite flat ([19]). From this we have

$$Q(\mathfrak{h}) \cong \mathfrak{h} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda), \quad Q(\mathfrak{H}) \cong \mathfrak{H} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda).$$

Furthermore, H and  $\tilde{H}$  are finitely generated free  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[1+p\mathbb{Z}_p]]$ -modules.

**Proposition 1.5.5.** (Hida [17] section 1.) For any  $r \ge 1$ , we have isomorphisms

 $\mathfrak{h} \otimes_{\Lambda} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathfrak{h}(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \quad \mathfrak{H} \otimes_{\Lambda} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathfrak{H}(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}}.$ 

**1.5.6.** Let  $k \ge 2, M \ge 4$ . Let

$$V_k(X_1(M))_{\mathbb{Z}} := H^1(X_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), j_*\mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{Z},k-2}) \xrightarrow{\subset} V_k(Y_1(M))_{\mathbb{Z}} := H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{Z},k-2}),$$

where  $\mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{Z},r}$  is the *r*-th symmetric power  $\operatorname{Sym}^r(R^1f_*\mathbb{Z})$   $(r \ge 0)$  with  $f : E \to Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M]$  the universal elliptic curve, and  $j : Y_1(M) \to X_1(M)$  is the inclusion map. These are the weight *k*-versions of  $V_2(X_1(M))_{\mathbb{Z}} = H^1(X_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z}), V_2(Y_1(M))_{\mathbb{Z}} = H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z}).$ 

For any commutative ring R, let  $V_k(X_1(M))_R := V_k(X_1(M))_{\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R$ ,  $V_k(Y_1(M))_R := V_k(Y_1(M))_{\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R$ .

Then  $V_k(X_1(M))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$  and  $V_k(Y_1(M))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$  are understood as étale cohomology groups, and hence  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  acts on them.

Let  $S_k(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  (resp.  $M_k(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ ) be the space of cusp forms (resp. modular forms) on  $X_1(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  of weight k. It is a subspace of  $\Gamma(Y, \Omega^1_{Y/\mathbb{Q}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_Y} \operatorname{coLie}(E)^{\otimes (k-2)})$  for  $Y = Y_1(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  where  $\operatorname{coLie}(E)$  is the  $\mathcal{O}_Y$ -dual of the Lie algebra of the universal elliptic curve E over Y.

For a commutative ring R over  $\mathbb{Q}$ , let  $S_k(M)_R = S_k(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} R$ ,  $M_k(M)_R = M_k(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} R$ . We have the period map

per : 
$$M_k(M)_{\mathbb{C}} \to V_k(Y_1(M))_{\mathbb{C}}$$

which induces

per : 
$$S_k(M)_{\mathbb{C}} \to V_k(X_1(M))_{\mathbb{C}}.$$

These maps are injective and induce the Eichler-Shimura isomorphisms

1

$$S_k(M)_{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \overline{S_k(M)_{\mathbb{C}}} \xrightarrow{\cong} V_k(X_1(M))_{\mathbb{C}} \quad M_k(M)_{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \overline{S_k(M)_{\mathbb{C}}} \xrightarrow{\cong} V_k(Y_1(M))_{\mathbb{C}},$$

where  $\overline{(-)}$  denotes the complex conjugation.

Like in the case k = 2, Hecke operators T(n)  $(n \ge 1)$ , dual Hecke operators  $T^*(n)$  $(n \ge 1)$ , and diamond operators  $\langle n \rangle$   $(n \ge 1, (n, M) = 1)$  act on  $V_k(X_1(M))_{\mathbb{Z}}, V_k(Y_1(M))_{\mathbb{Z}}, S_k(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ , and  $M_k(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ , and these actions are compatible with the Eichler-Shimura isomorphisms. The different weights are connected *p*-adically when we go to the inverse limit of level  $Np^r \ (r \to \infty)$  as follows.

**1.5.7.** (Shimura [53], Hida [18].) We have isomorphisms

$$\pi_k : H = \varprojlim_r V_2(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\operatorname{ord}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \varprojlim_r V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\operatorname{ord}}(k-2),$$
  
$$\pi_k : \tilde{H} = \varprojlim_r V_2(Y_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\operatorname{ord}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \varprojlim_r V_k(Y_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\operatorname{ord}}(k-2);$$
  
$$x \mapsto xe_2^{k-2} \quad (\text{we regard } e_2^{k-2} \in \varprojlim_r H^0(X_1(Np^r), j_*(\mathcal{F}_{k-2}/p^r\mathcal{F}_{k-2})(k-2)))$$

This isomorphism  $\pi_k$  preserves the actions of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ . Furthermore,

$$\pi_k \circ T^*(n) = T^*(n) \circ \pi_k \quad (n \ge 1),$$
  
$$\pi_k \circ \langle (a, b) \rangle = a^{2-k} \langle (a, b) \rangle \circ \pi_k \quad (a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}, b \in (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$$

**Proposition 1.5.8.** (Hida [17] section 1, Ohta [40] Proposition 2.3.3.) For any  $k \ge 2$  and  $r \ge 1$ , the isomorphisms  $\pi_k$  in 1.5.7 induce isomorphisms

$$H \otimes_{\Lambda} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] \xrightarrow{\cong} V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}}(k-2), \quad \tilde{H} \otimes_{\Lambda} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] \xrightarrow{\cong} V_k(Y_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}}(k-2).$$
  
Here  $\Lambda \to \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$  is the composition

$$\Lambda \xrightarrow{tw_{2-k}} \Lambda \to \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$$

in which the first arrow sends the group element [(a,b)]  $(a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}, b \in (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$  of  $\Lambda$  (this element is identified with diamond operator) to  $a^{2-k}[(a,b)]$  and the second arrow is the canonical projection.

**1.5.9.** Next we consider modular forms. Assume  $M \ge 4$ .

Following Ohta [38] (2.1.1), we define the Atkin-Lehner operator  $w_M : M_k(M)_{\mathbb{C}} \to M_k(M)_{\mathbb{C}}$  by

$$(w_M(f))(\tau) = (-1)^k M^{1-k} \tau^{-k} f(-1/M\tau) \quad (f \in M_k(M)_{\mathbb{C}}, \ \tau \in \mathcal{H}).$$

In the case k = 2, via the Eichler-Shimura isomorphism, this  $w_M$  is compatible with  $w_M : H^1(\Gamma_1(M) \setminus \mathcal{H}, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(\Gamma_1(M) \setminus \mathcal{H}, \mathbb{Z})$  induced by the map  $\Gamma_1(M) \setminus \mathcal{H} \to \Gamma_1(M) \setminus \mathcal{H}$ ;  $\tau \mapsto -1/M\tau$ . For a general k, via the Eichler-Shimura isomorphism, this  $w_M$  is compatible with the homomorphism

$$w_M: V_k(Y_1(M))_{\mathbb{Q}} \to V_k(Y_1(M))_{\mathbb{Q}}$$

defined as follows. Let E be the universal elliptic curve  $\Gamma_1(M) \setminus ((\mathcal{H} \times \mathbb{C})/\sim)$  over  $\Gamma_1(M) \setminus \mathcal{H}$ , where  $\sim$  is the equivalence relation defined by  $(\tau, z) \sim (\tau', z') \Leftrightarrow \tau = \tau', z \equiv z' \mod \mathbb{Z}\tau + \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\Gamma_1(M)$  acts on  $\mathcal{H} \times \mathbb{C}$  by

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} : (\tau, z) \mapsto (\frac{a\tau + b}{c\tau + d}, \frac{z}{c\tau + d})$$

preserving the equivalence. Then the map  $E \to E$  induced by  $\mathcal{H} \times \mathbb{C} \to \mathcal{H} \times \mathbb{C}$ ;  $(\tau, z) \mapsto (-1/M\tau, z/\tau)$  induces a homomorphism  $w'_M : V_k(Y_1(M))_{\mathbb{Z}} \to V_k(Y_1(M))_{\mathbb{Z}}$ . We define  $w_M = (-1)^k M^{2-k} w'_M$ .

1.5.10. Let

$$S_k(M)_{\mathbb{Z}} = \{ f \in S_k(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \mid a_n(w_M(f)) \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ for all } n \ge 1 \},\$$
$$M_k(M)_{\mathbb{Z}} = \{ f \in M_k(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \mid a_n(w_M(f)) \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ for all } n \ge 1 \},\$$

where  $a_n$  is the *n*-th coefficient of the *q*-expansion (at the  $\infty$ -cusp). Then  $S_k(M)_{\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} =$  $S_k(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  (resp.  $M_k(M)_{\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} = M_k(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ ), and  $S_k(M)_{\mathbb{Z}}$  (resp.  $M_k(M)_{\mathbb{Z}}$ ) is stable in  $S_k(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  (resp.  $M_k(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ ) under the actions of  $T^*(n)$   $(n \geq 1)$  and  $\langle a \rangle$   $(a \in (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$ (Hida [17], §1).

**1.5.11.** (Hida [19] section 7, Wiles [60], Ohta [38] section 2.) For  $r \ge 1$ , consider the injective homomorphisms

$$S_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}} \to \mathbb{Z}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}][[q]]q \subset \mathbb{Z}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}][[q]],$$
$$M_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}} \to \mathbb{Z}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}][[q]] + \mathbb{Q}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] \subset \mathbb{Q}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}][[q]];$$
$$f \mapsto \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} (q\text{-expansion of } \langle a \rangle^{-1}T(p)^r w_{Np^r}(f)) \cdot [a].$$

For  $r \geq 1$ , the trace map  $S_k(Np^{r+1})_{\mathbb{Q}} \to S_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  (resp.  $M_k(Np^{r+1})_{\mathbb{Q}} \to M_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ ) sends  $S_k(Np^{r+1})_{\mathbb{Z}}$  to  $S_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}}$  (resp.  $M_k(Np^{r+1})_{\mathbb{Z}}$  to  $M_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}}$ ). Via the above homomorphism, this trace map is compatible with the canonical projection  $\mathbb{Q}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^{r+1}\mathbb{Z})^{\times}][[q]] \rightarrow \mathbb{Q}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^{r+1}\mathbb{Z})^{\times}][[q]]$  $\mathbb{Q}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}][[q]]$ . When we go to the inverse limit of the trace map, the image of  $\lim_{k \to \infty} M_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} \to \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathbb{Q}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}][[q]] \text{ is contained in } \Lambda[[q]] + Q(\Lambda) = \{\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n q^n \mid a_n \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\mathrm{ord}} \}$  $\Lambda$  for  $n \geq 1, a_0 \in Q(\Lambda)$ . Let  $S_{k,\Lambda}$  be the image of the injection  $\lim_{K \to T} \overline{S_k(Np^r)}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} \to$  $\Lambda[[q]]q \subset \Lambda[[q]]$  and let  $M_{k,\Lambda}$  be the image of the injection  $\lim_{r \to r} M_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{ord} \to Q(\Lambda)[[q]].$ 

Then we have

**Fact.** For  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ , let  $tw_r : Q(\Lambda)[[q]] \xrightarrow{\cong} Q(\Lambda)[[q]]$  be the ring isomorphism induced from the ring isomorphism  $tw_r : \Lambda \xrightarrow{\cong} \Lambda$ ;  $[(a,b)] \mapsto a^r[(a,b)] \ (a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}, b \in (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}).$ Then  $tw_{k-2}: Q(\Lambda)[[q]] \to Q(\Lambda)[[q]]$  induces isomorphisms  $S_{2,\Lambda} \xrightarrow{\cong} S_{k,\Lambda}$  and  $M_{2,\Lambda} \xrightarrow{\cong} M_{k,\Lambda}$ . Furthermore, the composition

$$\pi_k : \varprojlim_r M_2(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} \xrightarrow{\cong} M_{2,\Lambda} \xrightarrow{tw_{k-2}} M_{k,\Lambda} \xrightarrow{\cong} \varprojlim_r M_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}}$$

satisfies

$$\pi_k \circ T^*(n) = T^*(n) \circ \pi_k \quad (n \ge 1),$$
  
$$\pi_k \circ \langle (a, b) \rangle = a^{2-k} \langle (a, b) \rangle \circ \pi_k \quad (a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}, b \in (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}).$$

We denote  $S_{2,\Lambda}$  (resp.  $M_{2,\Lambda}$ ) simply by  $S_{\Lambda}$  (resp.  $M_{\Lambda}$ ), and call an element of this space an ordinary  $\Lambda$ -adic cusp (resp. modular) form.

**1.5.12.** We define an  $\mathfrak{h}$ -module structure of  $S_{\Lambda}$  and an  $\mathfrak{H}$ -module structure of  $M_{\Lambda}$  by identifying  $S_{\Lambda}$  with the inverse limit of  $S_2(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\text{ord}}$  and by identifying  $M_{\Lambda}$  with the inverse limit of  $M_2(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}}$ . The actions of  $T^*(n) \in \mathfrak{H}$  and  $\langle a \rangle \in \mathfrak{H}$   $(a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$  on  $M_{\Lambda}$  defined by this structure coincide with the usual actions of T(n) and  $\langle a \rangle^{-1}$  on  $M_{\Lambda}$ , respectively. This is because we use  $w_{Np^r}$  in the definition of  $\lim_{r} M_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \to Q(\Lambda)[[q]],$ which exchanges  $T^*(n)$  and T(n). We have the similar fact for the action of  $\mathfrak{h}$  on  $S_{\Lambda}$ .

### **1.6** Λ-adic Poincaré duality

We describe the  $\Lambda$ -adic Poincaré duality of Ohta defined in section 4 of [38] (see 1.6.3 below) following [51] section 4, and define a variant (1.6.6) of it.

Let  $N \ge 1$  be prime to p, and let  $\Lambda := \lim_{r \to r} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}].$ 

**1.6.1.** Let  $r \ge 1$ . Let

$$(,): H^1(X_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z}) \times H^1(X_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Z}$$

be the usual pairing of Poincaré duality.

1.6.2. Consider the pairing

$$(\ ,\ )_{\Lambda,Np^r}: H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(Np^r)) \times H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(Np^r)) \to \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}],$$
$$(x,y) \mapsto \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} (x, \langle a \rangle v_{Np^r}^{-1} w_{Np^r} T^*(p)^r y) \cdot [a].$$

Here  $w_{Np^r}$  and  $v_{Np^r}$  are as in section 1.4.

**1.6.3.** The pairings in 1.6.2 for  $r \ge 1$  induce a pairing

$$H \times H \to \Lambda$$
;  $(x, y) \mapsto ((x_r, y_r)_{\Lambda, Np^r})_{r \ge 1}$ ,

where  $x_r$  (resp.  $y_r$ ) denotes the image of x (resp. y) in  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(Np^r))$ .

**1.6.4.** The pairing  $(, )_{\Lambda} : H \times H \to \Lambda$  has the following properties.

(1) For any  $a \in \mathfrak{h}$ , we have

$$(ax, y)_{\Lambda} = (x, ay)_{\Lambda}.$$

(2) For any  $a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ , we have

$$(\langle a \rangle x, y)_{\Lambda} = (x, \langle a \rangle y)_{\Lambda} = [a](x, y)_{\Lambda}.$$

(3) For  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ , we have

$$(\sigma x, \sigma y)_{\Lambda} = \kappa(\sigma)^{-1} \langle \sigma \rangle^{-1} (x, y)_{\Lambda}.$$

(4) We have an isomorphism

$$H \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(H, \Lambda) \; ; \; x \mapsto (y \mapsto (x, y)_{\Lambda}).$$

**1.6.5.** Let

$$(-,-)_{\Lambda,0}: H \times H \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[1+p\mathbb{Z}_p]]$$

be the composition

$$H \times H \to \Lambda \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p]]$$

where the second arrow sends [a]  $(a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$  to [a] if  $a \in (1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p) \times \{1\} \subset \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ , and to 0 otherwise.

Then  $(, )_{\Lambda,0}$  is a perfect pairing of finitely generated free  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p]]$ -modules.

If  $p \not| \varphi(N)$ , then the pairing  $(,): H \times H \to \Lambda$  itself is a perfect pairing of finitely generated projective  $\Lambda$ -modules.

Proposition 1.6.6. (1) We have a pairing

$$((-,-))_{\Lambda}: H \times H \longrightarrow S_{\Lambda}$$

defined by

$$((x,y))_{\Lambda} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (x, T^*(n)y)_{\Lambda} \cdot q^n$$

(2) This pairing satisfies

$$((ax, y))_{\Lambda} = ((x, ay))_{\Lambda} = a((x, y))_{\Lambda}, \quad ((x, y))_{\Lambda} = -((y, x))_{\Lambda}$$

for  $x, y \in H$  and  $a \in \mathfrak{h}$ . Here and in the following (3), the  $\mathfrak{h}$ -module structure of  $S_{\Lambda}$  is as in 1.5.12.

(3) This pairing is perfect in the following sense. We have an isomorphism

$$H \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{h}}(H, S_{\Lambda}) \; ; \; x \mapsto (y \mapsto ((x, y))_{\Lambda}).$$

*Proof.* By the duality theory of Hida [19] section 7.3, Theorem 5, we have an isomorphism

$$S_{\Lambda} \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\mathfrak{h}, \Lambda) \; ; \; f \mapsto (h \mapsto a_1(hf)).$$

The inverse map is given by  $b \mapsto \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} b(T^*(n))q^n \in S_{\Lambda}$   $(b \in \text{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\mathfrak{h}, \Lambda))$ . For  $x, y \in H$ , we have an element of  $\text{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\mathfrak{h}, \Lambda)$  defined by  $a \mapsto (x, ay)_{\Lambda}$ . By the above isomorphism of Hida, we have the pairing in (1).

(2) and (3) follow from the properties of the pairing of  $(-, -)_{\Lambda}$  in 1.6.4.

#### **1.6.7.** Let

$$\tilde{H}_c = \varprojlim_r H_c^1(Y_1(Np^r) \otimes \bar{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Z}_p)^{\text{ord}}.$$

Here  $H_c^1$  is the cohomology with compact supports.

We have similarly a pairing

$$(-,-)_{\Lambda}: \tilde{H} \times \tilde{H}_c \to \Lambda$$
.

This pairing also has the properties corresponding to (1)–(3) in 1.6.4. By using the duality  $M_{\Lambda} \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\mathfrak{H}, \Lambda)$ ;  $f \mapsto (h \mapsto a_1(hf))$  of Hida ([19] section 7.3, Theorem 5), we have a pairing

$$((-,-))_{\Lambda} : \tilde{H} \times \tilde{H}_c \to M_{\Lambda}$$

characterized by the property  $a_1(h \cdot ((x, y))_{\Lambda}) = (x, hy)_{\Lambda}$   $(h \in \mathfrak{H}_{\theta}, x \in \tilde{H}, y \in \tilde{H}_c)$ . This pairing also has the properties corresponding to (2) and (3) in Proposition 1.6.6.

**1.6.8.** We consider the relation between weight 2 and weight  $k \ge 2$ . Let

$$(,)$$
 :  $V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}} \times V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}} \to \mathbb{Q}$ 

be the pairing induced by the pairing

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{Z},k-2} \times \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{Z},k-2} \to \mathbb{Q} ; \ (x_1 \dots x_{k-2}, y_1 \dots y_{k-2}) \mapsto (k-2)!^{-1} \sum_{\sigma} (x_1 \cup y_{\sigma(1)}) \dots (x_{k-2} \cup y_{\sigma(k-2)})$$

 $(x_i, y_i \in R^1 f_*\mathbb{Z})$  with the notation as in 1.5.6, where  $\sigma$  ranges over all bijections  $\{1, \ldots, k-2\}$   $2\} \rightarrow \{1, \ldots, k-2\}$  and  $\cup$  is the cup product  $R^1 f_*\mathbb{Z} \times R^1 f_*\mathbb{Z} \rightarrow R^2 f_*\mathbb{Z} \cong \mathbb{Z}$ . For  $r \geq 1$  and  $k \geq 2$ , define

$$(,)_{k,r} : V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}} \times V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}} \to \mathbb{Q}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$$
$$(x,y) \mapsto \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} (x,\langle a \rangle v_{Np^r}^{-1} w_{Np^r} T^*(p)^r y) \cdot [a].$$

Let

$$((,))_{k,r}: V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}} \times V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}} \to S_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Q}}$$

be the pairing which sends (x, y) to  $f \in S_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  such that in the map  $S_k(Np^r) \to \mathbb{Q}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}][[q]]$  in 1.5.11, f corresponds to  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (x, T^*(n)y)_{k,r}q^n$ . The unique existence of such f follows from duality of Hida ([19] section 5.3)

$$S_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{h}_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Q}).$$

Here  $\mathfrak{h}_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -algebra of Hecke operators acting on  $S_k(Np^r)$ , and a homomorphism of  $\mathbb{Q}$ -modules  $h: \mathfrak{h}_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathbb{Q}$  corresponds to  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} h(T^*(n))q^n \in S_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ .

**1.6.9.** By Ohta [38] Theorem 4.2.5, we have

$$(\pi_{k,r}(x), \pi_{k,r}(y))_{r,k} = \pi_{k,r}((x,y)_{\Lambda}) \text{ for } x, y \in H$$

where the two  $\pi_{k,r}$  on the left hand side denote the homomorphism  $H \to V_k((X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(k-2) \cong V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ , and  $\pi_{k,r}$  on the right hand side denotes the composition  $\Lambda \xrightarrow{\cong} \Lambda \to \mathbb{Q}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$  in which the first arrow sends the group element [a]  $(a = (b, c) \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$  to  $b^{k-2}[a]$  and the second arrow is the canonical projection.

From this, we have

#### Proposition 1.6.10.

$$((\pi_{k,r}(x), \pi_{k,r}(y)))_{r,k} = \pi_{k,r}(((x,y))_{\Lambda}) \text{ for } x, y \in H$$

where the two  $\pi_{k,r}$  on the left hand side denote the homomorphism

$$H \to V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(k-2) \cong V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$$

induced by  $\pi_k$  in 1.5.7, and  $\pi_{k,r}$  on the right hand side denotes the composition  $S_{\Lambda} \xrightarrow{\cong} S_{k,\Lambda} \cong \lim_{k \to \infty} S_k(Np^n)_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \to S_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$  where the first arrow is  $tw_{k-2}$  (1.5.11) and the last arrow is the canonical projection.

### 1.7 A-adic Eichler-Shimura isomorphism

We review the theory  $\Lambda$ -adic Eichler-Shimura isomorphisms obtained in Ohta [38], [40]. Our formulation is slightly different from that of Ohta: We use  $X_1(M)$  though he used  $X'_1(M)$ , so the Galois action on the étale cohomology  $H^1$  is changed. We slightly improve his theory by using the functor D defined in 1.7.4 (see 1.7.12).

Let  $M \ge 4$  and assume p divides M.

**1.7.1.** For a smooth proper curve C over  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ , we have an isomorphism

$$\Gamma(C,\Omega_C^1) \cong D^0_{dR}(H^1(C \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p, \mathbb{Q}_p)(1))$$

where  $D_{dR}$  is the de Rham functor of Fontaine with filtration  $(D_{dR}^i)_i$  ([8]). If we take  $X_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$  as C,  $\Gamma(C, \Omega_C^1)$  is identified with  $S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p} = S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}_p$ . Hence we have an isomorphism

$$S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \cong D^0_{dR}(H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))(1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p).$$

For a smooth proper curve C over  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  and for a dense open subscheme  $C^{\circ}$  of C, if we denote  $C - C^{\circ}$  by  $\Sigma$ , we have an isomorphism

$$\Gamma(C, \Omega^1_C(\log \Sigma)) \cong D^0_{dR}(H^1(C^{\circ} \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p, \mathbb{Q}_p)(1)).$$

If we take  $X_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$  as C and  $Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$  as  $C^{\circ}$ ,  $\Gamma(C, \Omega^1_C(\log(\Sigma)))$  is identified with  $M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ . Hence we have an isomorphism

$$M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \cong D^0_{dR}(H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))(1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p).$$

These induce isomorphisms of the ordinary parts

$$S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} \cong D^0_{dR}(H^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\mathrm{ord}}(1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p),$$
$$M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} \cong D^0_{dR}(H^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))^{\mathrm{ord}}(1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p).$$

**1.7.2.** We have exact sequences of finitely generated free  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -modules endowed with actions of  $Gal(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  and Hecke operators

$$0 \to H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{sub}} \to H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}} \to H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}} \to 0$$
$$0 \to H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{sub}} \to H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))^{\text{ord}} \to H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}} \to 0$$

characterized by the following properties: The actions of  $Gal(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  on  $H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)$ and  $H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)$  are unramified, and for an element  $\sigma$  of the inertia subgroup of  $Gal(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ , the actions of  $\sigma$  on  $H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{sub}}$  and  $H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{sub}}$  coincide with the actions of  $\langle \sigma \rangle^{-1}$  (1.2.9).

The canonical map  $H^1_{\text{ét}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{sub}} \to H^1_{\text{\acute{et}}}(Y_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{sub}}$  is an isomorphism. We have isomorphisms

$$D^{0}_{dR}(H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{1}(M)))^{\text{ord}}(1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}) \xrightarrow{\cong} D_{dR}(H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{1}(M)))^{\text{ord}}(1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}),$$
$$D^{0}_{dR}(H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(M)))^{\text{ord}}(1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}) \xrightarrow{\cong} D_{dR}(H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(M)))^{\text{ord}}(1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}).$$

**1.7.3.** For a topological abelian group A such that  $A \xrightarrow{\cong} \varprojlim_{A'} A/A'$  where A' ranges over all open subgroups of A, and for a topological abelian group B having the same property as A, we define the topological tensor product  $A \otimes B$  by

$$A\hat{\otimes}B = \lim_{A',B'} A/A' \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B/B'$$

where A' (resp. B') ranges over all open subgroups of A (resp. B).

**1.7.4.** For a pro-*p* abelian group *T* endowed with a continuous unramified action of  $Gal(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ , let

$$D(T) = (T \hat{\otimes} W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p))^{Fr_p = 1} = \{ x \in T \hat{\otimes} W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p) \mid (Fr_p \otimes Fr_p)(x) = x \}.$$

Here the topological tensor product is defined with respect to the original topology of Tand the *p*-adic topology of  $W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ , and  $Fr_p$  is the arithmetic Frobenius (the element of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}_p^{\mathrm{ur}}/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ , where  $\mathbb{Q}_p^{\mathrm{ur}} \subset \bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p$  is the maximal unramified extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ , which acts on the residue field  $\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p$  of  $\mathbb{Q}_p^{\mathrm{ur}}$  by  $x \mapsto x^p$ ). Then D(T) is also a pro-*p* abelian group, and we have a canonical isomorphism

$$D(T)\hat{\otimes}W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p) \xrightarrow{\cong} T\hat{\otimes}W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p).$$

**1.7.5.** For a pro-*p* abelian group *T* endowed with a continuous unramified action of  $Gal(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ , let  $\varphi : D(T) \to D(T)$  be the homomorphism induced by  $1 \otimes Fr_p$  on  $T \otimes W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ . It is a bijection. It is also induced by  $Fr_p^{-1} \otimes 1$  on  $T \otimes W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ . We can recover *T* from D(T) and  $\varphi : D(T) \to D(T)$  as  $T = \{x \in D(T) \otimes W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p) \mid (\varphi \otimes Fr_p)(x) = x\}$ .

**Proposition 1.7.6.** There is a functorial isomorphism of pro-p abelian groups  $D(T) \cong T$ . In other words, D is isomorphic to the forgetful functor as a functor from the category of pro-p-abelian groups endowed with continuous unramified actions of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  to the category of pro-p-abelian groups.

*Proof.* For each  $n \ge 1$ , take an element  $\alpha_n$  of  $W(\mathbb{F}_{p^n})$  satisfying the following conditions (i) and (ii).

(i) For each  $n \geq 1$ , we have an isomorphism  $\mathbb{Z}_p[\operatorname{Gal}(L_n/\mathbb{Q}_p)] \xrightarrow{\cong} W(\mathbb{F}_{p^n})$ ;  $g \mapsto g\alpha_n$ , where  $L_n$  is the field of fractions of  $W(\mathbb{F}_{p^n})$ .

(ii) If  $m, n \geq 1$  and n|m, the trace map  $W(\mathbb{F}_{p^m}) \to W(\mathbb{F}_{p^n})$  sends  $\alpha_m$  to  $\alpha_n$ .

The functorial isomorphism  $T \xrightarrow{\cong} D(T)$  is given as follows. Assume first that T is finite. Then there is  $n \ge 1$  such that the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  on T factors through  $\operatorname{Gal}(L_n/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ . For this n, we define the isomorphism  $T \xrightarrow{\cong} D(T)$  as  $x \mapsto \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}} Fr_p^i(\alpha_n) \otimes Fr_p^i(x)$ . This isomorphism is independent of the choice of n. For general T, we define the isomorphism  $T \xrightarrow{\cong} D(T)$  as the inverse limit of these isomorphisms for finite quotients of T.  $\Box$ 

**1.7.7.** Since the actions of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  on  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\operatorname{ord}}_{\operatorname{quo}}(1)$  and on  $H^1_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))^{\operatorname{ord}}_{\operatorname{quo}}(1)$  are unramified, we have

$$D_{dR}(H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(X_{1}(M))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathrm{quo}}(1)\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}\mathbb{Q}_{p})\cong D_{crys}(H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(X_{1}(M))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathrm{quo}}(1)\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}\mathbb{Q}_{p})\cong D(H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(X_{1}(M))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathrm{quo}}(1))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}\mathbb{Q}_{p})$$
$$D_{dR}(H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(Y_{1}(M))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathrm{quo}}(1)\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}\mathbb{Q}_{p})\cong D_{crys}(H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(Y_{1}(M))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathrm{quo}}(1)\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}\mathbb{Q}_{p})\cong D(H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(Y_{1}(M))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathrm{quo}}(1))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}\mathbb{Q}_{p}.$$

1.7.8. Hence we have isomorphisms

$$S_2(M)^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \cong D(H^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathrm{quo}}(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p,$$
$$M_2(M)^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \cong D(H^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathrm{quo}}(1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p.$$

**Proposition 1.7.9.** Let  $S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$  and  $M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$  be as in section 1.5. Then the isomorphisms in 1.7.8 induce isomorphisms

$$S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} \xrightarrow{\cong} D(H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(M))_{\mathrm{quo}}^{\mathrm{ord}}(1)), \quad M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} \xrightarrow{\cong} D(H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(M))_{\mathrm{quo}}^{\mathrm{ord}}(1)).$$

*Proof.* Let  $\mathbb{C}_p$  be the completion of  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ , and let  $O_{\mathbb{C}_p}$  be the valuation ring of  $\mathbb{C}_p$ . Ohta ([40]) proved that (the isomorphisms in 1.7.8)  $\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathbb{C}_p$  induce isomorphisms

$$S_{2}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}^{\mathrm{ord}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} O_{\mathbb{C}_{p}} \xrightarrow{\cong} H^{1}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_{1}(M))_{\mathrm{quo}}^{\mathrm{ord}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} O_{\mathbb{C}_{p}},$$
$$M_{2}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}^{\mathrm{ord}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} O_{\mathbb{C}_{p}} \xrightarrow{\cong} H^{1}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(M))_{\mathrm{quo}}^{\mathrm{ord}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} O_{\mathbb{C}_{p}}.$$

Hence the isomorphisms in 1.7.8 induce an isomorphism from

$$S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} = (S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p) \cap (S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} O_{\mathbb{C}_p})$$

onto

$$D(H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{1}(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)) = (D(H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{1}(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}) \cap (D(H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{1}(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} O_{\mathbb{C}_{p}})$$

and an isomorphism from

$$M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} = (M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p) \cap (M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} O_{\mathbb{C}_p})$$

onto

$$D(H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)) = (D(H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}) \cap (D(H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} O_{\mathbb{C}_{p}}).$$

**1.7.10.** Now fix  $N \ge 1$  which is prime to p. We take the inverse limit of the above story at level  $M = Np^r \ (r \to \infty)$ . Let  $H, \tilde{H}, \mathfrak{h}, \mathfrak{H}, \Lambda, S_{\Lambda}, M_{\Lambda}$  be as in section 1.5.

We have exact sequences

$$0 \to H_{\rm sub} \to H \to H_{\rm quo} \to 0, \quad 0 \to \tilde{H}_{\rm sub} \to \tilde{H} \to \tilde{H}_{\rm quo} \to 0$$

where

$$H_{\text{sub}} := \varprojlim_{r} H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{1}(Np^{r}))_{\text{sub}}^{\text{ord}} \quad H_{\text{quo}} := \varprojlim_{r} H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{1}(Np^{r}))_{\text{quo}}^{\text{ord}},$$
$$\tilde{H}_{\text{sub}} := \varprojlim_{r} H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(Np^{r}))_{\text{sub}}^{\text{ord}} \quad \tilde{H}_{\text{quo}} := \varprojlim_{r} H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(Np^{r}))_{\text{quo}}^{\text{ord}}.$$

The canonical injection  $H_{\text{sub}} \to \tilde{H}_{\text{sub}}$  is an isomorphism.

From 1.7.9 and 1.7.6, we obtain

**Proposition 1.7.11.** (1) We have canonical isomorphisms ( $\Lambda$ -adic Eichler-Shimura isomorphisms)

$$S_{\Lambda} \cong D(H_{quo}(1)), \quad M_{\Lambda} \cong D(H_{quo}(1)).$$

(2)  $S_{\Lambda} \cong H_{quo}$  as  $\mathfrak{h}$ -modules, and  $M_{\Lambda} \cong \tilde{H}_{quo}$  as  $\mathfrak{H}$ -modules. Here the  $\mathfrak{h}$ -module (resp.  $\mathfrak{H}$ -module) structure of  $S_{\Lambda}$  (resp.  $M_{\Lambda}$ ) is as in 1.5.12.

**1.7.12.** The isomorphisms in 1.7.11 (1) induce isomorphisms

$$S_{\Lambda} \hat{\otimes} W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p) \cong H_{\text{quo}}(1) \hat{\otimes} W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p), \quad M_{\Lambda} \hat{\otimes} W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p) \cong \tilde{H}_{\text{quo}}(1) \hat{\otimes} W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p).$$

In Ohta [38], [40], these isomorphisms are obtained when  $\hat{\otimes}W(\bar{\mathbb{F}}_p)$  is replaced by  $\hat{\otimes}O$  where O is the valuation ring of a local field over  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  which contains all roots of 1, and are called the  $\Lambda$ -adic Eichler-Shimura isomorphisms.

**1.7.13.** As  $\mathfrak{h}$ -modules,  $H_{\text{sub}}$  is free of rank 1, and  $S_{\Lambda}$  and  $H_{\text{quo}}$  are dualizing  $\mathfrak{h}$ -modules. As  $\mathfrak{H}$ -modules,  $M_{\Lambda}$  and  $\tilde{H}_{\text{quo}}$  are dualizing  $\mathfrak{H}$ -modules. Here the  $\mathfrak{h}$  (resp.  $\mathfrak{H}$ )-module structure on  $S_{\Lambda}$  (resp.  $M_{\Lambda}$ ) is as in 1.7.11. (For  $S_{\Lambda}$  and  $M_{\Lambda}$ , see Hida [19]. For  $H_{\text{quo}}$  and  $\tilde{H}_{\text{quo}}$ , see Hida [18], Mazur-Wiles [33], Ohta [38], [39], Tilouine [56].)

**1.7.14.** The  $Q(\mathfrak{h})$ -module  $H \otimes_{\mathfrak{h}} Q(\mathfrak{h})$  is free of rank 2, and  $H_{\text{sub}} \otimes_{\mathfrak{h}} Q(\mathfrak{h})$  and  $H_{\text{quo}} \otimes_{\mathfrak{h}} Q(\mathfrak{h})$  are free  $Q(\mathfrak{h})$ -modules of rank 1.

Concerning the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  on  $H \otimes_{\mathfrak{h}} Q(\mathfrak{h})$  over  $Q(\mathfrak{h})$ , we have the following  $\Lambda$ -adic version of 1.2.9 ([19] section 7):

(1) For a prime number  $\ell$  which does not divide Np, the action is unramified at  $\ell$ , and we have

$$\det(1 - Fr_{\ell}^{-1}u) = 1 - T(\ell)u + \ell\langle\ell\rangle u^2 = 1 - \langle\ell\rangle T^*(\ell)u + \ell\langle\ell\rangle u^2$$

Here  $Fr_{\ell}$  is the arithmetic Frobenius of  $\ell$ .

(2) The determinant of  $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  is  $\kappa(\sigma)^{-1}\langle\sigma\rangle^{-1}$ . Here  $\langle\sigma\rangle$  denotes  $\langle a\rangle$  with a the element of  $\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times} = \lim_{r} (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  such that  $\sigma(\zeta_{Np^r}) = \zeta_{Np^r}^a$  for any  $r \geq 1$ , and  $\kappa$  is the cyclotomic character.

Note also ([38]):

(3) the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  on  $\widetilde{H}_{quo}(1)$  is unramified,

(4) The action of an element  $\sigma$  of the inertia subgroup of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  on  $H_{\operatorname{sub}}$  is given by  $\langle \sigma \rangle^{-1}$ .

**1.7.15.** In [38], Ohta uses  $X'_1(M)$ . Identify  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(M))$  and  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X'_1(M))$  via the isomorphism  $v_M$  in section 1.4. This isomorphism  $v_M$  changes the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  as described in 1.4.5 (1). Hence for  $X'_1$ , 1.7.14 (4) is replaced as follows. As in Ohta [40], the action of an element  $\sigma$  of the inertia subgroup of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  on  $H_{\operatorname{sub}}$  is trivial. In fact,  $H_{\operatorname{sub}}$  for  $X'_1$  coincides with the fixed part of H under the action of the inertia subgroup of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ .

**1.7.16.** The following is not used in this paper, but put for the comparison. We have the following exact sequences (cf. 1.4.5).

$$0 \to [\langle \sigma \rangle^{-1} \text{-action}] \to [T^*(p) \text{-ordinary part of } H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))] \to [\text{unramified}](-1) \to 0.$$

$$0 \to [\text{unramified}] \to [T^*(p)\text{-ordinary part of } H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X'_1(M))] \to [\langle \sigma \rangle \text{-action}](-1) \to 0.$$

$$0 \to [\text{unramified}] \to [T(p)\text{-ordinary part of } H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))] \to [\langle \sigma \rangle^{-1}\text{-action}](-1) \to 0.$$

$$0 \to [\langle \sigma \rangle$$
-action]  $\to [T(p)$ -ordinary part of  $H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X'_1(M))] \to [\text{unramified}](-1) \to 0.$ 

Here  $[\langle \sigma \rangle^{-1}$ -action] (resp. [unramified]) means a  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ -module on which an element  $\sigma$  of the inertia subgroup  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  acts by  $\langle \sigma \rangle^{-1}$  (resp. trivially).

As Ohta used  $X'_1(M)$ , the second exact sequence appeared in his papers [38] and [40]. We use the first exact sequence in this paper.

# **1.8** $T^*(p)$ and Frobenius

The aim of this section 1.8 is to prove the following proposition.

**Proposition 1.8.1.** Assume p|M. Then the action of  $T^*(p)$  on  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(M))^{\rm ord}_{\rm quo}(1)$  coincides with the action of the arithmetic Frobenius  $Fr_p$ . That is, the action of  $T^*(p)$  on  $D(H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(M))^{\rm ord}_{\rm quo}(1))$  coincides with the action of  $\varphi^{-1}$  (1.7.4).

**Remark 1.8.2.** (1) This proposition is proved in Ohta [41] 3.4.2 (cf. also Mazur-Wiles [32]) except "one Teichmüller component" in the following sense.

Regard  $(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  as a subgroup of  $(\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  via the unique injective homomorphism such that the composition  $(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to (\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is the identity map and such that if we write  $M = Np^r$  with (N, p) = 1, then the composition  $(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is trivial. Consider the direct sum decomposition  $D(H^1_{\text{ét}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)) = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}/(p-1)\mathbb{Z}}$  (the *i*-component) where the *i*-component is the part on which  $\langle a \rangle$  for  $a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \subset (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  acts as  $\omega(a)^i$  with  $\omega$  the Teichmüller character. Ohta [41] 3.4.2 shows that on each *i*-component with  $i \in \mathbb{Z}/(p-1)\mathbb{Z} - \{0\}, T^*(p)$  and  $Fr_p$  coincide.

(2) It seems that this proposition is reduced to the work Saito [48] on the *p*-adic representation of  $Gal(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  associated to an eigen cusp form. The following proof does not use [48], but uses *q*-expansions.

1.8.3. Consider the two homomorphisms

$$T(p), \varphi_q : \mathbb{Z}_p[[q]] dq \mapsto \mathbb{Z}_p[[q]] dq;$$

$$T(p)(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n q^n d \log(q)) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_{np} q^n d \log(q),$$
$$\varphi_q(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n q^n d \log(q)) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n q^{np} d \log(q^p) = p \cdot \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n q^{np} d \log(q).$$

We have  $T(p) \circ \varphi_q = p$ , to which we are going to reduce 1.8.1.

**1.8.4.** Consider the canonical map of de Rham cohomology groups over  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ 

$$a_{dR} : H^1_{dR}(X_1(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}) \to H^1_{dR}(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p)) = (\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq)/d\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$$

which is induced from  $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_M)) \to X'_1(M) \xrightarrow{w_M} X_1(M)$  where the first arrow is the q-expansion.

Via this map,  $T^*(p)$  on  $H^1_{dR}(X_1(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p})$  is compatible with the usual Hecke operator  $T(p): \mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq \ (1.8.3).$ 

The restriction of  $a_{dR}$  to  $S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p} = \Gamma(X_1(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}, \Omega^1) \subset H^1_{dR}(X_1(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p})$  sends  $f \in S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$  to the class of the q-expansion of  $w_M(f)$ .

**1.8.5.** Consider the functor  $D_{pst}$  of Fontaine ([9]), [10]). We have a homomorphism

$$a_{pst} : D_{pst}(H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))_{\mathbb{Q}_p}) \to (\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq)/d\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_{p,ur}$$

defined as follows. Here  $\mathbb{Q}_{p,ur} \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$  is the maximal unramified extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ . The space  $(\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq)/d\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]$  is regarded as the crystalline cohomology of  $\mathbb{F}_p[[q]]$ . On the other hand,  $X_1(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$  has a model  $\mathfrak{X}$  of semi-stable reduction over  $O_L$  for some finite extension  $L \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$  of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ , and by Tsuji [57], if  $L_0$  denotes the largest unramified extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  contained in L, then  $D_{pst}(H^1_{\text{ét}}(X_1(M))_{\mathbb{Q}_p})$  is identified with  $H^1_{\log \operatorname{crys}}(C) \otimes_{O_{L_0}} \mathbb{Q}_{p,ur}$ where C is the reduction of  $\mathfrak{X}$  and  $H^1_{\log \operatorname{crys}}$  is the log crystalline cohomology. The map  $\operatorname{Spec}(O_L[[q]] \otimes_{O_L} L(\zeta_M)) \to \mathfrak{X}$  which is compatible with  $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_M)) \to X_1(M)$ induces a homomorphism

$$H^1_{\log \operatorname{crys}}(C) \to (O_{L_0}[[q]]dq)/dO_{L_0}[[q]] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$$

of log crystalline cohomology. Hence we have the above homomorphism  $a_{pst}$ .

The homomorphisms  $a_{dR}$  and  $a_{pst}$  are compatible with the isomorphism

$$H^{1}_{dR}(X_{1}(M)_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} \bar{\mathbb{Q}}_{p} = D_{dR}(H^{1}_{\text{\'et}}(X_{1}(M))_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} \bar{\mathbb{Q}}_{p} \cong D_{pst}(H^{1}_{\text{\'et}}(X_{1}(M))_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p,ur}} \bar{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}$$

Via the homomorphism  $a_{pst}$ ,  $T^*(p)$  on  $D_{pst}(H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))_{\mathbb{Q}_p})$  and T(p) on  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq$ (1.8.3) are compatible. Furthermore, via  $a_{pst}$ ,  $\varphi$  on  $D_{pst}(H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))_{\mathbb{Q}_p})$  ([8]) and  $\varphi_q \otimes Fr_p$ on  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_{p,ur}$  (1.8.3) are compatible because the former is compatible with the map  $\varphi$  on  $H^1_{\log \operatorname{crys}}(C)$  induced by the *p*-th power map in characteristic *p* and the latter is also induced by the *p*-th power map in characteristic *p*.

**1.8.6.** We have an exact sequence

$$0 \to D_{pst}(H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{sub},\mathbb{Q}_p}) \to D_{pst}(H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}) \to D_{pst}(H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo},\mathbb{Q}_p}) \to 0.$$

The  $\varphi$  on  $D_{pst}(H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo},\mathbb{Q}_p})$  coincides with p times the  $\varphi$  on  $D_{pst}(H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo},\mathbb{Q}_p}(1))$ and hence coincides with p times the  $\varphi$  on  $D(H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ .

**Lemma 1.8.7.** The map  $a_{pst}$  kills  $D_{pst}(H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{sub},\mathbb{O}_n})$ .

Proof. By 1.7.2, the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_M))$  on  $H^1_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\operatorname{ord}}_{\operatorname{sub}}$  is unramified. Hence the action of  $\varphi$  on  $D_{pst}(H^1_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\operatorname{ord}}_{\operatorname{sub},\mathbb{Q}_p})$  is of slope 0. That is, there is a finitely generated  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -submodule L of  $D_{pst}(H^1_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\operatorname{ord}}_{\operatorname{sub},\mathbb{Q}_p})$  which generates  $D_{pst}(H^1_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\operatorname{ord}}_{\operatorname{sub},\mathbb{Q}_p})$  over  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  such that  $\varphi(L) = L$ . Since this  $\varphi$  is compatible with  $\varphi_q$  on  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq$  (1.8.5) and the image of  $\varphi_q^n : \mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq$  is contained in  $p^n \mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq$  for any  $n \ge 0$ , we have the result.

**1.8.8.** By 1.8.7,  $a_{pst}$  induces a homomorphism

$$b: D_{pst}(H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))_{\text{quo},\mathbb{Q}_p}) \to (\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]d\log(q))/d\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_{p,ur}.$$

The composition of this map with  $M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \xrightarrow{\cong} D(H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1))$  (note  $D(H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1))_{\mathbb{Q}_p} = D_{pst}(H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)_{\mathbb{Q}_p})$  is the map induced by  $a_{dR}$ . Hence the image of  $D(H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1))$  under b is contained in  $(\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq)/d\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]$ .

Note that for  $n \ge 0$ , the map  $T(p)^n : \mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq$  induces

$$(\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq)/d\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]] \to (\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq)/p^n d\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]].$$

The composition

$$T(p)^n \circ a_{dR} \circ T^*(p)^{-n} : S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\text{ord}} \to (\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq)/p^n d\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]$$

sends  $f \in S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\text{ord}}$  to the class of q-expansion of  $w_M(f)$ . Hence the inverse limit of the last maps for  $n \geq 1$  is the map  $S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\text{ord}} \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]d\log(q)$  which sends  $f \in S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\text{ord}}$  to the q-expansion of  $w_M(f)$ , and which is clearly injective. Hence the inverse limit

$$\tilde{b}: D(H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)) \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq$$

of

$$T(p)^n \circ b \circ T^*(p)^{-n} : D(H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1)) \to (\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq)/p^n d\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]$$

is injective. Via  $\tilde{b}$ ,  $T^*(p)$  (resp.  $p\varphi$ ) on  $D(H^1_{\text{ét}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1))$  is compatible with T(p) (resp.  $\varphi_p$ ) on  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]dq$ . Since  $T(p) \circ \varphi_q = p$  on  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[q]]d\log(q)$ , we have  $T^*(p) \circ \varphi = 1$  on  $D(H^1_{\text{ét}}(X_1(M))^{\text{ord}}_{\text{quo}}(1))$ .

# 1.9 Eisenstein ideal, Drinfeld-Manin splitting

We review some notions concerning Hecke operators which are necessary for this paper.

**1.9.1.** (Eisenstein ideal.) Assume p|M. Let  $N \ge 1$ , (N, p) = 1, and let  $\mathfrak{h} = \varprojlim_r \mathfrak{h}(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}}$ ,  $\mathfrak{H} = \varprojlim_r \mathfrak{H}(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}}$  as usual. Let R be one of  $\mathfrak{h}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ ,  $\mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ ,  $\mathfrak{h}$ ,  $\mathfrak{H}$ .

The Eisenstein ideal of R is defined to be the ideal generated by  $1 - T^*(\ell) + \ell \langle \ell \rangle^{-1}$  for all prime numbers  $\ell \not| M$  and  $1 - T^*(\ell)$  for all prime numbers  $\ell \mid M$ .

We will denote the Eisenstein ideal of R by I.

**1.9.2.** (Eisenstein component.) Let R be as above. Then R is a complete semi-local ring, and hence  $R = \prod_m R_m$  where m ranges over all maximal ideals (there are only finitely many m) and  $R_m$  is the local ring of R at m which is a complete local ring.

The Eisenstein component  $R_E$  of R is defined to be  $\prod_m R_m$  where m ranges over all maximal ideals of R which contain the Eisenstein ideal of R.

**1.9.3.** There is a unique left inverse of the canonical injection  $H^1(X_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q}) \to H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q})$  (resp.  $S_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \to M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ ) which is compatible with the actions of  $\mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ .

Let  $N \geq 1$ , (N, p) = 1, and let  $H, H, S_{\Lambda}, M_{\Lambda}$  and  $\mathfrak{H}$  be as before. Then there is a unique left inverse of the canonical injection  $H \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda) \to \tilde{H} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda)$  (resp.  $S_{\Lambda} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda) \to M_{\Lambda} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda)$ ) which is compatible with the actions of  $\mathfrak{H}$ .

These left inverses are called Drinfeld-Manin splittings.

# **2** Beilinson elements in $K_2$ of modular curves

Beilinson elements in  $K_2$  of modular curves were defined by Beilinson in [2], and studied by him and then later by [22]. In this section, we review basic definitions (section 2.1), norm relations of Beilinson elements (section 2.2), and the relations of Beilinson elements to values at s = 1 of complex *L*-functions of modular forms (sections 2.3 and 2.4). We slightly improve results in [22]: Beilinson elements of the type  $\{g_{0,\alpha}, g_{0,\beta}\}$  with two 0 in the left entries, which appear in this section and play important roles in this paper, were not considered in [22]. Beilinson elements in section 2.4 related to the modular symbols  $[u:v]_r$  were not considered in [22].

### **2.1** Beilinson elements on Y(m, M)

**2.1.1.** Siegel units ([25]).

For  $(\alpha, \beta) \in (\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})^2 - \{(0, 0)\}$  and for an integer c which is prime to 6 and to the orders of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , the Siegel unit  ${}_{c}g_{\alpha,\beta}$  is defined. It is an element of  $\mathcal{O}(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM])^{\times}$ for integers  $m, M \geq 1, m + M \geq 5$  such that  $m\alpha = 0$  and  $M\beta = 0$ . It is characterized by its q-expansion as follows. Let

$$\gamma_q(t) := \prod_{n \ge 0} (1 - q^n t) \cdot \prod_{n \ge 1} (1 - q^n t^{-1}) \in \mathbb{Z}[t, 1/t][[q]]^{\times},$$
$$\theta(t) := q^{\frac{c^2 - 1}{12}} (-t)^{\frac{c - c^2}{2}} \gamma_q(t)^{c^2} \gamma_q(t^c)^{-1} \in \mathbb{Z}[t, 1/t][[q]][q^{-1}]^{\times}$$

Write  $\alpha = a/m \mod \mathbb{Z}, \ \beta = b/M \mod \mathbb{Z} \ (a, b \in \mathbb{Z})$ . Then  ${}_{c}g_{\alpha,\beta}$  has the q-expansion

$$_{c}g_{\alpha,\beta} = _{c}\theta(q^{a/m}\zeta_{M}^{b}) \quad in \quad \mathbb{Z}[1/mM,\zeta_{M}][[q^{1/m}]][q^{-1}]^{ imes}$$

Here  $q^{1/m} = e^{2\pi i \tau/m}$   $(\tau \in \mathcal{H})$ . Taking c such that  $c \equiv 1 \mod m$ ,  $c \equiv 1 \mod M$  and  $c \neq \pm 1$ , let

$$g_{\alpha,\beta} = {}_{c}g_{\alpha,\beta} \otimes (c^{2}-1)^{-1} \in \mathcal{O}(Y(m,M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM])^{\times} \otimes \mathbb{Q}.$$

Then  $g_{\alpha,\beta}$  is independent of the choice of such c.

**2.1.2.** The following distribution property of Siegel units is often used in section 2.2. Let  $L \ge 1$ , and assume (c, L) = 1. Then we have

$$\prod_{\alpha',\beta'} {}_{c}g_{\alpha',\beta'} = {}_{c}g_{\alpha,\beta} \quad \text{in } \mathcal{O}(Y(mL,ML) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mML])^{\times}.$$

where  $(\alpha', \beta')$  ranges over all elements of  $(\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})^2$  such that  $\alpha = L\alpha'$  and  $\beta = L\beta'$ .

**2.1.3.** If 
$$m|L$$
,  $M|L$ , for  $\begin{pmatrix} s & u \\ t & v \end{pmatrix} \in GL(2, \mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z})$ ,  
 $\begin{pmatrix} s & u \\ t & v \end{pmatrix}^* ({}_{c}g_{\alpha,\beta}) = {}_{c}g_{\alpha',\beta'} \text{ with } (\alpha',\beta') = (\alpha,\beta) \begin{pmatrix} s & u \\ t & v \end{pmatrix}$ .

In particular, since the action of the matrix  $\begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$  on Y(L) is trivial, we have

(1) 
$$_{c}g_{\alpha,\beta} = _{c}g_{-\alpha,-\beta}.$$

**2.1.4.** For a matrix  $R = \begin{pmatrix} s & u \\ t & v \end{pmatrix} \in M(2,\mathbb{Z})$  satisfying the condition (i) below, define Beilinson elements  $_{c,d}z_{m,M}(R) \in K_2(Y(m,M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM])$  and  $z_{m,M}(R) \in K_2(Y(m,M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM]) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ , where  $c, d \in \mathbb{Z}$  and (cd, 6mM) = 1, as follows.

$$c_{,d}z_{m,M}(R) = c_{,d}z_{m,M}\begin{pmatrix} s & u \\ t & v \end{pmatrix} := \{cg_{s/m,u/M}, dg_{t/m,v/M}\} \in K_2(Y(m,M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM]), \\ z_{m,M}(R) = \{g_{s/m,u/M}, g_{t/m,v/M}\} \in K_2(Y(m,M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM]) \otimes \mathbb{Q}.$$

Here  $\{-, -\}$  is the Steinberg symbol.

(i) Neither the images of (s, u) nor (t, v) in  $\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  is (0, 0).

These Beilinson elements depend only on  $s, t \mod m$  and  $u, v \mod M$ , and so we often regard them as functions of  $s, t \mod m$  and  $u, v \mod M$ .

In the case m = M and  $R' \in SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ , by 2.1.3, we have

$$(R')^*(z_{M,M}(R)) = z_{M,M}(RR'), \quad (R')^*(_{c,d}z_{M,M}(R)) = _{c,d}z_{M,M}(RR').$$

### 2.2 Norm relations

We prove Propositions 2.2.2, 2.2.3, 2.2.4, 2.2.5 on norms of Beilinson elements.

For an integer  $m \ge 1$ , let prime(m) be the set of all prime divisors of m.

We will often use the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.2.1.** Let m, M, L be positive integers. Assume m|L, M|L. Then we have the following result.

- (1) If m|m'|L, and M|M'|L,  $G_L(m', M')$  is a normal subgroup of  $G_L(m, M)$ .
- (2) Let  $\ell$  be a prime. Then  $G_L(m, M)/G_L(m\ell, M\ell)$  is isomorphic to

$$\begin{cases} M(2, \mathbb{F}_{\ell}) & (by \begin{pmatrix} 1+mx & my \\ Mz & 1+Mu \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ z & u \end{pmatrix}) & \text{if } \ell | m \text{ and } \ell | M \\ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \mathbb{F}_{\ell} & \mathbb{F}_{\ell} \\ 0 & \mathbb{F}_{\ell}^{\times} & \mathbb{F}_{\ell} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} & (by \begin{pmatrix} x & my \\ Mz & 1+Mu \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 1 & z & u \\ 0 & x & y \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}) & \text{if } \ell \not | m \text{ but } \ell | M \\ GL(2, \mathbb{F}_{\ell}) & (by \mod \ell) & \text{if } \ell \not | m M. \end{cases}$$

**Proposition 2.2.2.** Let  $m, M \ge 1$  and assume  $m + M \ge 5$ . Assume  $prime(m) \subset prime(M)$ . Let  $L \ge 1$ . Let  $R \in M(2,\mathbb{Z})$ , assume that the condition (i) in 2.1.4 is satisfied, and assume further that the image of R in  $M(2,\mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z})$  belongs to  $GL(2,\mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z})$ . Let  $c, d \in \mathbb{Z}$  and assume (cd, 6mML) = 1.

Then the norm map  $K_2(Y(mL, ML) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mML]) \to K_2(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mML])$ sends  $_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R)$  to

$$(\prod_{\ell \mid L, \ell \mid \not m} P_{\ell}) \cdot {}_{c,d} z_{m,M}(R)$$

where  $\prod_{\ell \mid L, \ell \mid m}$  is the product over all prime divisors  $\ell$  of L which do not divide m, and

$$\begin{split} P_{\ell} &= 1 - T^{*}(\ell) \begin{pmatrix} 1/\ell & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{*} + \begin{pmatrix} 1/\ell & 0\\ 0 & 1/\ell \end{pmatrix}^{*} \cdot \ell \quad if \ \ell \not| M, \\ P_{\ell} &= 1 - T^{*}(\ell) \begin{pmatrix} 1/\ell & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{*} \quad if \ \ell | M. \end{split}$$

*Proof.* Write  $R = \begin{pmatrix} s & u \\ t & v \end{pmatrix}$ . The proof is essentially the same as that of Proposition 2.4 in [22], where we treated the case s = 1, u = 0, t = 0, v = 1.

We may assume that L is a prime number  $\ell$ . In the following (1) (resp. (2), resp. (3)), we treat the case  $\ell | m$  (resp.  $\ell \not | m$  but  $\ell | M$ , resp.  $\ell \not | M$ ).

(1) Assume  $\ell | m$ . Take an integer  $J \geq 1$  such that  $m\ell | J$  and  $M\ell | J$ . Let

$$H = \{h \in G_J(m, M) \mid \left(\frac{t}{m\ell}, \frac{v}{M\ell}\right)h = \left(\frac{t}{m\ell}, \frac{v}{M\ell}\right)\}$$

$$= \{h \in G_J(m, M) \mid h \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 1 + xvm & yvm \\ -xtM & 1 - ytM \end{pmatrix} \mod G_J(m\ell, M\ell) \text{ for some } x, y \in \mathbb{Z} \}.$$

Then the morphism  $Y(m\ell, M\ell) \to Y(m, M)$  factors as  $Y(m\ell, M\ell) \to H \setminus Y(J) \to Y(m, M)$ , and the norm map  $K_2(Y(m\ell, M\ell) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]) \to K_2(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])$ factors as  $K_2(Y(m\ell, M\ell) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]) \xrightarrow{N_1} K_2(H \setminus Y(J) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]) \xrightarrow{N_2} K_2(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])$ , where  $N_1$  and  $N_2$  are norm maps.

Claim 1.  $N_1$  sends  $_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R)$  to  $\{_{c}g_{s/m,u/M}, _{d}g_{t/m\ell,v/M\ell}\}$ .

We prove Claim 1. Since  $_{d}g_{t/m\ell,v/M\ell} \in \mathcal{O}(H \setminus Y(J) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])^{\times}$ ,

$$N_1({}_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R)) = \{ N_1({}_{c}g_{s/m\ell,u/M\ell}), \ {}_{d}g_{t/m\ell,v/M\ell} \},$$

where  $N_1$  on the right hand side is the norm map  $N_1 : \mathcal{O}(Y(m\ell, M\ell) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])^{\times} \to \mathcal{O}(H \setminus Y(J) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])^{\times}$ . Let  $\tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}$  be a set in  $\mathbb{Z}$  of representatives of  $\mathbb{F}_{\ell}$ . We have

$$N_1(cg_{s/m\ell,u/M\ell}) = \prod_{x,y\in\tilde{\mathbb{F}}_\ell} \begin{pmatrix} 1+xvm & yvm \\ -xtM & 1-ytM \end{pmatrix}^* cg_{s/m\ell,u/M\ell}$$
$$= \prod_{x,y\in\tilde{\mathbb{F}}_\ell} cg_{s/m\ell+(sv-tu)x/\ell,u/M\ell+(sv-tu)y/\ell} = cg_{s/m,u/M}$$

by Lemma 2.2.1 and by the distribution property 2.1.2 of Siegel units. This proves Claim 1.

Since  $_{c}g_{s/m,u/M} \in \mathcal{O}(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM])^{\times}$ ,

$$N_2(\{cg_{s/m,u/M}, dg_{t/m\ell,v/M\ell}\}) = \{cg_{s/m,u/M}, N_2(dg_{t/m\ell,v/M\ell})\},\$$

where  $N_2$  on the right hand side is the norm map  $N_2 : \mathcal{O}(H \setminus Y(J) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])^{\times} \to \mathcal{O}(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])^{\times}$ . We have similarly,

$$N_2(_dg_{t/m\ell,v/M\ell}) = _dg_{t/m,v/M}.$$

(2) Assume  $\ell \not\mid m$  but  $\ell \mid M$ . Let  $J \ge 1$  be as in the proof of (1).

By using Lemma 2.2.1 (2), we see that there exists an element  $h \in G_J(m, M)$  such that

(2.1) 
$$(\frac{s}{m\ell}, \frac{u}{M\ell})h \text{ or } (\frac{t}{m\ell}, \frac{v}{M\ell})h \in (1/m)\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z} \times (1/M\ell)\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z} \subset \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

In what follows, we show the result assuming that we can take  $h \in G_J(m, M)$  such that  $(t/m\ell, v/M\ell)h \in (1/m)\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z} \times (1/M\ell)/\mathbb{Z}$ . The other case can be treated in the same way. Put

$$h^*({}_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R)) = \{ {}_{c}g_{s'/m\ell,u'/M\ell}, \ {}_{d}g_{t\ell'/m,v'/M\ell} \}$$

with some  $s', u', v', \ell' \in \mathbb{Z}$  satisfying  $s' \equiv s \mod m, u' \equiv u \mod M, v' \equiv v \mod M$ , and  $\ell\ell' \equiv 1 \mod m$ . By our assumption  $(t/m\ell, v/M\ell)h \in (1/m)\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z} \times (1/M\ell)/\mathbb{Z}$ , we have  $\ell \not| s'v'$ . It is clear that  $h^*(_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R))$  has the same image as  $_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R)$  under the norm map  $K_2(Y(m\ell, M\ell)) \to K_2(Y(m, M))$  in question.

The morphism  $Y(m\ell, M\ell) \to Y(m, M)$  factors as  $Y(m\ell, M\ell) \to Y(m, M(\ell)) \to Y(m, M)$ . Note that  $Y(m, M(\ell))$  is the quotient of  $Y(m\ell, M\ell)$  by the action of the matrices  $\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{x} & my \\ 0 & 1+Mw \end{pmatrix}$  with  $x \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}^{\times}$ ,  $y, w \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}$ , where  $\tilde{x}$  denotes an integer whose image in  $(\mathbb{Z}/m\ell\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \cong (\mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is (x, 1). The norm map  $K_2(Y(m\ell, M\ell) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]) \to K_2(Y(m, M(\ell)) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])$  sends  $h^*(_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R))$  to

$$\sum_{x \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}^{\times}, y, w \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} \{ cg_{s'\tilde{x}/m\ell, \, u'/M\ell + y/\ell}, \, dg_{t\ell'/m, \, v'/M\ell + w/\ell} \} \quad (\text{denote this by } A)$$

As in 1.2.3, let  $\pi : Y(m, M(\ell)) \to Y(m, M)$  be the canonical projection and let  $\psi_{\ell} : Y(m, M(\ell)) \to Y(m, M)$  be the unique morphism which is compatible with  $\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ ;  $\tau \mapsto \ell \tau$  so that  $T^*(\ell) = \pi_* \psi_{\ell}^*$ . We have

$$\psi_{\ell}^*(_c g_{a/m,b/M}) = \prod_{v \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} _c g_{a/m,b/M\ell + v/\ell}$$

for any  $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Since

$$\prod_{w',y\in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} cg_{s'\tilde{x}/m\ell+w'/\ell,u'/M\ell+y/\ell} = cg_{s/m,u/M}$$

(note that  $s'\tilde{x} \equiv s' \equiv s \mod m$  and  $u' \equiv u \mod M$ ),

$$\prod_{x \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}^{\times}, y \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} cg_{s'\tilde{x}/m\ell, u'/M\ell+y/\ell} = \left(\prod_{x, y \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} cg_{s'/m\ell+x/\ell, u'/M\ell+y/\ell}\right) \left(\prod_{y \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} cg_{s\ell'/m, u'/M\ell+y/\ell}\right)^{-1}$$
$$= \left(cg_{s/m, u/M}\right) \left(\prod_{y \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} cg_{s\ell'/m, u'/M\ell+y/\ell}\right)^{-1}.$$

Hence

$$A = \{ cg_{s/m,u/M}, \prod_{w \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} dg_{t\ell'/m,v'/M\ell+w/\ell} \} - \psi_{\ell}^* \{ cg_{s\ell'/m,u/M}, dg_{t\ell'/m,v/M} \}.$$

The norm map  $\pi_*: K_2(Y(m, M(\ell)) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]) \to K_2(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])$  sends A to

$$\{ cg_{s/m,u/M}, \ \pi_* \prod_{w \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} dg_{t\ell'/m,v'/M\ell+w/\ell} \} - T^*(\ell) \{ cg_{s\ell'/m,u/M}, \ dg_{t\ell'/m,v/M} \}.$$

As Y(m, M) is the quotient of  $Y(m, M(\ell))$  by the action of  $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ w'M & 1 \end{pmatrix}$   $(w' \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell})$ , it follows

$$\pi_* \prod_{w \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} {}_d g_{t\ell'/m, v'/M\ell + w/\ell} = \prod_{w', w \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} {}_d g_{t\ell'/m + w'/\ell, v'/M\ell + w/\ell} = {}_d g_{t/m, v/M}.$$

Hence we obtain the result.

(3) Assume  $\ell \not M$ . Let  $J \ge 1$  be as in the proof of (1).

As in (2), there exists  $h \in G_I(m, M)$  such that (2.1) in the proof of (2) is satisfied. As in (2), we show the result assuming that we can take  $h \in G_J(m, M)$  such that  $(t/m\ell, v/M\ell)h \in (1/m)\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z} \times (1/M\ell)/\mathbb{Z}$ . The other case can be treated in the same way.

Take an integer  $\ell'$  satisfying  $\ell\ell' \equiv 1 \mod mM$ . Put

$$h^*({}_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R)) = \{ {}_{c}g_{s'/m\ell,u'/M\ell}, \ {}_{d}g_{t\ell'/m,v'/M\ell} \}$$

for  $s', u', v' \in \mathbb{Z}$  satisfying  $s' \equiv s \mod m, u' \equiv u \mod M$ , and  $v' \equiv v \mod M$ . We also have l / s'v'. Clearly  $h^*(_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R))$  has the same image as  $_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R)$  under the norm map  $K_2(Y(m\ell, M\ell) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]) \to K_2(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]).$ 

The morphism  $Y(m\ell, M\ell) \to Y(m, M)$  factors as  $Y(m\ell, M\ell) \to Y(m, M\ell) \to Y(m, M(\ell)) \to Y(m, M(\ell))$ Y(m, M). The  $Y(m, M\ell)$  is the quotient of  $Y(m\ell, M\ell)$  by the action of the matrices  $\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{x} & my \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$  with  $x \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}^{\times}$ ,  $y \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}$ , where  $\tilde{x}$  denotes an integer whose image in  $(\mathbb{Z}/m\ell\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \cong$  $(\mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is (x,1). Since  ${}_{d}g_{\ell\ell'/m,v'/M\ell} \in \mathcal{O}(Y(m,M\ell) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])^{\times}$ , the norm map  $N_1$  :  $K_2(Y(m\ell, M\ell) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]) \rightarrow K_2(Y(m, M\ell) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])$  sends  $h^*(_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R))$  to

$$N_{1}(h^{*}(_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R))) = \{N_{1}(_{c}g_{s'/m\ell,u'/M\ell}), \ dg_{t\ell'/m,v'/M\ell}\} = \{\prod_{x\in\tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}^{\times}, y\in\tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} _{c}g_{s'\tilde{x}/m\ell,u'/M\ell+y/\ell}, \ dg_{t\ell'/m,v'/M\ell}\} = \{\frac{cg_{s/m,u/M}}{\prod_{y\in\tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} cg_{s\ell'/m,u'/M\ell+y/\ell}}, \ dg_{t\ell'/m,v'/M\ell}\}.$$

Here  $N_1$  on the right hand side of the first equality is the norm map  $N_1 : \mathcal{O}(Y(m\ell, M\ell) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])^{\times} \to \mathcal{O}(Y(m, M\ell) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])^{\times}$ , and we see  $N_1({}_{c}g_{s'/m\ell, u'/M\ell}) \in \mathcal{O}(Y(m, M(\ell)) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1_mM\ell])^{\times}$ .

The  $Y(m, M(\ell))$  is the quotient of  $Y(m, M\ell)$  by the action of the matrices  $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{w} \end{pmatrix}$ with  $\tilde{w} \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}^{\times}$ , where  $\tilde{w}$  denotes an integer such that whose image in  $(\mathbb{Z}/M\ell\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \cong$  $(\mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is (w, 1). The norm map  $N_2 : K_2(Y(m, M\ell) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]) \to$  $K_2(Y(m, M(\ell)) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])$  sends  $N_1(h^*(_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R)))$  to

$$N_{2}(N_{1}(h^{*}(_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R)))) = \{\frac{cg_{s/m,u/M}}{\prod_{y\in\tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}}cg_{s\ell'/m, u'/M\ell+y/\ell}}, N_{2}(_{d}g_{t\ell'/m, v'/M\ell})\}$$

$$= \{\frac{cg_{s/m,u/M}}{\prod_{y\in\tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}}cg_{s\ell'/m, u'/M\ell+y/\ell}}, \frac{\prod_{w\in\tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}}dg_{t\ell'/m, v'/M\ell+w/\ell}}{dg_{t\ell'/m, v'\ell'/M}}\}$$

$$= \{cg_{s/m, u/M}, \prod_{w\in\tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}}dg_{t\ell'/m, v'/M\ell+w/\ell}\} + \{\prod_{y\in\tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}}cg_{s\ell'/m, u'/M\ell+y/\ell}, dg_{t\ell'/m, v'\ell'/M}\}$$

$$- \psi_{\ell}^{*}\{cg_{s\ell'/m, u/M}, dg_{t\ell'/m, v/M}\} - \{cg_{s/m,u/M}, dg_{t\ell'/m, v'\ell'/M}\}.$$

Here  $\psi_{\ell}: Y(m, M(\ell)) \to Y(m, M)$  is as in 1.2.3. Let  $\pi: Y(m, M(\ell)) \to Y(m, M)$  be the canonical projection. Recall that  $\pi_* \psi_{\ell}^* = T^*(\ell)$ . Now the norm map  $\pi_*: K_2(Y(m, M(\ell)) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]) \to K_2(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell])$  sends  $N_2(N_1(h^*(_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R))))$  to

$$\{ cg_{s/m, u/M}, \ \pi_* (\prod_{w \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} dg_{t\ell'/m, v'/M\ell+u/\ell}) \} + \{ \pi_* (\prod_{y \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} cg_{s\ell'/m, u'/M\ell+y/\ell}), \ dg_{t\ell'/m, v\ell'/M} \}$$
  
-  $T^*(\ell) \{ cg_{s\ell'/m, u/M}, \ dg_{t\ell'/m, v/M} \} - (\ell+1) \{ cg_{s/m,u/M}, \ dg_{t\ell'/m, v\ell'/M} \}.$ 

We can show

$$\pi_* \left(\prod_{w \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} dg_{t\ell'/m, v'/M\ell+w/\ell}\right) = dg_{t/m, v/M} \cdot \left(dg_{t\ell'/m, v\ell'/M}\right)^{\ell},$$
$$\pi_* \left(\prod_{y \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} cg_{s\ell'/m, u'/M\ell+y/\ell}\right) = cg_{s/m, u/M} \cdot \left(cg_{s\ell'/m, u\ell'/M}\right)^{\ell},$$

just as in the computation of  $\pi_*$  at the end of the proof of the case (2). Hence we obtain the result.

**Proposition 2.2.3.** Let  $m, M \ge 1$  and assume  $m + M \ge 5$ . Let  $L \ge 1$  and assume  $prime(mL) \subset prime(M)$ . Let  $c, d \in \mathbb{Z}$  and assume (cd, 6mML) = 1. Let  $R \in M(2, \mathbb{Z})$  and assume the image of R in  $M(2, \mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z})$  belongs to  $GL(2, \mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z})$ . Let

$$g: Y(m, ML) \to Y(m, L)$$

be the unique morphism which is compatible with  $\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ ;  $\tau \mapsto L\tau$ . Over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/mML]$ , this morphism is described as  $(E, e_1, e_2) \mapsto (E', e'_1, e'_2)$  where E' is the quotient of E by the subgroup generated by  $Me_2$ , and  $e'_i$  is the image of  $e_i$  in E'. Then the norm map  $g_* : K_2(Y(m, ML) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mML]) \to K_2(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mML])$  associated to g sends  $_{c,d}z_{m,ML}(R)$  to  $_{c,d}z_{m,M}(R)$ . *Proof.* We may and do assume that L is a prime number  $\ell$ .

Then the morphism g factors as

$$Y(m, M\ell) \to Y(m, M(\ell)) \xrightarrow{\varphi_{\ell}} Y(m(\ell), M) \to Y(m, M).$$

Here the arrows  $\rightarrow$  are the canonical projections and  $\varphi_{\ell}$  is the unique isomorphism which is compatible with  $\tau \mapsto \ell \tau$  on the upper half plane.

Write 
$$R = \begin{pmatrix} s & u \\ t & v \end{pmatrix}$$
.

The first arrow in the above factorization of g sends  $_{c,d}z_{m,ML}(R)$  to

$$\sum_{x \in \mathbb{F}_{\ell}} \{ cg_{s/m, u/M\ell + ux/\ell}, \ dg_{t/m, v/M\ell + vx/\ell} \}$$
  
= 
$$\sum_{x, y, z, w, w' \in \mathbb{F}_{\ell}} \{ cg_{s/m\ell + y/\ell, u/M\ell^2 + u\tilde{x}/\ell^2 + z/\ell}, \ dg_{t/m\ell + w/\ell, v/M\ell^2 + v\tilde{x}/\ell^2 + w'/\ell} \} = \varphi_{\ell}^*(\eta)$$

with

$$\eta = \sum_{x,y,w \in \mathbb{F}_{\ell}} \{ cg_{s/m\ell+y/\ell,u/M\ell+ux/\ell}, \ dg_{t/m\ell+w/\ell,v/M\ell+vx/\ell} \}.$$

Here the first = is by the distribution properties of Siegel units. Here  $\tilde{x}$  is a lifting of x to  $\mathbb{Z}/\ell^2\mathbb{Z}$ .

The norm map of  $Y(m(\ell), M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell] \to Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM\ell]$  sends  $\eta$  to

$$\sum_{z \in \mathbb{F}_{\ell}} \eta \begin{pmatrix} 1 & mz \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{x,y,z,w \in \mathbb{F}_{\ell}} \{ cg_{s/m\ell+y/\ell,sz/\ell+u/M\ell+ux/\ell}, \ dg_{t/m\ell+w/\ell,tz/\ell+v/M\ell+vx/\ell} \}$$
$$= \sum_{x,y,z,w \in \mathbb{F}_{\ell}} \{ cg_{s/m\ell+y/\ell,u/M\ell+x/\ell}, \ dg_{t/m\ell+w/\ell,v/M\ell+z/\ell} \} = \{ cg_{s/m,u/M}, \ dg_{t/m,v/M} \}.$$

_

**Proposition 2.2.4.** Let  $m, M \ge 1$  and assume  $m + M \ge 5$ . Let  $L \ge 1$  and assume  $prime(mL) \subset prime(M)$ . Let  $c, d \in \mathbb{Z}$  and assume (cd, 6mML) = 1. Let  $R \in M(2, \mathbb{Z})$  and assume the image of R in  $M(2, \mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z})$  belongs to  $GL(2, \mathbb{Z}/L\mathbb{Z})$ . Let

$$f: Y(mL, M) \to Y(m, M)$$

be the unique morphism which is compatible with  $\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ ;  $\tau \mapsto \tau/L$ . Over  $\mathbb{Z}[1/mML]$ , this morphism is described as  $(E, e_1, e_2) \mapsto (E', e'_1, e'_2)$  where E' is the quotient of E by the subgroup generated by  $Me_1$ , and  $e'_i$  is the the image of  $e_i$  in E'. Then the norm map  $f_*: K_2(Y(mL, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mML]) \to K_2(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mML])$  associated to f sends  $_{c,d}z_{mL,M}(R)$  to

$$(\prod_{\ell \in C} (1 - T^*(\ell) \begin{pmatrix} 1/\ell & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^*))(_{c,d} z_{m,M}(R)),$$

where C denotes the set of all prime divisors of L which do not divide m.

 $a \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}, (a,p) = 1$   $x \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_p$ 

Proof. Consider the unique morphism  $g: Y(mL, ML) \to Y(mL, M)$  which is compatible with  $\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ ;  $\tau \mapsto L\tau$  considered in Proposition 2.2.3 (*m* there is mL here). Then the composition  $f \circ g$  coincides with the canonical projection  $Y(mL, ML) \to Y(m, M)$ . By Proposition 2.2.2 it is sufficient to prove that the norm map  $g_*$  associated to gsends  $_{c,d}z_{mL,ML}(R) \in K_2(Y(mL, ML) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mML])$  to  $_{c,d}z_{mL,M}(R) \in K_2(Y(mL, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mML])$ . But this follows from Proposition 2.2.3 which we apply by taking mL as mthere.

**Proposition 2.2.5.** Assume p|M. Consider the map

$$K_2(Y_1(Mp) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M])[\mathbb{Z}/Mp\mathbb{Z}] \to K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M])[\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}],$$

where  $K_2(Y_1(Mp) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M]) \to K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M])$  is the norm map and  $\mathbb{Z}/Mp\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  is given by the natural projection. For a divisor M' of M such that M/M' is prime to p, under this map, we have

$$\sum_{a \in \mathbb{Z}/Mp\mathbb{Z}, (a,p)=1} \{ cg_{0,a/Mp, d}g_{0,1/M'p} \} \cdot [a] \mapsto T^*(p) \sum_{a \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}, (a,p)=1} \{ cg_{0,a/M, d}g_{0,1/M'} \} \cdot [a].$$

*Proof.* For each  $a \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  such that (a, p) = 1, take a lifting  $\tilde{a}$  in  $\mathbb{Z}/Mp\mathbb{Z}$  of a. The image of

$$\sum_{a \in \mathbb{Z}/Mp\mathbb{Z}, (a,p)=1} \{ cg_{0,a/Mp}, dg_{0,1/M'p} \} [a] \text{ in } K_2(Y_1(Mp) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mp])[\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}] \text{ is}$$

$$\sum_{a \in \mathbb{Z}/Mp\mathbb{Z}, (a,p)=1} \{ \prod_{c} cg_{0,\tilde{a}/Mp+x/p}, dg_{0,1/M'p} \} [a] = \sum_{a \in \mathbb{Z}/Mp\mathbb{Z}, (a,p)=1} \{ \psi_p^*(cg_{0,a/M}), dg_{0,1/M'p} \} [a].$$

Since  $\psi_p^*({}_cg_{0,a/M}) \in K_1(Y(1, M(p)) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mp])$ , the norm map  $K_2(Y_1(Mp) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mp]) \to K_2(Y_1(1, M(p)) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mp])$  sends  $\{\psi_p^*({}_cg_{0,a/M}), {}_dg_{0,1/M'p}\}$  to  $\{\psi_p^*({}_cg_{0,a/M}), \mathcal{N}({}_dg_{0,1/M'p})\}$ , where  $\mathcal{N}$  is the norm map  $\mathcal{O}(Y_1(Mp) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mp])^{\times} \to \mathcal{O}(Y(1, M(p)) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mp])^{\times}$ . We have

$$\mathcal{N}(_{d}g_{0,1/M'p}) = \prod_{y \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{p}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1+yM \end{pmatrix}^{*} _{d}g_{0,1/M'p} = \prod_{y \in \tilde{\mathbb{F}}_{p}} _{d}g_{0,1/M'p+y/p} = \psi_{p}^{*}(_{d}g_{0,1/M'}).$$

Hence the norm map  $K_2(Y_1(Mp)\otimes\mathbb{Z}[1/Mp]) \to K_2(Y(1, M(p))\otimes\mathbb{Z}[1/Mp])$  sends  $\{\psi_p^*(_{c}g_{0,a/M}), _{d}g_{0,1/M'p}\}$  to  $\psi_p^*(\{_{c}g_{0,a/M}, _{d}g_{0,1/M'}\})$ . Since  $T^*(p) = \pi_*\psi_p^*$  where  $\pi : Y(1, M(p)) \to Y_1(M)$  is the canonical projection, the norm map  $K_2(Y_1(Mp)\otimes\mathbb{Z}[1/Mp]) \to K_2(Y_1(M)\otimes\mathbb{Z}[1/Mp])$  sends  $\{\psi_p^*(_{c}g_{0,a/M}), _{d}g_{0,1/M'p}\}$  to  $T^*(p)\{_{c}g_{0,a/M}, _{d}g_{0,1/M'}\}$ .

 $a \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}, (a,p)=1$ 

**Remark 2.2.6.** These propositions have the evident versions for  $z_{m,M}(R) \in K_2(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM]) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$  without c, d, which can be proved in the same way as these propositions.

# **2.3** Beilinson elements on Y(m, M) and zeta values

We review the relation of Beilinson elements to the values of L-functions of modular forms at s = 1 obtained in [22] section 9. The L-functions here are the complex L-functions, but the relation is given p-adically. We will use this relation in section 3.

Concerning the relations of Beilinson elements to these *L*-functions at s = 0 (through the regulator maps), see [2] section 5 (cf. also [22] section 2).

**2.3.1.** Zeta function  $Z_{m,M}(s)$ . We consider the following zeta function of Y(m, M) which is an operator-valued function acting on  $H^1(Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})$ .

$$Z_{m,M}(s) = \sum_{n \ge 1, (n,m)=1} T^*(n) \begin{pmatrix} 1/n & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^* \cdot n^{-s} = \prod_{\ell \text{ prime}} P_{\ell}(\ell^{-s})^{-1}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} P_{\ell}(u) &= 1 - T^{*}(\ell) \begin{pmatrix} 1/\ell & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{*} \cdot u + \begin{pmatrix} 1/\ell & 0\\ 0 & 1/\ell \end{pmatrix}^{*} \cdot \ell u^{2} & \text{if } \ell \not m M, \\ P_{\ell}(u) &= 1 - T^{*}(\ell) \begin{pmatrix} 1/\ell & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{*} \cdot u & \text{if } \ell \not m \text{ but } \ell | M, \\ P_{\ell}(u) &= 1 & \text{if } \ell | m. \end{aligned}$$

 $Z_{m,M}(s)$  converges when Re(s) > 2, and has meromorphic analytic continuation to the whole complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$  and is holomorphic on  $\mathbb{C}$  except at s = 2.

**2.3.2.** When m = M,  $Z_{M,M}(s)$  commutes with the action of  $GL(2, \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})$ .

**2.3.3.** Let  $m, M \ge 1, m+M \ge 5$ . For  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{Q})$ , let  $\{\alpha, \beta\}_{Y(m,M)} \in H_1(X(m,M)(\mathbb{C}), \{\text{cusps}\}, \mathbb{Z})$  be the class of the image in  $X(m, M)(\mathbb{C})$  of the route on the upper half plane from  $\alpha$  to  $\beta$ . Via the canonical isomorphism of Poincaré duality

$$H_1(X(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), {\operatorname{cusps}}, \mathbb{Z}) \cong H^1(Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})(1),$$

we regard as

$$\{\alpha,\beta\}_{Y(m,M)} \in H^1(Y(m,M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})(1).$$

Here (1) is the Tate twist  $\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}(1)$  where  $\mathbb{Z}(1) = \mathbb{Z} \cdot 2\pi i \subset \mathbb{C}$ . Note that the above isomorphism of Poincaré duality preserves the action of the complex conjugation (the complex conjugation acts also on  $\mathbb{Z}(1)$  here).

**2.3.4.** Let  $M_2(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  be the space of all modular forms of weight 2 on  $X(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ . It is the space of differential forms on  $X(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$  having (possibly) log poles at cusps.

We have the period map

per : 
$$M_2(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \to H^1(Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C}).$$

**2.3.5.** For a finite extension L of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  and for a finite dimensional  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ -vector space V endowed with a continuous action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{L}/L)$  which is a de Rham representation of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{L}/L)$ , let

$$\exp^* : H^1(L, V) \to D^0_{dR}(V) = D^0_{dR}(L, V)$$

be the dual exponential homomorphism. Here  $H^1(L, -)$  denotes the continuous Galois cohomology of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{L}/L)$ .

In the case  $L = \mathbb{Q}_p$  and  $V = H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y(m, M))(1), \ D^0_{dR}(V) = M_2(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ . Hence we have the dual exponential map

$$\exp^*: H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y(m, M))(1)) \to M_2(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}.$$
**2.3.6.** We consider the following composition.

$$\lim_{n} K_2(Y(mp^n, Mp^n)) \xrightarrow{(1)} \lim_{n} H^2(Y(mp^n, Mp^n), \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \cong \lim_{n} H^2(Y(mp^n, Mp^n), \mathbb{Z}_p(1)) 
\rightarrow H^2(Y(m, M), \mathbb{Z}_p(1)) \xrightarrow{(2)} H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/mM], H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y(m, M))(1)) \rightarrow H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y(m, M))) 
\xrightarrow{\exp^*} M_2(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}.$$

Here (1) is the Chern class map, the isomorphism id defined by  $(\otimes \zeta_{p^n}^{\otimes -1})_n$  where  $\zeta_{p^n}$  is the  $p^n$ -th root of 1 on  $Y(mp^n, Mp^n)$  whose pull back to  $\mathcal{H}$  via  $\mathcal{H} \to Y_1(mp^n, Mp^n)(\mathbb{C})$  is  $\exp(2\pi i/p^n)$ , and (2) comes from the spectral sequence

$$H^{i}(\mathbb{Z}[1/mM], H^{j}_{\text{\'et}}(Y(m, M))(1)) \Rightarrow H^{i+j}(Y(m, M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/mM], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(1))$$

and the fact  $H^2_{\text{\'et}}(Y(m, M)) = 0$  (because Y(m, M) is an affine curve).

We will denote this composite map also by exp<sup>\*</sup>.

**2.3.7.** (The case k = 2 and r = r' = 1 of) [22] Theorem 4.6 and Theorem 9.5. Let  $c, d \in \mathbb{Z}$ , (cd, 6mM) = 1. Let

$$\gamma = (c^2 - c \begin{pmatrix} c & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^*)(d^2 - d \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{pmatrix}^*) \cdot \frac{\{0, \infty\}_{Y(m,M)}}{2\pi i} \in H^1(Y(m,M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z}).$$

Then the composite map exp<sup>\*</sup> in 2.3.6 sends  $\binom{1}{c,d} \sum_{mp^n,Mp^n} \binom{1}{0}_{0}_{1}_{1}_{1}_{1}_{1}_{2}_{1}_{2}_{2}_{1}$  to an element  $\omega$  of  $M_2(m, M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  (without  $\otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ ) such that

$$\operatorname{per}(\omega)^+ = Z_{m,M}(1) \cdot \gamma^+$$

in  $H^1(Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})$ . Here  $(-)^+$  denotes the  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear map  $H^1(Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C}) \to H^1(Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})$  induced by  $(1 + \iota)/2 : H^1(Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q}) \to H^1(Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q})$ , where  $\iota$  is the map induced by the complex conjugation  $Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C}) \to Y(m, M)(\mathbb{C})$ .

### **2.4** Beilinson elements on $Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)$ and zeta values

We review modular symbols (Manin symbols) which are used in [51] (cf. [27]). Let  $M \ge 4$ .

**2.4.1.** For  $u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  such that (u, v) = (1) as an ideal of  $\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$ , let

$$[u:v]_{Y_1(M)} \in H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})(1)$$

be as follows ([51] 3.1). Take liftings  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v} \in \mathbb{Z}$  of u, v and  $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $x\tilde{u} - y\tilde{v} = 1$ . Let

$$[u:v]_{Y_1(M)} = \{-\frac{\tilde{v}}{xM}, -\frac{\tilde{u}}{yM}\}_{Y_1(M)}$$

where  $\{-,-\}_{Y_1(M)}$  is as in 2.3.3. It can be shown that this is independent of the choices of  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}, s, t$ .

We have

$$[-u:-v]_{Y_1(M)} = [u:v]_{Y_1(M)}, \quad [v:u]_{Y_1(M)} = -[u:-v]_{Y_1(M)}.$$

In the case an integer  $N \ge 1$  which is prime to p is fixed, we denote  $[u:v]_{Y_1(Np^r)}$  by  $[u:v]_r$  as in [51].

The following facts are known.

- (1) The elements  $[u:v]_{Y_1(M)}$  generate  $H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})$  as a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -module.
- (2) For  $a \in (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ , the diamond operator

$$\langle a \rangle : H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})(1) \to H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})(1)$$

sends  $[u:v]_{Y_1(M)}$  to  $[au:av]_{Y_1(M)}$ .

(3) The complex conjugation  $\iota : H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})(1) \to H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})(1)$  sends  $[u:v]_{Y_1(M)}$  to  $-[v:u]_{Y_1(M)}$ .

We consider Beilinson elements in  $K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_m])$  which are closely related to  $[u:v]_{Y_1(M)}$ .

**2.4.2.** Let  $M \ge 4$ ,  $m \ge 1$ . Let  $u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$ , (u, v) = (1). In the case m = 1, we assume  $u \ne 0$ ,  $v \ne 0$ . We define

$${}_{c,d}z_{1,M,m}(u,v) \in K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm,\zeta_m]), \quad z_{1,M,m}(u,v) \in K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm,\zeta_m]) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$$

as follows.

Take liftings  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v} \in \mathbb{Z}$  of u, v and take integers s, t such that  $s\tilde{v} - t\tilde{u} = 1$ . Let  $_{c,d}z_{1,M,m}(u,v)$  be the image of  $_{c,d}z_{m,Mm}\begin{pmatrix} s & \tilde{u} \\ t & \tilde{v} \end{pmatrix} \in K_2(Y(m,Mm) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm])$  under the norm map  $K_2(Y(m,Mm) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm]) \to K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm,\zeta_m])$ . (The definition of  $z_{1,M,m}(u,v)$  without c,d is similar.)

Then this is independent of the choices of  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}, s, t$ . We prove this.

Take also  $\tilde{u}', \tilde{v}', s', t'$  and let  $R' = \begin{pmatrix} s' & \tilde{u}' \\ t' & \tilde{v}' \end{pmatrix}$ . Let

$$\begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ z & w \end{pmatrix} := R^{-1}R' \in SL(2,\mathbb{Z}).$$

Then

$$y = \tilde{u}'\tilde{v} - \tilde{u}\tilde{v}' \equiv \tilde{u}\tilde{v} - \tilde{u}\tilde{v} \equiv 0, \quad w = s\tilde{v}' - t\tilde{u}' \equiv s\tilde{v} - t\tilde{u} \equiv 1 \mod M.$$

We have

$$_{c,d}z_{m,Mm}(R') = \begin{pmatrix} x & y/M \\ zM & w \end{pmatrix}^* _{c,d}z_{m,Mm}(R).$$

That is, these Beilinson elements are connected by the automorphism  $\begin{pmatrix} x & y/M \\ zM & w \end{pmatrix}$  of  $Y(m, Mm) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm]$  over  $Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_m]$ . Hence their norms to  $Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_m]$  coincide.

In particular,

$$_{c,d}z_{1,M,1}(u,v) = \{ {}_{c}g_{0,u/M}, {}_{d}g_{0,v/M} \}.$$

The (without c, d)-version is defined similarly.

**2.4.3.** For  $a \in (\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ , let  $\sigma_a$  be the element of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbb{Q})$  characterized by  $\sigma_a(\zeta_m) = \zeta_m^a$ .

**Proposition 2.4.4.** (Norm relation.) Let  $L \ge 1$ . Then the norm map  $K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/MmL, \zeta_{mL}]) \to K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/MmL, \zeta_m])$  sends  $_{c,d}z_{1,M,mL}(u, v)$  to

$$\prod_{\ell \in C} \left(1 - \sigma_{\ell}^{-1} \otimes T^*(\ell)\right) \cdot {}_{c,d} z_{1,M,m}(u,v),$$

where C denotes the set of all prime numbers which divide L but which do not divide m.

This follows from Proposition 2.2.2.

In the rest of this section 2.4, we consider the relation of these Beilinson elements and the value at s = 1 of L-functions of modular forms.

**2.4.5.** Zeta function  $Z_{1,M,m}(s)$ .

We consider the following operator-valued zeta function acting on

$$\mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbb{Q})] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\{\pm 1\}]} H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C}).$$

Here -1 in  $\{\pm 1\}$  acts on  $\mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbb{Q})]$  as the complex conjugation in  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbb{Q})$ and acts on  $H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})$  as the map induced by the complex conjugation  $Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}) \to Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C})$ . Let

$$Z_{1,M,m}(s) = \sum_{(n,m)=1} \sigma_n^{-1} \otimes T^*(n) n^{-s} = \prod_{\ell:\text{prime}} P_\ell(\ell^{-s})^{-1}.$$

Here  $\sigma_n$  is as in 2.4.3, and

$$P_{\ell}(u) = 1 - \sigma_{\ell}^{-1} \otimes T^{*}(\ell)u + \sigma_{\ell}^{-2} \otimes \langle \ell \rangle^{-1} \cdot \ell u^{2} \quad \text{if } \ell \not| Mm,$$
$$P_{\ell}(u) = 1 - \sigma_{\ell}^{-1} \otimes T^{*}(\ell)u \quad \text{if } \ell | M \text{ but } \ell \not| m,$$
$$P_{\ell}(u) = 1 \quad \text{if } \ell | m.$$

This zeta function and the zeta function  $Z_{M,m}(s)$  in 2.3.1 are compatible through the projection  $Y(m, M) \to Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)$ .

**2.4.6.** We define an element

$$_{c,d}[u:v]_{1,M,m} \in \mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbb{Q})] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\{\pm 1\}]} H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})$$

as follows:

$${}_{c,d}[u:v]_{1,M,m} = c^2 d^2 \otimes [u:v]_{Y_1(M)} - c^2 \sigma_d \otimes [u:dv]_{Y_1(M)} - d^2 \sigma_c \otimes [cu:v]_{Y_1(M)} + \sigma_{cd} \otimes [cu:dv]_{Y_1(M)} + \sigma_{cd$$

If  $c \equiv d \equiv 1 \mod M$ , then

$$_{c,d}[u:v]_{1,M,m} = (c^2 - \sigma_c)(d^2 - \sigma_d) \otimes [u:v]_{Y_1(M)}$$

**2.4.7.** We consider the period map

$$M_{2}(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^{n}}) \to \mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{m})/\mathbb{Q})] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\{\pm 1\}]} H^{1}(X_{1}(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C}) ;$$
$$x \otimes y \mapsto \sum_{\sigma \in G} \sigma \otimes \sigma^{-1}(y) \operatorname{per}(x)$$

 $(G = \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbb{Q}))$ , where per is the period map  $M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \to H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C}))$ .

This period map and the period map for Y(M, N) in 2.3.4 are related as in the following commutative diagram.

$$\begin{array}{cccc} M_2(m, Mm)_{\mathbb{Q}} & \stackrel{\text{per}}{\to} & H^1(Y(m, Mm)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})/\iota \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n}) & \stackrel{\text{per}}{\to} & \mathbb{Z}[\text{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbb{Q})] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\{\pm 1\}]} H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C}) \end{array}$$

Here  $(-)/\iota$  denotes  $(-)/(1-\iota)(-)$ , and the right vertical arrow is induced from the trace map

$$H^{1}(Y(m, Mm)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z}) \to H^{1}((Y_{1}(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{m}))(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{m})/\mathbb{Q})] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} H^{1}(Y_{1}(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z}).$$

2.4.8. We consider the following composite map, which is defined similarly to 2.3.6.

$$\underbrace{\lim_{n}}_{n} K_{2}(Y_{1}(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_{mp^{n}}]) \to \underbrace{\lim_{n}}_{n} H^{2}(Y_{1}(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_{mp^{n}}], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2)) \\
\to \underbrace{\lim_{n}}_{n} H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/m, \zeta_{mp^{n}}], H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(M)(2)) \cong \underbrace{\lim_{n}}_{n} H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/m, \zeta_{mp^{n}}], H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(M)(1))) \\
\to H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{m}), H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(M)(1))) \xrightarrow{\exp^{*}}_{\to} M_{2}(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{m}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{p}.$$

We will denote this composite map also by  $\exp^*$ . This composite map  $\exp^*$  is compatible with the composite map  $\exp^*$  in 2.3.6 as in the following commutative diagram.

$$\underbrace{\lim_{m \to \infty} K_2(Y(mp^n, Mmp^n) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm])}_{\lim_{m \to \infty} K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}])} \xrightarrow{\exp^*} M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$$

**Theorem 2.4.9.** Assume p|M, p|m. Then the composite map  $\exp^*$  in 2.4.8 sends  $(_{c,d}z_{1,M,mp^n}(u,v))_{n\geq 0}$  to an element of  $M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)$  (without  $\otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ ) whose period image in  $\mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbb{Q})] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\{\pm 1\}]} H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C})$  coincides with  $Z_{1,M,m}(1) \cdot {}_{c,d}[v:u]_{1,M,m}$ .

*Proof.* We use Proposition 2.2.4 and the zeta value formula at s = 1 in section 2.3.

Take liftings  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}$  of u, v to  $\mathbb{Z}$ , respectively, such that  $(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}) = 1$ , and take  $s, t \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $s\tilde{v} - t\tilde{u} = 1$ .

Let  $f': Y(Mm, Mm) \to Y(m, Mm)$  be the unique morphism which commutes with  $\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ ;  $\tau \mapsto \tau/M$ , and let  $f: Y(Mm, Mm) \to Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_m]$  be the composition  $Y(Mm, Mm) \xrightarrow{f'} Y(m, Mm) \to Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_m]$  where the second arrow is the canonical projection. Let  $\gamma \in H^1(Y(Mm, Mm)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})$  be as in section 2.3 (we replace M and N in section 2.3 by Mm and Mm, respectively). Consider the commutative diagrams

$$\begin{split} & \varinjlim_{n} K_{2}(Y(Mmp^{n}, Mmp^{n})) \xrightarrow{\exp^{*}} M_{2}(Mm, Mm)_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} \\ & f_{*} \downarrow & \downarrow f_{*} \\ & \varprojlim_{n} K_{2}(Y_{1}(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_{mp^{n}}]) \xrightarrow{\exp^{*}} M_{2}(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{m}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{p}, \\ & M_{2}(Mm, Mm)_{\mathbb{Q}} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{per}} H^{1}(Y(Mm, Mm)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})/\iota \\ & f_{*} \downarrow & \downarrow f_{*} \\ & M_{2}(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^{n}}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{per}} \mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{m})/\mathbb{Q})] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\{\pm 1\}]} H^{1}(Y_{1}(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C}) \end{split}$$

Here  $-/\iota$  denotes  $(-)/(1-\iota)(-)$ . By 2.3.7, by the upper horizontal rows in these diagrams, we have

$$(_{c,d}z_{Mmp^n,Mmp^n}\begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&1\end{pmatrix})_{n\geq 0}\mapsto\omega,\quad\omega\mapsto Z_{Mm,Mm}(1)\cdot\gamma$$

for some  $\omega \in M_2(Mm, Mm)_{\mathbb{Q}}$ , where  $\gamma$  is as in 2.3.7. Applying  $f_*\begin{pmatrix} s & u \\ t & v \end{pmatrix}^*$  to this, we have that by the lower horizontal rows of these diagrams,

$$f_*(_{c,d}z_{Mmp^n,Mmp^n}\begin{pmatrix}s&\tilde{u}\\t&\tilde{v}\end{pmatrix})_{n\geq 0} \mapsto f_*\begin{pmatrix}s&\tilde{u}\\t&\tilde{v}\end{pmatrix}^*\omega,$$
$$f_*\begin{pmatrix}s&\tilde{u}\\t&\tilde{v}\end{pmatrix}^*\omega \mapsto f_*\begin{pmatrix}s&\tilde{u}\\t&\tilde{v}\end{pmatrix}^*Z_{Mm,Mm}(1)\cdot\gamma$$
$$=(\prod_{\ell\in C}(1-\sigma_\ell^{-1}\otimes T^*(\ell)\ell^{-1}))\cdot Z_{1,M,m}(1)\cdot f_*\begin{pmatrix}s&\tilde{u}\\t&\tilde{v}\end{pmatrix}^*\gamma.$$

Here C denotes the set of prime numbers which divide M but which do not divide m. By Proposition 2.2.4, we have

$$f_*({}_{c,d}z_{Mmp^n,Mmp^n}\begin{pmatrix}s&\tilde{u}\\t&\tilde{v}\end{pmatrix})_{n\geq 0} = (\prod_{\ell\in C}(1-\sigma_\ell^{-1}\otimes T^*(\ell)))\cdot({}_{c,d}z_{1,M,mp^n}(u,v))_{n\geq 1}.$$

We have  $\exp^* \circ (\sigma_{\ell}^{-1} \otimes T^*(\ell)) = (\sigma_{\ell}^{-1} \otimes T^*(\ell))\ell^{-1} \circ \exp^*$  for the lower horizintal arrow  $\exp^*$  of the first diagram.

Claim 1. For  $\ell \in C$ , the endomorphism  $1 - \sigma_{\ell}^{-1} \otimes T^*(\ell)\ell^{-1}$  of  $M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)$  and the endomorphism  $1 - \sigma_{\ell}^{-1} \otimes T^*(\ell)\ell^{-1}$  of  $\mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)/\mathbb{Q})] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\{\pm 1\}]} H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q})$  are isomorphisms. By Claim 1, we have that the lower horizontal arrow of the first diagram sends  $(_{c,d}z_{1,M,mp^n}(u,v))_{n\geq 0}$  to an element  $\omega'$  of  $M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_m)$  whose image under the lower horizontal arrow of the second diagram is  $Z_{1,M,m}(1) \cdot f_*(\gamma)$ . It remains to prove that  $f_*(\gamma) = -c_{c,d}[u:v]_{1,M,m}/(2\pi i)$ . We have

$$f_* \begin{pmatrix} s & \tilde{u} \\ t & \tilde{v} \end{pmatrix}^* \{0, \infty\}_{Y(Mm,Mm)} = f_* \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{v} & -\tilde{u} \\ -t & s \end{pmatrix}_* \{0, \infty\}_{Y(Mm,Mm)}$$
$$= f_* \{-\frac{\tilde{u}}{s}, -\frac{\tilde{v}}{t}\}_{Y(Mm,Mm)} = \{-\frac{\tilde{u}}{sM}, -\frac{\tilde{v}}{tM}\}_{Y_1(M)} = [v:u]_{Y_1(M)}.$$

By modifying this computation slightly, we obtain

$$f_* \begin{pmatrix} s & \tilde{u} \\ t & \tilde{v} \end{pmatrix}^* \begin{pmatrix} c & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^* \{0, \infty\}_{Y(Mm,Mm)} = \begin{pmatrix} c & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^* [cu:v]_{Y_1(M)} = \sigma_c \otimes [cu:v]_{Y_1(M)},$$

$$f_* \begin{pmatrix} s & \tilde{u} \\ t & \tilde{v} \end{pmatrix}^* \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{pmatrix}^* \{0, \infty\}_{Y(Mm,Mm)} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{pmatrix}^* [d^{-1}u:v]_{Y_1(M)}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} d & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^* \langle d \rangle^* [d^{-1}u:v]_{Y_1(M)} = \sigma_d \otimes [u:dv]_{Y_1(M)}.$$

These prove  $f_*(\gamma) = -_{c,d}[u:v]_{1,M,m}/(2\pi i).$ 

In the above, we used the facts

$$\begin{pmatrix} c & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^* = \sigma_c, \quad \begin{pmatrix} d^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{pmatrix}^* = \langle d \rangle^*$$

for  $Y_1(M)$ .

# 3 Beilinson elements in Galois cohomology

In this section 3, we construct a correspondence

modular symbol  $\mapsto$  Beilinson element (in Galois cohomology)

having characterizations by zeta values. In section 3.1, we construct systems of Beilinson elements in the direction of cyclotomic extensions. In section 3.2, we consider the ordinary component of 3.1 and extend it also to the level direction. In section 3.3, for the ordinary component, we construct other systems of Beilinson elements in the direction of level changes of modular curves.

This section 3 is an improvement of Theorem 12.5 of [22] in which we considered the f-components of the above correspondences associated to individual Hecke-eigen cusp forms f. The improvement in this section is in the similar direction as in Ochiai [37] in which individual Hecke-eigen cusp forms are replaced by Hida families of cusp forms.

#### 3.1 Cyclotomic direction

**3.1.1.** Fix  $m, M \geq 1$ . Assume  $p \not| m, p | M$ . Let

$$\Lambda(mp^{\infty}) := \lim_{n \ge 1} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/mp^n\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] = \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]].$$

Let  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^{\infty}}) = \bigcup_n \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n})$ . We have the isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^{\infty}})/\mathbb{Q}) \cong \varprojlim_{r} (\mathbb{Z}/mp^{r}\mathbb{Z})^{\times} = \mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})^{\times},$$
$$\sigma_{a} \leftrightarrow a, \quad \sigma_{a}(\zeta_{mp^{n}}) = \zeta_{mp^{n}}^{a}.$$

Via this isomorphism, we identify  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$  with  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^{\infty}})/\mathbb{Q})]]$ .

We consider the  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ -modules

$$\mathfrak{Y} = \lim_{\stackrel{\leftarrow}{n}} H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M))), \quad \tilde{\mathfrak{Y}} = \lim_{\stackrel{\leftarrow}{n}} H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(M))).$$

**3.1.2.** In the case there is no danger of confusion, we will denote the image of  $_{c,d}z_{1,M,mp^n}(u,v) \in K_2(Y_1(Mp^n) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}])$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))(2))$  by the same notation  $_{c,d}z_{1,M,mp^n}(u,v)$ , and the image of  $z_{1,M,mp^n}(u,v)$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))(2)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  by the same notation  $z_{1,M,mp^n}(u,v)$ .

**Proposition 3.1.3.** (1)  $\mathfrak{Y}$  is  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ -torsion free.

- (2) The map  $\mathfrak{Y} \to \tilde{\mathfrak{Y}}$  is injective.
- (3)  $\tilde{\mathfrak{Y}}$  is p-torsion free.

(4) The  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ -torsion of  $\mathfrak{Y}$  is killed by  $1 - a\sigma_a$  for any  $a \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that (a, mp) = 1and  $a \equiv 1 \mod M$ .

*Proof.* (The following proofs of (1) and (3) are essentially the same as the proof of a similar result [22] Theorem 12.4 (2) for each Hecke eigen cusp form which is given in ibid. section 13.)

We prove (1). We prove first that  $\mathfrak{Y}$  is *p*-torsion free. The proof of (3) is similar. Let  $U = H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))$ . The exact sequence  $0 \to U \xrightarrow{p} U \to U/pU \to 0$  induces an exact sequence  $A \to B \xrightarrow{p} B$  where  $A = \lim_{n \to \infty} H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], U/pU)$  and  $B = \lim_{n \to \infty} H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], U)$ . By the fact U/pU is finite, we have easily A = 0.

Hence for the proof of (1), it is sufficient to prove that  $\mathfrak{Y} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  is  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ -torsion free.

Recall that we have a direct decomposition  $H^1_{\text{ét}}(X_1(M)) = \bigoplus_i V(f_i)$  which is compatible with the action of  $\text{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  and with the action of the subring  $\mathfrak{h}(M)'_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ generated by  $T^*(n)$  for all n such that (n, M) = 1. Here for each  $i, f_i$  is a non-zero cusp form of weight 2 which is an eigen form for any  $T^*(n)$  such that (n, M) = 1, the action of  $\mathfrak{h}(M)'_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$  on  $V(f_i)$  factors through a quotient  $L_i$  of  $\mathfrak{h}(M)'_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$  such that  $L_i$  is a field of finite degree over  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ ,  $V(f_i)$  is two dimensional over  $L_i$ , and the action of  $\text{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  on  $V(f_i)$ over  $L_i$ , called the Galois representation associated to  $f_i$ , is irreducible. This shows that there is no  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ -stable  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ -subspace of  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M))$  on which the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  is abelian.

Let  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp}$  be  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$  with the following action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ . If  $\tau \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ with the image  $\sigma$  in  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^{\infty}})/\mathbb{Q})$ ,  $\tau$  acts on  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp}$  as the multiplication by  $\sigma^{-1} \in \Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ . Then we have  $\mathfrak{Y} = H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm], U)$  where  $U = H^1_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp}$ with the diagonal action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ . Let f be a non-zero-divisor of  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ . The exact sequence  $0 \to U \xrightarrow{f} U \to U/fU \to 0$  induces an exact sequence  $A \to B \xrightarrow{f} B$ , where  $A = H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm], U/fU)$  and  $B = H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm], U)$ . Hence it is sufficient to prove  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm], U/fU) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p = 0$ . We have  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm], U/fU) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ . Since the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  on V is abelian and  $H^1_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  has no nonzero  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ -stable  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ -subspace on which the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  is abelian, we have  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm], U/fU) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p = 0$ .

(2) follows from the fact  $\mathfrak{Y}$  is *p*-torsion free and the Drinfeld-Manin splitting 1.9.3.

We prove (4). We prove the equivalent statement that the  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ -torsion of the Tate twist  $\mathfrak{Y}(1)$  is killed by  $1 - \sigma_a$  for any  $a \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that (a, mp) = 1 and  $a \equiv 1 \mod M$ . Let  $U = (H^1_{\text{ét}}(Y_1(M))/H^1_{\text{ét}}(X_1(M)))(1)$ . By (1) and (2), it is sufficient to prove that the  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ -torsion of  $\varprojlim_n H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], U)$  is killed by  $1 - \sigma_a$  for any  $a \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that (a, mp) = 1 and  $a \equiv 1 \mod M$ . As a representation of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  over  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ , U is embedded in the free  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -module whose base is the set of all cusps of  $X_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ . By the same method as in the proof of (1), we have that  $\lim_{m \to \infty} H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], U)$  is p-torsion free. Since the residue fields of all cusps of  $Y_1(M)$  are subfields of  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M)$  (1.3.3), the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M))$  on U is trivial. Since the kernel of  $\lim_{m \to \infty} H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], U) =$  $H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm], U \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp}) \to H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{M}], U \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp}) = U \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{M}], \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp})$ is killed by the non-zero integer  $[\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M) : \mathbb{Q}]$ , and hence is zero, it is sufficient to prove that the  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ -torsion of  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm,\zeta_M],\Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp})$  is killed by  $1-\sigma_a$ . Let f be a non-zero-divisor of  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ . By using the exact sequence  $0 \to \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{f} \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp} \to \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp}$  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp}/f \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp} \to 0$ , we are reduced to proving that  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_M], \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp}/f \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp})$ is killed by  $1 - \sigma_a$ . Since  $a \equiv 1 \mod M$ , there is  $\tau \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M))$  whose image in  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^{\infty}})/\mathbb{Q})$  is  $\sigma_a$ . Since the multiplication by  $\sigma_a \in \Lambda(mp^{\infty})$  on  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp}/f \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp}$ coincides with the action of  $\tau^{-1}$ , it acts trivially on  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_M], \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp}/f \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp})$ . Hence  $1 - \sigma_a$  kills  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_M], \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp}/f \Lambda(mp^{\infty})^{\sharp})$ .

Lemma 3.1.4. The kernel of

$$\exp^*: \mathfrak{Y}(1) \to \varprojlim_n M_2(M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$$

coincides with the  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ -torsion of  $\mathfrak{Y}(1)$ .

*Proof.* By Drinfeld-Manin splitting (1.9.3), we have

$$H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(M)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p} \cong H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{1}(M)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p} \oplus H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(M)) / H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{1}(M)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}$$

as a representation of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ . Furthermore,  $H^1_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M)) = \bigoplus_i V(f_i)$  as in the proof of (1) of 3.1.3. The map  $\exp^* : \mathbb{Q}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \widetilde{\mathfrak{Y}}(1) \to \varprojlim_n M_2(M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$  is the direct

sum of the maps

$$\exp^*: \mathbb{Q}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \varprojlim_n H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], T_i(1)) \to \varprojlim_n D^0_{dR}(V(f_i)(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n}),$$

where  $T_i$  is a  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ -stable  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -lattice in  $V(f_i)$ , and the map

$$\exp^*: \mathbb{Q}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \varprojlim_n H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], S) \to \varprojlim_n D^0_{dR}((H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(M))/H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(M)))(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n}),$$

where S is a  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ -stable  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -lattice in  $(H^1_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(M))/H^1_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(M)))(1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ . The former map is injective by [22]. By the fact the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M))$  on S is trivial, the kernel of the latter map coincides with the  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ -torsion part.

**Theorem 3.1.5.** Let the notation be as in 3.1.1. Then, there exists a unique  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ -homomorphism

$$z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}} : \Lambda(mp^{\infty}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\{\pm 1\}]} H^{1}(Y_{1}(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})$$
  
$$\longrightarrow \tilde{\mathfrak{Y}} \otimes_{\Lambda(mp^{\infty})} Q(\Lambda(mp^{\infty})) = (\varprojlim_{n} H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm,\zeta_{mp^{n}}], H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(Y_{1}(M))(1))) \otimes_{\Lambda(mp^{\infty})} Q(\Lambda(mp^{\infty}))$$

characterized by the following (i) and (ii).

Here -1 in  $\{\pm 1\}$  acts on  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$  as  $\sigma_{-1}$  and acts on  $H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})$  by the complex conjugation on  $Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C})$ .

(i) For any  $\gamma \in \Lambda(mp^{\infty}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\{\pm 1\}]} H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})$  and for any c, d such that (cd, 6Mm) = 1 and  $c \equiv d \equiv 1 \mod M$ ,  $(\sigma_c - c)(\sigma_d - d)z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}(\gamma)$  belongs to the image of  $\tilde{\mathfrak{Y}}$  in  $\tilde{\mathfrak{Y}} \otimes_{\Lambda(mp^{\infty})} Q(\Lambda(mp^{\infty}))$ .

(ii) Consider the dual exponential map

$$\exp_{mp^n}^* : H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(M))(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \to M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$$

and the period map

$$per_{mp^{n}}: M_{2}(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^{n}}) \to \mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^{n}})/\mathbb{Q})] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\{\pm 1\}]} H^{1}(Y_{1}(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C}) ;$$
$$x \otimes y \mapsto \sum_{\sigma \in G} \sigma \otimes \sigma^{-1}(y) per(x)$$

where  $G = \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n})/\mathbb{Q})$  and the last per is the period map  $M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \to H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})$ .

For  $\gamma \in H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})$  and for  $n \geq 1$ , the image of  $z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}(\gamma) := z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}(1 \otimes \gamma)$ in  $M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$  under exp<sup>\*</sup> is an element of  $M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n})$  whose image in  $\mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n})/\mathbb{Q})] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\{\pm 1\}]} H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})$  under per<sub>mp<sup>n</sup></sub> coincides with

 $Z_{1,M,mp^n}(1) \cdot \gamma.$ 

Here  $Z_{1,M,mp^n}(s)$  is the zeta function in section 2.4.

Here in (ii),  $\exp^*$  is applied to  $z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}(\gamma)$  as  $(c-\sigma_c)^{-1}(d-\sigma_d)^{-1} \circ \exp^* \circ (c-\sigma_c)(d-\sigma_d)$  $(c, d \in \mathbb{Z}, (cd, 6Mm) = 1, c \equiv d \equiv 1 \mod M, and c, d \notin \{\pm 1\}).$ 

*Proof.* The relation of Beilinson elements and zeta values considered in section 2 plays an essential role in the proof.

The uniqueness follows from Lemma 3.1.4 and the injectivity of the period maps  $\operatorname{per}_{mp^n}$ .

We prove the existence of  $z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}$ . Let  $\gamma \in H^1(Y_1(M))(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})$ . Write  $\gamma = \sum_i a_i [u_i :$  $v_i$  with  $a_i \in \mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}}$  and  $u_i, v_i \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  such that  $(u_i, v_i) = (1)$  as an ideal of  $\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$ . Take  $c, d \in \mathbb{Z} - \{\pm 1\}$  such that (cd, 6Mm) = 1. Then  $c - \sigma_c$  and  $d - \sigma_d$  are non-zero-divisors in  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ . Let

$$z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}(\gamma) = (c^2 - c\sigma_c)^{-1} (d^2 - d\sigma_d)^{-1} \sum_i a_i \operatorname{tw}_{-1}({}_{c,d}z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}(u_i, v_i)) \in \tilde{\mathfrak{Y}}(1) \otimes_{\Lambda(mp^{\infty})} Q(\Lambda(mp^{\infty})).$$

Here tw<sub>-1</sub> is the isomorphism  $\mathfrak{Y}(2) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathfrak{Y}(1)$ ;  $x \mapsto x \otimes (\zeta_{p^n})_n^{-1}$  where  $\zeta_{p^n} = \exp(2\pi i/p^n) \in$  $\mathbb{Q} \subset \mathbb{C}$ . We show that  $z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}(\gamma)$  is independent of the choices of c, d and the presentation of  $\gamma$  as above. Assume we have other c', d' and another presentation  $\gamma = \sum_i a'_i [u'_i : v'_i]$ with  $a'_i \in \mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}}$ . Then by Theorem 2.4.9, per  $\circ \exp^*$  sends both  $A = \sum_i (c^2 - c\sigma_c)^{-1} (d^2 - c\sigma_c)^{-1$  $(d\sigma_d)^{-1} \cdot a_i \cdot \operatorname{tw}_{-1}({}_{c,d}z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}(u_i,v_i)) \text{ and } B = \sum_i ((c')^2 - c'\sigma_{c'})^{-1} ((d')^2 - (d')\sigma_{d'})^{-1} \cdot a'_i \cdot a'_i \cdot a'_i$  $\operatorname{tw}_{-1}(c',d'z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}(u'_i,v'_i))$  to  $Z_{1,M,mp^n}(1)\cdot\gamma$ . Since the period maps  $per_{mp^n}$   $(n\geq 1)$  are injective, the images of A and B in  $\varprojlim_n M_2(M)_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}_p$  coincide. By Lemma 3.1.4, we have A = B.

We prove that  $z_{1,M,m}(\iota\gamma) = \sigma_{-1}(z_{1,M,m}(\gamma))$  ( $\gamma \in H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}$  and  $\iota$  is the complex conjugation). It is sufficient to prove  $\sigma_{-1c,d}z_{1,M,m}(u,v) = {}_{c,d}z_{1,M,m}(u,-v)$ . Take liftings  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}$  of u, v to  $\mathbb{Z}$ and take integers s, t such that  $s\tilde{v} - t\tilde{u} = 1$ . Then  $\sigma_{-1}(c,dz_{1,M,m}(u,v))$  is the image under  $K_2(Y(m, Mm) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm]) \to K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_m])$  of

$$\begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^* \{ cg_{s/m,\tilde{u}/mM}, dg_{t/m,\tilde{v}/Mm} \} = \{ cg_{-s/m,\tilde{u}/mM}, dg_{-t/m,\tilde{v}/Mm} \}$$
$$= \{ cg_{-s/m,\tilde{u}/mM}, dg_{t/m,-\tilde{v}/Mm} \}.$$

(The second = here is by  $_{d}g_{\alpha,\beta} = _{d}g_{-\alpha,-\beta}$  (2.1.3 (1)).) The image of the last element in  $K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_m])$  is  $_{c,d}z_{1,M,m}(u, -v)$  since  $(-s)(-\tilde{v}) - t\tilde{u} = 1$ . 

This completes the proof of the theorem.

**Remark 3.1.6.** For each Hecke-eigen cusp form f, the "f-component" version of this theorem was obtained in [22] Theorem 12.5.

The next Propositions 3.1.7, 3.1.8 follow from the proof of the above theorem.

**Proposition 3.1.7.** This homomorphism  $z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}$  commutes with the action of  $\mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ .

**Proposition 3.1.8.** Denote the homomorphism

Ξ

$$z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}} : \Lambda(mp^{\infty}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\{\pm 1\}]} H^{1}(Y_{1}(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})(1)$$
$$\longrightarrow \tilde{\mathfrak{Y}}(2) \otimes_{\Lambda(mp^{\infty})} Q(\Lambda(mp^{\infty}))$$
$$= (\varprojlim_{n} H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^{n}}], H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(Y_{1}(M))(2))) \otimes_{\Lambda(mp^{\infty})} Q(\Lambda(mp^{\infty}))$$

induced by  $z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}$  by the same later  $z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}$ .

(i) This map sends  $_{c,d}[u:v]_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}$  to  $(-_{c,d}z_{1,M,mp^{n}}(u,v))_{n}$ .

(ii) Let  $\gamma = [u:v]_{Y_1(M)}$ . Then the image of  $z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}(1 \otimes \gamma)$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(M))(2)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  coincides with the image of  $-z_{1,M,mp^n}(u:v)$   $(n \geq 1)$ .

**Proposition 3.1.9.** Assume M|M', m|m', prime(M) = prime(M'). Consider the norm map

$$Norm : (\varprojlim_{n} H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm', \zeta_{m'p^{n}}], H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(Y_{1}(M'))(1))) \otimes_{\Lambda(m'p^{\infty})} Q(\Lambda(m'p^{\infty})))$$
$$\longrightarrow (\varprojlim_{n} H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm', \zeta_{mp^{n}}], H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(Y_{1}(M))(1))) \otimes_{\Lambda(mp^{\infty})} Q(\Lambda(mp^{\infty})).$$

Then for  $\gamma \in H^1(Y_1(M')(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Z})$ , we have

$$Norm(z_{1,M',m'p^{\infty}}(\gamma)) = (\prod_{\ell} P_{\ell}(\ell^{-1})) \cdot z_{1,M,mp^{\infty}}(\bar{\gamma}),$$

where  $\ell$  ranges over all prime numbers which divide m' but which do not divide m,  $P_{\ell}(u)$  is as in 2.4.5, and  $\bar{\gamma}$  is the image of  $\gamma$  in  $H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})$ .

Proof. Since prime(M) = prime(M'),  $Z_{1,M'}(s)$  and  $Z_{1,M}(s)$  are compatible with the trace map  $H^1(Y_1(M')(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C}) \to H^1(Y_1(M)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})$ . By taking per  $\circ \exp^*$ , Proposition 3.1.9 is seen from the relation Theorem 2.4.9 of Beilinson elements to the values of these zeta functions at s = 1.

#### 3.2 Cyclotomic and level directions for the ordinary part

**3.2.1.** We consider the ordinary component of section 3.1, and consider the inverse limits for varying levels. Fix  $N, m \ge 1$  which are prime to p.

As in section 1.5, let

$$H = \lim_{\stackrel{\leftarrow}{r}} H^1_{\text{et}}(X_1(Np^r) \otimes \bar{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Z}_p)^{\text{ord}} \subset \tilde{H} = \lim_{\stackrel{\leftarrow}{r}} H^1_{\text{et}}(Y_1(Np^r) \otimes \bar{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Z}_p)^{\text{ord}}.$$

In this section 3.2, let

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{\Lambda} &:= \lim_{\substack{n,r\\ r}} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/mp^n\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] \\ &\supset \mathbf{\Lambda} := \lim_{\substack{r\\ r}} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] = \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]] \end{split}$$

In  $\Lambda$ , we identify the left  $(\mathbb{Z}/mp^n\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  with  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{mp^n})/\mathbb{Q})$  by  $a \mapsto \sigma_a$  (3.1.1), and the right  $(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  with the group of diamond operators. Then  $\varprojlim_n H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/mNp, \zeta_{mp^n}], \tilde{H})$  is regarded as a  $\Lambda$ -module.

We consider the  $\Lambda$ -modules

$$\mathfrak{Z} = \varprojlim_{n} H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Nmp, \zeta_{mp^{n}}], H) \subset \tilde{\mathfrak{Z}} = \varprojlim_{n} H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Nmp, \zeta_{mp^{n}}], \tilde{H}).$$

**3.2.2.** Take  $c \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $c \equiv 1 \mod p$ ,  $c \not\equiv 1 \mod p^2$ , (c, m) = 1,  $c \equiv 1 \mod N$ , take  $d \in \mathbb{Z}$  having the same properties as c, and let

$$\lambda = (c - \sigma_c)(d - \sigma_d \langle d \rangle) \in \mathbf{\Lambda}.$$

Then  $\lambda$  is a non-zero-divisor of  $\Lambda$ . The ideal of  $\Lambda$  generated by  $\lambda$  is independent of the choices of c, d, and hence the  $\Lambda$ -submodule  $\Lambda \lambda^{-1}$  of  $Q(\Lambda)$  which appears below is also independent of the choices of c, d.

**Theorem 3.2.3.** Let the notation be as in 3.2.1. Let  $\mathfrak{T}$  be the set of all elements of  $\mathfrak{Z}$  which are killed by  $1 - a\sigma_a$  for any integer a such that (a, mp) = 1 and  $a \equiv 1 \mod N$ .

Then there exists a unique  $\Lambda$ -homomorphism

$$z_{1,Np^{\infty},mp^{\infty}}: \mathbf{\Lambda} \otimes_{\mathbf{\Lambda}[\{\pm 1\}]} \widetilde{H} \longrightarrow (\widetilde{\mathbf{\mathfrak{Z}}}/\mathfrak{T})(1) \otimes_{\mathbf{\Lambda}} \mathbf{\Lambda} \lambda^{-1}$$

which induces the ordinary component of  $z_{1,Np^r,mp^{\infty}}$  (3.1.5) for any  $r \geq 1$ .

Here -1 in  $\{\pm 1\}$  acts on  $\Lambda$  as  $\sigma_{-1}$  in the Galois group and acts on H by the complex conjugation.

Note that  $\mathfrak{T}(1)$  is killed by  $\lambda$ .

For the proof of Theorem 3.2.3, we use the following propositions 3.2.4 and 3.2.6.

**Proposition 3.2.4.** The action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_N))$  on  $(H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\operatorname{ord}}/H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(Np^r))^{\operatorname{ord}})(1)$  is trivial.

Proof. For  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $0 \leq i \leq r$ , let  $S_i \subset H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(Np^r))$  be the intersection of the kernels of the boundary maps  $H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(Np^r)) \to \mathbb{Z}_p(-1)$  associated to cusps of  $X_1(Np^r) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$  defined by  $(c, d) \in P_{Np^r}$  (section 1.3) such that  $c = \tilde{c} \mod Np^r$  for some  $\tilde{c} \in \mathbb{Z}$  satisfying  $\operatorname{ord}_p(\tilde{c}) \leq i$ . We have  $S_0 \supset S_1 \supset \cdots \supset S_r = H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(Np^r))$ .

By 1.3.3, the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_N))$  on  $(H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))/S_0)(1)$  is trivial. Hence, for the proof of proposition, it is sufficient to prove that  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\operatorname{ord}} \cap S_0 = H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(Np^r))^{\operatorname{ord}}$ . By using 1.3.5 (2) and (3) applied to  $\ell = p$ , we can prove the following (1) and (2).

- (1) For  $0 \le i < r 1$ , we have  $T^*(p)S_i \subset S_{i+1}$ .
- (2)  $T^*(p)S_{r-1} \subset pS_{r-1} + S_r$ .

By (1) and (2), the action of  $T^*(p)$  on  $S_0/S_r$  is topologically nilpotent. Hence we have  $H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}} \cap S_0 = S_0^{\text{ord}} = S_r^{\text{ord}} = H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}}$ .

**Lemma 3.2.5.** As an  $\mathfrak{H}$ -module,  $\tilde{H}$  is generated by the elements  $([p^{r-1}u : v]_r)_{r\geq 1} \in \tilde{H}$ ([51], Lemma 3.2), where v ranges over all integers which are prime to p and u ranges over integers such that (u, v, N) = 1.

Proof. By the case k = 2 of Proposition 1.5.8, we have an isomorphism  $\tilde{H} \otimes_{\Lambda} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] \cong H^1_{\text{ét}}(Y_1(Np))^{\text{ord}}$ . By this isomorphism, the elements  $([p^{r-1}u : v]_r)_{r\geq 1}$  are sent to  $[u : v]_1$  which generate  $H^1_{\text{ét}}(Y_1(Np))^{\text{ord}}$ . Hence we are done by Nakayama's lemma.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 3.2.6.** Let  $A = \lim_{m \to \infty} H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{mp^n}], H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}}).$ 

(1) For  $\gamma \in H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}}$ ,  $\lambda \cdot z_{1,Np^r,mp^{\infty}}(\gamma)$  belongs to the image of A in  $A \otimes_{\Lambda(mp^{\infty})} Q(\Lambda(mp^{\infty}))$ .

(2) The  $\Lambda(mp^{\infty})$ -torsion part of A is killed by  $1 - a\sigma_a$  for any integer a such that (a, mp) = 1 and  $a \equiv 1 \mod N$ .

*Proof.* (1) follows from 3.2.5 by the fact  $_{c,d}[p^{r-1}u:v]_r = (c - \sigma_c)(d - \sigma_d \langle d \rangle)[p^{r-1}u:v]_r$  if  $c \equiv d \equiv 1 \mod Np$ .

By using 3.2.4, (2) can be proved in the same way as in the proof of Proposition 3.1.3 (4).  $\Box$ 

**3.2.7.** Proof of the Theorem 3.2.3. This is reduced to the finite levels  $M = Np^r$  by Theorem 3.1.5 and Proposition 3.2.6.

## **3.3** Elements $z_{Np^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\gamma)$ in the level direction for the ordinary part

**3.3.1.** Fix  $N \ge 1$  which is prime to p.

In this section 3.3, let

$$\Lambda = \varprojlim_{r} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] = \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]],$$

and regard it as the ring of diamond operators on  $X_1(Np^r)$   $(r \ge 1)$ .

In this section 3.3, we consider Beilinson elements in  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H(2)) \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda)$ .

**Proposition 3.3.2.** (1)  $1 - T^*(p) \in \mathfrak{h}$  is a non-zero-divisor.

(2) The actions of  $1 - T^*(p)$  on H,  $H_{sub}$ ,  $H_{quo}$  are injective.

To prove this proposition, since  $H_{\text{sub}}$  is a free  $\mathfrak{h}$ -module and  $H_{\text{quo}}$  is a faithful  $\mathfrak{h}$ -module, it is sufficient to prove that the action of  $1 - T^*(p)$  on  $H_{\text{quo}}$  is injective. By Proposition 1.8.1, we are reduced to the following proposition.

**Proposition 3.3.3.**  $1 - Fr_p$  is injective on  $H_{quo}(1)$ . Equivalently,  $1 - \varphi$  on  $D(H_{quo}(1))$  is injective.

Proof. Take  $k \geq 2$ . Let  $r \geq 1$ . By Saito [48], all eigen values of the operator  $\varphi$ on  $D_{pst}(V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Q}_p})$  in  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$  are algebraic numbers whose all conjugates over  $\mathbb{Q}$  in  $\mathbb{C}$  have absolute values in  $\{p^{(k-2)/2}, p^{(k-1)/2}, p^{k/2}\}$ . By Proposition 1.5.8, the quotient  $D(H_{quo}(1)) \otimes_{\Lambda} \mathbb{Q}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$  of  $D(H_{quo}(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ , where  $\Lambda \to \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$  is given through  $tw_{2-k}$  as in 1.5.8, is a quotient of  $D_{pst}(V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Q}_p}(k-1))$  as a space with an operator  $\varphi$ . Hence on this quotient, all eigen values of  $\varphi$  in  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  are algebraic numbers whose all complex conjugates over  $\mathbb{Q}$  in  $\mathbb{C}$  have absolute values in  $\{p^{-k/2}, p^{(1-k)/2}, p^{(2-k)/2}\}$ . Take  $k \geq 3$ . Then since these absolute values are not  $1, 1 - \varphi$  is injective on this quotient of  $D(H_{quo}(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ . Hence  $1 - \varphi$  is injective on  $D(H_{quo}(1))$ .

**3.3.4.** By 3.3.2 (1) and by 1.5.4, the kernel of  $1-T^*(p)$  on  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H(2))$  is contained in the  $\Lambda$ -torsion part.

Lemma 3.3.5. (1)  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2)) = H^0(\mathbb{Q}_p, \tilde{H}(2)) = 0.$ (2)  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], (\tilde{H}/H)(2)) = H^0(\mathbb{Q}_p, (\tilde{H}/H)(2)) = 0.$ (3) The canonical maps  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H(2)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2))$  and  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, H(2)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \tilde{H}(2))$  are injective.

Proof. (1) and (2). These are reduced to  $H^0(\mathbb{Q}_p, H_{sub}(2)) = 0$ ,  $H^0(\mathbb{Q}_p, \tilde{H}_{quo}(2)) = 0$ , and  $H^0(\mathbb{Q}_p, (\tilde{H}/H)(2)) = 0$ , which can be seen easily. (3) follows from (2).

Concerning the  $\Lambda$ -torsion of  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2))$  and that of  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \tilde{H}(2))$ , we have

**Proposition 3.3.6.** (1) The canonical map from the  $\Lambda$ -torsion part of  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2))$  to the  $\Lambda$ -torsion part of  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \tilde{H}(2))$  is injective.

(2) On the  $\Lambda$ -torsion part of  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \tilde{H}(2))$  (and hence on the  $\Lambda$ -torsion part of  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2))$ by (1)), the diamond operator  $\langle c \rangle$  for  $c = (a, 1) \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  acts as  $a^2$ .

Proof. We prove (1). Let x be a non-zero-divisor of  $\Lambda$ , and let  $E = \tilde{H}(2)/x\tilde{H}(2)$ . Since  $\tilde{H}$  is  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p]]$ -flat (1.5.4),  $x : \tilde{H}(2) \to \tilde{H}(2)$  is injective. Hence by (1), the kernel of the action of x on  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2))$  (resp.  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \tilde{H}(2))$ ) is isomorphic to  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], E)$  (resp.  $H^0(\mathbb{Q}_p, E)$ ). Thus we are reduced to the evident fact that the map  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], E) \to H^0(\mathbb{Q}_p, E)$  is injective.

We prove (2). Let L be the maximal unramified extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ . We prove first that  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \tilde{H}_{quo}(2))$  is  $\Lambda$ -torsion free. By the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1(\operatorname{Gal}(L/\mathbb{Q}_p), H^0(L, \tilde{H}_{quo}(2))) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \tilde{H}_{quo}(2)) \to H^1(L, \tilde{H}_{quo}(2))$$

and by  $H^0(L, \tilde{H}_{quo}(2)) = \tilde{H}_{quo}(1)\hat{\otimes}H^0(L, \mathbb{Z}_p(1)) = 0$  ( $\hat{\otimes}$  is the topological tensor product defined as in 1.7.3), it is sufficient to prove that  $H^1(L, \tilde{H}_{quo}(2))$  is  $\Lambda$ -torsion free. But  $H^1(L, \tilde{H}_{quo}(2)) = \tilde{H}_{quo}(1)\hat{\otimes}H^1(L, \mathbb{Z}_p(1))$ , and this is  $\Lambda$ -torsion free.

We next prove that on the  $\Lambda$ -torsion part of  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, H_{sub}(2))$ ,  $\langle c \rangle$   $(c = (a, 1) \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$  acts as  $a^2$ . Let  $R = \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  (we denote the group element of R corresponding to  $a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$  by [a]) and let  $R^{\sharp}$  be R with the following action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{L}/L)$ :  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{L}/L)$ acts on  $R^{\sharp}$  by  $[\kappa(\sigma)]$ , where  $\kappa$  denotes the cyclotomic character. Let  $R \to \Lambda$  be a ring homomorphism  $[a] \mapsto \langle (a, 1) \rangle$ . Since  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{L}/L)$  acts on  $H_{sub}$  as  $\langle (\kappa(\sigma), 1) \rangle$  (1.7.14 (4)) and since  $H_{sub}$  is a finitely generated projective R-module, we have  $H^i(L, H_{sub}(2)) \cong$  $H_{sub} \otimes_R H^i(L, R^{\sharp}(2))$  for any  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , where R acts on  $H_{sub}$  via  $R \to \Lambda$ . By the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1(\operatorname{Gal}(L/\mathbb{Q}_p), H^0(L, H_{\operatorname{sub}}(2))) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, H_{\operatorname{sub}}(2)) \to H^1(L, H_{\operatorname{sub}}(2))$$

and by  $H^0(L, H_{sub}(2)) = H_{sub} \otimes_R H^0(L, R^{\sharp}(2)) = 0$ , it is sufficient to prove that on the  $\Lambda$ -torsion part of  $H^1(L, H_{sub}(2)), \langle c \rangle$  acts by  $a^2$ . We have

$$H^{1}(L, H_{\rm sub}(2)) = H_{\rm sub} \otimes_{R} H^{1}(L, R^{\sharp}(2)) \cong H_{\rm sub} \otimes_{R} \varprojlim_{n} H^{1}(L(\zeta_{p^{n}}), \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2)),$$

and the action of  $\langle c \rangle$  on these modules coincide with the action of  $1 \otimes \sigma_a$  on the last module, where  $\sigma_a \in \operatorname{Gal}(L(\zeta_{p^{\infty}})/L), \ \sigma_a(\zeta_{p^n}) = \zeta_{p^n}^a$ . Note  $\lim_{k \to n} H^1(L(\zeta_{p^n}), \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \cong \lim_{k \to n} (L(\zeta_{p^n})^{\times})^{\wedge}(1)$ , where  $(-)^{\wedge}$  denotes the *p*-adic completion. By local Iwasawa theory,

(the *R*-torsion of 
$$\varprojlim_n (L(\zeta_{p^n})^{\times})^{\wedge}(1)) \cong \mathbb{Z}_p(2)$$

on which the action of  $\sigma_a$  coincides with the action of  $a^2$ . This proves (3).

**3.3.7.** Let  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0$  be the part of  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))$  generated by  $[u : v]_r$   $(u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z}, (u, v) = (1))$  satisfying  $u \neq 0, v \neq 0$ . It coincides with the part of  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))$  consisting of all elements whose boundaries at 0-cusps are zero.

All Hecke operators  $T^*(n)$  preserve this part (this is seen by 1.3.5). In particular, the ordinary part  $H^1(Y_1(Np^r))_0^{\text{ord}}$  of  $H^1(Y_1(Np^r))_0$  is defined. Note that  $T^*(p)$  on  $H^1_{\text{ét}}(Y_1(Np^r))$  commutes with the identity maps on 0-cusps via the boundary map (this is seen from 1.3.5).

For  $r \geq 1$ , we have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(Np^{r+1}))(1) & \xrightarrow{\partial} & \mathbb{Z}_{p}[\{0\text{-cusps}\}] = \mathbb{Z}_{p}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^{r+1}\mathbb{Z})^{\times}/\{\pm 1\}] \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(Np^{r}))(1) & \xrightarrow{\partial} & \mathbb{Z}_{p}[\{0\text{-cusps}\}] = \mathbb{Z}_{p}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^{r}\mathbb{Z})^{\times}/\{\pm 1\}], \end{array}$$

where the 0-cusp associated to  $\infty_M(a,0)$   $(a \in (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$  for  $M = Np^r, Np^{r+1}$  corresponds to the class of the group element [a] of  $\mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$ . Hence we can take

$$\tilde{H}_0 := \varprojlim_r H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0^{\text{ord}}.$$

**Lemma 3.3.8.** As a  $\Lambda$ -module,  $\tilde{H}_0(1)$  is generated by the elements  $([p^{r-1}u : v]_r^{\text{ord}})_{r\geq 1}$ , where u and v range over integers such that (u, v, N) = 1,  $p \not v$ , and  $u \not\equiv 0 \mod Np$ .

*Proof.* This is a variant of Lemma 3.2.5, and is proved in the same way.

Theorem 3.3.9. There is a unique  $\mathfrak{H}$ -homomorphism

$$z_{Np^{\infty}}^{\sharp}: \tilde{H}_0(1) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2)) \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda)$$

having the following properties (i)-(iii).

(i) For any element x in the image of  $z_{Np^{\infty}}^{\sharp}$  and for any integer c such that  $c \equiv 1 \mod Np$ ,  $p \cdot (c^2 - \langle c \rangle) x$  belongs to the image of the canonical map  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2)) \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda)$ .

That is, the above map is in fact a map into

$$H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2)) \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1},$$

where

$$\mu = p((1 + Np)^2 - \langle 1 + Np \rangle) \in \Lambda.$$

(ii) For any  $r \geq 1$ , in  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))(2)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ , the image  $(1-T^*(p))z^{\sharp}_{Np^{\infty}}(\gamma)$  coincides with the image of  $z_{1,Np^r,p^{\infty}}(\gamma)$ .

(iii) For each  $r \geq 1$ , the following diagram is commutative.

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\tilde{H}_{0}(1) & \xrightarrow{z_{Np^{\infty}}^{\mu}} & H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2)) \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1} \\
\downarrow & \downarrow \\
\oplus_{(a,b)\in P_{Np^{r}}} \mathbb{Z}_{p} & \xrightarrow{f} & \oplus_{(a,b)\in P_{Np^{r}}} H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r}}], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}
\end{array}$$

Here  $P_{Np^r}$  is as in 1.3.1, f is the map explained in 3.3.10 below, and the vertical arrows are induced from

$$\tilde{H}(1) \to H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y(Np^r))(1) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}][[q^{1/Np^r}]][q^{-1}], \mathbb{Z}_p(1)) \to \mathbb{Z}_p$$

associated to  $\infty_{Np^r}(a, b)$ . The last arrow here is the boundary map which sends the Kummer class of  $q^{1/Np^r}$  to 1, and f is as below.

**3.3.10.** The map f in the diagram in the above theorem is as follows.

For integers x, B such that  $B \ge 1$ , let  $\zeta_{\equiv x \mod B}(s)$  be the partial Riemann zeta function which is given as  $\sum_{n\ge 1,n\equiv x \mod B} n^{-s}$  when Re(s) > 1 and which is extended to  $\mathbb{C}$  as a meromorphic function holomorphic except at s = 1. Note that  $\zeta_{\equiv x \mod B}(r) \in \mathbb{Q}$  for any integer  $r \le 0$ .

Then f is the homomorphism which sends 1 at  $\infty_{Np^r}(a, b)$   $(a \in \mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z}, b \in (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$  to

$$\sum_{x,y} \left( \{ 1 - \zeta_{Np^r/A}^y \} \otimes \zeta_{\equiv x \mod A}(-1) \text{ at } \infty_{Np^r}(ax, by) \right)$$

where A is the positive divisor of  $Np^r$  such that a is  $Np^r/A$  times a unit of  $\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z}$ , x ranges over all elements of  $\mathbb{Z}/A\mathbb{Z}$ , and y ranges over all invertible elements of  $(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})/(ax)$ .

**Lemma 3.3.11.** Let  $u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z}$ , (u, v) = (1). Let R (resp. S) be the positive divisor of  $Np^r$  such that (u) = (R) (resp. (v) = (S)) in  $\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z}$ . Then, the boundary of  $[u : v]_r$  is given by

$$\infty_{Np^r}(\frac{Np^r}{R}\cdot v', u') - \infty_{Np^r}(\frac{Np^r}{S}\cdot u'', v''),$$

where u', v', u'', v'' denote elements of  $\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z}$  such that  $(u/R)u' \equiv 1 \mod Np^r/R$ ,  $vv' \equiv 1 \mod R$ ,  $uu'' \equiv 1 \mod S$ ,  $(v/S)v'' \equiv 1 \mod Np^r/S$ .

**Lemma 3.3.12.** At the cusp of  $Y_1(Np^r) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r})$  associated to  $\infty_{Np^r}(a, b)$ , the boundary of  $z_{1,Np^r,1}(u,v)$  coincides with  $\{1-\zeta_{Np^r}^{bu}\} \otimes \zeta_{\equiv av \mod Np^r}(-1)$  if au = 0, with  $\{1-\zeta_{Np^r}^{bv}\} \otimes \zeta_{\equiv au \mod Np^r}(-1)$  if av = 0, and with 0 otherwise.

*Proof.* Take  $c, d \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that bc - ad = 1. Then the boundary in problem coincides with the boundary at  $\infty$  of

$$\binom{c}{a} \binom{d}{b}^* z_{1,Np^r,1}(u,v) = \{g_{au/Np^r,bu/Np^r}, g_{av/Np^r,bv/Np^r}\}.$$

The lemma follows from this by explicit computation of this boundary.

**3.3.13.** Proof of Theorem 3.3.9.

The uniqueness follows from the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H(2)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], (\tilde{H}/H)(2))$$

and the fact that the kernel of  $1-T^*(p)$  on  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H(2))$  is contained in the  $\Lambda$ -torsion of  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H(2))$ .

We prove the existence of the homomorphism. By Lemmas 3.3.11, 3.3.12, we are reduced to showing the following. For any  $\gamma \in \tilde{H}_0(1)$ , we can find  $x \in H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2)) \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1}$  such that for any  $r \geq 1$ , if  $x_r$  and  $y_r$  denote the images of x and  $z_{1,Np^r,p^{\infty}}(\gamma)$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H^1_{\text{ét}}(Y(Np^r))(2)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ , respectively, then

$$y_r = (1 - T^*(p))x_r.$$

By Lemma 3.3.8, it is sufficient to check this for  $\gamma = ([p^{r-1}u : v]_r)_r$  where (u, v, N) = 1, (v, p) = 1, and  $u \neq 0 \mod Np$ . Taking c = d = 1 + Np,  $x_r$  in this case is given by

$$x_r = ({}_{c,d}z_{1,Np^r,1}(p^{r-1}u,v) \otimes (c^2-1)^{-1}(d^2-\langle d \rangle)^{-1})_r$$

**Proposition 3.3.14.** The map  $z_{Np^{\infty}}^{\sharp}$  of Theorem 3.3.9 sends H(1) into  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H(2)) \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1}$ .

This follows from (iii) in Theorem 3.3.9.

From the proof of Theorem 3.3.9, we obtain the following proposition.

**Proposition 3.3.15.** The map  $z_{Np^{\infty}}^{\sharp}$  of Theorem 3.3.9 is compatible with a homomorphism

 $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))_0 \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))(2)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ 

which sends  $[u:v]_r$  to  $-z_{1,Np^r,1}(u,v)$  and sends  $_{c,d}[u:v]_{1,Np^r}$  to  $-_{c,d}z_{1,Np^r,1}(u,v)$ .

Remark 3.3.16. It may be possible that the map

modular symbol  $\mapsto$  Beilinson element

in this section can be obtained also from the work of Goncharov [14] on motivic cohomology. In this section, we proved that this map commutes with the actions of Hecke operators by using the relations between Beilinson elements and zeta values. (This commutativity will be the key for the proof of Conjecture 5.8 in [51] given in section 5.2.) It may be possible that the commutativity is proved also by a motivic method of [14].

# 4 *p*-adic *L*-functions in two variables

There are two kinds of *p*-adic *L*-functions in two variables for modular forms. One is the *L*-function in two variables of Mazur-Kitagawa ([30], [24]). The other is related to Beilinson elements ([12], [37]) and has the shape of a product of two  $\Lambda$ -adic Eisenstein series ([12], [43]). Both play important roles in this paper. We review and study these two, and describe (Theorem 4.4.3) the relation between them.

#### 4.1 Classical *p*-adic zeta functions

**4.1.1.** We review the classical theory of *p*-adic zeta functions. See [59] for example.

Let  $N \geq 1$  be an integer which is prime to p, and let  $\Lambda = \varprojlim_r \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] = \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]].$ 

Then for an integer  $i \leq 0$ , there is a unique element

$${}^{i}\xi = {}^{i}\xi_{Np^{\infty}} \text{ (resp. } {}^{i}\xi^{*} = {}^{i}\xi^{*}_{Np^{\infty}} \text{) } \in Q(\Lambda)$$

satisfying the following condition. Let  $r \geq 0$  and let  $\psi : (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \mathbb{Q}^{\times}$  be a homomorphism. Then  ${}^{i}\xi$  (resp.  ${}^{i}\xi^{*}$ ) belongs to the local ring  $\Lambda_{\mathfrak{p}}$  of  $\Lambda$  at the prime ideal  $\mathfrak{p} = \operatorname{Ker}(\psi : \Lambda \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p})$  and the image of  ${}^{i}\xi$  (resp.  ${}^{i}\xi^{*}$ ) under  $\psi : \Lambda_{\mathfrak{p}} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}$  coincides with the complex zeta value  $L_{(Np)}(i,\psi^{-1})$  (resp.  $L_{(Np)}(i,\psi)$ ). Here  $L_{(Np)}(s,-)$  denotes the Dirichlet *L*-function without Euler factors at the prime divisors of Np.

Furthermore, for  $i \leq 0$ ,  ${}^{i}\xi$  coincides with the *i*-th Tate twist of  ${}^{0}\xi$  and  ${}^{i}\xi^{*}$  coincides with the transpose of  ${}^{i}\xi$ . That is,  ${}^{i}\xi$  coincides with the image of  ${}^{0}\xi$  under the ring isomorphism  $\Lambda \xrightarrow{\cong} \Lambda$ ;  $[(a, b)] \mapsto a^{i}[(a, b)] \ (a \in \mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}, b \in (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$ , and  ${}^{i}\xi^{*}$  coincides with the image of  ${}^{i}\xi$  under the ring isomorphism  $\Lambda \xrightarrow{\cong} \Lambda$ ;  $[c] \mapsto [c^{-1}] \ (c \in \mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$ .

For any integer *i*, let  ${}^{i}\xi \in Q(\Lambda)$  be the *i*-th Tate twist of  ${}^{0}\xi$ , and let  ${}^{i}\xi^{*} \in Q(\Lambda)$  be the transpose of  ${}^{i}\xi$ .

**4.1.2.** The  $\xi$  in Introduction of this paper is as follows. Let  $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  and  $\Lambda^-$  be as in Introduction. Then  $\Lambda^- \xrightarrow{\cong} \prod_i \Lambda_{(i)}$  where *i* ranges over all odd elements of  $\mathbb{Z}/(p-1)\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\Lambda_{(i)} = \Lambda/([\omega(a)] - \omega(a)^i; a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$ . Here  $\omega$  is the Teichmüller lifting. The image of  ${}^{0}\xi \in Q(\Lambda)$  in  $Q(\Lambda_{(i)})$  belongs to  $\Lambda_{(i)}$  unless  $i \neq 1$ , and the image of  ${}^{0}\xi$  in  $Q(\Lambda_{(1)})$  has the shape f/g where *f* is an invertible element of  $\Lambda_{(1)}$  and *g* is a generator of the kernel of the ring homomorphism Ker  $(\Lambda_{(1)} \to \mathbb{Z}_p)$  induced from  $\Lambda \to \mathbb{Z}_p$ ;  $[a] \mapsto a \ (a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})$ .

In Introduction,  $\xi$  denotes an element of  $\Lambda^-$  whose image in  $\Lambda_{(i)}$  for an odd element i of  $\mathbb{Z}/(p-1)\mathbb{Z}$  is the image of  ${}^{0}\xi$  if  $i \neq 1$ , and is an invertible element of  $\Lambda_{(1)}$  if i = 1. (We can choose this invertible element freely.)

**4.1.3.** In sections 6–11,  $\xi$  will denote the image of  ${}^{-1}\xi$  in a certain quotient of  $Q(\Lambda)$  (see 6.1.6).

#### 4.2 Coleman power series

**4.2.1.** Let T be a pro-p abelian group endowed with a continuous unramified action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ . Let D(T) be as in 1.7.4.

We discuss the homomorphism of Iwasawa-Coates-Wiles-Coleman

$$\operatorname{Col}: \varprojlim_{n} H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}(\zeta_{p^{n}}), T(1)) \to S^{-1}(D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]])$$

for a certain multiplicative subset S of  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  consisting of non-zero-divisors, and its variant

$$\operatorname{Col}^{\flat}: H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, T(1)) \to D(T).$$

**4.2.2.** First we consider Col<sup>b</sup>. Let L be the completion of the maximal unramified extension  $\mathbb{Q}_p^{\mathrm{ur}} \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$  of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ . The valuation ring  $O_L$  of L is  $W(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ . We have the exact sequence  $0 \to H^1(\mathbb{F}_p, H^0(L, T(1)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, T(1)) \to H^0(\mathbb{F}_p, H^1(L, T(1)) \to 0, \text{ and } H^0(L, T(1)) = T \otimes H^0(L, \mathbb{Z}_p(1)) = 0, \ H^1(L, T(1)) = T \otimes H^1(L, \mathbb{Z}_p(1)) \cong T \otimes L^{\times}$ . Hence  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, T(1)) \cong (T \otimes L^{\times})^{F_{p}=1}$ . We have  $L^{\times} = p^{\mathbb{Z}} \oplus O_L^{\times}$ . The homomorphism

$$l_{\varphi}: (O_L)^{\times} \to O_L \; ; \; x \mapsto p^{-1} \log(x^p / Fr_p(x))$$

induces an isomorphism  $\lim_{L \to n} O_L^{\times} / (O_L^{\times})^{p^n} \cong O_L$ . Thus we have an isomorphism

$$H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, T(1)) = (T \hat{\otimes} (\mathbb{Z} \oplus O_L))^{Fr_p = 1} \cong T^{Fr_p = 1} \oplus D(T)$$

We define  $\operatorname{Col}^{\flat} : H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, T(1)) \to D(T)$  to be the second component of this isomorphism. Thus  $\operatorname{Col}^{\flat}$  is surjective and the kernel is isomorphic to  $T^{Fr_p=1}$ .

**4.2.3.** Let  $\varphi: D(T) \to D(T)$  be as in 1.7.4.

We have

$$D(T)/(1-\varphi)D(T) = D(T/(1-Fr_p)T) = T/(1-Fr_p)T.$$

Proposition 4.2.4. The composition

$$H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, T(1)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Col}^{\flat}} D(T) \to D(T)/(1-\varphi)D(T) = T/(1-Fr_p)T$$

coincides with the composition

$$\cup (1 - p^{-1}) \log(\kappa) : H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, T(1)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Q}_p, T(1)) = T/(1 - Fr_p)T.$$

Here  $\kappa$  is the cyclotomic character  $Gal(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p) \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ ,  $(1-p^{-1})\log(\kappa)$  is the composition of  $\kappa$  and  $(1-p^{-1})\log:\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}\to\mathbb{Z}_p$ , and  $\cup$  denotes the cup product.

Proof. Replacing T by  $T/(1-Fr_p)T$ , we are reduced to the case the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ on T is trivial. Hence we are reduced to the case  $T = \mathbb{Z}_p$  with the trivial action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ . In this case, it is sufficient to prove that  $l_{\varphi} : \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}_p$  (this sends p to 0 and coincides with  $(1-p^{-1})\log$  on  $\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ ) is induced by  $\cup (1-p^{-1})\log(\kappa) : H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p,\mathbb{Z}_p(1)) \to$  $H^2(\mathbb{Q}_p,\mathbb{Z}_p(1)) = \mathbb{Z}_p$ . This is checked easily.  $\Box$ 

4.2.5. Next we consider Col.

Let

$$P = \varprojlim_{n} H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}(\zeta_{p^{n}}), T(1)),$$

and let  $U \subset P$  be the kernel of

$$P \to \varprojlim_n H^1(L(\zeta_{p^n}), T(1)) \to T \hat{\otimes} \varprojlim_n L(\zeta_{p^n})^{\times} / p^n \to T$$

where the last arrow is induced by the valuation  $L(\zeta_{p^n})^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}$ .

We have a canonical homomorphism

$$\operatorname{Col}: U \to D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$$

defined as follows. It is the composition

$$U \to (T \hat{\otimes} (\varprojlim_n O_L[\zeta_{p^n}]^{\times})^{Fr_p = 1} \to (T \hat{\otimes} O_L[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])^{Fr_p = 1} = D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$$

where the second arrow is induced from the usual homomorphism of Iwasawa-Coates-Wiles-Coleman

(1) 
$$\varprojlim_{n} O_{L}[\zeta_{p^{n}}]^{\times} \to O_{L}[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$$

with respect to  $(\zeta_{p^n})_{n\geq 1}$ . We recall the last map (1). Let  $u = (u_n)_{n\geq 1} \in \varprojlim_n O_L[\zeta_{p^n}]^{\times}$ . Then there is a unique element of  $g(t) \in O_L[[t-1]]^{\times}$  (called the Coleman power series associated to u) such that  $Fr_p^{-n}(g)(\zeta_{p^n}) = u_n$  for all  $n \geq 1$ . Here  $Fr_p^{-n}(g)$  is defined by applying  $Fr_p^{-n}$  to the coefficients of g. The image  $\mu \in O[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  of u is characterized by the property  $\mu t = p^{-1}l_{\varphi}(g(t))$  where  $l_{\varphi}(g(t)) = \log(g(t)^p/Fr_p(g)(t^p))$ . Here  $\mu t$  is defined by the natural  $O_L[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ -module structure of  $O_L[[t]]$  for which the group element [a] of  $O_L[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  for  $a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$  sends  $f(t) \in O_L[[t]]$  to  $f(t^a)$ .

We extend  $\operatorname{Col}: U \to D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  to

$$\operatorname{Col}: P \to S^{-1}(D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])$$

where S is the multiplicative subset of  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  consisting of all elements of the form  $us^n$ where  $u \in \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]^{\times}$ ,  $n \geq 0$ , and s is an element of  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  such that the kernel of the augmentation map  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \to \mathbb{Z}_p$ ;  $[a] \mapsto 1$  is generated by s as an ideal of  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ . The extended map is defined by

$$x \mapsto s^{-1} \operatorname{Col}(sx)$$

for such s.

Note that  $D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \to S^{-1}(D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])$  is injective. This is because  $(S^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])/\mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  has no *p*-torsion and hence is flat over  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ .

**4.2.6.** In the case  $T^{Fr_p=1} = 0$ , we have

$$\operatorname{Col}: P \longrightarrow D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_n^{\times}]]$$

without  $S^{-1}$ , since P = U in this case.

Proposition 4.2.7. Assume  $T^{Fr_p=1} = 0$ .

- (1) Col<sup> $\flat$ </sup> is an isomorphism  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, T(1)) \xrightarrow{\cong} D(T)$ .
- (2) We have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \varprojlim_n H^1(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^n}), T(1)) \xrightarrow{\text{Col}} D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \xrightarrow{b} D(T)/(1-\varphi)D(T) \to 0,$$

where  $b(x \otimes [a]) = ax$  for  $x \in D(T)$  and  $a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ .

*Proof.* (1) is clear from 4.2.2.

As is well known in classical local Iwasawa theory, the homomorphism (1) in 4.2.5 induces an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z}_p(1) \to V \to O_L[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \to 0$$

where  $V := Ker(\varprojlim_n H^1(L(\zeta_{p^n}), \mathbb{Z}_p(1)) \to \mathbb{Z}_p)$  and the map  $\mathbb{Z}_p(1) \to V$  comes from the evident embedding of  $\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}(1)$  into  $\mathbb{Z}_p[\zeta_{p^n}]^{\times}$ . By the snake lemma for the commutative diagram

where the vertical arrows are  $1 - Fr_p$ , we have an exact sequence  $0 \to U \to D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \to T/(1-Fr_p)T$ . As is easily seen, the last arrow sends  $x \otimes [a]$  to ax if we identify  $T/(1-Fr_p)T$  by  $D(T)/(1-\varphi)D(T)$ . It remains to prove that this last arrow is surjective. By replacing T by  $T/(1-Fr_p)T$ , this is reduced to the case  $Gal(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  acts on T trivially, and hence to the case where T is  $\mathbb{Z}_p$  with the trivial action of  $Gal(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ . In the last case, the surjectivity is known in classical Iwasawa theory (cf. [5]).

Lemma 4.2.8. The image of the map

$$(1-\varphi)$$
Col :  $P \to S^{-1}(D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])$ 

is contained in  $D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_n^{\times}]]$ .

*Proof.*  $\varprojlim_n L(\zeta_{p^n})^{\times}$  is generated by  $\varprojlim_n O_L[\zeta_{p^n}]^{\times}$  and the class of  $(1 - \zeta_{p^n})_n$ . The last element is killed by  $1 - \varphi$ .

Proposition 4.2.9. We have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} P & \stackrel{(1-\varphi^{-1})\operatorname{Col}}{\longrightarrow} & D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, T(1)) & \stackrel{\operatorname{Col}^{\flat}}{\longrightarrow} & D(T). \end{array}$$

Here the vertical arrows are the natural projections.

Proof. Let  $u \in U$  and let  $g \in T \hat{\otimes} O_L[[t-1]]^{\times}$  be the element such that  $u_n = ((1 \otimes Fr^{-n})(g))(\zeta_{p^n})$  in  $H^1(L(\zeta_{p^n}), T(1)) = T \hat{\otimes} L(\zeta_{p^n})^{\times}$  for any  $n \geq 1$ . Then if  $u_0$  denotes the image of u in  $T \hat{\otimes} (O_L)^{\times}$  under the canonical projection, we have  $u_0 = g(1)(1 \otimes Fr_p^{-1})(g)(1)^{-1}$  where we denote the group law of the right multiplicatively. Hence

$$\operatorname{Col}^{\flat}(u_0) = (1 \otimes l_{\varphi})(u_0) = (1 - 1 \otimes Fr_p^{-1})((1 \otimes l_{\varphi})(g)(1)) = (1 - \varphi^{-1})\operatorname{Col}(u)_0$$

where  $\operatorname{Col}(u)_0$  denotes the image of  $\operatorname{Col}(u)$  under the projection  $D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \to D(T)$ .

The proposition follows from this and the fact that  $T \otimes (1-\zeta_{p^n})_n$  is killed by  $1-1 \otimes Fr_p^{-1}$ and projects to  $T \otimes p$  which is killed by  $1 \otimes l_{\varphi}$ . **4.2.10.** Relation of Col and exp<sup>\*</sup> ([21] Chap. II, section 2, [44].) Assume that *T* is finitely generated as a  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -module. Let  $x \in \varprojlim_n H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}), T(1))$ , let  $S_1$  be the image of *S* under  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ ;  $[a] \mapsto a[a] \ (a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})$ , and let  $\mu \in S_1^{-1}(D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])$ be the image of  $Col(x) \in S^{-1}(D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])$  under the isomorphism  $S^{-1}(D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]) \to$  $S_1^{-1}(D(T)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])$ ;  $z \otimes [a] \mapsto az \otimes [a] \ (z \in D(T), \ a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})$ . Let  $\psi : \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$  be a continuous homomorphism with finite image, and let  $\mu(\psi) \in D(T) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p$  be the image of  $\mu$  by  $\psi$ . Let *n* be the smallest integer  $\geq 0$  such that  $\psi$  factors through  $(\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ , let  $x_n$  be the image of *x* in  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}), T)$  under the composition  $\varprojlim_n H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}), T(1)) \cong$  $\varprojlim_n H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}), T) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}), T)$ , and let  $\exp^*(x_n) \in D(T) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n})$  be the image of  $x_n$  under the dual exponential map

$$\exp^*: H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}), T \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p) \to D_{dR}(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}), T \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p) = D(T) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}).$$

(1) Assume  $n \ge 1$ . Then

$$\mu(\psi^{-1}) = G(\psi, \zeta_{p^n})^{-1} \cdot p^n \cdot (\varphi^n \otimes 1) \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^n \mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \psi(a) \sigma_a(\exp^*(x_n)).$$

(2) Assume n = 0 (so  $\psi$  is trivial). Then

$$(1 - p^{-1}\varphi^{-1})\mu(\psi) = (1 - \varphi)\exp^*(x_0)$$

#### 4.3 *p*-adic *L*-function $\mathcal{M}$ in two variables

**4.3.1.** From now, in this section 4, fix an integer  $N \ge 1$  which is prime to p, and let

$$\Lambda = \varprojlim_{r} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}].$$

As in section 1.5, let

$$\tilde{H} = \varprojlim_{r} H^{1}_{\text{et}}(Y_{1}(Np^{r}) \otimes \bar{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Z}_{p})^{\text{ord}} \supset H = \varprojlim_{r} H^{1}_{\text{et}}(X_{1}(Np^{r}) \otimes \bar{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Z}_{p})^{\text{ord}}$$

 $M_{\Lambda}$  the space of ordinary  $\Lambda$ -adic modular forms, and  $S_{\Lambda} \subset M_{\Lambda}$  the space of ordinary  $\Lambda$ -adic cusp forms. Recall that the action of  $\mathfrak{H}$  on  $M_{\Lambda}$  and the action of  $\mathfrak{h}$  on  $S_{\Lambda}$  are that  $T^*(n)$  acts as the usual T(n).

**4.3.2.** Consider the maps Col and Col<sup> $\flat$ </sup> for the unramified representations  $T = \tilde{H}_{quo}(1)$  or  $T = H_{quo}(1)$  of Gal $(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ .

We have

$$\operatorname{Col}: \lim_{\stackrel{\leftarrow}{n}} H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}), \tilde{H}_{quo}(2)) \to S^{-1}(D(\tilde{H}_{quo}(1))[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]) = S^{-1}(M_{\Lambda}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])$$

(here  $S \subset \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  is as in section 4.2). This induces

$$\operatorname{Col}: \lim_{n} H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}), H_{\operatorname{quo}}(2)) \to D(H_{\operatorname{quo}}(1))[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] = S_{\Lambda}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$$

without  $S^{-1}$ , by the fact  $H_{quo}(1)^{Fr_p=1} = 0$  (Proposition 3.3.3) and 4.2.6.

We have

$$\operatorname{Col}^{\flat}: H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \tilde{H}_{quo}(2)) \to D(\tilde{H}_{quo}(1)) = M_{\Lambda}$$

which induces

$$\operatorname{Col}^{\flat}: H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, H_{\operatorname{quo}}(2)) \to D(H_{\operatorname{quo}}(1)) = S_{\Lambda}.$$

The last map is an isomorphisms by  $H_{quo}(1)^{Fr_p=1} = 0$  (Proposition 3.3.3).

4.3.3. We define a map

$${}^{0}\mathcal{M}: \tilde{H} \to M_{\Lambda}[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]] \otimes_{\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]} Q(\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]) = M_{\Lambda} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]).$$

by

$${}^{0}\mathcal{M}(\gamma) = \operatorname{Col}(z_{1,Np^{\infty},p^{\infty}}(\gamma)) \quad (\gamma \in \tilde{H}).$$

Here  $z_{1,Np^{\infty},p^{\infty}}(\gamma)$  is defined as in Theorem 3.2.3.

For  $s \in \mathbb{Z}$ , let  ${}^{s}\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$  be the element of  $M_{\Lambda} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]])$  obtained from  ${}^{0}\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$  by applying the automorphism of  $M_{\Lambda} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]])$  induced by the automorphism of  $\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$ over  $\Lambda$  which sends [a]  $(a \in \mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times})$  to  $a^{s}[a]$ . We denote  ${}^{1}\mathcal{M}$  simply by  $\mathcal{M}$ . We will mainly use  ${}^{0}\mathcal{M}$  and  $\mathcal{M} = {}^{1}\mathcal{M}$ .

The correspondence  $\gamma \mapsto \mathcal{M}(\gamma)$  is characterized by zeta values as in (2) in the following Proposition.

#### **Proposition 4.3.4.** The map $\mathcal{M}$ has the following properties.

(1) For any  $\gamma \in \tilde{H}$  and for any b, c, d such that (b, p) = 1 and (cd, 6Nmp) = 1 and  $c \equiv d \equiv 1 \mod Np$ ,  $(1 - b\sigma_b)(c - \sigma_c)(d - \sigma_d\langle d \rangle)\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$  belongs to the image of  $E := M_\Lambda \otimes_\Lambda \Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  in  $E \otimes_{\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]} Q(\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])$ . (Here  $\langle a \rangle$  acts on  $M_\Lambda$  as the usual  $\langle a \rangle^{-1}$ ).

(2) Let  $r \geq 1$ , let  $\gamma \in H$ , and assume that the image of  $\gamma$  in  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$  belongs to  $H^1(Y_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q})$ . Let  $\psi : \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}$  be a continuous homomorphism of finite order and of conductor  $p^n$  with n > 0. Then the image of  $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)(\psi) \in (\varprojlim_j M_2(Np^j)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ in  $M_2(Np^r)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}$  belongs to  $M_2(Np^r)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ , and the period map

$$M_2(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}} \to H^1(Y_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q})^{\pm} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C} \quad (\pm = \psi(-1))$$

sends this image of  $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)(\psi)$  in  $M_2(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{O}}}$  to

$$p^{n}G(\psi,\zeta_{p^{n}})^{-1}T^{*}(p)^{-n}Z_{1,Np^{r}}(\psi,1)\cdot\gamma^{\pm}$$

Here

$$Z_{1,Np^r}(\psi,s) = \sum_m \psi(m)T^*(m)m^{-s}$$

where m ranges over all integers  $\geq 1$  which are prime to p, and  $\pm$  denotes the  $\pm$ -component for the action of complex conjugation.

(3) The map  $\gamma \mapsto \mathcal{M}(\gamma)$  commutes with the action of the Hecke algebra  $\mathfrak{H}$ . (Recall that  $T^*(n) \in \mathfrak{H}$  acts on  $M_{\Lambda}$  by the usual action of T(n).)

*Proof.* This is reduced to the properties of Beilinson elements.

**4.3.5.** In Proposition 4.3.6 below, we describe  $\mathcal{M}(\{0,\infty\})$ . Here we give some preliminaries to state the result.

We prepare notation for Eisenstein series of weight 1. For  $x, y \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ , the Eisenstein series  $E_{x,y}^{(1)}$  of weight 1, which is a modular form on the curve  $X(M)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  for  $M \geq 3$  such that Mx = My = 0, is defined as in [22] section 4. It is characterized by the q-expansion as follows. For  $x \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ , we define

$$\zeta(x,s) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Q}, m > 0, m \mod \mathbb{Z} = x} m^{-s}, \qquad \zeta^*(x,s) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \exp(2\pi i x m) \cdot m^{-s}.$$

Then  $E_{x,y}^{(1)} = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Q}, m \ge 0} a_m q^m$  where  $a_m$  with m > 0 are given by

$$\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Q}, m > 0} a_m m^{-s} = \zeta(x, s) \zeta^*(y, s) - \zeta(-x, s) \zeta^*(-y, s),$$

and  $a_0$  is as follows:  $a_0 = \zeta(x, 0)$  if  $x \neq 0$ , and  $a_0 = (1/2)(\zeta^*(y, 0) - \zeta^*(-y, 0))$  if x = 0.

For  $R \in GL(2, \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})$ , we have

m

(1)  $R^* E_{x,y}^{(1)} = E_{x',y'}^{(1)}$  where (x',y') = (x,y)R.

For any integer  $m \geq 1$ , we have the distribution property

(2) 
$$E_{x,y}^{(1)} = m^{-1} \sum_{mx'=x,my'=y} E_{x',y'}^{(1)}$$

For  $a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ , we denote the group element of  $\Lambda$  corresponding to a by [a]. For  $a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ , we denote the group element of  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  corresponding to a by  $\sigma_a$  (we will identify this  $\sigma_a$  with  $\sigma_a \in \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^{\infty}})/\mathbb{Q}))$ . In  $\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  which contains both rings  $\Lambda$  and  $\mathbb{Z}_{[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$  in the evident manner, the image of  $[a] \in \Lambda (a \in \mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$  is denoted by [a], and the image of  $\sigma_a \in \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$   $(a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})$  is denoted by  $\sigma_a$ .

**Proposition 4.3.6.** (1) As an element of  $\lim_{r,n} M_2(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}[(\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$ , we have

$$\mathcal{M}(\{0,\infty\}) =$$

the ordinary component of  $(N^{-1}p^{-n-r} \cdot (\sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}/p^n \mathbb{Z}, b \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^n \mathbb{Z})^{\times}} E^{(1)}_{x/p^n, b/p^n} \sigma_b) \cdot E^{(1)}_{0, 1/Np^r})_{n \ge 1, r \ge 1}.$ 

(2) As an element of  $M_{\Lambda}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \otimes_{\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]} Q(\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])$ , for  $s \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we have

 ${}^{s}\mathcal{M}(\{0,\infty\}) =$  the ordinary part of AB, where

where A and B are ( $\Lambda$ -adic) Eisenstein series (of weight s and 2-s, respectively) defined by

$$A = A_0 + 2 \sum_{i,j \ge 1, (i,p)=1} \sigma_i i^{s-1} q^{Nij},$$

$$B = B_0 + 2 \sum_{i,j \ge 1, (i,Np)=1} \sigma_i[i] \sigma_i^{-1} i^{1-s} q^{ij},$$

whose constant terms  $A_0$  and  $B_0$  are given, respectively, as follows.  $A_0$  is the image of the p-adic zeta function  ${}^{1-s}\xi_{p^{\infty}}^*$  under  $[a] \mapsto \sigma_a$ , and  $B_0$  is the image of the p-adic zeta function  ${}^{s-1}\xi_{Np^{\infty}}^*$  under  $[a] \mapsto [a]\sigma_a^{-1}$ .

This (2) is obtained in Fukaya [12]. The fact the system in (1) belongs to the inverse limit is deduced from the distribution property (2) in 4.3.5. The fact the system in (1) corresponds to the  $\Lambda$ -adic modular form in (2) is proved by using (1) in 4.3.5 and using the *q*-expansion of  $E_{x,y}^{(1)}$  in 4.3.5.

The product AB of (2) appears also in the work Panchiskin [43] to obtain *p*-adic *L*-function in two variables (relation with Beilinson elements are not considered in [43]).

**4.3.7.** Let  $(-)_{s=0} : D(H_{quo}(1)) \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \to D(H_{quo}(1))$  be the map induced by  $\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \to \Lambda$ ;  $\sigma_c \mapsto c^{-1}$ . For  $\gamma \in \tilde{H}$ , let

$$\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) := ({}^{0}\mathcal{M}(\gamma))_{s=0} \in M_{\Lambda} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda).$$

We will see in the next section (4.4.3) that, for  $\gamma \in H$ ,  $\mathcal{M}(\gamma) \in S_{\Lambda}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  and hence  $\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) \in S_{\Lambda}$  (we do not need the localization  $\otimes Q(-)$ ).

**Proposition 4.3.8.** For  $\gamma \in H$ , we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) = \operatorname{Col}^{\flat}(z_{Np^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\gamma))$$

in  $D(H_{quo}(1))$ .

Proof. Let  $z_{\gamma} \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \tilde{H}_{quo}(2)) \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1}$  be the image of  $z_{1,Np^{\infty},p^{\infty}}(\gamma)$  under the canonical projection. (Here  $\mu$  is as in 3.3.9.) We have by Propositions 1.8.1 and 4.2.9

$$(1 - T^{*}(p))\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) = (1 - \varphi^{-1})\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) = (1 - \varphi^{-1})(\operatorname{Col}(z_{1,Np^{\infty},p^{\infty}}(\gamma))_{s=0})$$
$$= \operatorname{Col}^{\flat}(z_{\gamma}) = \operatorname{Col}^{\flat}((1 - T^{*}(p))z_{Np^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\gamma)) = (1 - T^{*}(p))\operatorname{Col}^{\flat}(z_{Np^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\gamma)).$$

Use the injectivity of  $1 - T^*(p)$  on  $H_{quo}$  considered in section 3.3.

#### 4.4 *p*-adic *L*-function $\mathcal{L}$ of Mazur-Kitagawa in two variables

We review the definition of the *p*-adic *L*-function of Mazur-Kitagawa in two variables and prove a relation (Theorem 4.4.3) to the above *p*-adic *L*-function  $\mathcal{M}$  in two variables.

**4.4.1.** By [51] Lemma 3.1, the ordinary component of  $[u:v]_r \in H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(Np^r))$   $(u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z}, (u, v) = 1)$  such that  $u \mod p^r \neq 0$ ,  $v \mod p^r \neq 0$  belongs to the image of the canonical injection  $H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}} \to H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}}$ .

**4.4.2.** Fix  $N \geq 1$  which is prime to p. Mazur-Kitagawa p-adic L-function  $\mathcal{L}$  in two variables is defined as

$$\mathcal{L} = (\sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} T^*(p)^{-r} \{\infty, a/p^r\}_{Y_1(Np^r)} \otimes [a])_{r \ge 1} = (\sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} T^*(p)^{-r} [Na:1]_r \otimes [a])_{r \ge 1}$$
$$\in \tilde{H}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] = \varprojlim_r H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}}[(\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}].$$

In fact it belongs to  $H[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \subset \tilde{H}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  by 4.4.1.

(Here we consider the (-1)-Tate twist of the homology.)

Relations between the *p*-adic *L* functions  $\mathcal{M}$  and  $\mathcal{L}$  in two variables were studied by Ochiai [37]. In Theorem 4.4.3 below, we give a new presentation of the relation by using the pairing  $((-, -))_{\Lambda}$  defined in section 1.6.

**Theorem 4.4.3.** For  $\gamma \in H$ ,  $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$  belongs to  $S_{\Lambda}[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$ , and we have

$$((\mathcal{L},\gamma))_{\Lambda} = \sigma_{-1} \cdot \mathcal{M}(\gamma)$$

in  $S_{\Lambda}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]].$ 

*Proof.* It is sufficient to prove that for any non-trivial continuous homomorphism  $\psi$ :  $\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$  with finite image, we have

(1) 
$$((\mathcal{L}(\psi),\gamma)) = \psi(-1)\mathcal{M}(\gamma)(\psi)$$
 in  $S_{\Lambda} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ .

Let  $p^c$  be the conductor of  $\psi$ . We work on  $X_1(Np^r)$   $(r \ge 1)$ . Let  $L(\psi) \in H^1(X_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  be the image of  $\sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^c\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{\infty, a/p^c\}_{Y_1(Np^r)} \otimes \psi(a) \in H^1(Y_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  under the Drinfeld-Manin splitting  $H^1(Y_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}} \to H^1(X_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  (1.9.3). Consider the pairing  $(-, -) : H^1(X_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q}) \times H^1(X_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathbb{Q}$  of Poincaré duality. Let  $f = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} a_m(f)q^m \in S_2(Np^r)_{\mathbb{C}}$  and consider  $\operatorname{per}(f) \in H^1(X_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})$ .

Claim 1.  $(L(\psi), \operatorname{per}(f)) = G(\psi, \zeta_{p^c})L(f, \psi^{-1}, 1)$ . Here  $L(f, \psi^{-1}, s) = \sum_m a_m(f)\psi^{-1}(m)m^{-s}$ where *m* ranges over all integers  $\geq 1$  which are prime to *p*.

Proof of Claim 1. This is standard.

Claim 2.  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (L(\psi), T(n) \operatorname{per}(f)) q^n = G(\psi, \zeta_{p^c}) Z_T(\psi^{-1}, 1) f$ . Here  $Z_T(\psi^{-1}, s) = \sum_m T(m) \psi(m) m^{-s}$  where *m* ranges over all integers  $\geq 1$  which are prime to *p*.

Proof of Claim 2. The right hand side of Claim 1 is  $G(\psi, \zeta_{p^c})a_1(Z_T(\psi^{-1}, 1)f)$ . Replacing f by T(n)f, we have

$$(L(\psi), T(n) \operatorname{per}(f)) = (L(\psi), \operatorname{per}(T(n)f)) = G(\psi, \zeta_{p^c}) a_1(Z_T(\psi^{-1}, 1)T(n)f)$$
$$= G(\psi, \zeta_{p^c}) a_n(Z_T(\psi^{-1}, 1)f).$$

This proves Claim 2.

Claim 3. For any  $\gamma \in H^1(X_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q})$ , the period map  $M_2(Np^r)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} \to H^1(X_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q})^{\pm} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}$  $\mathbb{C}$  sends  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (L(\psi), T(n)\gamma)q^n$  to  $G(\psi, \zeta_{p^c})Z_T(\psi^{-1}, 1)\gamma^{\pm}$ . Here  $\pm = \psi(-1)$ . Proof of Claim 3. Since the map  $\gamma \mapsto (L(\psi), \gamma)$  factors through  $\gamma \mapsto \gamma^{\pm}$ , this follows from Claim 2.

Now the formula (1) at the beginning of this proof of Theorem 4.4.3 is deduced from Claim 3 and (2) of Proposition 4.3.4.  $(\psi(-1) \text{ appears because } G(\psi, \zeta_{p^c})G(\psi^{-1}, \zeta_{p^c})p^{-c} = \psi(-1)).$ 

**Remark 4.4.4.** The *p*-adic *L*-function  $\mathcal{L}$  in two variables of Mazur-Kitagawa still works for modular forms which need not be ordinary. But it loses the integrality, for  $T^*(p)^{-r}$  which appears in its definition is not integral any more.

However, the *p*-adic *L*-function  $\mathcal{M}$  in two variables works integrally even for modular forms which need not be ordinary, as is shown in a forthcoming paper of T. Fukaya. It will be shown that we can construct  $\mathcal{M} : \varprojlim_r H^1_{\text{ét}}(X_1(Np^r)) \to (\Lambda \text{-adic cusp forms})[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]],$  $\mathcal{M} : \varprojlim_r H^1_{\text{ét}}(Y_1(Np^r)) \to (\Lambda \text{-adic modular forms})[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  without taking the ordinary components.

### 4.5 Relations with *p*-adic *L*-functions of cusp forms

We compare the relation of  $\mathcal{L}$  to the *p*-adic *L*-function of each cusp form with that of  $\mathcal{M}$ .

**4.5.1.** We review the *p*-adic *L*-function of a cusp form ([1], [31], [58]).

Let  $f = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n q^n \in S_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{C}}$   $(r \ge 1)$  be a normalized Hecke-eigen *p*-stabilized newform of weight  $k \ge 2$ , of level  $Np^r$ , and of character  $\epsilon : (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}$ . So  $T(n)f = a_n f$   $(a_n \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}})$  for  $n \ge 1$ ,  $\langle c \rangle f = \epsilon(c)f$  for any  $c \in (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ , and  $a_1 = 1$ . Assume *f* is T(p)-ordinary, that is,  $a_p$  is a *p*-adic unit in  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ . We review the *p*-adic *L* function of *f*.

We have  $f \in S_k(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{O}}}$ . Let

$$F = \mathbb{Q}(a_n ; n \ge 1) \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}, \quad L = \mathbb{Q}_p(a_n ; n \ge 1) \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p.$$

Then F is a finite extension of  $\mathbb{Q}$  and L is a finite extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ .

Consider the canonical perfect paring

$$(,): V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Q}}(k-1) \times V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathbb{Q}$$

This pairing commutes with the action of the complex conjugation. We denote the induced pairing  $V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{C}} \times V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{C}} \to \mathbb{C}$  also by (, ).

We say that a pair  $\Omega = (\Omega^+, \Omega^-)$  of non-zero complex numbers is a period of f if  $\Omega^{\pm} = (2\pi i)^{2-k}(\delta^{\pm}, \operatorname{per}(f))$  for the above pairing (-, -) and for some  $\delta^{\pm} \in V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Q}}(k-1)^{\pm}$ . (The last  $(-)^{\pm}$  denotes the part on which the complex conjugation acts by  $\pm 1$ ). Periods of f fulfill an  $F^{\times} \times F^{\times}$ -orbit in  $\mathbb{C}^{\times} \times \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ .

Let  $\Omega = (\Omega^+, \Omega^-)$  be a period of f. Then the *p*-adic *L*-function  $L_{p,\Omega}(f)$  of f with respect to  $\Omega$  is the unique element of  $O_L[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  having the following relations (i) and (ii) with the complex *L*-functions

$$L(f,s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n n^{-s}, \quad L(f,\psi,s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \psi(n) n^{-s}.$$

(Here  $\psi(n)$  means 0 if n is divisible by p and  $\psi$  is non-trivial.) Let  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $1 \leq r \leq k-1$ . For a homomorphism  $\psi : (\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}$ , let  $L_{p,\Omega}(f, \psi, r) \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$  be the image of  $L_{p,\Omega}$ under the ring homomorphism  $\psi \kappa^{r-1} : O_L[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$  which sends the group element [a] for  $a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$  to  $a^{r-1}\psi(a)$ . In the case  $\psi$  is trivial, we denote  $L_{p,\Omega}(f, \psi, r)$  by  $L_{p,\Omega}(f, r)$ .

Let  $\alpha := a_p$ .

(i) Let  $n \geq 1$  and let  $\psi : (\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}$  be a homomorphism which does not factor through  $(\mathbb{Z}/p^{n-1}\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ . Then

$$L_{p,\Omega}(f,\psi,r) = (r-1)! \cdot p^{n(r-1)} \alpha^{-n} \cdot G(\psi,\zeta_{p^n}) \cdot (-2\pi i)^{1-r} \cdot \frac{1}{\Omega^{\pm}} \cdot L(f,\psi,r)$$

(both sides belong to  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ ). Here  $\pm = (-1)^{r-1}\psi(-1)$ , and  $G(\psi, \zeta_{p^n})$  is the Gauss sum  $\sum_{b \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \psi(b)\zeta_{p^n}^b$ .

(ii)

$$L_{p,\Omega}(f,r) = (r-1)! \cdot (1-p^{r-1}\alpha^{-1})(1-\epsilon(p)p^{k-r-1}\alpha^{-1}) \cdot (-2\pi i)^{1-r} \cdot \frac{1}{\Omega^{\pm}} \cdot L(f,r)$$

(both sides belong to  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ ). Here  $\pm = (-1)^{r-1}$ .

**4.5.2.** Define the *F*-vector space  $V(f)_F$  (resp.  $S(f)_F$ ) to be the quotient of  $V_k(X_1(Np^r))_F$ (resp.  $S_k(Np^r)_F$ ) divided by the *F*-subspace generated by the images of the operators  $T(n) - a_n$   $(n \ge 1)$  on  $V_k(X_1(Np^r))_F$  (resp.  $S_k(Np^r)_F$ ). Then  $V(f)_F$  is a two dimensional *F*-vector space and  $S(f)_F$  is a one dimensional *F*-vector space. The natural action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R})$  on  $V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Q}}$  induces an action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R})$  on  $V(f)_F$ . Let  $V(f)_F^+$  (resp.  $V(f)_F^-$ ) be the part of  $V(f)_F$  on which the complex conjugation acts as 1 (resp. -1). Then  $\dim_F(V(f)_F^+) = \dim_F(V(f)_F^-) = 1$ .

The period map in 1.5.6 induces the period map

per : 
$$S(f)_{\mathbb{C}} \to V(f)_{\mathbb{C}}$$

which is injective, where  $S(f)_{\mathbb{C}} = S(f)_F \otimes_F \mathbb{C}$ ,  $V(f)_{\mathbb{C}} = V(f)_F \otimes_F \mathbb{C}$ .

**4.5.3.** Let f be as in 4.5.2. Let

$$f^* = \sum_n \bar{a}_n q^n$$

where  $\bar{a}_n$  denotes the complex conjugate of  $a_n$ . Then  $f^* \in S_k(Np^r)_{\mathbb{C}}$  and  $f^*$  is a normalized Hecke-eigen *p*-stabilized new form. So  $T(n)f^* = \bar{a}_n f^*$  for  $n \ge 1$ . We have also  $T^*(n)f^* = a_n f^*$  for  $n \ge 1$ . Hence  $f^*$  is  $T^*(p)$ -ordinary. We have  $F = \mathbb{Q}(\bar{a}_n; n \ge 1)$ .

The *F*-vector space  $V(f^*)_F$  (resp.  $S(f^*)_F$ ) coincides with the quotient of  $V_k(X_1(M))_F$ (resp.  $S_k(M)_F$ ) by the *F*-subspace generated by the images of  $T^*(n) - a_n$   $(n \ge 1)$ . The map  $(-, \text{per}(f)) : V_k(X_1(Np^r))_F(k-1) \to \mathbb{C}$  factors through  $V(f^*)_F(k-1)$ .

**4.5.4.** Take non-zero elements  $\delta^{\pm}$  of  $V(f^*)(k-1)_F^{\pm}$ , let  $\Omega^{\pm} = (2\pi i)^{2-k}(\delta^{\pm}, \operatorname{per}(f))$ , and let

$$L_{p}(f) = L_{p,\Omega}(f)^{+} \delta^{+} + L_{p,\Omega}(f)^{-} \delta^{-} \in V(f^{*})_{F}(k-1) \otimes_{O_{F}} O_{L}[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]].$$

Then  $L_p(f)$  is independent of the choice of  $\delta$ .

**Proposition 4.5.5.** ([30], [24].) Let  $|_{f^*}$  be the projection from  $\varprojlim_r V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$  to  $V(f^*)_L$ . We have

$$\pi_k(\mathcal{L})|_{f^*} = L_p(f)$$

in  $V(f^*)_F \otimes_{O_F} O_L[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ .

**4.5.6.** We define  $L_{p,\gamma}(f) \in S(f^*)_F \otimes_{O_F} O_L[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  for  $\gamma \in V(f^*)_L$ . In the case  $\gamma \in V(f^*)_F$ and  $\gamma^{\pm} \neq 0$ , it is defined as follows. Take a non-zero element  $\omega$  of  $S(f^*)_F$  and write  $\operatorname{per}(\omega) = \Omega^+ \gamma^a + \Omega^- \gamma^{-a}$  where  $a \in \{\pm\}$  is the sign of  $(-1)^k$ . (We can take for example,  $\omega = w_{Np^r}(f)$ .) Then  $\Omega = (\Omega^+, \Omega^-)$  is a period of f. Define  $L_{p,\gamma}(f) = L_{p,\Omega}(f)\omega$ . Then this is independent of the choice of  $\omega$ . For general  $\gamma \in V(f)_L$ , writing  $\gamma = \sum_i a_i \gamma_i$  with  $a_i \in L$ and  $\gamma_i \in V(f^*)_F$  such that  $\gamma_i^{\pm} \neq 0$ , define  $L_{p,\gamma}(f) = \sum_i a_i L_{p,\gamma_i}(f)$ . This is independent of the choice of such presentation of  $\gamma$ .

**Lemma 4.5.7.**  $((L_p(f), \gamma))_{r,k} = \sigma_{-1} \cdot L_{p,\gamma}(f)$  in  $S_F(f^*) \otimes_{O_F} O_L[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ . Here the pairing  $((-, -))_{k,r}$  is as in 1.6.8.

*Proof.* This can be deduced from the relations of both sides to complex L-values.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 4.5.8.** Let  $|_{f^*}$  be the projection from  $S_{k,\Lambda}$  to  $S(f^*)_L$ . We have

$$\pi_k(\mathcal{M}(\gamma))|_{f^*} = L_{p,\gamma}(f)$$

in  $S(f^*)_F \otimes_{O_F} O_L[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]].$ 

*Proof.* This follows from Theorem 4.4.3, Lemma 4.5.7 and Proposition 1.6.10.

## 5 The map $\varpi$

In this section, we define the map  $\varpi$  from the modular symbol side to the ideal class group side. We prove Conjecture 5.8 in [51] of Sharifi.

We illustrate the outline of section 5. In section 3, we constructed the correspondence

(1) modular symbol  $\mapsto$  Beilinson element.

In section 5.1, we will construct the correspondence

(2) Beilinson element  $\mapsto$  cyclotomic symbol

by taking the value of a Beilinson element at the  $\infty$ -cusp. Here cyclotomic symbol means the cup product of two cyclotomic units in Galois cohomology. Composing these (1) and (2), we obtain in section 5.2 and section 5.3 the correspondence

(3) modular symbol  $\mapsto$  cyclotomic symbol.

The correspondence (3) is constructed by Sharifi [51], Proposition 5.7 (see 5.2.1-5.2.3 of this paper), but the relation of his correspondence with Hecke operators is stated by him as Conjecture 5.8 in [51] which we review in 5.2.2. By using our construction of the correspondence (3) outlined above, we can prove his conjecture by the fact that the map (1) respects Hecke operators (Theorem 3.3.9) and the map (2) also respects Hecke operators (Theorem 5.1.9 (2)). We point our that in our proof of Theorem 3.3.9 and hence in our proof of this conjecture, the relation of Beilinson elements to zeta values play an essential role.

#### 5.1 From Beilinson elements to cyclotomic symbols

**5.1.1.** Let  $M \ge 1$  and assume p|M. For  $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  such that (a, b) = (1), we define in 5.1.3 below a homomorphism

$$H^2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M], \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$$

called the evaluation at  $\infty_M(a, b)$ . The restriction of this homomorphism to  $H^2(X_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M])$  is just the pull back by the morphism  $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M], \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \to X_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M]$  induced by  $\infty_M(a, b)$  (1.3.4).

**5.1.2.** Let R be a Noetherian regular ring. We extend the homomorphism of K-groups

$$K_i(R[[T]]) \to K_i(R) ; T \mapsto 0$$

to a homomorphism

$$K_i(R[[T]][T^{-1}]) \to K_i(R)$$

as follows. By the localization theory in K-theory, we have an isomorphism

$$K_i(R[[T]]) \oplus K_{i-1}(R) \xrightarrow{\cong} K_i(R[[T]][T^{-1}]) ; (x,y) \mapsto x + \{y,T\}$$

Using this isomorphism, we define the above homomorphism as the composition

$$K_i(R[[T]][T^{-1}]) \cong K_i(R[[T]]) \oplus K_{i-1}(R) \to K_i(R[[T]]) \to K_i(R)$$

where the former arrow is the first projection and the latter arrow is  $T \mapsto 0$ .

We have a similar homomorphism

$$H^{i}(R[[T]][T^{-1}], \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}\mathbb{Z}(r)) \to H^{i}(R, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}\mathbb{Z}(r))$$

for the étale cohomology group, for a prime number p which is invertible in R and for  $i, r \in \mathbb{Z}$ . This is obtained similarly from the isomorphism

$$H^{i}(R[[T]], \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}\mathbb{Z}(r)) \oplus H^{i-1}(R, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}\mathbb{Z}(r-1)) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^{i}(R[[T]][T^{-1}], \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}\mathbb{Z}(r)) ; \ (x, y) \mapsto x + \{y, T\}$$

where  $\{-, T\}$  is the cup product with the Kummer class of T in  $H^1(R[[T]][T^{-1}], \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}(1))$ .

In what follows, we use the case i = 2 of these homomorphisms

$$K_2(R[[T]][T^{-1}]) \to K_2(R), \quad H^2(R[[T]][T^{-1}], \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}(2)) \to H^2(R, \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}(2)).$$

The following diagram is commutative.

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
K_2(R[[T]][T^{-1}]) & \to & K_2(R) \\
\downarrow & & \downarrow \\
H^2(R[[T]][T^{-1}], \mathbb{Z}/p^n \mathbb{Z}(2)) & \to & H^2(R, \mathbb{Z}/p^n \mathbb{Z}(2))
\end{array}$$

Here the vertical arrows are the Chern class maps.

**5.1.3.** The value at  $\infty_M(a, b)$ . Let  $M \ge 1$  and assume p|M. Let  $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  and assume (a, b) = (1). We have a commutative diagram

in which the horizontal arrows are the compositions

$$K_2(Y_1(M)) \to K_2(\mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M][[q^{1/M}]][q^{-1}]) \to K_2(\mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M]),$$
$$H^2(Y_1(M), \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M][[q^{1/M}]][q^{-1}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$$

respectively. Here the first arrows are the pull back by  $\infty_M(a, b)$  and second arrows are the maps in 5.1.2 for the case  $R = \mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M]$  and  $T = q^{1/M}$ . We denote the horizontal arrows by  $x \mapsto x(\infty_M(a, b))$  and call them the value at  $\infty_M(a, b)$ .

The value at  $\infty_M(0, 1)$  is called the value at  $\infty$ . We use mainly the value at  $\infty$ . But to understand the relation of the value at  $\infty$  with dual Hecke operators, we have to consider the values at other  $\infty_M(a, b)$ .

Remark. The value at  $\infty_M(a, b)$  depends on the pair (a, b), not only on the cusp determined by  $\infty_M(a, b)$ . That is, even if  $b \equiv b' \mod a$ , the value at  $\infty_M(a, b)$  and the value at  $\infty_M(a, b')$  can differ.

**Proposition 5.1.4.** (1) For  $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  such that (a, b) = (1), and for  $c \in (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ , and for any element x of  $K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M])$  or of  $H^2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$ , we have

$$(\langle c \rangle x)(\infty_M(a,b)) = x(\infty_M(ca,cb)).$$

(2) For  $c \in (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  and for any element x of  $K_2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M])$  or of  $H^2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$ , we have

$$(\langle c \rangle x)(\infty) = \sigma_c(x(\infty)).$$

(Here  $\sigma_c \in \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_M)/\mathbb{Q})$  is as in 2.4.3.)

*Proof.* The composition

$$\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/M,\zeta_M][[q^{1/M}][q^{-1}]) \xrightarrow{\infty_M(a,b)} Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M] \xrightarrow{\langle c \rangle} Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M]$$

coincides with  $\infty_M(ca, cb)$ . Hence we have (1). (2) follows from (1) and

$$x(\infty_M(0,c)) = \sigma_c(x(\infty)).$$

The following 5.1.5 (resp. 5.1.6 (1), resp. 5.1.6 (2)) is obtained from the diagram (1) (resp. (3), resp. (2)) in 1.3.5.

**Proposition 5.1.5.** Let  $\ell$  be a prime number which does not divide M. Then for any  $x \in H^2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$ , we have

$$\left(\left(1 - T^*(\ell) + \langle \ell \rangle^{-1} \ell\right) x\right)(\infty) = 0.$$

**Lemma 5.1.6.** Let  $\ell$  be a prime divisor of M. Let  $x \in H^2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$ . Let  $(a, b) \in (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^2$  and assume (a, b) = (1). Let  $R \ge 1$  be the positive divisor of M such that (a) = (R) as an ideal of  $\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$ .

(1) Assume  $\ell | R$ . Then

$$(T^*(\ell)x)(\infty_M(a,b)) = \sum_{a' \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}, \ell a' = a} x(\infty_M(a',b))$$

where a' ranges over all elements of  $\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  such that  $\ell a' = a$ 

(2) Assume  $\ell \not| R$ . Assume  $b = \ell b'$  for some  $b' \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$ . Then we have

$$(T^*(\ell)x)(\infty_M(a,b)) = \ell \cdot x(\infty_M(a,b'))$$

**Proposition 5.1.7.** Let  $x \in H^2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$  and assume that  $x(\infty_M(a, b)) + x(\infty_M(a, -b)) = 0$  for any  $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z}$  such that (a, b) = (1) and such that  $a \neq 0$ .

(1) We have  $y(\infty) = 0$  for any  $y \in Ix \subset H^2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/M], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$  where I is the Eisenstein ideal of  $\mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ .

(2) Let  $x^{\text{ord}}$  be the ordinary component of x. Then  $x^{\text{ord}}(\infty) = x(\infty)$ .

Proof. (1) follows from 5.1.5 and 5.1.6. In fact, what we obtain is  $y(\infty_M(0,1))+y(\infty_M(0,-1)) = 0$ . But  $y(\infty_M(0,-1)) = (\langle -1 \rangle y)(\infty) = y(\infty)$  for  $\langle -1 \rangle$  acts trivially on  $Y_1(M)$ .

(2) By (1), we have  $(T^*(p)^n)x)(\infty) = x(\infty)$  for any  $n \ge 0$  since  $T^*(p)^n \equiv 1 \mod I$ . Hence  $x^{\text{ord}}(\infty) = (\lim_n T^*(p)^{n!}x)(\infty) = x(\infty)$ .

Proposition 5.1.8. The following diagram is commutative.

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^{2}(Y_{1}(Np^{r+1}) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2)) & \stackrel{\infty \circ T^{*}(p)}{\longrightarrow} & H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r+1}}], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2)) \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ H^{2}(Y_{1}(Np^{r}) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2)) & \stackrel{\infty}{\longrightarrow} & H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r}}], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2)) \end{array}$$

Here the vertical arrows are the trace maps, the lower horizontal arrow is  $x \mapsto x(\infty)$ , and the upper horizontal arrow is  $x \mapsto (T^*(p)x)(\infty)$ .

*Proof.* We have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np,\zeta_{Np^{r+1}}][[q]][q^{-1}]) &\to Y_1(Np^{r+1}) &\leftarrow Y(1,Np^{r+1}(p)) \xrightarrow{\psi_p} Y_1(Np^{r+1}) \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np,\zeta_{Np^r}][[q]][q^{-1}]) &\to Y(1,Np^r(p)) &= Y(1,Np^r(p)) \xrightarrow{\psi_p} Y_1(Np^r) \end{aligned}$$

in which the upper middle arrow is the canonical projection, the left upper horizontal arrow is induced by  $\infty_{Np^{r+1}}(0,1)$ , the left lower horizontal arrow is the unique morphism which makes the left diagram commutative (for the moduli interpretation of  $Y(1, Np^r(p))$ in 1.2.3, it is defined by the triple  $(E_q, \zeta_{Np^r}, C)$  where C is the subgroup of  $E_q$  generated by the section  $\zeta_{Np^{r+1}}$  of  $E_q$ ), and the squares except the middle one are cartesian. Let  $x \in H^2(Y_1(Np^{r+1}), \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$  and let y be the trace of x in  $H^2(Y_1(Np^r), \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$ . Let  $A \in H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r+1}}][[q]][q^{-1}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$  be the pull back of  $T^*(p)x$  under  $\infty_{Np^{r+1}}(0, 1)$ , and let the element B (resp. C) of  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}][[q]][q^{-1}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$  be the pull back of  $\psi_p^*(y)$  (resp. y) under the left lower horizontal arrow (resp. under  $\infty_{Np^r}(0,1)$ ). Write by Tr the trace maps  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r+1}}][[q]][q^{-1}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}][[q]][q^{-1}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$  and  $H^i(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r+1}}], \mathbb{Z}_p(i)) \to H^i(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(i))$  (i = 1, 2). Then the above commutative diagram shows that  $\operatorname{Tr}(A) = B$ . Write  $A = a_2 + \{a_1, q\}$  with  $a_i \in H^i(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r+1}}], \mathbb{Z}_p(i))$ , and write  $B = b_2 + \{b_1, q\}, C = c_2 + \{c_1, q\}$  ( $b_i, c_i \in H^i(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(i)$ ). Then by  $\operatorname{Tr}(A) = B$ , we have  $\operatorname{Tr}(a_i) = b_i$ . On the other hand, the composition  $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}][[q]][q^{-1}]) \to Y(1, Np^r(p)) \to Y_1(Np^r)$  of the left lower horizontal arrow and the canonical projection is the morphism induced by  $\infty_{Np^r}(0, 1)$ . This shows that  $b_2 = c_2$  and  $b_1 = pc_1$ . Since  $(T^*(p)x)(\infty) = a_2$  and  $y(\infty) = c_2$ , we have  $\operatorname{Tr}((T^*(p)x)(\infty)) = y(\infty)$ .

Let  $M \ge 1$  and assume p|M.

**Theorem 5.1.9.** (1) The value of  $_{c,d}z_{1,M,1}(u,v)$  at  $\infty$  is

$$\{(-\zeta_M^u)^{(c-c^2)/2} \frac{(1-\zeta_M^u)^{c^2}}{1-\zeta_M^{cu}}, \ (-\zeta_M^v)^{(d-d^2)/2} \frac{(1-\zeta_M^v)^{d^2}}{1-\zeta_M^{dv}}\}.$$

(2) The value of any element of  $I \cdot {}_{c,d}z_{1,M,1}(u,v)$  at  $\infty$  is zero.

(3) The value of the ordinary component  $_{c,d}z_{1,M,1}(u,v)^{\text{ord}}$  of  $_{c,d}z_{1,M,1}(u,v) \in H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))(2))$  at  $\infty$  coincides with the value of  $_{c,d}z_{1,M,1}(u,v)$  (described in (1)).

*Proof.* By the q-expansion of a Siegel unit introduced in 2.1.1, we have the following multiplicative congruence for any  $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $(r, s) \not\equiv (0, 0) \mod M$ :

$$_{c}g_{r/M,s/M} \equiv q^{i/M}U(r,s) \mod 1 + q^{1/M}\mathbb{Z}[1/M,\zeta_{M}][[q^{1/M}]][q^{-1}]$$

where  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  and

$$U(r,s) = (-\zeta_M^s)^{(c-c^2)/2} (1-\zeta_M^s)^{c^2} / (1-\zeta_M^{cs}) \text{ in the case } M|r,$$
$$U(r,s) = (-\zeta_M^s)^{t(r/M,c)} \text{ unless } M|r$$

for some integer t(r/M, c) which depends only on  $r/M \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  and  $c \in \mathbb{Z}$ . (1) follows from the case M|r of this.

In the case M does not divide r,  $U(r, -s) = U(r, s)^{-1}$ . Hence by (1) of Proposition 5.1.7 (resp. (2) of Proposition 5.1.7), (2) (resp. (3)) is reduced to the following lemma.  $\Box$ Lemma 5.1.10. Unless a = 0, we have

$$_{c,d}z_{1,M,1}(u,v)(\infty_M(a,b)) + _{c,d}z_{1,M,1}(u,v)(\infty_M(a,-b)) = 0.$$

*Proof.* This follows from the above computation on Siegel units by the following argument.

Let  $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$  and assume (a, b) = 1. Take  $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $\begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ a & b \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ . Then the pull back of  $\{ {}_{c}g_{0,u/M}, {}_{d}g_{0,v/M} \}$  in  $K_2(\mathbb{Z}[1/M, \zeta_M][[q^{1/M}]][q^{-1}])$  under  $\infty_M(a, b)$  coincides with the usual q-expansion of

$$\{cg_{0,u/M}, dg_{0,v/M}\} \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ a & b \end{pmatrix} = \{cg_{au/M,bu/M}, dg_{av/M,bv/M}\}.$$

#### 5.2 From modular symbols to cyclotomic symbols

Let  $N \ge 1$  and assume N is prime to p. Let

$$\Lambda = \varprojlim_{r} \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}].$$

We will apply section 5.1 by taking  $M = Np^r$  with  $r \ge 1$ .

**5.2.1.** We introduce Conjecture 5.8 of Sharifi [51]. Recall that  $[u:v]_r$   $(u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z}, (u, v, Np) = 1, u \neq 0, v \neq 0)$  generate  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0(1)$ . Here  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0$  is as in 3.3.7. By Sharifi [51], Proposition 5.7, we have a homomorphism

$$\varpi_r: H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0(1) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{Np}, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$$

which sends  $[u:v]_r$   $(u,v \in \mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z}, (u,v,Np) = 1, u \neq 0, v \neq 0)$  to

$$\{1-\zeta_{Np^r}^u, \ 1-\zeta_{Np^r}^v\}^+$$

and which factors through the projection

$$H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(Np^{r}))_{0}(1) \to H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(Np^{r}))_{0}(1)^{+} = H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(Np^{r}))^{-}_{0}(1).$$

This homomorphism commutes with the actions of  $\mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$  where the group element [a] of  $\mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$  for  $a \in (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  acts on  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0(1)$  as the diamond operator  $\langle a \rangle$  and acts on  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$  as  $\sigma_a \in \text{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r})/\mathbb{Q})$  (2.4.3).

**5.2.2.** [51], **Conjecture** 5.8. The restriction of  $\varpi_r$  to  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(Np^r))(1)$  kills  $IH^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(Np^r))(1)$ . Here I is the Eisenstein ideal of  $\mathfrak{h}(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ .

The following Theorem 5.2.3 (1) implies that this conjecture is true.

**Theorem 5.2.3.** (1) The homomorphism  $\varpi_r$  kills  $IH^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))_0(1)$ . Here I is the Eisenstein ideal of  $\mathfrak{H}(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ .

(2) The following diagram is commutative for any  $r \geq 1$ .

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^{r+1}))_0(1) & \stackrel{\varpi_{r+1}}{\to} & H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np,\zeta_{Np^{r+1}}],\mathbb{Z}_p(2))^+ \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))_0(1) & \stackrel{\varpi_r}{\to} & H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np,\zeta_{Np^r}],\mathbb{Z}_p(2))^+. \end{array}$$

Here the vertical arrows are the trace maps. Consequently, we have a  $\Lambda$ -homomorphism

$$\varpi: \tilde{H}_0(1)/I\tilde{H}_0(1) \to \varprojlim_r H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))^+$$

which sends  $(x_r)_r$  to  $(\varpi_r(x_r))_r$ . (Here  $\Lambda$  acts on the left hand side via diamond operators and on the right as the completed group ring of the Galois group.)

We prove this theorem in this section 5.2.

**Lemma 5.2.4.** (1) For  $x \in H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))$ , the images of x and  $x^{\text{ord}}$  in  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))/IH^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))$ coincide.

(2) We have an isomorphism

$$H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\mathrm{ord}}/IH^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\mathrm{ord}} \xrightarrow{\cong} H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))/IH^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r)).$$

*Proof.* (1) is easily seen. (2) follows from (1) (the inverse map is given by  $x \mapsto x^{\text{ord}}$ ).  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 5.2.5.** Let  $M \geq 1$  and assume p|M. Then we have a canonical isomorphism  $H^{2}(Y_{1}(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{m}], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2))^{\text{ord}} \cong H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_{m}], H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(Y_{1}(M))(2))^{\text{ord}}.$ 

*Proof.* By the spectral sequence

$$E_2^{i,j} = H^i(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_m], H^j_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(M))(2)) \Rightarrow H^{i+j}(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_m], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$$

and the fact  $H^j_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(M)) = 0$  if  $j \ge 2$  for  $Y_1(M) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  is an affine curve, we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_m], \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \to H^2(Y_1(M) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_m], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$$
$$\to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_m], H^1_{\text{\'et}}(Y_1(M))(2)) \to 0.$$

Since  $T^*(p)$  acts on the part  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Mm, \zeta_m], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))$  as the multiplication by p, the ordinary component of this part vanishes. 

**5.2.6.** Let

$$\mathcal{S} := \lim_{r} H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))^+.$$

Here (+) denotes the (+)-part for the complex conjugation. We regard S as a  $\Lambda$ -module where  $\Lambda$  is identified with  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{\infty}})/\mathbb{Q})]].$ 

Then  $\mathcal{S}$  is a free  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -module of finite rank by Ferrero-Washington [7].

**5.2.7.** Let  $\mu = p((1 + Np)^2 - \langle 1 + Np \rangle) \in \Lambda$  as in 3.3.9. Consider the composition of  $\Lambda$ -homomorphisms

$$\tilde{H}_0(1) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2)) \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1}$$
$$= \lim_{r} H^2(Y_1(Np^r), \mathbb{Z}_p(2))^{\text{ord}} \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1} \to \mathcal{S} \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1}$$

where:

we regard  $\Lambda$  as the ring of diamond operators acting on H, except that the last  $\Lambda$ denotes the cyclotomic Iwasawa algebra of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{\infty}})/\mathbb{Q}),$ 

the first arrow is by Theorem 3.3.9,

the = is by Lemma 5.2.5,

the last arrow is  $(x_r)_r \mapsto ((T^*(p)^r x_r)(\infty))_r$  (Proposition 5.1.8).

By Theorem 5.1.9 (2) (3), if  $(x_r)_r \in \tilde{H}_0(1)$  is sent to  $(y_r)_r \in \varprojlim_r H^2(Y_1(Np^r), \mathbb{Z}_p(2))^{\mathrm{ord}} \otimes_{\Lambda}$  $\Lambda \mu^{-1}$ , then the above composite map sends  $(x_r)_r$  to  $(y_r(\infty))_r$ .

**Lemma 5.2.8.** (1) The map  $\mu : \mathcal{S} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \to \mathcal{S} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  is bijective. (2) The canonical homomorphism  $\mathcal{S} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \to \mathcal{S} \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  is an isomorphism.

*Proof.* It is sufficient to prove  $\Lambda/(\mu) \otimes_{\Lambda} S \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p = 0$ . We have

$$\Lambda/(\mu) \otimes_{\Lambda} \mathcal{S} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \cong H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np}], \mathbb{Q}_p)^+.$$

The vanishing of the last cohomology group is a consequence of Leopoldt conjecture for abelian fields over  $\mathbb{Q}$  proved by Brumer [3] which we apply to the field  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np})$ .

**5.2.9.** By composing the map  $\tilde{H}_0(1) \to \mathcal{S} \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1}$  in 5.2.7 and the map  $\mathcal{S} \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1} \to \mathcal{S} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  given by 5.2.8, we obtain a homomorphism

$$\tilde{H}_0(1) \to \mathcal{S} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p.$$

**Proposition 5.2.10.** (1) The homomorphism in 5.2.9 kills  $I \cdot \tilde{H}_0(1)$ , where I is the Eisenstein ideal of  $\mathfrak{H}$ .

(2) The image of the homomorphism in 5.2.9 is contained in S.

*Proof.* (1) follows from Theorem 5.1.9 (2), (3). We prove (2).

Claim 1. Let  $u, v \in \mathbb{Z}$ , (u, v, N) = 1, (v, p) = 1,  $u \not\equiv 0 \mod Np$ . Then for any  $s \geq 1$ , the homomorphism in 5.2.9 sends  $([p^{r-s}u:v]_r)_{r\geq s} \in \lim_{r\geq s} H^1(Y_1(Np^r)(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z})(1)$  to  $(\{1-\zeta_{Np^s}^u, 1-\zeta_{Np^r}^v\}^+)_{r\geq s} \in \mathcal{S}$  ([51], Lemma 3.2).

Proof. Take  $c, d \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that (cd, 6Np) = 1 and  $c \equiv 1, d \equiv 1 \mod Np^s$ . Then

$$_{c,d}[p^{r-s}u:v]_r = (c^2 - 1)(d^2 - \langle d \rangle)[p^{r-s}u:v]_r.$$

This goes to  $-_{c,d}z_{1,Np^r,1}(p^{r-s}u,v)$  and goes to  $(c^2-1)(d^2-\sigma_d)(\{1-\zeta_{Np^s}^u,1-\zeta_{Np^r}^v\}^+)_{r\geq s}$ . Hence if x denotes the image of  $([p^{r-s}u:v]_r)_r$  in  $\mathcal{S} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ ,  $(c^2-1)(d^2-\sigma_d)x = (c^2-1)(d^2-\sigma_d)(\{1-\zeta_{Np^s}^u,1-\zeta_{Np^r}^v\}^+)_{r\geq s}$ . By the above 5.2.7 and 5.2.8, we have  $x = (\{1-\zeta_{Np^s}^u,1-\zeta_{Np^r}^v\}^+)_{r\geq s}$ .

By Claim 1 and Lemma 3.3.8, the image of  $\tilde{H}_0(1) \to \mathcal{S} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  is contained in  $\mathcal{S}$ .

**5.2.11.** By Proposition 5.2.10, we obtained a homomorphism  $\hat{H}_0(1) \to S$ . By the case k = 2 of Proposition 1.5.8, for each  $r \ge 1$ , this induces a homomorphism

(5.1) 
$$H^1_{\text{ét}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0(1) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))^+.$$

Claim 1 in the proof of Proposition 5.2.10 tells that this map sends  $[u:v]_r$  to  $\{1-\zeta_{Np^r}^u, 1-\zeta_{Np^r}^v\}^+$ . Since  $[u:v]_r$  generate  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0$  (by 2.4.1), this shows that the map (5.1) coincides with the map  $\varpi_r$  of Sharifi in 5.2.1.

It kills  $I \cdot H^1_{\text{ét}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0^{\text{ord}}(1)$  by Proposition 5.2.10 (1).

Thus Theorem 5.2.3 is proved.

$$\mathcal{C} := \left(\sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r \mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{1 - \zeta_{p^r}, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}\} \cdot [a]\right)_r \in \mathcal{S}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$$
Furthermore, for any divisor  $M \geq 1$  of N, it sends the modified Mazur-Kitagawa L-function

$$\mathcal{L}_{N,M}^{\star} := \left(\sum_{1 \le j < Np^{r}, (j,M)=1} T^{*}(p)^{-r}[j:M]_{r} \cdot [j]_{r}\right)_{r}$$
$$\in \tilde{H}_{0}[[\mathbb{Z}_{p} \times \mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z}]]/\tilde{H}_{0}$$

 $(\tilde{H}_0 \to \tilde{H}_0[[\mathbb{Z}_p \times \mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z}]]$  is  $x \mapsto x \cdot [0]$  in Sharifi [51] section 6.1, to

$$\mathcal{C}_{N,M}^{\star} := \left(\sum_{1 \le j < Np^r, (j,M)=1} \left\{1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^j, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^M\right\} \cdot [j]\right)_r\right] \in \mathcal{S}[[\mathbb{Z}_p \times \mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z}]]/\mathcal{S}$$

*Proof.* This is seen easily.

**5.2.13.** Recall that  $\tilde{H}_0 \to \mathcal{S}$  is the composition  $\tilde{H}_0 \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2)) \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1} \to \mathcal{S}$ . The first arrow (the homomorphism  $z_{Np^{\infty}}^{\sharp}$ ) sends  $\mathcal{L} \in H[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  to

$$(\sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^{r}\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} T^{*}(p)^{-r} z_{1,Np^{r},1}(Na,1)^{\text{ord}} \cdot [a])_{r} \in H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \tilde{H}(2))[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]] \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1}$$

and the second arrow sends the last element to C. The fact  $(\sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} T^*(p)^{-r} z_{1,Np^r,1}(Na,1)^{\text{ord}} \cdot [a])_r$  belongs to the inverse limit also follows from Proposition 2.2.5.

## 5.3 From modular symbols to tame symbols

5.3.1. We will show (Theorem 5.3.3) that in the correspondence

modular symbol  $\mapsto$  cyclotomic symbol

in Theorem 5.2.3, the following (1) determines the following (2):

(1) The boundary of the modular symbol at cusps.

(2) The boundary (= the tame symbol) of the corresponding cyclotomic symbol atprime divisors  $\ell$  of N.

It is interesting that the geometric boundary in (1) determines the arithmetic boundary in (2).

Let  $N \ge 1$ ,  $r \ge 1$ , and assume N is prime to p.

**5.3.2.** Let  $\ell$  be a prime divisor of N, let  $\lambda$  be a place of  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r})$  lying over  $\ell$ , and let  $\kappa(\lambda)$  be the residue field of  $\lambda$ .

We define a homomorphism

$$\bar{\varpi}: \oplus_{(a,b)\in P_{Np^r}} \mathbb{Z}_p \to H^2(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{N\ell})_\lambda, \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \cong H^1(\kappa(\lambda), \mathbb{Z}_p(1)) \cong \kappa(\lambda)^{\times} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p,$$

where  $P_{Np^r}$  is as in 1.3.1. For  $(a,b) \in P_{Np^r}$ , the image of  $1 \in \mathbb{Z}_p$  at (a,b) under  $\overline{\varpi}$  is as follows. It is defined to be zero unless  $a = a'\ell^s$  for some  $a' \in (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ . Here  $0 \leq s \leq e$  where e is the  $\ell$ -adic order of N. In the last case, it is defined to be the image of  $(1 - \zeta_{N'p^r}^{1/a'\ell^e})^{\ell^{e-s}} \in \kappa(\lambda)^{\times}$  where N' is the prime to  $\ell$ -part of N and  $\zeta_{N'p^r}^{1/a'\ell^e}$  is the unique  $N'p^r$ -th root of 1 whose  $a'\ell^e$ -th power coincides with  $\zeta_{N'p^r}$ .

**Theorem 5.3.3.** Let  $\ell$  be a prime divisor of N, let  $r \geq 1$ , and let  $\lambda$  be a place of the field  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r})$  lying over  $\ell$ . Then the following diagram is commutative.

Here  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))_0$  is as in 3.3.7, and the (a,b)-component of the left vertical arrow is the boundary map at the cusp associated to  $\infty_{Np^r}(a,b)$ .

*Proof.* It is enough to check the commutativity for the generators [u:v] of  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0$ (here  $u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z}, u \neq 0, v \neq 0, (u, v) = 1$ ).

We have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} K_2(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r})_{\lambda}) & \xrightarrow{\partial} & \kappa(\lambda)^{\times} \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ H^2(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r})_{\lambda}, \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) & \cong & H^1(\kappa(\lambda), \mathbb{Z}_p(1)) \end{array}$$

where  $\kappa(\lambda)$  is the residue field of  $\lambda$  and  $\partial$  is the tame symbol. We compute the tame symbol of  $\{1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^u, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^v\}$  at  $\lambda$ . As is well known,  $1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^u$  is a  $\lambda$ -adic unit unless the order of  $\zeta_{Np^r}^u$  is a power of  $\ell$ . Hence the tame symbol is trivial unless one of  $\zeta_{Np^r}^u$ and  $\zeta_{Np^r}^v$  is of order a power of  $\ell$ . If  $u/Np^r \equiv u'/\ell^{e-s} \mod \mathbb{Z}$  with  $u' \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $(u', \ell) = 1$  and  $0 \leq s \leq e$ , then v is prime to p and hence  $\zeta_{Np^r}^v$  can not be of order a power of  $\ell$ . Hence the tame symbol is the  $\ell^{e-s}$ -th power of the residue class  $1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^v$  which is the residue class of  $1 - \zeta_{N'p^r}^{v/\ell^e}$ . Here N' is the prime to  $\ell$ -part of N and  $\zeta_{N'p^r}^{1/\ell^e}$  is the unique  $\ell^e$ -th root of  $\zeta_{N'p^r}$  which is a  $N'p^r$ -th root of 1.

On the other hand, the boundary of  $[u:v]_r$  is as in Lemma 3.3.11. Theorem 5.3.3 follows from these.

5.3.4. Note that the map

$$\lim_{r} H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p,\zeta_{Np^r}],\mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \to \lim_{r} H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np,\zeta_{Np^r}],\mathbb{Z}_p(2))$$

is injective.

**Theorem 5.3.5.** (1) Under the homomorphism  $\varpi$  in Theorem 5.2.3, the image of H(1)in  $\lim_{k \to r} H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))^+$  is contained in the image of the injection in 5.3.4, and consequently, we have a  $\Lambda$ -homomorphism

$$\varpi: H(1)/IH(1) \to \varprojlim_r H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))^+.$$

Here I denotes the Eisenstein ideal of  $\mathfrak{h}$ .

(2) For each  $r \geq 1$ , there exists a unique homomorphism

$$\varpi_r: H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(Np^r))(1)/IH^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(Np^r))(1) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p,\zeta_{Np^r}],\mathbb{Z}_p(2))^+$$

which commutes with the homomorphism in (1). This map is compatible with the map  $\varpi_r$  in 5.2.1 of Sharifi.

*Proof.* The uniqueness in Theorem 5.3.5 follows from the surjectivity of the projection  $H \to H^1_{\text{ét}}(X_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}}$  (the case k = 2 of Proposition 1.5.8). By Theorem 5.3.3 and by the exact sequence

$$H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/p,\zeta_{Np^{r}}],\mathbb{Z}_{p}(2)) \to H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np,\zeta_{Np^{r}}],\mathbb{Z}_{p}(2)) \to \bigoplus_{\lambda} H^{2}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{r}}))_{\lambda},\mathbb{Z}_{p}(2))$$

where  $\lambda$  ranges over all prime divisors of N in  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r})$ , we have Theorem 5.3.5 (1). Theorem 5.3.5 (2) follows from (1) by [40] Proposition 2.3.5.

# 6 The map $\Upsilon$

In this section, we define the map  $\Upsilon$  from the ideal class group side to the modular symbol side.

# 6.1 Formulation from here

In the rest (sections 6-11) of this paper, we use the following notation, and make the following Assumptions 1-4.

**6.1.1.** We fix an integer  $N \ge 1$  which is prime to p.

**Assumption 1.**  $\varphi(N)$  (i.e. the order of  $(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ ) is prime to p.

6.1.2. Let

$$\Lambda := \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]] = \varprojlim_r \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$$

The group element of  $\Lambda$  corresponding to  $c \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is denoted by [c]. Let

$$K = \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{\infty}}) := \cup_{r} \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{r}}).$$

The isomorphism

$$\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \cong \operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q}) \; ; \; c \mapsto \sigma_c \; (2.4.3)$$

induces a canonical isomorphism

$$\Lambda \cong \mathbb{Z}_p[[\operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})]].$$

We have also a canonical homomorphism

$$\Lambda \to \mathfrak{h} \; ; \; [c] \mapsto \langle c \rangle.$$

**6.1.3.** For a character  $\psi : (\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ , let  $O_{\psi}$  be the subring of  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$  generated over  $\mathbb{Z}_p$  by the image of  $\psi$ . Note that  $O_{\psi}$  is the valuation ring of some finite extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ .

For a  $\Lambda$ -module M and for a character  $\psi : (\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ , define the  $\psi$ -component  $M_{\psi}$  of M by

$$M_{\psi} = M \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]} O_{\psi},$$

where  $\mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] \to O_{\psi}$  is the homomorphism induced by  $\psi$ , and  $\mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$  acts on M via the ring homomorphism  $\mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times}] \to \Lambda$  which is defined by identifying  $(\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  with the torsion part of  $\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  in the canonical way.

Then as a topological ring over  $O_{\psi}$ , the  $\psi$ -component  $\Lambda_{\psi}$  of  $\Lambda$  is isomorphic to the ring  $O_{\psi}[[T]]$  of formal power series in one variable over  $O_{\psi}$ .

6.1.4. From now on, in the rest of this paper, we fix an even character

$$\theta: (\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times} = (\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}^{\times}.$$

Let

$$\chi = \theta \omega^{-1} : (\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$$

Here

$$\omega: (\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$$

is the Teichmüller character (that is, the composition  $(\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to (\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$  where the first arrow is the projection and the second arrow is the canonical lifting). So,  $\chi$  is an odd character.

We make the following Assumption 2 – Assumption 4.

**Assumption 2**.  $\theta$  is primitive.

Assumption 3. If the restriction of  $\chi$  to  $(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \subset (\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is trivial, then the restriction  $\chi|_{(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}}$  of  $\chi$  to  $(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \subset (\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  satisfies  $\chi|_{(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}}(p) \neq 1$ .

Assumption 4. In the case N = 1,  $(\chi, \theta) \neq (\omega, \omega^2)$ .

**6.1.5.** Thus in the case N = 1, Assumptions 1–4 are just that  $\theta \neq 1, \omega^2$ . These excluded cases are in fact "trivial" cases, for in the case N = 1,  $\mathfrak{h}_{\psi}/I_{\psi} = 0$  for  $\psi = 1, \omega^2$ .

**6.1.6.** From now, we denote simply by

 $\xi \in \Lambda_{\theta}$ 

the image of  ${}^{-1}\xi \in Q(\Lambda)$  (4.1.1) in  $Q(\Lambda)_{\theta}$  (which belongs to  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ ).

**6.1.7.** As in Ohta [41] Corollary A.2.4 (see also Mazur-Wiles [32]), the inclusion map  $\Lambda_{\theta} \to \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$  (6.1.2) induces an isomorphism

$$\Lambda_{\theta} / (\xi) \stackrel{\cong}{\to} \mathfrak{h}_{\theta} / I_{\theta}$$

**6.1.8.** Some authors adopt different formulations of the  $\theta$ -component of the *p*-adic Hecke algebra. We hope the following comment helps the reader to see our formulation. Assume N = 1. If  $k \geq 2$  is an even integer, the condition  $p|\zeta(1-k)$  (which is equivalent to  $X_{p^{\infty},\chi} \neq 0$  for  $\chi = \omega^{1-k}$ ) is equivalent in our formulation to the condition  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta} \neq 0$  for  $\theta = \omega^{2-k}$ . Thus the fact  $691|\zeta(-11)$  tells that in the case p = 691,  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta} \neq 0$  for  $\theta = \omega^{-10}$ .

#### 6.2 Drinfeld-Manin modification

**6.2.1.** For an  $\mathfrak{H}$ -module M, let

$$M_{DM} := M \otimes_{\mathfrak{H}} \mathfrak{h}.$$

We consider the cases

$$M = \tilde{H}, M_{\Lambda}, H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(Y_{1}(Np^{r}))^{\mathrm{ord}}, M_{2}(Np^{r})^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \quad (r \geq 1).$$

(In the latter two cases,  $(-)_{DM}$  coincides with  $\otimes_{\mathfrak{H}(Np^r))^{\text{ord}}}\mathfrak{h}(Np^r)^{\text{ord}}$  by 1.5.5.) We use the notation DM for this operation  $(-)_{DM}$  and call it the Drinfeld-Manin modification because it is closely related to Drinfeld-Manin splitting 1.9.3 as in 6.2.3 below.

**6.2.2.** Let  $\tilde{H}_{DM'}$  (resp.  $M_{\Lambda,DM'}$ , resp.  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}}_{DM'}$ ,  $M_2(Np^r)^{\text{ord}}_{\mathbb{Z}_p,DM'}$ ) be the image of  $\tilde{H}$  (resp.  $M_{\Lambda}$ , resp.  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}}$ , resp.  $M_2(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ ) in  $H \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda)$  (resp.  $S_{\Lambda} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda)$ , resp.  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ , resp.  $S_2(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ ) under the Drinfeld-Manin splitting.

**Lemma 6.2.3.** The canonical maps  $M_{DM,\theta,E} \to M_{DM',\theta,E}$  for  $M = \tilde{H}$ ,  $M_{\Lambda}$ ,  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}}$ ,  $M_2(Np^r)^{\text{ord}}_{\mathbb{Z}_p,DM}$  are isomorphisms.

Here  $(-)_{\theta,E}$  denotes the Eisenstein component (1.9.2) of the  $\theta$ -component. The part of this Lemma for  $\tilde{H}$  is given in Lemma 4.1 in [51]. The proof of 6.2.3 is given in 6.2.8 below.

In this subsection 6.2, we present basic facts about Drinfeld-Manin modification and prove the following Proposition 6.2.4, whose Corollary 6.2.10 will play in section 6.3 an important role in the proof of Proposition 6.3.9.

**Proposition 6.2.4.**  $\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}$  is a free  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ -module.

The proof of this 6.2.4 is given in 6.2.9 below.

**6.2.5.** As in Ohta [41] Theorem 1.5.5, we have exact sequences

$$0 \to H_{\theta,E} \to \tilde{H}_{\theta,E} \to \Lambda_{\theta} \to 0, \quad 0 \to S_{\Lambda,\theta,E} \to M_{\Lambda,\theta,E} \to \Lambda_{\theta} \to 0.$$

Here  $\tilde{H}_{\theta,E} \to \Lambda_{\theta}$  is the boundary map at 0-cusps (3.3.7), and  $M_{\Lambda,\theta,E} \to \Lambda_{\theta}$  is the constant term  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n q^n \mapsto a_0$ .

**6.2.6.** Let  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0 \subset H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))$   $(r \ge 1)$  and  $\tilde{H}_0 = \varprojlim_r H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0^{\text{ord}} \subset \tilde{H}$  be as in 3.3.7. Then by 6.2.5, the canonical injections  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(Np^r))_{\theta,E}^{\text{ord}} \to H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))_{0,\theta,E}^{\text{ord}}$  and  $H_{\theta,E} \to \tilde{H}_{0,\theta,E}$  are isomorphisms (Ohta [41] Proposition 3.1.2).

Since  $[u:v]_r$  with  $u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z}-\{0\}$  such that (u,v) = (1) belongs to  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))_0$ ,  $[u:v]_{r,\theta,E}$  is regarded as an element of  $H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}}_{\theta,E}$ .

**6.2.7.** As  $\mathfrak{H}_{\theta,E}/H_{\theta,E}$  and  $M_{\Lambda,\theta,E}/S_{\Lambda,\theta,E}$  are isomorphic to  $\mathfrak{H}_{\theta}/I_{\mathfrak{H},\theta}$ , where  $I_{\mathfrak{H}}$  is the Eisenstein ideal of  $\mathfrak{H}$  (1.9.1). From this, we obtain

$$\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}/H_{\theta,E} \cong \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta} \cong \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi), \quad M_{\Lambda,DM,\theta,E}/S_{\Lambda,\theta,E} \cong \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta} \cong \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi).$$

$$H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1}(Np^{r}))^{\text{ord}}_{DM,\theta,E}/H^{1}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{1}(Np^{r}))^{\text{ord}}_{\theta,E} \cong \mathfrak{h}(Np^{r})_{\mathbb{Z}_{p},\theta,E}/I \cong \Lambda_{r,\theta}/(\xi),$$
$$(M_{2}(Np^{r})^{\text{ord}}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}})_{DM,\theta,E}/S_{2}(Np^{r})_{\mathbb{Z}_{p},\theta,E} \cong \mathfrak{h}(Np^{r})_{\mathbb{Z}_{p},\theta,E}/I \cong \Lambda_{r,\theta}/(\xi).$$

Here I denotes the Eisenstein ideal,  $\Lambda_r = \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]$ , and we denote the image of  $\xi$  in  $\Lambda_{r,\theta}$  by the same letter  $\xi$ .

**6.2.8.** We prove Lemma 6.2.3.

Consider the  $\Lambda$ -adic Eisenstein series  $E_{\Lambda}^{(2)}$  of weight 2 defined as

$$E_{\Lambda}^{(2)} = {}^{-1}\xi^* + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{d|n,(d,Np)=1} [d]q^n.$$

We have  $\mathfrak{H}E_{\Lambda}^{(2)} = \Lambda E_{\Lambda}^{(2)}$  since  $I_{\mathfrak{H}}$  kills  $E_{\Lambda}^{(2)}$ , and we have  $M_{\Lambda,DM',\theta,E} = M_{\Lambda,\theta,E}/\Lambda_{\theta} E_{\Lambda,\theta}^{(2)}$ . From this, we obtain  $M_{\Lambda,DM',\theta,E}/S_{\Lambda,\theta,E} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$ . Comparing this with  $M_{\Lambda,DM,\theta,E}/S_{\Lambda,\theta,E} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$  (6.2.7), we obtain  $M_{\Lambda,DM,\theta,E} \xrightarrow{\simeq} M_{\Lambda,DM',\theta,E}$ . We similarly obtain  $(M_2(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}})_{DM,\theta,E} \xrightarrow{\simeq} (M_2(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{ord}})_{DM',\theta,E}$ .

By Ohta [41] section 3.4, the exact sequences of  $\mathfrak{H}$ -modules  $0 \to H_{\mathrm{sub},\theta,E} \to \tilde{H}_{\theta,E} \to \tilde{H}_{\theta,E} \to \tilde{H}_{\mathrm{quo},\theta,E} \to 0$  and  $0 \to H^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_1(Np^r))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathrm{sub},\theta,E} \to H^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\theta,E} \to H^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathrm{quo},\theta,E} \to 0$ split. Hence DM = DM' for  $\tilde{H}_{\theta,E}$  and  $H^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\theta,E}$  are reduced to those for  $M_{\Lambda,\theta,E}$ and  $M_2(Np^r)^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\theta,E}$  by the relations  $M_{\Lambda} = D(\tilde{H}_{\mathrm{quo}})$  and  $M_2(Np^r)^{\mathrm{ord}} = D(H^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y_1(Np^r))^{\mathrm{ord}}_{\mathrm{quo}})$ .

**6.2.9.** We prove Proposition 6.2.4. Since the maximal ideal of the two dimensional regular local ring  $\Lambda_{\theta}$  is generated by  $f := 1 - \langle 1 + Np \rangle \in \Lambda_{\theta}$  and p, it is sufficient to prove that  $f : \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E} \to \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}$  is injective and  $\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}/f\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}$  is a free module over  $\Lambda_{\theta}/(f) \cong O_{\theta}$ . Since f is a non-zero-divisor of  $\Lambda_{\theta}$  and  $\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E} = \tilde{H}_{DM',\theta,E}$  is a  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ submodule of  $H_{\theta,E} \otimes_{\Lambda_{\theta}} Q(\Lambda_{\theta})$ , we have the injectivity of f. Next, by the case k = 2of 1.5.8 and by 6.2.3,  $\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}/f\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E} \cong H^{1}_{\text{ét}}(Y_{1}(Np))^{\text{ord}}_{DM,\theta,E} = H^{1}_{\text{ét}}(Y_{1}(Np))^{\text{ord}}_{DM',\theta,E}$ . Hence it is a finitely generated  $O_{\theta}$ -submodule of  $H^{1}_{\text{ét}}(Y_{1}(Np))^{\text{ord}}_{\theta,E} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}$  and hence is a free  $O_{\theta}$ -module.

Note that by 6.2.7, in  $\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}$ ,  $\xi \cdot \{0,\infty\}$  belongs to  $H_{\theta,E}$ .

**Corollary 6.2.10.** In  $\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}$ , the element  $\xi \cdot \{0,\infty\}$  of  $H_{\theta,E}$  is a part of a  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ -basis of  $H_{\theta,E}$ .

This follows from Proposition 6.2.4 and  $\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}/H_{\theta,E} \cong \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$ .

We describe the kernel of the canonical surjection  $H_{\theta,E} \to H_{DM,\theta,E}$  by using special Siegel units.

**Lemma 6.2.11.** Let c be an integer such that (c, 6Np) = 1. Then,  $({}_{c}g_{0,1/Np^{r}})_{r\geq 1} \in \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{O}(Y_{1}(Np^{r})_{\mathbb{Z}[1/Np]})^{\times}$ , where the transition maps of the inverse system are norm maps.

*Proof.* This can be proved by using the distribution property of Siegel units (2.1.2).

**6.2.12.** By the exact sequences  $0 \to \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}(1) \to G_m \xrightarrow{p^n} G_m \to 0$  (Kummer theory) on the étale site of  $Y_1(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}[1/Np]}$ , we have

$$(\{_c g_{0,1/Np^r}\})_{r\geq 1} \in \tilde{H}(1).$$

We can define  $(\{g_{0,1/Np^r}\})_{r\geq 1} \in \tilde{H}_{\theta}(1)$  without c. In fact  $_{c}g_{0,1/Np^r} = (c^2 - \langle c \rangle)g_{0,1/Np^r}$ , and on the  $\theta$ -component  $\tilde{H}_{\theta}(1)$ , we have  $c^2 - \langle c \rangle = c^2 - \theta(c)$ . The last operator is invertible for some c.

**Lemma 6.2.13.** The image of  $(g_{0,1/Np^r})_r$  under  $\tilde{H}_{\theta}(1) \to \tilde{H}_{\theta,E}(1)/H_{\theta,E}(1) \cong \Lambda_{\theta}$  is  $\xi$ .

This is well known and is checked easily by using the q-expansions of Siegel units.

**Lemma 6.2.14.** The kernel of  $\tilde{H}_{\theta,E}(1) \to \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}(1)$  coincides with  $\Lambda_{\theta} \cdot \{g_{0,1/Np^{\infty}}\}$ .

Proof. Let  $U \subset \tilde{H}_{\theta,E}(1)$  be the image of  $\varprojlim_n \mathcal{O}(Y_1(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\times} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}/p^n \mathbb{Z}$  under Kummer theory. Then U is an  $\mathfrak{H}$ -submodule of  $\tilde{H}_{\theta,E}(1)$ . Furthermore U injects into  $\tilde{H}_{\theta,E}(1)/H_{\theta,E}(1)$ . Hence U is contained in the kernel of  $\tilde{H}_{\theta,E}(1) \to \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}(1)$ . Hence  $\Lambda_{\theta} \cdot \{g_{0,1/Np^{\infty}}\}$  is contained in this kernel. By 6.2.7, the canonical map from this kernel to  $\tilde{H}_{\theta,E}(1)/H_{\theta,E}(1) \cong \Lambda_{\theta}$ is injective and the image coincides with  $(\xi) \subset \Lambda_{\theta}$ . Hence by 6.2.13, this kernel coincides with  $\Lambda_{\theta} \cdot \{g_{0,1/Np^{\infty}}\}$ .

## **6.3** Structure of $H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}$

The purpose of this section 6.3 is to introduce the results 6.3.2 and 6.3.4 on  $H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}$ , related results 6.3.5 and 6.3.6, and their proofs. These are known results (Mazur-Wiles [32], Ohta [39], [40], Sharifi [51]). The reasons why we explain the proofs of the known results are: (1) The Galois action on  $H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}$  is described in [39], [40] for the model  $X'_1(M)$ , not for the model  $X_1(M)$  which we use, so to avoid confusion, it seems good to explain well what happens for our model. (2) We carefully define a canonical basis of  $H_{\theta}^+/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^+$  as an  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ -module (6.3.18) and how to choose the base is related to the proofs of these results.

**6.3.1.** Define the subquotients  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$  of  $H_{\theta}$  and a subquotient  $\mathcal{R}$  of  $Q(\Lambda_{\theta}) \otimes_{\Lambda_{\theta}} H_{\theta}$  as follows.

Let

 $\mathcal{P} = H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-} \subset H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}, \quad \mathcal{Q} = (H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})/\mathcal{P}.$ 

So,  $\mathcal{Q}$  is canonically isomorphic to  $H_{\theta}^+/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^+$ .

Let

$$\mathcal{R} = \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E} / H_{\theta,E}.$$

Here  $(-)_{DM}$  denotes the Drinfeld-Manin modification as in section 6.2. Recall that  $\mathcal{R} \cong \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta} \cong \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$  (6.2.7).

**Proposition 6.3.2.** In  $H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}$ ,  $\mathcal{P}$  is stable under the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ . The action of  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  on  $\mathcal{P}$  and that on  $\mathcal{R}$  are given by  $\kappa(\sigma)^{-1}$  where  $\kappa$  is the cyclotomic character, and the action of  $\sigma$  on  $\mathcal{Q}$  is given by  $\langle \sigma \rangle^{-1}$ . Here  $\langle \sigma \rangle$  is as in 1.7.14.

**Remark 6.3.3.** (1) If we use the other model  $X'_1(Np^r)$   $(r \ge 1)$  and define  $\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{R}$  in the same way as above,  $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  acts on  $\mathcal{Q}$  trivially and acts on  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{R}$  by  $\kappa(\sigma)^{-1}\langle\sigma\rangle$ . This is seen from 1.4.5 (1).

(2) The stability of  $\mathcal{Q}$  under the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  follows from [51], Theorem 4.3. The proof of this stability given below is simpler.

Recall that we have an exact sequence  $0 \to H_{\text{sub}} \to H \to H_{\text{quo}} \to 0$  and  $0 \to H_{\text{sub}} \to \tilde{H} \to \tilde{H}_{\text{quo}} \to 0$  of representations of  $\text{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  (1.7.10).

**Proposition 6.3.4.** For any prime divisor  $\ell$  of Np, the sequence  $0 \to \mathcal{P} \to H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta} \to \mathcal{Q} \to 0$  splits uniquely as an exact sequence of representations of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}/\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ .

**Proposition 6.3.5.** Let  $(-)_E$  be the Eisenstein components. The canonical maps

$$H^-_{\theta,E} \to H_{\mathrm{quo},\theta,\mathrm{E}}, \quad \tilde{H}^-_{\theta,E} \to \tilde{H}_{\mathrm{quo},\theta,\mathrm{E}}, \quad H_{\mathrm{sub},\theta,\mathrm{E}} \to H_{\theta,E}/H^-_{\theta,E}$$

are bijective.

**Corollary 6.3.6.** Concerning the Eisenstein component  $H_{\theta,E}$  of  $H_{\theta}$ , we have:

- (1) As a module over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$ ,  $H^+_{\theta,E}$  is free of rank 1.
- (2) As a module over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$ ,  $H^{-}_{\theta,E}$  is a dualizing module.

This follows from 6.3.5 and 1.7.13.

**6.3.7.** On  $\mathcal{R}(1)$ ,  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Q})$  acts trivially.

*Proof.* This follows from the fact  $\mathcal{R}(1)$  is generated by the classes of 0-cusps (Ohta [41]) on which the Galois action is trivial.

**6.3.8.** We construct a canonical  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ -homomorphism  $H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta} \to \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$  by a method in [51] section 4 to use the  $\Lambda$ -adic pairing of Ohta

$$(-,-)_{\Lambda}: H_{\theta} \times H_{\theta} \to \Lambda_{\theta}$$

in 1.6.3. By 6.2.7, we have  $\xi\{0,\infty\}_{DM,\theta,E} \in H_{\theta,E}$ . Hence we have a homomorphism

$$H_{\theta} \to \Lambda_{\theta} ; x \mapsto (x, \xi\{0, \infty\}_{DM, \theta, E})_{\Lambda}.$$

For  $a \in I_{\theta}$ ,

$$(ax,\xi\{0,\infty\}_{DM,\theta,E})_{\Lambda} = (x,a\xi\{0,\infty\}_{DM,\theta,E})_{\Lambda} = \xi(x,a\{0,\infty\}_{DM,\theta,E})_{\Lambda}$$

(note  $I_{\theta}\{0,\infty\}_{\theta,DM} \subset H_{\theta,E}$  by 6.2.7). Hence we have a homomorphism

$$(-, \xi\{0, \infty\}_{DM, \theta, E})_{\Lambda} : H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta} \to \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi).$$

**Proposition 6.3.9.** The map  $(-, \xi\{0, \infty\}_{DM, \theta, E})_{\Lambda} : H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta} \to \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$  is surjective.

Proof. By Corollary 6.2.10, there is a basis  $(e_i)_{1 \le i \le r}$  of  $H_{\theta,E}$  as a free  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ -module such that  $e_1 = \xi\{0, \infty\}_{DM,\theta,E}$  in  $\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}$ . Since the pairing  $(-, -)_{\Lambda} : H_{\theta,E} \times H_{\theta,E} \to \Lambda_{\theta}$  is perfect (1.6.4,1.6.5), there is  $x \in H_{\theta}$  such that  $(x, e_1) = 1$ .

**6.3.10.** Let  $\mathcal{P}' = \operatorname{Ker}(H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta} \to \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi))$ , and let  $\mathcal{Q}' = (H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})/\mathcal{P}'$ . (We will prove soon that  $\mathcal{P}' = \mathcal{P}$ .)

**6.3.11.** In  $H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}$ ,  $\mathcal{P}'$  is stable under the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ . On  $\mathcal{Q}'$ ,  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  acts as  $\langle \sigma \rangle^{-1}$ . (Here,  $\langle \sigma \rangle$  is as in 1.7.14.)

*Proof.* This follows from 6.3.7 and 1.6.4 (3).

**6.3.12.** Following Ohta [41] section 3.4, we give a splitting of the exact sequence  $0 \rightarrow H_{\text{sub},\theta,E} \rightarrow H_{\theta,E} \rightarrow H_{\text{quo},\theta,E} \rightarrow 0$  of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$ -modules, where  $(-)_E$  denotes the Eisenstein component (1.9.2).

We use the following (1)-(3) (1.7.14, 1.8.1).

(1) The action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  on  $H_{quo}(1)$  is unramified.

(2) The arithmetic Frobenius  $Fr_p$  acts on  $H_{quo,\theta}(1)$  as  $T^*(p)$ .

(3)  $H_{\text{quo}} \otimes_{\mathfrak{h}} Q(\mathfrak{h})$  is a free  $Q(\mathfrak{h})$ -module of rank 1. For  $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ , the determinant of the action of  $\sigma$  on the free  $Q(\mathfrak{h})$ -module  $Q(\mathfrak{h}) \otimes_{\mathfrak{h}} H$  of rank 2 is  $\kappa(\sigma)^{-1} \langle \sigma \rangle^{-1}$ , where  $\kappa : \text{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}) \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$  is the cyclotomic character and  $\langle \sigma \rangle$  is as in 1.7.14.

We define an element  $\tau \in \text{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ , elements  $f, g \in \mathfrak{h}$ , and an  $\mathfrak{h}$ -submodule S of H as follows.

Case 1. First, assume that the restriction of  $\chi$  to  $(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is not trivial. Let  $\tau$  be an element of the inertia subgroup of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  whose image in  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_p)/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  is a generator of the last group. Let

$$f = \kappa(\tau)^{-1} \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \subset \mathfrak{h}, \quad g = \langle \tau \rangle^{-1} \in \mathfrak{h}.$$

Case 2. Next, assume that the restriction of  $\chi$  to  $(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is trivial. Let  $\tau$  be an element of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  whose restriction to unramified extensions of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  are the arithmetic Frobenius  $Fr_p$  and whose restrictions to  $\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n})$   $(n \geq 0)$  are trivial. Let

$$f = T^*(p) \in \mathfrak{h}, \quad g = T^*(p)^{-1} \langle \tau \rangle^{-1} \in \mathfrak{h}.$$

In the case 1 (resp. 2), by the above (1) and (3) (resp. (2) and (3)), we see that the action of  $\tau$  on  $H_{quo}$  (resp.  $H_{sub}$ ) coincides with the action of f (resp. g).

In both cases 1, 2, define

$$S = \{ x \in H \mid \tau x = fx \}.$$

We prove that

$$H_{\theta,E} = H_{\mathrm{sub},\theta,\mathrm{E}} \oplus S_{\theta,E}$$

We may and do assume that the Eisenstein component  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$  is not the zero ring. Then  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$  is a local ring (this follows from  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta} \cong \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$  (6.1.7)). It is sufficient to prove that the classes of f and g in the residue field of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$  are different.

Let *a* be the element of  $\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  such that  $\tau(\zeta_{Np^r}) = \zeta_{Np^r}^a$  for all  $r \geq 0$ . First consider the case 1. In this case, *a* has the shape  $(b, 1) \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  where *b* mod *p* is a generator of  $(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ , and the class of *f* (resp. *g*) in the residue field of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$  is equal to the class of  $b^{-1}$  (resp.  $\theta|_{(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times}}(b)^{-1}$ ). Since the restriction of  $\chi$  to  $(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is non-trivial,

the restriction of  $\theta$  to  $(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is not  $\omega$ , and hence the classes of  $\theta|_{(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times}}(b)^{-1}$  and  $b^{-1}$  in the residue field of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$  are different. Hence the residue classes of f and g are different. Next consider the case 2. In this case, a has the shape (1, p). The class of g in the residue field of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$  is equal to  $\theta_{(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}}(p)$ , a root of 1 which is not 1 and whose order is prime to p. On the other hand,  $f = T^*(p)$  is congruent to 1 modulo the maximal ideal of  $h_{\theta,E}$ . Hence the residue classes of f and g are different.

**6.3.13.** We prove that the composition  $H_{\mathrm{sub},\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\mathrm{sub},\theta} \to H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta} \to Q'$  is an isomorphism. Let  $\tau \in \mathrm{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  and  $f, g \in \mathfrak{h}$  be as in 6.3.12.

By 6.3.11,  $\tau$  acts on  $\mathcal{Q}'$  by g. Since we have a natural surjection from  $H_{quo,\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{quo,\theta}$ to the cokernel of this composition which is compatible with the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ and since  $\tau$  acts on  $H_{quo,\theta}$  by f, the action of  $\tau$  on the cokernel is given by f. Hence the cokernel is zero. Thus  $H_{\operatorname{sub},\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\operatorname{sub},\theta} \to \mathcal{Q}' \cong \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$  is a surjective  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$ -homomorphism between free  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ -modules of rank 1, and hence it is an isomorphism.

**6.3.14.** It follows that the canonical map  $\mathcal{P}' \to H_{quo,\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{quo,\theta}$  is an isomorphism. Hence on  $\mathcal{P}', \tau$  acts by f. Hence we have

$$\mathcal{P}' = S_{\theta} / I_{\theta} S_{\theta}$$
 in  $H_{\theta} / I_{\theta} H_{\theta}$ 

**6.3.15.** We prove that the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  on  $\mathcal{P}'$  is given by  $\kappa^{-1}$  where  $\kappa$  is the cyclotomic character.

For  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ , let

$$a(\sigma) \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}}(H_{\operatorname{sub},\theta,\mathrm{E}}, H_{\operatorname{sub},\theta,\mathrm{E}}), \quad b(\sigma) \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}}(H_{\operatorname{sub},\theta,\mathrm{E}}, S_{\theta,E}),$$
$$c(\sigma) \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}}(S_{\theta,E}, H_{\operatorname{sub},\theta,\mathrm{E}}), \quad d(\sigma) \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}}(S_{\theta,E}, S_{\theta,E})$$

be the components of  $\sigma: H_{\theta,E} \to H_{\theta,E}$ . Since  $S_{\theta,E}/I_{\theta}S_{\theta,E} = S_{\theta}/I_{\theta}S_{\theta}$  is stable in  $H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}$ under the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ , we have  $c(\sigma) \equiv 0 \mod I_{\theta,E}$ . Since  $H_{\operatorname{sub},\theta,E}$  is free of rank 1 over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$ , we have  $a(\sigma) \in \mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$ . Since  $S_{\theta,E}$  is a dualizing module of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$  (this is because  $S_{\theta,E} \cong H_{\operatorname{quo},\theta,E}$ ), we have  $d(\sigma) \in \mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$ . We have that  $Q(\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}) \otimes_{\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}} S_{\theta,E}$  is a free  $Q(\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E})$ -module of rank 1, and  $\det(\sigma)$  of  $\sigma: Q(\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}) \otimes_{\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}} H_{\theta,E} \to Q(\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}) \otimes_{\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}} H_{\theta,E}$  is  $\kappa(\sigma)^{-1}\langle\sigma\rangle^{-1}$ . That is,  $a(\sigma)d(\sigma) - c(\sigma)b(\sigma) = \kappa(\sigma)^{-1}\langle\sigma\rangle^{-1}$ . Here note that  $c(\sigma)b(\sigma) \in \mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$ . Since  $c(\sigma)b(\sigma) \equiv 0 \mod I_{\theta,E}$ , we have  $a(\sigma)d(\sigma) \equiv \kappa(\sigma)^{-1}\langle\sigma\rangle^{-1} \mod I_{\theta,E}$ . Since  $a(\sigma) \equiv \langle\sigma\rangle^{-1} \mod I_{\theta,E}$ , we have  $d(\sigma) \equiv \kappa(\sigma)^{-1} \mod I_{\theta,E}$ .

**6.3.16.** By 6.3.15, the action of the complex conjugation on  $\mathcal{P}'$  is -1. Since the complex conjugation acts on  $\mathcal{Q}'$  trivially by 6.3.11, this proves  $\mathcal{P}' = (H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})^- = \mathcal{P}$ .

This completes the proofs of Propositions 6.3.2 and 6.3.5.

**6.3.17.** We prove Proposition 6.3.4. The case  $\ell = p$  follows from 6.3.5. Assume  $\ell | N$ . For an element  $\sigma$  of the inertia subgroup of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}/\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ ,  $\sigma$  acts on  $\mathcal{Q}$  by  $\theta(\langle \sigma \rangle)^{-1}$  and acts on  $\mathcal{P}$  trivially. Since the restriction of  $\theta$  to  $(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is primitive, we have 6.3.4.

**6.3.18.** As a consequence of this section 6.3, we have isomorphisms

$$H^+_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^+_{\theta} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathcal{Q} \xrightarrow{\cong} \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi) \cong \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$$

where the second isomorphism is given by  $(-, \xi\{0, \infty\}_{DM, \theta, E})_{\Lambda}$ . We call the  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ -bases of  $H_{\theta}^+/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^+$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$  corresponding to  $1 \in \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ , the canonical bases.

#### 6.4 From cyclotomic symbols to modular symbols

#### **6.4.1.** Let

$$X_{Np^{\infty}} := \varprojlim_{r} \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{r}}))\{p\}$$

It is regarded as a  $\Lambda$ -module via the canonical isomorphism  $\Lambda \cong \mathbb{Z}_p[[\operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})]]$  where  $K = \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{\infty}}).$ 

We regard, via class field theory,

(1) 
$$X_{Np^{\infty}} = \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$$

where L is the largest unramified pro-p abelian extension of K.

**6.4.2.** As in [51] Lemma 4.11, we have canonical  $\Lambda_{\chi}$ -isomorphisms

$$X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \xrightarrow{\cong} \varprojlim_{r} H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/p,\zeta_{Np^{r}}],\mathbb{Z}_{p}(1))_{\chi} \xrightarrow{\cong} \varprojlim_{r} H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np,\zeta_{Np^{r}}],\mathbb{Z}_{p}(1))_{\chi}$$

and a  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ -isomorphism

$$X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}(1) \cong \mathcal{S}_{\theta}$$

where S is as in 5.2.6.

**6.4.3.** We define the reciprocity map

$$\Upsilon: X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \to \mathcal{P} = H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}.$$

Consider the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/K)$  on  $H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}$ . It acts trivially on  $\mathcal{P}$  and on  $\mathcal{Q}$  (6.3.2). Hence we have a homomorphism

$$\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/K) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}}(\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{P}) ; \ \sigma \mapsto (x \mod \mathcal{P} \mapsto (\sigma - 1)x) \quad (x \in H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}).$$

This action is unramified at prime numbers which do not divide Np, for the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  on H is unramified at all primes which do not divide Np. By Propositions 6.3.2 and 6.3.4, the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}/K)$  on  $H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}$  is unramified also at all prime divisors of Np.

By 6.4.1 (1), this defines a homomorphism  $\operatorname{Gal}(L/K) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}}(\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{P}) = \mathcal{P}$ , where the last = uses the canonical basis of  $\mathcal{Q}$  as an  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ -module (6.3.18). That is, we obtain a homomorphism

$$\Upsilon: X_{Np^{\infty}} \to \mathcal{P} = H_{\theta}^{-} / I_{\theta} H_{\theta}^{-}, \quad \Upsilon(\sigma) = \sigma e_{B} - e_{B}$$

where  $e_B$  is a lifting of the canonical  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ -basis of  $\mathcal{Q}$  to  $H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}$ .

By considering the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  on  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$  given in Proposition 6.3.2, we see that the above homomorphism  $\Upsilon$  induces  $X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \to H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$ .

**6.4.4.** Note that in section 5, we obtained a homomophism  $\varpi : (H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-})(1) \to \mathcal{S}_{\theta}$  (cf. 5.2.3). We denote the induced homomorphism  $H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-} \to X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}$  also by  $\varpi$ . The two homomorphisms

$$\varpi: H^-_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^-_{\theta} \to X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}, \quad \Upsilon: X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \to H^-_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^-_{\theta}$$

will be our main subjects in the next section 7.

# 7 Conjectures of Sharifi

#### 7.1 The conjectures

In this section 7.1, we introduce several conjectures of Sharifi and explain the relations between these conjectures. In fact, we make some of these conjectures slightly stronger (see 7.1.14).

Let the situation be as in section 6.1.

Conjecture 7.1.1. (1) The composition

$$H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-} \xrightarrow{\varpi} X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \xrightarrow{\Upsilon} H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$$

is the identity map.

(2) The composition

$$X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \xrightarrow{\Upsilon} H_{\theta}^{-} / I_{\theta} H_{\theta}^{-} \xrightarrow{\varpi} X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}$$

is the identity map.

Since  $X_{Np^{\infty}}$  is a torsion free  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -module by Ferrero-Washington [7], the map  $\varpi$  induces a homomorphism  $\varpi : (H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-)/(\text{tor}) \to X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}$  where (tor) is the *p*-primary torsion. Consider also the homomorphism  $\Upsilon : X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \to (H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-)/(\text{tor})$  induced by  $\Upsilon$ .

Conjecture 7.1.1 has a slightly weaker version.

**Conjecture 7.1.2.** (1) The composition  $\Upsilon \circ \varpi : (H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-)/(tor) \to X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \to (H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-)/(tor)$  is the identity map.

(2) The maps  $\varpi : (H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-})/(tor) \to X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \text{ and } \Upsilon : X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \to (H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-})/(tor)$  are isomorphisms.

**7.1.3.** Conjecture 7.1.2 (1) implies Conjecture 7.1.1 (2) and Conjecture 7.1.2 (2).

This is shown as follows. The following arguments by using Fitting ideals and characteristic ideals are standard in Iwasawa theory.

For a commutative ring R and for an R-module M of finite presentation, the (0-th) Fitting ideal  $\operatorname{Fitt}_R(M)$  of M is defined as follows. Take a presentation  $R^m \xrightarrow{f} R^n \to M \to$ 0 (exact) of M. Then  $\operatorname{Fitt}_R(M)$  is the ideal of R generated by all (n, n)-minors of f (i.e. the determinants of the (n, n)-matrices which appear as parts of the matrix f). Then  $\operatorname{Fitt}_R(M)$  is independent of the choice of the presentation of M. (See for example, [36].) As is easily seen, we have

(1) If  $R \to R'$  is a homomorphism of commutative rings and  $M' = R' \otimes_R M$ ,  $\operatorname{Fitt}_{R'}(M')$  coincides with the ideal of R' generated by the image of  $\operatorname{Fitt}_R(M)$ .

We apply (1) to the case  $R = \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$ ,  $M = H_{\theta}^{-}$ , and R' = Q(R) (1.5.3). In this case,  $M' \cong R'$  as an R'-module and hence  $\operatorname{Fitt}_{R'}(M') = 0$ . Hence by (1), we have

(2) Fitt<sub> $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$ </sub> $(H_{\theta}^{-}) = 0.$ 

We next apply (1) to the case  $R = \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$ ,  $M = H_{\theta}^{-}$ , and  $R' = \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ . By (1) and (2), we have  $\operatorname{Fitt}_{\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}}(H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}) = 0$ . Since  $\Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi) \cong \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$  (6.1.7), we have

(3) Fitt<sub> $\Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$ </sub> $(H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}) = 0.$ 

By applying (1) to the case  $R = \Lambda_{\theta}$ ,  $M = H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$  and  $R' = \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$ , and by using (3), we have

(4) Fitt<sub> $\Lambda_{\theta}$ </sub> $(H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}) \subset (\xi)$ .

For a finitely generated torsion  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ -module M, the characteristic ideal  $\operatorname{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(M)$  of M is defined to be  $\prod_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{p}^{e(\mathfrak{p})}$  where  $\mathfrak{p}$  ranges over all prime ideals of  $\Lambda_{\theta}$  of height one and  $e(\mathfrak{p})$  denotes the length of the localization  $M_{\mathfrak{p}}$  as a  $\Lambda_{\mathfrak{p}}$ -module. (See for example, [59].) The relation with  $\operatorname{Fitt}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(M)$  is that  $\operatorname{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(M)$  is the unique principal ideal of  $\Lambda_{\theta}$  such that  $\operatorname{Fitt}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(M) \subset \operatorname{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(M)$  and such that the quotient  $\operatorname{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(M)/\operatorname{Fitt}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(M)$  is finite. By (4) and by  $\operatorname{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}((H^-_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^-_{\theta})/(\operatorname{tor})) = \operatorname{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(H^-_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^-_{\theta})$ , we have

(5)  $\operatorname{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}((H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-})/(\operatorname{tor})) \subset (\xi).$ 

Assume that Conjecture 7.1.2 (1) is true. Let P be the kernel of  $\Upsilon : X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \to (H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-})/(\text{tor})$ . Then  $X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \cong (H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-})/(\text{tor}) \oplus P$  as a  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ -modules. (Here we regard  $X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}$  as a  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ -module via the isomorphism  $\Lambda_{\theta} \cong \Lambda_{\chi}$  given by the (-1) Tate twist.) Hence we have  $\text{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}) = \text{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}((H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-})/(\text{tor})) \cdot \text{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(P)$ . By Iwasawa Main conjecture proved by Mazur-Wiles, we have  $\text{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}) = (\xi)$ . Hence by (5), we have  $(\xi) \subset (\xi) \text{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(P)$ . This proves  $\text{Char}_{\Lambda_{\theta}}(P) = (1)$ , that is, P is finite. Since  $X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}$  has no p-torsion (Ferrero-Washington [7]), we have P = 0. Hence Conjecture 7.1.1 (2) and Conjecture 7.1.2 (2) are true.

**Remark 7.1.4.** By Ohta [42] Theorem II, if the Eisenstein component (1.9.2)  $\mathfrak{H}_{\theta,E}$  of the Hecke algebra  $\mathfrak{H}_{\theta}$  is Gorenstein, then  $\Upsilon : X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \to H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$  is an isomorphism.

**Remark 7.1.5.**  $H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$  is *p*-torsion free if the Eisenstein component  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$  or the Eisenstein component of  $\mathfrak{H}_{\theta}$  is Gorenstein.

In fact, if the Eisenstein component of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$  is Gorenstein, then since  $H_{quo,\theta}$  is the dualizing module of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$ , the Eisenstein component  $H_{quo,\theta,E}$  is a free module of rank 1 over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$ , and hence  $H_{quo,\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{quo,\theta}$  is a free  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ -module of rank 1. By this and by 6.3.5 and 6.1.7, we have

$$H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-} \cong H_{\mathrm{quo},\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\mathrm{quo},\theta} \cong \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta} \cong \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$$

Since  $\Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$  has no *p*-torsion (Ferrero-Washington [7]),  $H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$  has no *p*-torsion.

Next, if  $\mathfrak{H}_{\theta}$  is Gorenstein, then  $H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^- \cong X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}$  by 7.1.4, and by the fact  $X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}$  is *p*-torsion free (Ferrero-Washington [7]),  $H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-$  is *p*-torsion free.

#### Conjecture 7.1.6.

$$\Upsilon(\mathcal{C}_{\chi}) = \mathcal{L}_{\theta}^{-} \mod I_{\theta}$$

where  $C_{\chi} \in X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$  is the  $\chi$ -component of the cyclotomic symbol element  $\mathcal{C}$  in 5.2.12 and  $\mathcal{L}_{\theta}^{-} \in H_{\theta}^{-}[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$  is the component of the p-adic L-function  $\mathcal{L} \in H[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$  of Mazur-Kitagawa in two variables. Furthermore,  $\Upsilon(\mathcal{C}_{N,M,\chi}^{\star}) = \mathcal{L}_{N,M,\theta}^{\star,-} \mod I_{\theta}$  for any divisor  $M \geq 1$  of N. (See 5.2.12). **7.1.7.** Conjecture 7.1.1 (1) implies Conjecture 7.1.6. Conjecture 7.1.2 (1) implies Conjecture 7.1.6 modulo p-primary torsion.

This is because  $\varpi$  sends  $\mathcal{L}_{N,M}^{\star,-}$  to  $\mathcal{C}_{N,M}^{\star}$  by Proposition 5.2.12.

**Conjecture 7.1.8.** (Conjecture of McCallum-Sharifi; See [34], [51].) For  $r \ge 1$ , as an abelian group,  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))_{\theta}$  is generated by elements of the form  $\{1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^u, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^v\}$   $(u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z} - \{0\}, (u, v, Np) = 1).$ 

7.1.9. Since we have isomorphisms

$$H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np,\zeta_{Np^{r}}],\mathbb{Z}_{p}(2))_{\theta}/p^{r}H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np,\zeta_{Np^{r}}],\mathbb{Z}_{p}(2))_{\theta}$$
$$\cong H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np,\zeta_{Np^{r}}],(\mathbb{Z}/p^{r}\mathbb{Z})(2))_{\theta}$$
$$\cong H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np,\zeta_{Np^{r}}],(\mathbb{Z}/p^{r}\mathbb{Z})(1))_{\chi} \cong (\mathrm{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{r}}))/p^{r}\mathrm{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{r}})))_{\chi}$$

Conjecture 7.1.8 is rewritten as a conjecture on ideal class groups: For any  $r \geq 1$ ,  $(\operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r}))/p^r \operatorname{Cl}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r})))_{\chi}$  is generated by the images of  $\{1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^u, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^v\}$   $(u, v \in \mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z} - \{0\}, (u, v, Np) = 1).$ 

**7.1.10.** Conjecture 7.1.2 (2) implies Conjecture 7.1.8. In fact, since the canonical projection  $\mathcal{S}_{\theta} \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))_{\theta}$  is surjective, the surjectivity of  $\varpi : H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^- \to X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \cong \mathcal{S}_{\theta}$  in Conjecture 7.1.2 shows that  $\varpi_r : H^1(X_1(Np^r))_{\theta}^{\text{ord}} \to \mathcal{S}_{\theta}$ ;  $[u:v]_r \mapsto \{1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^u, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^v\}$   $(u, v \in (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z}) - \{0\})$  is surjective. This shows that Conjecture 7.1.8 is true.

**7.1.11.** In [51] 1.2, Sharifi presents a conjecture which is a consequence of his conjecture 7.1.6.

Let  $f = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n q^n$  be a normalized Hecke-eigen *p*-stabilized newform of weight  $k \geq 2$  of level  $Np^r$   $(r \geq 1)$  and of character  $\epsilon$ . We assume that when regard  $(\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  as a torsion part of  $\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ ,  $\theta$  coincides with the character of  $(\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  induced by  $\omega^{2-k}\epsilon^{-1}$  on this torsion part.

Let  $F = \mathbb{Q}(a_n; n \ge 1)$ ,  $L = \mathbb{Q}_p(a_n; n \ge 1)$ , and  $f^* = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \bar{a}_n q^n$  be as in section 4.5. We define the Eisenstein ideal I(f) of  $O_L$  associated to f to be the ideal generated by  $1 - a_\ell + l^{k-1} \epsilon(\ell)$  for all prime numbers  $\ell \ne p$ , and by  $1 - a_p$ .

Let  $V(f^*)_{O_L}$  be the image of  $V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{O_L} \to V(f^*)_L$ . Then  $V(f^*)_{O_L}$  is a  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ -stable  $O_L$ -lattice in  $V(f^*)_L$ . Let

$$\bar{V}(f^*) = V(f^*)_{O_L} / I(f) V(f^*)_{O_L}.$$

This is a free  $O_L/I(f)$ -module of rank 2, and  $\bar{V}(f^*)^+$  and  $\bar{V}(f^*)^-$  are free  $O_L/I(f)$ modules of rank 1. We have a commutative diagram of exact sequences

Here the middle vertical arrow is induced from the map  $H \to V_k(X_1(Np^r))_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$  in 1.5.7. The vertical arrows are surjective. It follows that the lower horizontal sequence is stable under

the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ . The canonical basis of  $\mathcal{Q}$  as an  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ -module (6.3.18) defines a basis of  $\overline{V}(f^*)^+$  as an  $O_L/I(f)$ -module. Hence from the lower horizontal sequence, we obtain the  $f^*$ -version

$$X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \longrightarrow \overline{V}(f^*)^-$$

of  $\Upsilon$ . As is checked easily this maps factors as

$$X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \longrightarrow H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np,\zeta_{Np^r}],\mathbb{Z}_p(2))_{\theta} \longrightarrow \overline{V}(f^*)^-.$$

We denote this second arrow by  $\Upsilon_f$ .

**Conjecture 7.1.12.** Let  $\psi : \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}$  be a character with finite image. Let r be an integer such that  $1 \leq r \leq k-1$  and such that  $(-1)^r \psi(-1) = -1$ . Let  $L_{\psi}$  be the subfield of  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$  generated over L by the image of  $\psi$ . Then

$$\Upsilon_f(\sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \psi(a)a^{r-1}\{1 - \zeta_{Np^r}^a, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}\}) = L_p(f, \psi, r) \mod I(f)$$

in  $\overline{V}(f^*) \otimes_{O_L} O_{L_{\psi}}$ . Here  $L_p(f, \psi, r)$  is a value of  $L_p(f) \in V(f^*)_{O_L}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  as in 4.5.1.

Conjecture 7.1.12 follows from Conjecture 7.1.6 by 4.5.5.

**7.1.13.** Here we explain that the conjectures in Introduction are contained in the conjectures here. In Introduction, we considered the case N = 1. In this case, the  $(\theta = \omega^i)$ -component of  $\mathfrak{h}/I$  for  $i \neq 0, 2$  is treated in the conjectures in this section 7.1. The  $\omega^i$ -components of  $\mathfrak{h}/I$  for i = 0, 2 are zero and yield no problem.

**7.1.14.** We made modifications of the formulations of the conjectures of Sharifi concerning the following points 1–3.

1. The map  $\varpi_r$  (5.2.1) is defined by Sharifi in [51] for each r, but the inverse limit  $\varpi$  of  $\varpi_r$  is not given in [51] and he does not present a conjecture in the style using  $\varpi$ . Our Conjecture 7.1.1 is a version by using  $\varpi$  of Remark at the end of [51] section 5 in which he uses  $\varpi_r$ .

2. As in section 6.4, we define the homomorphism  $\Upsilon$  by taking a special basis of  $H_{\theta}^+/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^+$  over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ . The original versions of Conjectures 7.1.1 and 7.1.6 in the paper [51] are that for some basis e of  $H_{\theta}^+/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^+$  over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ , if we define the map  $\Upsilon: X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \to H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-$  as  $\sigma \mapsto \sigma e - e$  by using e, then the statements of the conjectures hold. However, we learned from Sharifi that when he wrote [51], he was also planing to formulate the conjectures by using the same special basis e as in this paper.

3. In the original version of Conjecture 7.1.12 in [51], congruences are considered mod a maximal ideal containing I(f).

### 7.2 Our results

Let the situation be as in section 6.1. We state our results 7.2.3, 7.2.6 and 7.2.8 on the conjectures of Sharifi.

**7.2.1.** Derivation in the Iwasawa algebra.

Let R be the valuation ring of a finite extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ . Let  $\Gamma$  be a topological group which is isomorphic to the additive topological group  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ . For  $f \in R[[\Gamma]]$  and for a generator t of  $\Gamma$ , we define  $df/dt \in R[[\Gamma]]$  by identifying  $R[[\Gamma]]$  with the ring of formal power series R[[t-1]]. If s is another generator of  $\Gamma$ , we have

$$tdf/dt = csdf/ds$$

where c is the element of  $\mathbb{Z}_p$  such that  $s = t^c$ .

**7.2.2.** We define the derivative  $\xi' \in \Lambda_{\theta}$  of  $\xi \in \Lambda_{\theta}$  (6.1.6). We take  $\Gamma = \text{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{\infty}})/\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np}))$ . We take the generator t of  $\Gamma$  such that  $(1 - p^{-1}) \log(\kappa(t)) = 1$ . Here  $\kappa$  is the cyclotomic character. By identifying  $\Lambda_{\theta}$  with  $O_{\theta}[[\Gamma]]$  via the canonical isomorphism  $O_{\theta}[[\Gamma]] \xrightarrow{\cong} \Lambda_{\theta}$ , we define

$$\xi' := td\xi/dt$$

**Theorem 7.2.3.** (1) The map  $\Upsilon \circ \varpi : H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p} \to H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}$  satisfies  $\xi' \Upsilon \circ \varpi = \xi'$ .

(2) Let  $a \in H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$  be the class of  $(1-T^{*}(p))\{0,\infty\}_{\theta,E}$  and let  $b = (\{p, 1-\zeta_{Np^{r}}\})_{r} \in X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}$ . Then

$$\varpi(a) = b, \quad \Upsilon(b) = a.$$

**7.2.4.** The relations of the elements a and b in Theorem 7.2.3 (2) are studied by Sharifi in [49]. We will deduce Theorem 7.2.3 (2) from his theory in [49] and Theorem 9.6.3 in this paper.

**7.2.5.** We will consider the following conditions.

 $C(\xi)$ :  $\xi$  has no multiple zero. That is, we have no multiple factor in the prime decomposition of  $\xi$  in  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ .

 $C(\mathfrak{h})$ : As a module over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ ,  $H^-_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^-_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  is generated by one element.

 $C(T^*(p))$ : As a module over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ ,  $H^-_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^-_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  is generated by the class of  $(1 - T^*(p))\{0, \infty\}$ .

Of course,  $C(\mathfrak{h})$  is satisfied if  $C(T^*(p))$  is satisfied.

From Theorem 7.2.3, we will deduce the following Theorems 7.2.6 and 7.2.8.

**Theorem 7.2.6.** Assume that one of the conditions  $C(\xi)$  and  $C(T^*(p))$  is satisfied. Then:

(1) Conjecture 7.1.1 (2) and Conjecture 7.1.2 are true. Thus the compositions  $X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \xrightarrow{\Upsilon} H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-} \xrightarrow{\varpi} X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}$  and  $(H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-})/(tor) \xrightarrow{\varpi} X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \xrightarrow{\Upsilon} (H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-})/(tor)$  are the identity maps.

(2) The conjecture 7.1.6 for the L-function in two variables is true modulo the pprimary torsion of  $H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$ . The conjecture 7.1.12 on the ratio of L-values is true if  $H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$  has no p-torsion.

By this theorem and by 7.1.5, we have

**Corollary 7.2.7.** All conjectures in section 7.1 are true if the following conditions (i) and (ii) are satisfied.

- (i) Either  $C(\xi)$  or  $C(T^*(p))$  is satisfied.
- (ii) Either  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$  or  $\mathfrak{H}_{\theta,E}$  is Gorenstein.

**Theorem 7.2.8.** Assume that one of the conditions  $C(\xi)$  and  $C(\mathfrak{h})$  is satisfied. Then:

(1) Conjecture 7.1.2 (2) is true. That is, the maps  $\varpi : (H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-)/(tor) \to X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}$ and  $\Upsilon : X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \to (H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-)/(tor)$  are isomorphisms.

(2) The conjecture 7.1.8 of McCallum-Sharifi is true.

**Remark 7.2.9.** (1) As far as the authors know, there is no known example of multiple zero of  $\xi$ .

(2) In the case N = 1, the  $\lambda$ -invariant rank<sub> $O_{\theta}$ </sub> ( $\Lambda_{\theta} / (\xi)$ ) is 0 or 1 in all known examples (see the sentences after 3.1 of Greenberg [15]).

7.2.10. The following conditions (i)–(iii) are equivalent.

- (i)  $C(\mathfrak{h})$
- (ii)  $H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}$  is a free  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}$ -module of rank 1.

(iii) For any prime ideal  $\mathfrak{p}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$  of height one such that  $I_{\theta} \subset \mathfrak{p}$ , the local ring  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,\mathfrak{p}}$  is Gorenstein.

The equivalence is seen as follows. (ii) implies (i) clearly. Note that for a prime ideal  $\mathfrak{p}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$  of height one which contains  $I_{\theta}$ ,  $H_{\theta,\mathfrak{p}}^-$  is a dualizing module over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,\mathfrak{p}}$  (6.3.6). Hence for such  $\mathfrak{p}$ ,  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,\mathfrak{p}}$  is Gorenstein if and only if  $H_{\theta,\mathfrak{p}}^-$  is a free  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,\mathfrak{p}}$ -module of rank 1. If (i) is satisfied, then for such  $\mathfrak{p}$  by Nakayama's lemma, the  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,\mathfrak{p}}$ -module  $H_{\theta,\mathfrak{p}}^-$  is generated by one element. Since the last module is a faithful module, the last module is free of rank 1 and hence (iii) is satisfied. If (iii) is satisfied, then for any such  $\mathfrak{p}$ ,  $H_{\theta,\mathfrak{p}}^-$  is free of rank 1 as an  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,\mathfrak{p}}$ -module and hence  $(H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-)_{\mathfrak{p}}$  is free of rank 1 as an  $(\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}\mathfrak{h}_{\theta})_{\mathfrak{p}}$ -module. This shows that the condition (ii) is satisfied.

**7.2.11.** If a conjecture of Greenberg [15] Conjecture 3.4 is true,  $X_{\chi} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  is generated by one element as a  $\Lambda_{\chi} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ -module. Hence it is natural to believe that the condition  $C(\mathfrak{h})$  is always satisfied.

**7.2.12.** The following conditions (i)—(iii) are equivalent.

- (i)  $H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$  is generated by one element as a module over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$ .
- (ii)  $H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$  is a free  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ -module of rank 1.
- (iii) The Eisenstein component of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$  is Gorenstein.

This is proved by the arguments as in 7.2.10.

**7.2.13.** Our result Theorem 7.2.8 (1) assuming  $C(\mathfrak{h})$  shows that if  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$  is Gorenstein, then the  $\Lambda_{\chi}$ -module  $X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}$  is generated by one element. But this is known (Harder-Pink [16], Kurihara [26]).

**7.2.14.** In the case N = 1, the theorems stated in Introduction are deduced from our results stated above. In fact, the  $(\theta = \omega^i)$ -components  $(i \in \mathbb{Z}/(p-1)\mathbb{Z})$  of  $\mathfrak{h}/I$  for  $i \neq 0, 2$  are treated above, and the  $\omega^i$ -components of  $\mathfrak{h}/I$  for i = 0, 2 are zero in the case N = 1.

Concerning (ii) in Theorem 0.15,  $(1-T^*(p))\{0,\infty\} \in H$  is defined since  $(1-T^*(p))H \subset H$  in the case N = 1 by 3.3.7 and 4.4.1.

**7.2.15.** In the rest of this paper, we prove the above theorems. Here is an outline. Identify  $H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$  with  $S_{\Lambda}/I_{\theta}S_{\Lambda}$  via the canonical isomorphism (cf. 8.1.1). In section 8, we study the *p*-adic *L*-function  $\mathcal{M}$  in two variables and prove

$$\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) = \xi' \gamma \text{ in } H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta} \text{ for } \gamma \in H_{\theta}^{-}.$$
 (Theorem 8.1.2).

By studying Galois cohomology in section 9, we prove in section 10.1

 $\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) = \xi' \cdot \Upsilon(\varpi(\gamma)) \text{ in } H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \text{ for } \gamma \in H_{\theta}^{-}.$  (Theorem 10.1.3)

These prove Theorem 7.2.3 (1).

Our proof of Theorem 7.2.3(2) is by the method of Sharifi in his paper [49].

As is explained in section 10, we can deduce Theorems 7.2.6 and 7.2.8 from Theorem 7.2.3.

# 8 Some results on *p*-adic *L*-functions in two variables

## 8.1 $\mathcal{M}(\gamma) \mod I$ for $\gamma \in H^-$

**8.1.1.** By the coincidence of the Frobenius and  $T^*(p)$  on  $H_{quo,\theta}(1)$  (1.8.1) and by 4.2.3, we have  $D(H_{quo,\theta}(1))/I_{\theta}D(H_{quo,\theta}(1)) = H_{quo,\theta}(1)/I_{\theta}H_{quo,\theta}(1)$ .

We use the isomorphisms  $H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-} \xrightarrow{\cong} H_{quo,\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{quo,\theta} \cong S_{\Lambda,\theta}/I_{\theta}S_{\Lambda,\theta}$  as identifications.

Let  ${}^{0}\mathcal{M}$  be as in 4.3.3 and let  $\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma)$  be as in 4.3.7.

**Theorem 8.1.2.** For  $\gamma \in H^-_{\theta}$  we have

(1)  ${}^{0}\mathcal{M}(\gamma) \equiv A_{0}\tilde{\xi} \cdot \gamma \mod I_{\theta}$  in  $(H_{quo,\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{quo,\theta})[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$  with  $A_{0} \in Q(\mathbb{Z}_{p}[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]])$  and  $\tilde{\xi} \in \Lambda_{\theta}[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$  defined as follows. First,  $A_{0}$  is as in the case s = 0 of Proposition 4.3.6 (2). That is,  $A_{0}$  is the image of the p-adic zeta function  ${}^{1}\xi_{p^{\infty}}$  under  $[a] \mapsto \sigma_{a}$ . Next,  $\tilde{\xi}$  is the image of  ${}^{-1}\xi_{Np^{\infty}}$  under the composition  $Q(\Lambda) \to Q(\Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]) \to Q(\Lambda_{\theta}[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]])$  where the first arrow is induced by the ring homomorphism  $\Lambda \to \Lambda[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$ ;  $[a] \mapsto [a]\sigma_{a}$ , and the second arrow is the projection.

(2)  $\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) \equiv \xi' \gamma \mod I_{\theta}$  in  $H_{quo,\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{quo,\theta}$ 

*Proof.* We prove (1). Let  $(-)_E$  be the Eisenstein component.

Take an isomorphism  $D(T) \cong T$  between two functors from the category of pro-*p* abelian groups with unramified actions of  $Gal(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  to the category of pro-*p* abelian groups (1.7.6). We have a commutative diagram

Denote the isomorphism  $H_{\theta,E}^- \xrightarrow{\cong} D(H_{quo,\theta,E})$  in this diagram by h. Since  $D(H_{quo,\theta,E})$  is a dualizing  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$ -module, the homomorphism  ${}^{0}\mathcal{M}: H_{\theta,E}^- \to D(H_{quo,\theta,E})[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  has the form fh for some  $f \in \mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ . We study  $f \mod I_{\theta,E}$ .

If we denote by  $\tilde{h}_{DM}$  the isomorphism  $\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}^{-} \xrightarrow{\cong} D(\tilde{H}_{quo,DM,\theta,E})$  in the diagram, the homomorphism  ${}^{0}\mathcal{M} : \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}^{-} \to D(\tilde{H}_{quo,DM,\theta,E})[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$  has also the form  $f\tilde{h}_{DM}$  for the same f.

The isomorphisms h and  $\tilde{h}_{DM}$  are compatible with the isomorphisms

$$\tilde{H}^{-}_{DM,\theta}/I_{\theta}H^{-}_{\theta} \cong \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi) \; ; \; \{0,\infty\} \mapsto 1,$$
$$M_{\Lambda,DM,\theta,E}/S_{\Lambda,\theta,E} \cong \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi) \; ; \; \sum_{n\geq 0} a_{n}q^{n} \mapsto a_{0}A_{\theta}$$

Hence to understand  $f \mod I_{\theta,E}$ , it is sufficient to consider the constant term of  ${}^{0}\mathcal{M}(\{0,\infty\})$ . Recall that  ${}^{0}\mathcal{M}(\{0,\infty\}) =$  the ordinary component of AB with A, B as in the case s = 0of Proposition 4.3.6. By  $q \mapsto 0$ , A is sent to  $A_0$  and B is sent to  $B_0$ . Since  $\langle a \rangle \in \mathfrak{H}_{\theta}$  $(a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times})$  acts on  $M_{\Lambda}$  as the multiplication by  $[a^{-1}]$  on  $\Lambda[[q]]$ , this proves (1).

We prove (2). Similarly, it is sufficient to consider the constant term of  $\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\{0,\infty\})$ in the Drinfeld-Manin modification 6.2.1. In the Drinfeld-Manin modification, AB is equal to A(B - B(0)), where  $B(0) \in M_{\Lambda} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda)$  is the image of B under  $\sigma_a \mapsto 1$ . The constant term of A(B - B(0)) is equal to  $A_0(B_0 - B_0(0))$  where  $B_0(0)$  is the image of  $B_0$  under  $\sigma_a \mapsto 1$ . Let u be the element of  $1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p$  such that  $(1 - p^{-1})\log(u) = 1$ , and let  $\gamma = \sigma_u \in \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ . Then  $A_0$  has the shape  $U/(\gamma - 1)$  with U(0) = 1. We have  $A_0(B_0 - B_0(0)) = U \cdot (B_0 - B_0(0))/(\gamma - 1)$ . By the  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ -homomorphism  $\Lambda_{\theta}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \to$  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ ;  $\sigma_a \mapsto 1$  (for all  $a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ ), U is sent to U(0) = 1 and  $(B_0 - 0(0))/(\gamma - 1)$  is sent to the derivative  $(^{-1}\xi^*)'$  of  $^{-1}\xi^*$ . Since  $\langle a \rangle$  acts on  $M_{\Lambda}$  as the multiplication by  $[a^{-1}]$  on  $\Lambda[[q]]$ , this proves (2).

#### 8.2 Related results

**8.2.1.** Let  ${}^{0}\mathcal{L} \in H[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$  be the image of  $\mathcal{L} \in H[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$  under the isomorphism  $H[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]] \to H[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$ ;  $x \otimes [a] \mapsto a^{-1}x \otimes [a]$ . Let  $\mathcal{L}_{s=0} \in H$  be the image of  ${}^{0}\mathcal{L}$  under  $H[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]] \to H$ ;  $x \otimes [a] \mapsto x$ . Then  $\mathcal{L}_{s=0} \in H^{+}$ .

**Theorem 8.2.2.** (1) Under the canonical isomorphism  $(H_{\theta}^+/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^+)[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \xrightarrow{\cong} (\Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi))[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ which we take as an identification, we have  ${}^{0}\mathcal{L}_{\theta}^+ \mod I_{\theta} = 2\sigma_{-1} \cdot A_0 \tilde{\xi}$  where  $A_0$  and  $\tilde{\xi}$  are as in Theorem 8.1.2 (1).

(2)  $\mathcal{L}_{s=0,\theta} \mod I_{\theta} = 2\xi'$  in  $H_{\theta}^+/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^+ \cong \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$ .

Proof. We prove (1). We compute the image of  ${}^{0}\mathcal{L}$  under the map  $(-,\xi\{0,\infty\}_{DM,\theta,E})_{\Lambda}$ :  $H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta} \to \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$ . It is the image under  $\Lambda \to \Lambda_{\theta}$   $[a] \mapsto [a^{-1}]$  of the coefficient of q in  $(({}^{0}\mathcal{L},\xi\{0,\infty\}_{DM,\theta,E}))_{\Lambda}$ . By Theorem 4.4.3, we have

$${}^{(0}\mathcal{L},\xi\{0,\infty\}_{DM,\theta,E})) = -\sigma_{-1}{}^{0}\mathcal{M}(\xi\{0,\infty\}_{DM,\theta,E}) = -\sigma_{-1}\xi \cdot {}^{0}\mathcal{M}(\{0,\infty\})_{DM,\theta,E}$$
$$= (\sigma_{-1}\cdot\xi AB)_{DM,\theta,E}$$

where A and B are as in the case s = 0 of 4.3.6. In the Drinfeld-Manin modification,  $\sigma_{-1} \cdot \xi AB$  is equivalent to  $\sigma_{-1} \cdot (\xi AB - ABE_{\Lambda}^{(2)}) \in S_{\Lambda} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda)$  where  $E_{\Lambda}^{(2)}$  is the  $\Lambda$ -adic Eisenstein series of weight 2 in 6.2.8. We take the coefficient of q. Since we take mod  $\xi$ ,  $\xi AB$  is neglected. Since the coefficient of q in  $E^{(2)}$  is 2, we obtain  $2\sigma_{-1} \cdot A_0 B_0$ .

(2) is obtained from (1) just as Theorem 8.1.2 (2) was obtained by using 8.1.2 (1).  $\Box$ 

The conditions  $C(\xi)$  and  $C(T^*(p))$  have the following similar interpretations. Let  $\mathcal{L}_{s=1}$  be the image of  $\mathcal{L}$  under  $H[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \to H$ ;  $x \otimes [a] \mapsto x$ .

**Proposition 8.2.3.** (1)  $C(\xi) \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{s=0}$  generates the  $\mathfrak{h} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ -module  $H^+_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^+_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ .

(2)  $C(T^*(p)) \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{s=1}$  generates the  $\mathfrak{h} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ -module  $H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^- \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ .

Proof. The equivalence (1) follows from Theorem 8.2.2 (2). (2) is clear since  $\mathcal{L}_{s=1} = (1 - T^*(p)^{-1})\{0, \infty\}.$ 

**Proposition 8.2.4.** Let f be as in 7.1.11. Let  $\psi : \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}$  and let  $L_{\psi} \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$  as before. Let r be an integer such that  $1 \leq r \leq k-1$ .

(1) Assume  $(-1)^r \psi(-1) = 1$ . Then we have:

$$L_p(f,\psi,r) \equiv 2L(1-r,\psi)L(1-k+r,\psi^{-1}\epsilon) \mod I(f)O_{L_{\psi}}$$

in  $O_{L_{\psi}}/I(f)O_{L_{\psi}}$ .

(2)  $L_p(f,0) \equiv 2L'_p(1-k,\epsilon) \mod I(f)O_{L_{\psi}}$ . Here  $L'_p$  is the derivative of the p-adic Dirichlet L-function.

Here  $L_p(f, \psi, r)$ , which is originally an element of  $V(f^*)^+_{O_{L_{\psi}}}$ , is regarded as an element of  $O_{L_{\psi}}$  by using an  $O_{L_{\psi}}$ -basis of  $V(f^*)^+_{O_{L_{\psi}}}$  whose mod I(f) comes from the canonical  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ -basis of  $H^+_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^+_{\theta}$ .

*Proof.* This follows from Theorem 8.2.2.

**8.2.5.** For example, let f be the p-stabilization of  $\Delta = q \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^n)^{24} \in S_{12}(1)_{\mathbb{Z}}$  where p = 691. In this case,  $F = \mathbb{Q}$ ,  $L = \mathbb{Q}_p$ ,  $I(f) = p\mathbb{Z}_p$ . Proposition 8.2.4 tells that for 0 < r < 12, r even,

$$L_p(\Delta, r) \equiv 2\zeta(1-r)\zeta(1+r-k) \mod p \quad \text{for } p = 691.$$

The ratio of  $(r-1)!L(\Delta, r)/(2\pi i)^r$  for r = 2, 4, 6 is  $1: -\frac{5^2}{2^{4}\cdot 3}: \frac{5}{2^{2}\cdot 3}$  as in Introduction of Manin [28]. On the other hand,  $\zeta(-1)\zeta(-9): \zeta(-3)\zeta(-7): \zeta(-5)^2 = \frac{1}{2^{4}\cdot 3^2\cdot 11}: \frac{1}{2^{7}\cdot 3^2\cdot 5^2}: \frac{1}{2^{4}\cdot 3^5\cdot 7^2}$ . These ratios mod 691 coincide.

**8.2.6.** Note that the values  $L_p(f, \psi, r)$  of *p*-adic *L*-functions with  $(-1)^r \psi(-1) = 1$  appear in Proposition 8.2.4 whereas those with  $(-1)^r \psi(-1) = -1$  appear in Conjecture 7.1.12.

# 9 Study of Galois cohomology

In this section 9, we study the maps

$$H^-_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^-_{\theta} \xrightarrow{\varpi} X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \xrightarrow{\Upsilon} H^-_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^-_{\theta}$$

by using Galois cohomology theory.

In section 9.1, we give some Galois cohomological understandings of  $X_{Np^{\infty},\chi}$ . In section 9.2, we give some Galois cohomological understanding of "the evaluation at  $\infty$ " in section 5 which was important in our study of the map  $\varpi$ . In section 9.3, we show that the derivative of *p*-adic zeta function appears in Galois cohomology. In section 9.4, we give some Galois cohomological understandings of the map  $\Upsilon$ . In section 9.5, we relate the derivative of *p*-adic zeta function to this understanding of  $\Upsilon$ . In section 9.6, we compute the Galois cohomology class of an extension of  $\mathcal{R}$  by  $\mathcal{Q}$  which appears in cohomology of modular curves.

See Sharifi [52] for results related to the results of this section.

### 9.1 Galois cohomology of Q(2)

**9.1.1.** Recall that  $X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \cong S_{\theta}(-1)$  (6.4.2). In this section 9.1, we define the following two isomorphisms

(1) 
$$H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \cong \mathcal{S}_{\theta},$$
 (2)  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \cong \mathcal{S}_{\theta}.$ 

**9.1.2.** Let  $\Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}$  be  $\Lambda_{\theta}$  on which  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  acts as follows. For  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ ,  $\sigma$  acts as the multiplication by  $[a]^{-1} \in \Lambda$  where  $a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is determined by  $\sigma(\zeta_{Np^r}) = \zeta_{Np^r}^a$   $(r \geq 1)$ . We have

$$H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}(2)) \cong \varprojlim_{r} H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r}}], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2))_{\theta} = \mathcal{S}_{\theta}.$$

**Lemma 9.1.3.**  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \Lambda^{\sharp}_{\theta}(2)) = 0.$ 

*Proof.* We have

$$H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}(2)) \cong \varprojlim_{r} H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r}}], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2))_{\theta} \cong \varprojlim_{r} (\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r}}]^{\times} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{p})_{\chi}(1)$$
$$\cong \varprojlim_{r} (\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_{Np^{r}}]^{\times} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{p})_{\chi}(1) \cong \mathbb{Z}_{p}(1)_{\chi}(1) = 0$$

where the third  $\cong$  follows from Assumptions 2 and 3 in 6.1.4, the fourth  $\cong$  follows from the fact  $\chi$  is odd, and the fifth  $\cong$  follows from the Assumptions 2 and 4 in 6.1.4.

**9.1.4.** Consider the exact sequence

$$0 \to \Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}(2) \xrightarrow{\xi} \Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}(2) \to (\Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}/(\xi))(2) \to 0.$$

By section 6.3, we have a canonical isomorphism  $(-, \xi\{0, \infty\}_{DM, \theta, E})_{\Lambda} : \mathcal{Q} \cong \Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}/(\xi)$  as a representation of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  over  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ . Hence we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}(2) \xrightarrow{\xi} \Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}(2) \to \mathcal{Q}(2) \to 0$$

By 9.1.2, this exact sequence induces an exact sequence

$$H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}(2)) \to H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \to \mathcal{S}_{\theta} \xrightarrow{\xi} \mathcal{S}_{\theta} \to H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \to 0.$$

By classical Iwasawa theory,  $S_{\theta}$  is killed by  $\xi$ . Hence by Lemma 9.1.3, the last exact sequence gives the isomorphisms (1) and (2) in 9.1.1.

#### 9.2 Evaluation at $\infty$ and Galois cohomology

The aim of this subsection is to prove the following proposition.

**Proposition 9.2.1.** The evaluation at the  $\infty$ -cusp

$$\lim_{r} H^2(X_1(Np^r) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \to \lim_{r} H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))_{\theta}$$

coincides with the composition

$$\lim_{r} H^{2}(X_{1}(Np^{r}) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2)) \to H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_{\theta}(2))$$

$$\to H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \cong \lim_{r} H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r}}], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2))_{\theta}$$

Here in this composition, the second arrow is given by the projection  $H \to Q$  and the last isomorphism is 9.1.1 (2).

**9.2.2.** We consider the following diagram with exact rows

Here: The upper horizontal row is the  $\Lambda_{\theta}$ -dual of the exact sequence  $0 \to H_{\theta,E} \to \tilde{H}_{\theta,E} \to \Lambda_{\theta} \to 0$  (6.2.5) for the pairing  $(-, -)_{\Lambda}$  (section 1.6). The middle vertical arrow is the pairing  $(-, [g])_{\Lambda}$  with [g] = the class of  $(g_{0,1/Np^r})_r \in \tilde{H}_{\theta,E}(1)$  (6.2.12) for  $(-, -)_{\Lambda}$  as in 1.6.7. The right vertical arrow is the map  $(-, \xi\{0, \infty\}_{DM,\theta,E})_{\Lambda}$  in section 6.3, that is, the composition  $H_{\theta,E}(2) \to \mathcal{Q}(2) \cong \Lambda^{\sharp}/(\xi)(2)$ . The map  $\xi$  is the multiplication by  $\xi$ .

**Lemma 9.2.3.** The above diagram in 9.2.2 is commutative and respects the action  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Q})$ .

*Proof.* The compatibility with the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  is checked easily. The commutativity of the left square is by 6.2.13. We consider the right square.

Let  $x \in H_{\theta,E}$  and let y be a lifting of x to  $H_{c,\theta,E}$ . Let  $\lambda$  be the image of x in  $\Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$  under the right vertical arrow of the diagram. What we have to prove is  $(y, [g])_{\Lambda} \mod \xi = \lambda$ .

By the boundary map  $\tilde{H}_{\theta,E} \to \Lambda_{\theta}$ ,  $\{0,\infty\}$  is sent to -1 and [g] is sent to  $\xi$ . Hence  $A =: \xi\{0,\infty\} + [g]$  belongs to  $H_{\theta,E}$ . Since [g] dies in the Drinfeld-Manin modification (6.2.14), we have  $A = \xi\{0,\infty\}_{DM,E}$ . Hence  $\lambda = (x,A)_{\Lambda} = (y,\xi\{0,\infty\})_{\Lambda} + (y,[g])_{\Lambda}$ . But  $(y,\xi\{0,\infty\})_{\Lambda} \equiv 0 \mod \xi$ .

**Corollary 9.2.4.** The composition  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_{\theta,E}(2)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \cong S_{\theta}$ coincides with the connecting map  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_{\theta,E}(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}(2))$  of the upper exact sequence in the diagram in 9.2.2.

Hence for the proof of Proposition 9.2.1, it is sufficient to prove the following Lemma 9.2.5.

**Lemma 9.2.5.** The evaluation  $\varprojlim_r H^2(X_1(Np^r) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \to \varprojlim_r H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))_{\theta}$ at the  $\infty$ -cusp coincides with the composition  $\varprojlim_r H^2(X_1(Np^r) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathbb{Z}_p(2)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_{\theta,E}(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}(2))$ , where the last arrow is the connecting map of the upper exact sequence in the diagram in 9.2.2.

**9.2.6.** We consider the upper exact sequence in the diagram in 9.2.2. Since the Atkin-Lehner involution, which appears in the definition of  $(-, -)_{\Lambda}$ , exchanges 0-cusps and  $\infty$ -cusps, and since only 0-cusps contribute to the exact sequence  $0 \to H_{\theta,E} \to \tilde{H}_{\theta,E} \to \Lambda_{\theta} \to 0$ , only  $\infty$ -cusps contribute to the dual exact sequence  $0 \to \Lambda_{\theta} \to \tilde{H}_{c,\theta,E} \to H_{\theta,E} \to 0$ . More precisely, the last exact sequence is obtained as follows. Let  $F = \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}(2)$  on the étale site of  $X_1(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}}$ ,  $F'' = i_*(\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})(2)$  where *i* is the inclusion morphism  $\{\infty\text{-cusps}\} \to X_1(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}}, F' = \text{Ker}(F \to F'')$ . Then from the exact sequence  $0 \to F' \to F \to F'' \to 0$ , we obtain an exact sequence  $0 \to T \to H^1(X_1(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}}, F') \to H^1(X_1(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}}, \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})(2) \to 0$ , where *T* is the cokernel of  $H^0(X_1(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}}, \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})(2) \to H^0(X_1(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}}, F'')$ . When we take the inverse limit for *n* and *r*, the inverse limit of the  $(\theta, E)$ -component of *T* becomes  $\Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}$ , that of  $H^1(X_1(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}}, F')$  becomes  $\tilde{H}_{c,\theta,E}(2)$ , and that of  $H^1(X_1(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}}, \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})(2)$  becomes  $H_{\theta,E}(2)$ .

**Lemma 9.2.7.** Let  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$  be abelian categories and let  $f : C_1 \to C_2$  and  $g : C_2 \to C_3$ be left exact functors. Assume that  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  have enough injective objects, and assume that f sends injective objects of  $C_1$  to injective objects of  $C_2$ . Let  $0 \to F' \to F \to F'' \to 0$ be an exact sequence in  $C_1$  and assume that  $(R^i f)F'' = 0$  for all i > 0. Let S be the kernel of  $(R^2(gf))F \to g(R^2f)F$  and let T be the cokernel of  $fF \to fF''$ . Then we have a commutative diagram

Here the left vertical arrow is by the spectral sequence  $(R^ig)(R^jf) \Rightarrow R^{i+j}(gf)$  and the lower horizontal arrow is the connecting map of the exact sequence  $0 \to T \to (R^1f)F' \to (R^1f)F \to 0$  (which appears in the long exact sequence of  $R^if$  obtained from the exact sequence  $0 \to F' \to F \to F'' \to 0$ ).

Proof. Exercise.

**9.2.8.** We prove Lemma 9.2.5.

We apply Lemma 9.2.7 by taking the following:  $C_1$  is the category of abelian sheaves on the étale site of  $X_1(Np^r) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Np]$ ,  $C_2$  is the category of abelian sheaves on the étale

site of Spec( $\mathbb{Z}[1/Np]$ ),  $\mathcal{C}_3$  is the category of abelian groups, f is the direct image functor, g is the global section functor,  $F = \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}(2)$  on the étale site of  $X_1(Np^r) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Np]$ for some  $n \geq 1$ ,  $F'' = i_*(\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})(2)$  where i is the inclusion morphism  $\infty_{Np^r}(0,1)$ :  $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}]^+) \to X_1(Np^r)$ , and  $F' = \operatorname{Ker}(F \to F'')$ . The commutative diagram in Lemma 9.2.7 becomes

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{2}(X_{1}(Np^{r}) \otimes \mathbb{Z}[1/Np], (\mathbb{Z}/p^{n}\mathbb{Z})(2)) & \to & H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r}}], (\mathbb{Z}/p^{n}\mathbb{Z})(2))^{+} \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H^{1}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_{1}(Np^{r}))(2)) & \to & H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], T) \end{array}$$

(S in the diagram in 9.2.7 becomes the same as  $R^2(gf)F = H^2(X_1(Np'r)\otimes\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], (\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})(2)))$ . In the present diagram, the upper horizontal arrow is the evaluation at the  $\infty$ -cusp, T is the cokernel of  $H^0(X_1(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}}, \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})(2) \to H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}] \otimes \bar{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})(2)$  which is identified with the cokernel of  $\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}(2) \to \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}/\{\pm 1\}](2)$ , and the lower horizontal arrow is the connecting map of the exact sequence  $0 \to T \to H^1(X_1(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}}, F') \to H^1(X_1(Np^r)_{\bar{\mathbb{Q}}}, \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}) \to 0$ . Taking the inverse limit for r and n, we obtain Lemma 9.2.5.

Now the proof of Proposition 9.2.1 is completed.

#### 9.3 Derivative and Galois cohomology

In this 9.3, we prove the following proposition.

**Proposition 9.3.1.** Consider the following two homomorphisms

$$a, b: H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \longrightarrow H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)).$$

The homomorphism a is the composition

$$H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \cong \mathcal{S}_{\theta} \cong H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2))$$

of the isomorphisms in (1), (2) in 9.1.1. The homomorphism b is the cup product  $\cup (1 - p^{-1})\log(\kappa)$  with  $(1 - p^{-1})\log(\kappa) \in H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathbb{Z}_p)$ , where  $\kappa$  is the cyclotomic character. Then we have

$$b = \xi' \cdot a.$$

**9.3.2.** Let G be a pro-finite group and assume the following (1) and (2).

(1) For any finite abelian group T of p-power order endowed with a continuous action of G, and for any  $i \ge 0$ , the cohomology group  $H^i(G,T)$  is finite.

(2) We are given a closed normal subgroup H of G such that  $\Gamma := G/H$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ .

The assumption (1) tells the following. For a pro-p abelian group A endowed with a continuous action of G, and for any i, the continuous cohomology  $H^i(G, A)$  coincides with  $\lim_{A'} H^i(G, A/A')$  where A' ranges over all open subgroups of A.

Let  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp}$  be  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]$  on which G acts as follows. For  $\sigma \in G$ , the action of  $\sigma$  on  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp}$  is the multiplication by  $\bar{\sigma}^{-1}$ , where  $\bar{\sigma}$  denotes the image of  $\sigma$  in  $\Gamma$ .

Let f be a non-zero-divisor of  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]$  and let T be a pro-p abelian group endowed with a continuous action of G. Let M be the cokernel of the injective homomorphism  $f = f \otimes 1 : \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \otimes T \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \otimes T$ . Here  $\hat{\otimes}$  is the topological tensor product as in 1.7.3.

Let t be a generator of  $\Gamma$  and let

$$l_t: \Gamma \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathbb{Z}_p$$

be the isomorphism which sends t to 1. We denote the element of  $H^1(G, \mathbb{Z}_p)$  corresponding to  $l_t$  by the same letter  $l_t$ .

**Proposition 9.3.3.** Let the notation be as above. Then for each  $i \ge 0$ , the cup product  $H^{i}(G, M) \to H^{i+1}(G, M) ; x \mapsto -l_{t} \cup x$ 

with  $-l_t \in H^1(G, \mathbb{Z}_p)$  coincides with the composition

$$H^{i}(G,M) \xrightarrow{\partial} H^{i+1}(G,\mathbb{Z}_{p}[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} T) \xrightarrow{tdf/dt} H^{i+1}(G,\mathbb{Z}_{p}[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} T) \to H^{i+1}(G,M)$$

where:

The first arrow  $\partial$  is the connecting map of the exact sequence of G-modules  $0 \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} T \xrightarrow{f} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} T \to M \to 0.$ 

The second arrow tdf/dt is induced by the  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]$ -linear G-homomorphism  $tdf/dt \otimes 1$ :  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} T \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} T.$ 

The third arrow is the canonical projection.

The proof of this proposition is given after we prove the following Lemmas 9.3.4 and 9.3.5.

**Lemma 9.3.4.** For any pro-p abelian group A endowed with a continuous action of G, the map  $x \mapsto -l_t \cup x : H^i(G, A) \to H^{i+1}(G, A)$  coincides with the composition

$$H^{i}(G,A) \to H^{i+1}(G,\mathbb{Z}_{p}[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp}\hat{\otimes}A) \to H^{i+1}(G,A)$$

where the first arrow is the connecting map of exact sequence  $0 \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} A \xrightarrow{a} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} A \to A \to 0$  with  $a = t \otimes 1 - 1$  and the second map is the canonical projection.

Proof. This can be proved by explicit computations of the connecting map and the cup product of group cohomology. Here  $-l_t$  appears because if  $\sigma \in G$  and if we write  $\bar{\sigma}^{-1} - 1 = (t-1)g$  where  $\bar{\sigma}$  is the image of  $\sigma$  in  $\Gamma$  and  $g \in \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp}$ , then the image of g in  $\mathbb{Z}_p$  under the canonical projection coincides with  $-l_t(\sigma)$ .

**Lemma 9.3.5.** Assume we have a commutative diagram of exact sequences of pro-p G-modules

Let  $j \geq 1$ . Assume  $H^{j}(G, Q') \to H^{j}(G, R')$  is surjective and  $H^{j}(G, P) \to H^{j}(G, Q)$  is injective. Then the connecting map  $H^{j-1}(G, R'') \to H^{j}(G, P'')$  of  $0 \to P'' \to Q'' \to R'' \to 0$  coincides with the minus of the connecting map of the snake lemma for

defined by using the map  $H^{j-1}(G, R'') \to Ker(H^j(G, R') \to H^j(G, R))$  and the map  $Coker(H^j(G, P') \to H^j(G, P)) \to H^j(G, P'').$ 

*Proof.* For a pro-p G-module A, let J(A) be the standard complex which computes the Galois cohomology of A. We have a commutative diagram of exact sequences of complexes

Let  $\bar{x} \in H^{j-1}(G, R'')$ . Let x be an element of  $J(R'')^{j-1}$  which represents  $\bar{x}$ . Lift x to  $y \in J(Q)^{j-1}$ . Then the image of  $\bar{x}$  under the connecting map  $H^{j-1}(G, R'') \to H^j(G, P'')$  is the class of  $dy_{J(Q'')} \in J(P'')^j$ . Call this class (1). On the other hand, the image of  $\bar{x}$  under the connecting map  $H^{j-1}(G, R'') \to H^j(G, R')$  is the class of  $dy_{J(R)} \in J(R')^j$ . By the surjectivity of  $H^j(G, Q') \to H^j(G, R')$ , there exist  $z \in J(Q')^j$  and  $u \in J(R')^{j-1}$  such that dz = 0 and  $z_{J(R')} = dy_{J(R)} + du$ . Let  $\tilde{u}$  be a lifting of u to  $J(Q')^{j-1}$  and replace z by  $z - d\tilde{u}$ . Then we have  $z_{J(R')} = dy_{J(R)}$ . Hence the map  $J(Q)^j \to J(R)^j$  sends  $z_{J(Q)} - dy$  to 0. That is,  $z_{J(Q)} - dy \in J(P)^j$ . Hence the class of  $z_{J(Q)}$  in  $H^j(G, Q)$  is the image of the class of  $z_{J(Q')} - dy \in J(P)^j$  in  $H^j(G, P)$ . The image in  $H^j(G, P'')$  of this class is the class of  $z_{J(Q'')} - dy_{J(Q'')} = -dy_{J(Q'')} \in J(Q'')^j$ . Call this class (2). Then (1) = -(2).  $\Box$ 

9.3.6. We prove Proposition 9.3.3.

We apply Lemma 9.3.5 to the following situation:  $P = P' = Q = Q' = \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} T$ ,  $P \to Q$  and  $P' \to Q'$  are  $t \otimes 1 \otimes 1 - 1$ , and  $P' \to P$  and  $Q' \to Q$  are  $1 \otimes f \otimes 1$ , and j = i + 1. The sequences  $R' \to R \to R''$  and  $P'' \to Q'' \to R''$  are identified with  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} T \xrightarrow{f} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} T \to M$  and  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} M \xrightarrow{t \otimes 1 - 1} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} M \to M$ , respectively. We have an isomorphism of *G*-modules

 $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \cong \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]] ; \ t_1 \otimes t_2 \mapsto t_1 \otimes t_1^{-1} t_2 \ (t_i \in \Gamma)$ 

where G acts on the  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]$  without  $\sharp$  trivially. By this isomorphism, the sequence  $H^j(G, P) \to H^j(G, Q) \to H^j(G, R)$  is identified with

$$A \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]] \xrightarrow{b} A \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]] \xrightarrow{c} A$$

where 
$$A = H^{i+1}(G, \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} T), \quad b = (t \otimes 1) \otimes t^{-1} - 1, \quad c(x \otimes y) = yx.$$

The map b is injective and the map c is surjective as is easily seen.

By Lemma 9.3.4 and Lemma 9.3.5, the map  $H^i(G, M) \to H^{i+1}(G, M)$ ;  $x \mapsto l_t \cup x$  coincides with the composition  $H^i(G, M) \to H^{i+1}(G, \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \otimes M) \to H^{i+1}(G, M)$  where the second arrow is the canonical projection and the first arrow is the connecting map of the snake lemma for

$$\begin{array}{ccccc} & H^{i}(G,M) & & & \downarrow \partial \\ 0 & \to & A \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_{p}[[\Gamma]] & \stackrel{b}{\to} & A \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_{p}[[\Gamma]] & \stackrel{c}{\to} & A & \to & 0 \\ & & \downarrow 1 \otimes f & & \downarrow 1 \otimes f & & \downarrow f \\ 0 & \to & A \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_{p}[[\Gamma]] & \stackrel{b}{\to} & A \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_{p}[[\Gamma]] & \stackrel{c}{\to} & A & \to & 0 \\ & & \downarrow & & \\ & & & H^{i+1}(G, \mathbb{Z}_{p}[[\Gamma]])^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} M). \end{array}$$

Here the map  $H^{i+1}(G, \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} T) \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]] \to H^{i+1}(G, \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} M)$  is  $u \otimes v \mapsto$  (the projection of vu).

Let  $x \in H^i(G, M)$  and let  $y = \partial(x) \in A$ . Then y lifts to  $y \otimes 1 \in A \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]$ . Since  $f(y) = 0, (1 \otimes f)(y \otimes 1) = (1 \otimes f - f \otimes 1)(y \otimes 1)$ . Write

$$1 \otimes f - f \otimes 1 = (t \otimes t^{-1} - 1)g \quad \text{in } \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]] \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]$$

with  $g \in \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]] \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]$ . Then  $(1 \otimes f - f \otimes 1)(y) = b(gy)$ . Since the map

$$\mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]] \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]] \to \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]] ; \ u \otimes v \otimes h \mapsto uv \otimes h$$

sends g to -tdf/dt, the image of gy under

$$H^{i+1}(G, \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]]^{\sharp} \hat{\otimes} T) \hat{\otimes} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\Gamma]] \to H^i(G, M) \; ; \; u \otimes v \mapsto \text{projection of } vu$$

is the image of (tdf/dt)y. This proves the proposition.

9.3.7. Proposition 9.3.1 follows from Proposition 9.3.3.

## 9.4 The map $\Upsilon$ and Galois cohomology

Here, we give descriptions 9.4.3 and 9.4.4 of the map  $\Upsilon$  by Galois cohomology theory.

**9.4.1.** We review the arithmetic duality in Galois cohomology theory (Poitou-Tate duality).

Let F be a finite extension of  $\mathbb{Q}$  and let U be a dense open subscheme of  $\operatorname{Spec}(O_F[1/p])$ .

For a finite abelian group T of order a power of p endowed with a continuous action of  $G := \pi_1(U)$ , and for  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , let  $H^i_{(c)}(U,T)$  be the *i*-th cohomology of the following complex  $C_{(c)}(G,T)$ :  $C_{(c)}(G,T)$  is the simple complex associated to the double complex defined to be the "mapping fiber" of the canonical map  $C(G,T) \to \bigoplus_{v \notin U} C(F_v,T)$ . Here C(G,T) is the standard complex of the topological G-module T which computes the continuous cohomology  $H^i(G,T) = H^i(U,T)$ , v ranges over all finite places of F which do not belong

to U, and  $C(F_v, T)$  denotes the standard complex of the topological  $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{F}_v/F_v)$ -module T which computes the continuous cohomology  $H^i(\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{F}_v/F_v), T) = H^i(F_v, T)$ .

We have an evident long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^i_{(c)}(U,T) \to H^i(U,T) \to \bigoplus_{v \notin U} H^i(F_v,T) \to H^{i+1}_{(c)}(U,T) \to \dots$$

Via this exact sequence,  $H^3_{(c)}(U,T)$  is isomorphic to the cokernel of  $H^2(U,T) \to \bigoplus_{v \notin U} H^2(F_v,T)$ . This isomorphism for  $T = (\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})(1)$  and the canonical isomorphisms  $H^2(F_v,(\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})(1)) \cong \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}$  for  $v \notin U$  induce a canonical isomorphism  $H^3_{(c)}(U,(\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})(1)) \cong \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}$ . The duality of Poitou-Tate formulated as in Mazur [29] says that for  $n \geq 0$  such that  $p^n$  kills T, the cup product

$$H^i_{(c)}(U,T) \times H^{3-i}(U,T^{\vee}(1)) \to H^3_{(c)}(U,(\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})(1)) \cong \mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z}$$

is a perfect duality of finite abelian groups. Here  $(-)^{\vee}$  denotes the Pontryagin dual.

In particular,  $H^3_{(c)}(U,T)$  is the dual of  $H^0(U,T^{\vee}(1))$  and hence we have a canonical isomorphism

(1) 
$$H^3_{(c)}(U,T) \cong T(-1)_G$$
 (the co-invariant).

**9.4.2.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$  be as in 6.3.1.

Since  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Q})$  acts trivially on  $\mathcal{P}(1)$ , we have by (1) in 9.4.1

$$H^3_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{P}(2)) \cong \mathcal{P}(1) \cong \mathcal{P}.$$

Proposition 9.4.3. We have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^2_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) & \to & H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) & \cong & X_{Np^{\infty}, \chi} \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \Upsilon \\ \mathcal{P} & = & \mathcal{P}. \end{array}$$

Here the left vertical arrow is the minus of the connecting map

$$H^2_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \to H^3_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{P}(2)) = \mathcal{P}$$

of the exact sequence  $0 \to \mathcal{P}(2) \to (H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})(2) \to \mathcal{Q}(2) \to 0.$ 

(Since the upper horizontal arrow of the above diagram is surjective, this characterizes the map  $\Upsilon$ .)

Proof. Let  $\mathfrak{X} = \operatorname{Gal}(M/K)$  where  $K = \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{\infty}})$  and M is the largest pro-p abelian extension of  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{\infty}})$  which is unramified at any primes which do not divide Np. Since  $\mathfrak{X}$  is the Pontryagin dual of  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{\infty}}], \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)$ , Poitou-Tate duality (9.4.1) shows that  $\mathfrak{X} \cong \lim_{r \to \infty} H^2_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(1))$ . Hence

$$\mathfrak{X}_{\chi} \cong \mathfrak{X}(1)_{\theta} \cong \lim_{r} H^{2}_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r}}], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2))_{\theta} \cong H^{2}_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \Lambda^{\sharp}_{\theta}(2)).$$

The composite map

$$\mathfrak{X}_{\chi} \cong H^2_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \Lambda^{\sharp}_{\theta}(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], (\Lambda^{\sharp}_{\theta}/(\xi))(2)) \cong X_{Np^{\infty}, \chi}$$

coincides with the canonical projection.

For the proof of 9.4.3, since the map  $\mathfrak{X} \to H^2_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2))$  is surjective, it is sufficient to prove that the composition  $\mathfrak{X} \to H^2_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \to H^3_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{P}(2)) \cong \mathcal{P}$ induced by the left vertical arrow of 9.4.3 coincides with the composition  $\mathfrak{X} \to X_{Np^{\infty}} \xrightarrow{\Upsilon} \mathcal{P}$ . By Poitou-Tate duality, it is sufficient to prove that the composition

$$\mathcal{P}^{\vee} \cong H^{0}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{P}^{\vee}(-1)) \to H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}^{\vee}(-1))$$
$$\to H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{\infty}}], \mathcal{Q}^{\vee}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{Q}^{\vee}) \to \mathfrak{X}^{\vee}$$

coincides with the minus of the Pontryagin dual of  $\mathfrak{X} \to X_{Np^{\infty}} \xrightarrow{\Upsilon} \mathcal{P}$ . Here  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{P}^{\vee}(-1)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}^{\vee}(-1))$  is the connecting map of the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{Q}^{\vee}(-1) \to (H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})^{\vee}(-1) \to \mathcal{P}^{\vee}(-1) \to 0$$

and the map  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{Q}^{\vee}) \to \mathfrak{X}^{\vee}$  is defined by the evaluation at the canonical basis of  $\mathcal{Q}$ . The last coincidence is proved easily.

**Proposition 9.4.4.** Consider the diagram

in which rows are exact and compositions of vertical arrows in the column are zero. The map  $\Upsilon : X_{Np^{\infty},\chi} \to \mathcal{P}$  coincides with the map given by snake lemma.

Proof. We can show that the above map of the snake lemma coincidences with the minus of the connecting map  $H^2_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \to H^3_{(c)}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{P}(2))$ , by using the "complex version" of 9.3.5. By this, 9.4.4 is reduced to 9.4.3. Here the "complex version" of 9.3.5 is as follows: We replace pro-p G-modules in 9.3.5 by complexes of pro-p G-modules. This complex version is proved in the same way as 9.3.5.

### 9.5 Derivative of *p*-adic Dirichlet *L* and Galois cohomology

Recall (7.2.2) that  $\xi' = td\xi/dt$  where t is the generator of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{\infty}})/\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np}))$  such that  $(1-p^{-1})\log(\kappa(t)) = 1.$ 

Proposition 9.5.1. We have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_{\theta}(2)) & \to & \mathcal{S}_{\theta} = \varprojlim_{r} H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r}}], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(2))_{\theta} \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow & \\ H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, \mathcal{P}(2)) & \to & \mathcal{P}. \end{array}$$

Here the upper horizontal arrow is the evaluation at  $\infty$ , the left vertical arrow is induced by  $H_{\theta} \to H_{\text{quo},\theta} \to H_{\text{quo},\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\text{quo},\theta} \cong \mathcal{P}$ , and the lower horizontal arrow is given by the cup product

$$\cup (1-p^{-1})\log(\kappa): H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathcal{P}(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathcal{P}(2)) = H^2(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathbb{Z}_p(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}.$$

Before we give the proof of 9.5.1, we prove

**Lemma 9.5.2.** Let  $\ell$  be a prime divisor of N. Then for any  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the canonical map  $H^1(\mathbb{F}_{\ell}, H^0(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell,ur}, H_{\theta}(m))) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, H_{\theta}(m))$  is bijective.

*Proof.* This map is injective, and the cokernel is isomorphic to  $H^0(\mathbb{F}_{\ell}, H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell,ur}, H_{\theta}(m)))$ .

The action of the absolute Galois group of  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell,ur}(\zeta_N)$  on  $H_{\theta}$  is trivial. Let G be the Galois group of  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell,ur}(\zeta_N)$  over  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell,ur}$ . Since p does not divide  $\varphi(N)$ , the map  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell,ur}, H_{\theta}(m)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell,ur}(\zeta_N), H_{\theta}(m))^G$  is bijective. Hence it is sufficient to prove that  $H^0(\mathbb{F}_{\ell}, H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell,ur}(\zeta_N), H_{\theta}(m))^G) = 0$ . We have  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell,ur}(\zeta_N), H_{\theta}(m))^G = H_{\theta}(m-1)^G$ . In the finite level, the action of the geometric Frobenius  $Fr_{\ell}^{-1}$  at  $\ell$  on  $H_{\theta}$  is of weight 1 (since the restriction of  $\theta$  to  $(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$  is primitive,  $H_{\theta}$  is potentially good at  $\ell$ ). Hence  $H^0(\mathbb{F}_{\ell}, H_{\theta}(m-1)^G) = 0$ .

**9.5.3.** We prove Proposition 9.5.1.

Consider the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccccccc}
H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_{\theta}(2)) & \to & H^{2}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_{\theta}(2)) \\
\downarrow & & \downarrow \\
\oplus_{\ell \mid Np} & H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, H_{\theta}(2)) & \to & \oplus_{\ell \mid Np} & H^{2}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, H_{\theta}(2)) \\
\downarrow & & & \parallel \\
\oplus_{\ell \mid Np} & H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \mathcal{P}(2)) & \to & \oplus_{\ell \mid Np} & H^{2}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \mathcal{P}(2)) \\
\downarrow & & & \downarrow \\
\mathcal{P}
\end{array}$$

in which all the horizontal arrows are the cup product  $\cup (1-p^{-1})\log(\kappa)$ , and the vertical arrows  $H^i(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, H_\theta(2)) \to H^i(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, \mathcal{P}(2))$  for i = 1, 2 are induced by  $H_\theta(2) \to (H_\theta/I_\theta H_\theta)(2) \to \mathcal{P}(2)$  where the last arrow is obtained from the unique splitting of the exact sequence  $0 \to \mathcal{P} \to H_\theta/I_\theta H_\theta \to \mathcal{Q} \to 0$  over  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell/\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$ .

Let  $x \in H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_{\theta}(2))$ . Let  $y \in H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_{\theta}(2))$  and  $z \in \mathcal{P}$  be the images of x in this diagram.

For any prime number  $\ell \neq p$ ,  $(1 - p^{-1}) \log(\kappa) \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, \mathbb{Z}_p)$  belongs to the unramified part  $H^1(\mathbb{F}_\ell, \mathbb{Z}_p)$ . Hence for  $\ell | N$ , by the case m = 2 of Lemma 9.5.2, the cup product  $\cup (1 - p^{-1}) \log(\kappa) : H^1(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, H(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, H(2))$  is zero (use the fact  $H^2(\mathbb{F}_\ell, -) = 0$ ). Hence z coincides with the image of x under the composition  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_\theta(2)) \to$  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathcal{P}) \to \mathcal{P}$  of Proposition 9.5.1. It remains to prove that  $z = \xi' \cdot \Upsilon(u)$  where  $u \in S_\theta$  is the image of x under the evaluation at  $\infty$ . Let v be the image of y under  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_\theta(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \cong S_\theta$ . By Proposition 9.3.3, we have  $v = \xi' u$ . On the other hand, Proposition 9.4.4 shows that  $\Upsilon(v)$  is the image z of y under the composition of vertical arrows  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_\theta(2)) \to \mathcal{P}$ . Hence  $z = \Upsilon(v) = \xi' \Upsilon(u)$ .

## 9.6 A cuspidal extension class in Galois cohomology

**9.6.1.** Let  $\mathcal{E} = \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}/\text{Ker}(H_{\theta,E} \to \mathcal{Q})$ . We try to understand the extension  $0 \to \mathcal{Q} \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{R} \to 0$ .

**9.6.2.** Because we have canonical bases of  $\mathcal{Q}$  and  $\mathcal{R}$  as  $\Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$ -modules, the class of this extension is understood as an element of  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], (\Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}/\xi)(1))$ . From the exact sequence  $0 \to \Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}(1) \stackrel{\xi}{\to} \Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}(1) \to (\Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}/(\xi))(1) \to 0$ , we have an exact sequence

$$\lim_{r} (\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r}}]^{\times} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{p})_{\theta} \xrightarrow{\xi} \lim_{r} (\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^{r}}]^{\times} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{p})_{\theta} \to H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], (\Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}/\xi)(1)).$$

The goal of this section 9.6 is to prove

**Theorem 9.6.3.** The class of the extension  $0 \to \mathcal{Q} \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{R} \to 0$  coincides with the image of class of the family  $(1-\zeta_{Np^r})_r$  under the canonical homomorphism  $\lim_{\leftarrow r} (\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}]^{\times} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)_{\theta} \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], (\Lambda_{\theta}^{\sharp}/\xi)(1)).$ 

**Lemma 9.6.4.** Let X be a proper smooth curve over an algebraically closed field k, and let Y be a dense open set of X. Let  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and assume n is invertible in k. Let D be a divisor on X with support in X - Y, and assume nD is a principal divisor (g). Then the map  $H^1(X, \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}(1)) \to H^1(Y, \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}(1))$  sends the class of D in  $H^1(X, \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}(1)) \cong J_X[n]$  to the Kummer class of g.

Proof. Let  $L = \mathcal{O}(D)$  and let T be the  $\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}(1)$ -torsor  $\{u : L \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathcal{O}_X ; u^{\otimes n} = g\}$  on the étale site of X. Then the class of T in  $H^1(X, \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}(1))$  goes to the class of L in  $H^1(X, G_m)[n]$ . On Y, T is identified with the  $\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}(1)$ -torsor  $\{n\text{-th root of } g\}$  whose class is the Kummer class of g. This proves the lemma.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 9.6.5.** Let  $X = X_1(Np^r)$ ,  $Y = Y_1(Np^r)$   $(r \ge 1)$ . By the map  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)_{DM}/H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X) \to H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  induced by  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)_{DM} \xrightarrow{\subset} H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ , the class of a cuspidal divisor D of degree 0 in  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)_{DM}/H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X)$  goes to the minus of the class of D in  $J_{X,tor} = H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X) \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ .

Here  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)_{DM}$  be the Drinfeld -Manin modification (6.2.1) of  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)$ .

Proof. Take  $E \in H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)$  whose class in  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)/H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X)$  coincides with that of D. Since the class of D is torsion, we have nD = (g) for some  $n \neq 0$  and g. Hence the class of D in  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)/H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X)$  coincides with that of the Kummer class [g] of g. Hence nD =[g] + x in  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)$  where  $x \in H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X)$ . In  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)/nH^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)$ , we have x = -[g]. Since  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X)/nH^1_{\acute{e}t}(X) \to H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)/nH^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)$  is injective and the class of D goes to [g] by Lemma 9.6.4, we see that x = -D in  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X)/nH^1_{\acute{e}t}(X)$ . On the other hand, in  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y)_{DM}$ , since [g] vanishes there, nE = [g] + x implies that nE = x. Thus in  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ , nE = x. This proves the lemma.

Note that

**Lemma 9.6.6.** Let J be the Jacobian variety of  $X_1(Np^r)$  and let GJ be the generalized Jacobian variety of  $X_1(Np^r)$  with respect to the  $\infty$ -cusp of  $X_1(Np^r)$ . Consider the exact sequence

 $(a) \quad 0 \to G_m \to T \to GJ \to J \to 0$ 

where T is the Weil restriction of  $G_m$  from the residue field of the  $\infty$ -cusp of  $X_1(Np^r)$  to  $\mathbb{Q}$ , and let

(b)  $0 \to T[\xi]_{\theta} \to GJ[\xi]_{\theta} \to J[\xi]_{\theta} \to 0$  be the exact sequence obtained by taking the  $\theta$ -component of the  $\xi$ -torsion part (the kernel of the action of  $\xi$ ) of the exact sequence (a). Then via the perfect duality

$$H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))_{\theta}/\xi H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))_{\theta} \times GJ[\xi]_{\theta} \to \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p \; ; \; (x,y) \mapsto (w_{Np^r}(x),y)$$

where (-, -) is the usual pairing, the Eisenstein component of the exact sequence (b) is dual to the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(Np^r))_{\theta,E} / \xi H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(Np^r))_{\theta,E} \to$$

$$H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))_{\theta,E}/\xi H^1_{\acute{e}t}(Y_1(Np^r))_{\theta,E} \to (\mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]_{\theta}/(\xi))(-1) \to 0.$$

(The last exact sequence is a quotient of the exact sequence  $0 \to H_{\theta,E} \to \tilde{H}_{\theta,E} \to \Lambda_{\theta} \to 0$ in 6.2.5.)

**9.6.7.** Let  $A = \mathbb{Z}_p[G]$  for a finite abelian group G. Let  $a \in A$ , R = A/(a). Assume R is finite (that is, a is a non-zero-divisor of A).

Then we have a functorial isomorphism  $\operatorname{Hom}_R(M, R) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(M, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)$  for an *R*-module *M*.

It is defined as follows. Note that a is invertible in  $A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p = \mathbb{Q}_p[G]$ . We define a homomorphism  $f: R \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  as follows. Let  $g: \mathbb{Q}_p[G] \to \mathbb{Q}_p$  be the map  $\sum_{\sigma \in G} c_\sigma \sigma \mapsto c_1$  $(c_\sigma \in \mathbb{Q}_p)$ . Let  $\tilde{f}: A \to \mathbb{Q}_p$  be the homomorphism defined by  $\tilde{f}(b) = g(ba^{-1})$ . Then for  $b \in A$ , we have  $\tilde{f}(ab) = g(b) \in \mathbb{Z}_p$ . Hence  $\tilde{f}$  induces a homomorphism  $f: R = A/(a) \to \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p$ .

This homomorphism  $f : R \to \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p$  induces  $\operatorname{Hom}_R(M, R) \to \operatorname{Hom}(M, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)$  for any *R*-module *M*.

We prove that this homomorphism  $\operatorname{Hom}_R(M, R) \to \operatorname{Hom}(M, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)$  is an isomorphism. To prove it, we are reduced to the case M = R. That is, it is sufficient to prove that  $R \to \operatorname{Hom}(R, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)$ ;  $x \mapsto (y \mapsto f(xy))$  is bijective. This map is  $A/(a) \to \operatorname{Hom}(A/(a), \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p) = \operatorname{Hom}(A, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)[a] = (A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)[a]$  ([a] denotes the kernel of a). The inverse of this composition is given by the connecting map of the snake lemma for the commutative diagram of exact sequences

By Lemma 9.6.5, we have

**Lemma 9.6.8.** The canonical map  $(-, \xi\{0, \infty\}_{DM,\theta,E})_{\Lambda} : H_{\theta} \to \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$  (6.3.8) is described as the inverse limit of the following maps  $H^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(X_{1}(Np^{r})) \to \mathbb{Z}_{p}[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^{r}\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]_{\theta}/(\xi)$  for  $r \geq 1$ :

Consider the divisor  $D = (0) - (\infty)$  on  $X_1(Np^r)$ . Let  $A = \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]_{\theta}$ . We denote the image of  $\xi$  in A by the same letter  $\xi$ . Let  $R = A/(\xi)$ . Let J be the Jacobian variety of  $X_1(Np^r)$ . In  $J_{tor,\theta,E} = H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(Np^r))_{\theta,E} \otimes \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ , the class class(D) of D is killed by  $\xi$ . The  $\theta$ -component of the above 9.6.7 shows that  $J[\xi]_{\theta,E}$  (which is the Pontryagin dual of  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(Np^r))_{\theta,E}/\xi H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(Np^r))_{\theta,E}$  via the duality in Lemma 9.6.6) is the R-dual of  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(Np^r))_{\theta,E}/\xi H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(Np^r)_{\theta,E})$ . Hence,  $class(D) \in J[\xi]_{\theta,E}$  defines  $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X_1(Np^r))_{\theta,E} \to R$ .

**Lemma 9.6.9.** Let C be the group of divisors on  $X_1(Np^r) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  supported on cusps. Let  $(C \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)_{\theta,E}$  be the Eisenstein component of the  $\theta$ -component of  $C \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p$  as an  $h(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ -module. Then we have

(1) As a module over the ring  $\mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]_{\theta}$  of diamond operators,  $(C \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)_{\theta,E}$  is a free module of rank 1, and any 0-cusp is a generator of this module.

(2) For any cusp x of  $X_1(Np^r) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  which is not a 0-cusp, the image of x in  $(C \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)_{\theta,E}$  is zero.

*Proof.* This follows from Ohta [41]. (It can be deduced from 1.3.5).

**9.6.10.** We prove Theorem 9.6.3.

By Lemmas 9.6.8 and 9.6.6, it is sufficient to prove the following statement (S).

(S) The image of the class of  $(0) - (\infty)$  in  $H^0(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r}), J[\xi]_{\theta,E})$  under the connecting map  $H^0(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r}), J[\xi]_{\theta,E}) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r}), T[\xi]_{\theta,E})$  of the exact sequence (b) of Lemma 9.6.6 coincides with the Kummer class of of  $1 - \zeta_{Np^r}$ .

Take an integer c such that (c, 6Np) = 1 and such that the image of  $c^2 - [c]$  in  $\Lambda_{\theta}$  is invertible. By the *q*-expansion of  ${}_{c}g_{0,1/Np^r}$  (2.1.1) and by Lemmas 6.2.13 and 9.6.9, there is  $h \in h(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}}$  whose image in  $h(Np^r)_{\mathbb{Z}_p,\theta,E}$  is invertible and which satisfies the following conditions (i)–(iii).

- (i) h kills  $\infty$ -cusps.
- (ii) div $({}_{c}g^{h}_{0,1/Np^{r}}) = h \cdot (c^{2} \langle c \rangle) \cdot \xi \cdot (0).$
- (iii)  $_{c}g^{h}_{0,1/Np^{r}}(\infty) = (1 \zeta_{Np^{r}})^{h(c^{2} \sigma_{c})}.$

We compute the image of the class of  $h \cdot (c^2 - \langle c \rangle) \cdot ((0) - (\infty))$  in  $H^0(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r}), J[\xi]_{\theta})$ under the connecting map  $H^0(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r}), J[\xi]_{\theta}) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r}), T[\xi]_{\theta})$ . Let s be an idele on  $X_1(Np^r) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  satisfying the following conditions (iv) and (v).

(iv) Outside  $\infty$ -cusps, the divisor of s coincides with the divisor  $h \cdot (c^2 - \langle c \rangle) \cdot ((0) - (\infty))$ .

(v) The components of  $s^{\xi}$  (= the result of the action of  $\xi$  on s) at  $\infty$ -cusps are the images of  ${}_{c}g^{h}_{0,1/Np^{r}}$  in the local fields of  $X_{1}(Np^{r}) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$  at  $\infty$ -cusps.

Then by (i) and (ii), the class of  $s^{\xi}$  in GJ coincides with the class of the principal idele  ${}_{c}g^{h}_{0,1/Np^{r}}$  and hence vanishes. Thus  $s \in GJ[\xi]$ . Furthermore, the image of s in  $J[\xi]$  coincides with  $h \cdot (c^{2} - \langle c \rangle) \cdot ((0) - (\infty))$ . Hence the connecting map sends the class of  $h \cdot (c^{2} - \langle c \rangle) \cdot ((0) - (\infty))$  to the class of the Galois 1-cocyle  $\sigma \mapsto \sigma(s)/s$  ( $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^{r}}))$ , which is the Kummer class of  ${}_{c}g^{h}_{0,1/Np^{r}}(\infty) = (1 - \zeta_{Np^{r}})^{h(c^{2} - \sigma_{c})}$ . This proves the statement (S).

# 10 Proofs of our results on Sharifi conjectures

In section, we complete the proofs of our results stated in section 7.2.

## 10.1 Study of $\xi' \cdot \Upsilon \varpi$

The goal of this subsection is to prove Theorem 7.2.3 (1).

**10.1.1.** We regard  $H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-} = H_{quo,\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{quo,\theta} = D(H_{quo,\theta}(1))/I_{\theta}D(H_{quo,\theta}(1))$  via the canonical isomorphisms (6.3.5, 8.1.1).

Let  $\gamma \in H_{\theta}^{-}$  and consider  $\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) \in D(H_{quo,\theta}(1))$ . By the above fact, we can regard  $\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) \mod I_{\theta} \in H_{quo,\theta}/IH_{quo,\theta} = H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$ .

Proposition 10.1.2. The composition

$$H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_{\theta}(2)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Col}^{\wp}} D(H_{\operatorname{quo},\theta}(1)) \to H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-$$

(the first arrow is  $\operatorname{Col}^{\flat}$  and the second arrow is the canonical projection) coincides with the composition

$$H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], H_{\theta}(2)) \xrightarrow{\infty} S_{\theta} \xrightarrow{\xi'\Upsilon} H_{\theta}^- / I_{\theta} H_{\theta}^-$$

(the first arrow is the evaluation at  $\infty$  and the second arrow is  $\xi' \cdot \Upsilon$ ).

*Proof.* This follows from Proposition 9.5.1 and Proposition 4.2.4.

**Theorem 10.1.3.** Let  $\gamma \in H_{\theta}^{-}$ . Then

$$\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) = \xi' \cdot \Upsilon \varpi(\gamma) \mod I_{\theta} \quad in \ (H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}.$$

Proof. The first composite map of 10.1.2 sends  $z_{1,Np^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\gamma) \in H^{1}(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], H_{\theta}(2)) \otimes_{\Lambda} \Lambda \mu^{-1}$  $(\gamma \in H_{\theta}^{-}, \mu = p((1 + Np)^{2} - \langle 1 + Np \rangle) \in \Lambda$  as in Theorem 3.3.9) to  $\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) \mod I_{\theta}$  by 4.3.8. On the other hand, the second composite map of 10.1.2 sends  $\mu \cdot z_{Np^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\gamma)$  to  $\mu\xi' \cdot \Upsilon \varpi(\gamma)$ . Note that  $\mu$  is invertible in  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p}$  by 5.2.8. Hence by Theorem 10.1.2, we obtain Theorem 10.1.3.

**10.1.4.** Recall that for  $\gamma \in H_{\theta}^{-}$ , we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{s=0}(\gamma) = \xi' \cdot \gamma \mod I_{\theta} \quad \text{in } H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$$

by Theorem 8.1.2 (2). By comparing this with Theorem 10.1.3, we obtain Theorem 7.2.3 (1).

### 10.2 Proofs related to the conditions $C(\xi)$ and $C(\mathfrak{h})$

**10.2.1.** We prove Theorems 7.2.6 and 7.2.8 assuming  $C(\xi)$ .

Assume  $C(\xi)$ . Then the ring  $\Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  is a finite product of fields, and  $\xi'$  is an invertible element of it. Hence the action of  $\xi'$  on any module over this ring is invertible.

Hence by Theorem 7.2.3 (1), we have (1) of Conjecture 7.1.2. The rest of Theorems 7.2.6 and 7.2.8 are deduced from it as is explained in section 7.1.

The following lemma is used in 10.2.3 below.

**Lemma 10.2.2.** If  $x \in \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  and if  $\xi' x = 0$ , then x is nilpotent.

*Proof.* The ring  $\Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  is a finite product of rings of the form  $R/m^n$  where R is a discrete valuation ring, m is the maximal ideal of R, and  $n \geq 1$ . The image of  $\xi'$  in  $R/m^n$  generates the ideal  $m^{n-1}/m^n$ . Hence if  $\xi' x = 0$ , the image of x in  $R/m^n$  is contained in  $m/m^n$ . Hence x is nilpotent.

**10.2.3.** We prove Theorem 7.2.8 assuming  $C(\mathfrak{h})$ . Assume  $C(\mathfrak{h})$ .

Let  $P = (H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-})/(\text{tor})$ . Then as in 7.2.10,  $P \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \cong \Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  as a module over  $\Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$ .

We first prove that the composition  $f: P \xrightarrow{\varpi} S_{\theta} \xrightarrow{\Upsilon} P$  (=  $\Upsilon \circ \varpi$  mod torsion) is an isomorphism. It is sufficient to prove that 1 - f is nilpotent. By Theorem 7.2.3,  $\xi' \cdot (1 - f) = 0$ . Hence 1 - f is nilpotent on  $P \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  by Lemma 10.2.2. This shows that 1 - f is nilpotent on P.

From this, by the arguments in 7.1.3, we see that  $P \to S_{\theta}$  and  $S_{\theta} \to P$  are isomorphisms. This proves Theorem 7.2.8 assuming  $C(\mathfrak{h})$ .

# 10.3 Proofs related to $(1 - T^*(p))\{0, \infty\}$ and $\{p, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}\}$

We prove Theorem 7.2.3(2).

**Lemma 10.3.1.**  $\varpi$  sends  $(1 - T^*(p)^{-1})\{0, \infty\}$  to  $(\{p, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}\})_r$ .

Proof. The element  $(1 - T^*(p)^{-1})\{0, \infty\}$  of  $H = \varprojlim_r H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X_1(Np^r))^{\text{ord}}$  coincides with the inverse system  $(T^*(p)^{-r} \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{a/p^r, \infty\})_{r \geq 1} = (T^*(p)^{-r} \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} [Na : 1]_r)_{r \geq 1}$ , and hence it is sent by  $\varpi$  to the inverse system  $\{\sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{1 - \zeta_{p^r}^a, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}\})_r = (\{p, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}\})_r$  of  $\mathcal{S} = \varprojlim_r H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np, \zeta_{Np^r}], \mathbb{Z}_p(2))^+$ .

**10.3.2.** In the following 10.3.3–10.3.11, we prove that  $\Upsilon$  sends  $(\{p, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}\})_r$  to  $(1 - T^*(p)^{-1})\{0, \infty\}$ .

Let  $\mathcal{E} = \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}/\text{Ker}(H_{\theta,E} \to \mathcal{Q})$  as in 9.6.1, so we have an exact sequence  $0 \to \mathcal{Q} \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{R} \to 0$ . Let  $\mathcal{F} = \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}/I_{\theta,E}H_{\theta,E}$ . We have an exact sequence  $0 \to H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta} \to \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{R} \to 0$ .

By using the isomorphism  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{R}(2)) \cong \mathcal{R}(1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathbb{Z}_p(1))$ , we have an element of  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{R}(2))$ , which we denote by p, defined as the product of the class of  $\{0, \infty\}$  in  $\mathcal{R}(1)$  and the Kummer class of p in  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathbb{Z}_p(1))$ .

**Lemma 10.3.3.** The connecting map  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{R}(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2))$  of the exact sequence  $0 \to \mathcal{Q}(2) \to \mathcal{E}(2) \to \mathcal{R}(2) \to 0$  sends the element p to  $(\{p, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}\})_r$ .

Proof. This is reduced to the fact (Theorem 9.6.3) that the connecting map  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{R}(1)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(1))$  of the exact sequence  $0 \to \mathcal{Q}(1) \to \mathcal{E}(1) \to \mathcal{R}(1) \to 0$  sends 1 to  $(1 - \zeta_{Np^r})_r$ .

**10.3.4.** Let  $x \in H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], (H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})(2))$  be the image of  $p \in H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{R}(2))$  under the connecting map of the exact sequence  $0 \to (H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})(2) \to \mathcal{F}(2) \to \mathcal{R}(2) \to 0$ . By Lemma 10.3.3,  $(\{p, 1-\zeta_{Np^r}\})_r \in H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{Q}(2))$  is the image of x under the canonical projection.

By Proposition 9.4.4,  $\Upsilon(\{p, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}\})_r)$  is described as follows. For a prime divisor  $\ell$  of Np, let  $x_\ell$  be the image of x in  $H^2(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, (H_\theta/I_\theta H_\theta)(2))$ . Let  $y_\ell \in H^2(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, \mathcal{P}_\theta(2))$  be the image of  $x_\ell$  under the unique splitting  $(H_\theta/I_\theta H_\theta)(2) \to \mathcal{P}(2)$  of the inclusion map  $\mathcal{P}(2) \to (H_\theta/I_\theta H_\theta)(2)$  which is compatible with the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell/\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$  (6.3.4). Let  $z_\ell \in H_\theta^-/I_\theta H_\theta^-$  be the image of  $y_\ell$  under the canonical isomorphism  $H^2(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, \mathcal{P}(2)) \cong \mathcal{P} = H_\theta^-/I_\theta H_\theta^-$ . Then  $\Upsilon((\{p, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}\})_r) = \sum_{\ell \mid Np} z_\ell$ .

**Lemma 10.3.5.** Let  $\ell$  be a prime divisor of Np. Let  $s_{\ell} : \mathcal{Q} \to H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}$  be the unique splitting of the projection  $H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta} \to \mathcal{Q}$  which is compatible with the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}/\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ . Let  $V_{\ell} := \mathcal{F}/s_{\ell}(\mathcal{Q})$ . (Note we have an exact sequence  $0 \to \mathcal{P} \to V_{\ell} \to \mathcal{R} \to 0$ .)

(1)  $V_p \cong H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}$  as a representation of  $Gal(\mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ .

(2) For a prime divisor  $\ell$  of N, as a representation of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}/\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ ,  $V_{\ell}$  is unramified.

*Proof.* (1) is clear.

We prove (2). Let  $I_{\ell}$  be the inertia subgroup of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}/\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ . Then the action on  $I_{\ell}$  on  $V_{\ell}$  defines a homomorphism  $h : I_{\ell} \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{P})$ , which sends  $\sigma \in I_{\ell}$  to the homomorphism  $x \mod \mathcal{P} \mapsto \sigma(x) - x \ (x \in V_{\ell})$ . Since the target is a pro-p group, h factors through a quotient of  $I_{\ell}$  which is canonically isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}_p(1)$ . The resulting homomorphism  $h : \mathbb{Z}_p(1) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{P})$  is compatible with the actions of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}/\mathbb{F}_{\ell})$  which acts trivially on  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{P})$ . Hence h factors through the quotient  $\mathbb{Z}_p(1)/(1 - \ell)\mathbb{Z}_p(1)$  of  $\mathbb{Z}_p(1)$ . But  $1 - \ell$  is a p-adic unit by our assumption  $p \not|\varphi(N)$ . Hence h = 0.  $\Box$ 

**10.3.6.** Note that  $y_{\ell}$  coincides with the image of  $p \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \mathcal{R}(2))$  under the connecting map of the exact sequence  $0 \to \mathcal{P}(2) \to V_{\ell}(2) \to \mathcal{R}(2) \to 0$ .

**Lemma 10.3.7.** Let the notation be as in 10.3.4. Then  $y_{\ell} = 0$  for  $\ell \neq p$ .

Proof. Since  $p \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \mathcal{R}(2))$  belongs to the image  $H^1(\mathbb{F}_{\ell}, \mathcal{R}(2)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \mathcal{R}(2))$ , and since  $V_{\ell}$  is unramified,  $y_{\ell}$  belongs to the image of the composition  $H^1(\mathbb{F}_{\ell}, \mathcal{R}(2)) \to$  $H^2(\mathbb{F}_{\ell}, \mathcal{P}(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \mathcal{P}(2))$ , where the first arrow is the connecting map of the exact sequence  $0 \to \mathcal{P}(2) \to V_{\ell}(2) \to \mathcal{R}(2) \to 0$ . But  $H^2(\mathbb{F}_{\ell}, -) = 0$ .

**10.3.8.** Let  $x' \in H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], (H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})(1))$  be the image of the class of  $\{0, \infty\}$  in  $H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{R}(1))$  under the connecting map of the exact sequence  $0 \to (H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})(1) \to \mathcal{F}(1) \to \mathcal{R}(1) \to 0$ . Then  $x = \{x', p\}$  where  $\{-, -\}$  denotes the cup product. Let  $x'_p$  be the image of x' in  $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, (H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})(1))$  and let  $y'_p \in H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/Np], \mathcal{P}(1))$  be the image of  $x'_p$  under the unique splitting  $(H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})(1) \to \mathcal{P}(1)$  of the inclusion map  $\mathcal{P}(1) \to (H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})(1)$
which is compatible with the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ . Then we have  $x_p = \{x'_p, p\}$  and hence  $y_p = \{y'_p, p\}$ .

Furthermore,  $y'_p$  coincides with the image of the class of  $\{0, \infty\}$  in  $H^0(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathcal{R}(1))$  under the connecting map of the exact sequence  $0 \to \mathcal{P}(1) \to V_p(1) \to \mathcal{R}(1) \to 0$ .

**Lemma 10.3.9.** Let  $\nu \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathbb{Z}_p) = \text{Hom}_{cont}(\text{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p), \mathbb{Z}_p)$  be the unique unramified element such that  $\nu(Fr_p) = 1$ . Then  $y'_p$  is the product  $\nu \cdot (1 - T^*(p))\{0, \infty\}$  of  $\nu$  and  $(1 - T^*(p))\{0, \infty\} \in H^0(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathcal{P}(1)),$ 

*Proof.* This follows from the fact that  $V_p$  is a quotient of  $H_{quo,\theta}(1)$  and hence  $Fr_p$  acts on  $V_p$  as  $T^*(p)$  by 1.8.1.

**Lemma 10.3.10.**  $z_p$  coincides with the class of  $(1 - T^*(p))\{0, \infty\}$ .

Proof. By 10.3.9,  $y_p = \{y'_p, p\} \in H^2(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathcal{P}(2))$  is the product  $\{\nu, p\} \cdot (1 - T^*(p))\{0, \infty\}$ of  $\{\nu, p\} \in H^2(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathbb{Z}_p(1))$  and  $(1 - T^*(p))\{0, \infty\} \in H^0(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathcal{P}(1))$ . The canonical isomorphism  $H^2(\mathbb{Q}_p, \mathbb{Z}_p(1)) \cong \mathbb{Z}_p$  sends  $\{\nu, p\}$  to 1. Hence we have the result.  $\Box$ 

**10.3.11.** Now we prove that  $\Upsilon$  sends  $(\{p, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}\})_r$  to the class of  $(1 - T^*(p))\{0, \infty\}$ . By 10.3.4, we have  $\Upsilon((\{p, 1 - \zeta_{Np^r}\})_r) = \sum_{\ell \mid Np} z_{\ell}$ . By Lemma 10.3.7,  $z_{\ell} = 0$  if  $\ell \neq p$ . By Lemma 10.3.10,  $z_p$  coincides with the class of  $(1 - T^*(p))\{0, \infty\}$ .

**10.3.12.** We prove Theorem 7.2.6 and Theorem 7.2.8 assuming  $C(T^*(p))$ .

Recall that the composition  $H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^- \to S_{\theta} \to H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-$  sends the class  $\beta$  of  $(1 - T^*(p))\{0,\infty\}$  to  $\beta$ . Hence under the condition  $C(T^*(p))$ , the composition  $H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^- \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \to S_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \to H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^- \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$  is the identity map. This proves Conjecture 7.1.2 (2). As is explained in section 7.1, this proves Theorems 7.2.6 and 7.2.8 assuming  $C(T^*(p))$ .

# 11 Some relation to Iwasawa theory of modular forms

We expect that interesting relations exist between conjectures of Sharifi and the Eisenstein component of the Iwasawa theory of modular forms. Such direction is studied in Sharifi [49] section 6. We continue his study here. See also a recent paper [52] of Sharifi for results in this direction.

In this section, we assume N = 1.

## 11.1 Results related Iwasawa theory of modular forms

**11.1.1.** To the knowledge of the authors, in all known examples, the following (a) and (b) are satisfied:

(a) As an  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}$ -module,  $H_{\theta}^{-}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^{-}$  is generated by  $(1 - T^{*}(p))\{0, \infty\}$ .

(b) rank  $_{O_{\theta}}(\Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)) \leq 1$ . In this subsection, we relate these conditions to some Iwasawa theoretic conditions.

The following Theorem 11.1.2 was proved by Sharifi  $\left[49\right]$  under a slightly stronger assumption.

**Theorem 11.1.2.** (Recall that we assume N = 1.) Let the condition (a) be as above. We also consider the following conditions:

- (a)'  $(\{p, 1 \zeta_{p^r}\})_r$  generates  $X_{p^{\infty},\chi}$  as a  $\Lambda_{\chi}$ -module. (a)"  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \tilde{H}_{DM}(2)_{\theta,E}) = 0.$
- (1) We have implications  $(a) \Rightarrow (a)'' \Rightarrow (a)'$ .

(2) Assume either the Eisenstein component  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$  or the Eisenstein component  $\mathfrak{H}_{\theta,E}$  of  $\mathfrak{H}_{\theta}$  is Gorenstein. Then all the conditions (a), (a)', (a)'' are equivalent.

The proof will be given in section 11.3.

11.1.3. Consider the Selmer groups of Greenberg type

$$\operatorname{Sel} := \operatorname{Ker} \left( H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p, \zeta_{p^{\infty}}], H^{\vee}) \longrightarrow H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^{\infty}}), H^{\vee}_{\operatorname{sub}}) \right).$$

Here  $()^{\vee} = \text{Hom}_{\text{cont}}(, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p), \mathbb{Z}[1/p, \zeta_{p^{\infty}}] = \bigcup_n \mathbb{Z}[1/p, \zeta_{p^n}] \text{ and } \mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^{\infty}}) = \bigcup_n \mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}).$ Consider the dual Selmer group

$$\mathfrak{X} := \mathrm{Hom}\,(\mathrm{Sel}, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)$$

which we regard as an  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ -module on which the group element [a]  $(a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})$  acts as the element  $\sigma_a \in \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^{\infty}})/\mathbb{Q})$ . By [22],  $\mathfrak{X}$  is a torsion  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ -module, that is,

$$\mathfrak{X} \otimes_{\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]} Q(\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]) = 0.$$

We have  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]] \cong \prod_{i \in \mathbb{Z}/(p-1)\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]_{(\omega^i)}$ , where [a] for  $a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \subset \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$  is sent to  $w^i(a)$  in the *i*-th component. For any  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ -module M, let  $M = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}/(p-1)\mathbb{Z}} M_{(\omega^i)}$  be the corresponding decomposition.

**11.1.4.** Let  $\mathbb{H} = H(1) \hat{\otimes}_{\mathbb{Z}_p[\{\pm 1\}]} \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ , where -1 in  $\{\pm 1\}$  acts on H(1) by the complex conjugation and acts on  $\mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  by [-1]. We have  $\mathbb{H}_{(\omega^i)} = H(1)^{\pm}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]_{(\omega^i)}$ , where  $\pm = (-1)^i$ .

We regard the *p*-adic *L*-function  $\mathcal{L}$  of Mazur and Kitagawa in two variables as an element of  $\mathbb{H}$ . Let

$$(\mathcal{L}) = \mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]\mathcal{L} \subset \mathbb{H}.$$

The quotient  $\mathbb{H}/(\mathcal{L})$  is a torsion  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ -module.

**Theorem 11.1.5.** (Recall that we assume N = 1.) Assume that (a) is satisfied. Then we have an isomorphism of  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]_{\theta,E,(\omega^{-1})}$ -modules

$$\mathfrak{X}_{\theta,E,(\omega^{-1})} \cong (\mathbb{H}/(\mathcal{L}))_{\theta,E,(\omega^{-1})}.$$

The proof will be given in section 11.3.

**Remark 11.1.6.** By Theorem 8.2.2 (2),  $(\mathbb{H}/(\mathcal{L}))_{\theta,E,(\omega^{-1})} = 0$  if and only if  $\xi'$  is invertible in  $\Lambda_{\theta}/(\xi)$ . This shows that if the conditions (a) and (b) are satisfied (as in all known examples), we have  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}(2)) = 0$  and  $\mathfrak{X}_{\theta,E,(\omega^{-1})} = 0$ .

#### 11.2 Relation with the main conjecture for modular forms

**11.2.1.** The Iwasawa main conjecture for modular forms is proved by Skinner-Urban [55] under some mild assumption. See Ochiai [37] for an earlier work on the study of the Iwasawa main conjecture for Hida family.

Since  $\mathfrak{h}$  is not necessarily a regular ring, it is not evident how to formulate the Iwasawa main conjecture for the Galois representation H over  $\mathfrak{h}$ . We introduce an Iwasawa main conjecture 11.2.9 for a component  $\mathfrak{h}_m$  of  $\mathfrak{h}$  which is Gorenstein, which is implied by the Iwasawa main conjecture in [13]. Theorem 11.1.5 is closely related to Conjecture 11.2.9 (see Corollary 11.3.10).

**11.2.2.** Let R be a local ring and let M be an R-module such that  $M \otimes_R Q(R) = 0$ , and assume that M has a finite resolution by free R-modules of finite rank. Then we have the class

$$[M] \in Q(R)^{\times}/R^{\times}$$

defined as follows. Take a resolution

$$0 \to L_n \to L_{n-1} \to \cdots \to L_0 \to M \to 0,$$

where  $L_i$  are free *R*-modules of finite rank. We have an exact sequence

$$0 \to L_n \otimes_R Q(R) \to L_{n-1} \otimes_R Q(R) \to \cdots \to L_0 \otimes_R Q(R) \to 0.$$

Let  $K_i$  be the kernel of  $L_i \otimes_R Q(R) \to L_{i-1} \otimes_R Q(R)$ , and take a splitting  $L_i \otimes_R Q(R) \cong K_i \oplus K_{i-1}$  of the exact sequence  $0 \to K_i \to L_i \otimes_R Q(R) \to K_i \to 0$ . These splittings give isomorphisms

$$\bigoplus_{i:\text{odd}} L_i \otimes_R Q(R) \cong \bigoplus_i K_i \cong \bigoplus_{i:\text{even}} L_i \otimes_R Q(R).$$

Take an *R*-basis  $(e_j)_j$  of  $\bigoplus_{i:\text{odd}} L_i$  and an *R*-basis  $(f_j)_j$  of  $\bigoplus_{i:\text{even}} L_i$ , and let  $A \in GL_n(Q(R))$   $(n = \sum_{i:\text{odd}} \operatorname{rank} L_i = \sum_{i:\text{even}} \operatorname{rank} L_i)$  be the matrix which expresses the images of  $e_j$  in  $\bigoplus_{i:\text{even}} L_i \otimes_R Q(R)$  by  $(f_j)$ . Then [M] is defined to be  $\det(A) \in Q(R)^{\times}/R^{\times}$ . This is independent of the choices of the resolutions and the splittings. If we have an exact sequence  $0 \to M' \to M \to M'' \to 0$  of such *R*-modules, then [M] = [M'][M'']. For example,  $[R/aR] = a \mod R^{\times}$  for a non-zero-divisor  $a \in R$ .

**11.2.3.** Define the Selmer complex ([35]) Sc to be the mapping cone of  $C(\mathbb{Z}[1/p, \zeta_{p^{\infty}}], H^{\vee}) \rightarrow C(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^{\infty}}), (H_{\text{sub}})^{\vee})$ , where  $C(\mathbb{Z}[1/p, \zeta_{p^{\infty}}], H^{\vee})$  (resp.  $C(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^{\infty}}), (H_{\text{sub}})^{\vee}))$  denotes the standard complex to compute the continuous cohomology of the profinite group  $\pi_1(\text{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/p, \zeta_{p^{\infty}}]))$  (resp.  $\text{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^{\infty}})))$  with coefficients in  $H^{\vee}$  (resp.  $(H_{\text{sub}})^{\vee})$ ). We have a long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^{i-1}(\mathrm{Sc}) \to H^{i}(\mathbb{Z}[1/p, \zeta_{p^{\infty}}], H^{\vee}) \to H^{i}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}(\zeta_{p^{\infty}}), (H_{\mathrm{sub}})^{\vee}) \to H^{i}(\mathrm{Sc}) \to \dots$$

By Poitou-Tate duality (9.4.1), we have a long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to \operatorname{Hom} \left( H^{2-i}(\operatorname{Sc}), \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p \right) \to \varprojlim_n H^i(\mathbb{Z}[1/p, \zeta_{p^n}], H(1)) \to \varprojlim_n H^i(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}), H_{\operatorname{quo}}(1))$$
$$\to \operatorname{Hom} \left( H^{1-i}(\operatorname{Sc}), \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p \right) \to \dots$$

**Lemma 11.2.4.** The canonical map  $\varprojlim_n H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p, \zeta_{p^n}], H(1)) \to \varprojlim_n H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}), H_{quo}(1))$  is injective.

*Proof.* This follows from 3.1.3 and 3.1.4.

**11.2.5.** Fix a prime ideal  $\mathfrak{p}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ .

Lemma 11.2.6. (1)  $H^i(Sc) = 0$  if  $i \neq 0, -1$ .

- (2) If Hom  $(H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/p, \zeta_{p^{\infty}}], H^{\vee}), \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)_{\mathfrak{p}} = 0$ , then  $H^{-1}(\mathrm{Sc})_{\mathfrak{p}} = 0$ .
- (3) If Hom  $(H^0(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^{\infty}}), (H_{\mathrm{sub}})^{\vee}), \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)_{\mathfrak{p}} = 0$ , then Hom  $(H^0(\mathrm{Sc}), \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)_{\mathfrak{p}} = \mathfrak{X}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ .
- *Proof.* (1) follows from the second long exact sequence in 11.2.3 and from Lemma 11.2.4. (2) and (3) follow from the first long exact sequence in 11.2.3.  $\Box$

**11.2.7.** It can be shown that the assumption of (2) and the assumption of (3) in Lemma 11.2.6 are satisfied if the prime ideal  $\mathfrak{p}$  is of height one.

**Lemma 11.2.8.** Assume that there is a maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}$  such that  $\mathfrak{h} \cap \mathfrak{p} \subset \mathfrak{m}$  and such that  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{m}}$  is Gorenstein, and assume that the assumptions of (2) and (3) in Lemma 11.2.6 are satisfied. Then the  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]_{\mathfrak{p}}$ -module  $\mathfrak{X}_{\mathfrak{p}}$  is of finite projective dimension.

*Proof.* By the Gorenstein property,  $H_{\mathfrak{m}}$  is free of rank 2 over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{m}}$ . From this ([13] Proposition 1.6.5), we have that RHom  $(\mathrm{Sc}, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)_{\mathfrak{p}}$  is a perfect complex (that is, it is represented by a bounded complex of finitely generated free modules) over  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]_{\mathfrak{p}}$ . By Lemma 11.2.6, RHom  $(\mathrm{Sc}, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)_{\mathfrak{p}} \cong \mathfrak{X}_{\mathfrak{p}}$  in the derived category.

**Conjecture 11.2.9.** Assume that the assumptions in Lemma 11.2.8 are satisfied. Then we have

$$[\mathfrak{X}_{\mathfrak{p}}] = [(\mathbb{H}/(\mathcal{L}))_{\mathfrak{p}}]$$

in  $Q(\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])^{\times}/(\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]_{\mathfrak{p}})^{\times}$ .

**Remark 11.2.10.** By the assumption of Gorenstein property,  $\mathbb{H}_{\mathfrak{p}}$  is free of rank 1 over  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]_{\mathfrak{p}}$ . If *h* denotes an isomorphism  $\mathbb{H}_{\mathfrak{p}} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]_{\mathfrak{p}}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]_{\mathfrak{p}}$ -modules, then  $[(\mathbb{H}/(\mathcal{L}))_{\mathfrak{p}}]$  is nothing but the class of  $h(\mathcal{L}) \in Q(\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]])^{\times}$  modulo  $(\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]_{\mathfrak{p}})^{\times}$ .

11.2.11. We expect that Conjecture 11.2.9 can be proved by using the theory of Skinner-Urban in [55]. For the Eisenstein component of this conjecture, one problem may be that in [55], the residue Galois representation is assumed to be irreducible, but this is not satisfied for the Eisenstein component.

**11.2.12.** We explain that the conjecture 11.2.9 is a consequence of the Iwasawa main conjecture in [13].

Assume that there is a maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}$  such that  $\mathfrak{h} \cap \mathfrak{p} \subset \mathfrak{m}$  and such that  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is Gorenstein. Let  $\gamma^{\pm}$  be a basis of the of the free  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{m}}$ -module  $H^{\pm}_{\mathfrak{m}}$  of rank 1, and let  $\gamma = \gamma^{+} + \gamma^{-}$ . Let  $\omega$  be a basis of the free  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{m}}$ -module  $S_{\Lambda,\mathfrak{m}}$  of rank 1. Then  $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)/\omega \in \mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{m}}[[\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{\times}]]$ is the *p*-adic L-function associated to the pair  $(H_{\mathrm{sub},\mathfrak{m}}, H_{\mathfrak{m}})$  of the representation  $H_{\mathrm{sub},\mathfrak{m}}$ 

of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  and the representation  $H_{\mathfrak{m}}$  of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$  over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{m}}$  (defined with respect to  $(\gamma^{\pm}, \omega)$ ). The Iwasawa main conjecture in section 4 of [13] is that

(1) 
$$[R\text{Hom}(\text{Sc}, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)_{\mathfrak{m}}] = [(S_{\Lambda}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]/(\mathcal{M}(\gamma)))_{\mathfrak{m}}] \text{ in } Q(\mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{m}})^{\times}/\mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\times}$$

Here  $[R\text{Hom}(\text{Sc}, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)_{\mathfrak{m}}]$  is the class of the perfect complex  $R\text{Hom}(\text{Sc}, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)_{\mathfrak{m}}$  whose cohomology groups are torsion modules over  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{m}}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ , and  $(\mathcal{M}(\gamma)) := \mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]\mathcal{M}(\gamma) \subset$  $S_{\Lambda}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$ . By 4.4.3 and 1.6.6 (3),  $((-, \gamma))_{\Lambda}$  induces an isomorphism  $\mathbb{H} \xrightarrow{\cong} S_{\Lambda}$  such that the induced isomorphism  $\mathbb{H}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}[[\xrightarrow{\cong} S_{\Lambda}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]]$  sends  $\mathcal{L}$  to  $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ .

If the assumptions of (2) and (3) in Lemma 11.2.6 are satisfied, then  $[R\text{Hom}(\text{Sc}, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)_{\mathfrak{p}}] = [\mathfrak{X}_{\mathfrak{p}}]$ . Hence the above conjecture (1) implies 11.2.9.

### 11.3 Proofs of Theorem 11.1.2 and Theorem 11.1.5

**11.3.1.** We prove (1) of Theorem 11.1.2.

If (a) is satisfied, then by Theorem 7.2.3 (2) and by Theorem 7.2.8 (1), (a)' is satisfied. The exact sequence  $0 \to \mathcal{Q}(2) \to \mathcal{E}(2) \to \mathcal{P}(2) \to 0$  induces an exact sequence

$$H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{R}(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{E}(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{R}(2)) \to 0.$$

We have  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{R}(2)) = 0$  by 6.3.7, and we have an isomorphism  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \cong \mathcal{S}_{\theta}$  (9.1.1 (2)). By 10.3.3, the connecting map  $\partial : \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta} \cong H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{R}(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \cong \mathcal{S}_{\theta}$  is the  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$ -homomorphism

$$\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta} \to \mathcal{S}_{\theta} ; \ 1 \mapsto (\{p, 1-\zeta_{p^r}\})_r$$

Hence  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{E}(2)) = 0$  if and only if the condition (a)' is satisfied. If the condition (a)" is satisfied, then  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{E}(2)) = 0$  and hence (a)' is satisfied.

Assume (a) is satisfied. Then by Nakayama's lemma, the Eisenstein component of  $H_{\theta}^-$  is generated by  $(1 - T^*(p))\{0, \infty\}$  as an  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$ -module. Hence  $\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta}/I_{\theta}\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta} \cong \mathcal{E}$ , and hence  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{E}(2)) \cong H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta}(2))/I_{\theta}H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta}(2))$ . Since (a) is satisfied, (a)' is also satisfied as we have seen above, and hence  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{E}(2)) = 0$ . By Nakayama's lemma, we have  $H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}(2)) = 0$ .

**11.3.2.** We prove (2) of Theorem 11.1.2. It is sufficient to prove (a)'  $\Rightarrow$  (a).

Assume first  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$  is Gorenstein. Then  $H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-$  is generated by one element as an  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}$ module (7.2.12). Since the composition  $X_{p^{\infty},\chi} \xrightarrow{\Upsilon} H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H^- \xrightarrow{\varpi} X_{p^{\infty},\chi}$  sends the generator  $(\{p, 1 - \zeta_{p^r}\})_r$  to itself by Theorem 7.2.3 (2), we have that  $H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^- = A \oplus B$  where  $A = \operatorname{Image}(\Upsilon)$  and  $B = \operatorname{Ker}(\varpi)$ . Since  $H_{\theta}^-/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}^-$  is generated by one element, we have B = 0 and hence  $\Upsilon$  is surjective. Hence by Theorem 7.2.3 (2), the condition (a) is satisfied.

Assume next  $\mathfrak{H}_{\theta,E}$  is Gorenstein. Then by Ohta [42], the map  $\Upsilon : X^-_{p^{\infty},\chi} \to H^-_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^-_{\theta}$  is an isomorphism. Hence by Theorem 7.2.3 (2), we see that the condition (a) is satisfied.

We give some preliminary lemmas for the proof of Theorem 11.1.5.

#### **Lemma 11.3.3.** Let $i \in \mathbb{Z}/(p-1)\mathbb{Z}$ .

(1) Hom  $(H^0(\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^{\infty}}), H^{\vee}_{sub}), \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)_{\theta, E, (\omega^i)}$  is zero if  $\theta \neq \omega^{-i}$ .

(2) Hom  $(H^0(\mathbb{Z}[1/p, \zeta_{p^{\infty}}]), H^{\vee}), \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)_{\theta, E, (\omega^i)}$  is zero if  $\theta \neq \omega^{-i}$  and if  $\Upsilon : X_{p^{\infty}, \chi} \longrightarrow H^-_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H^-_{\theta}$  is surjective.

*Proof.* (1) follows from 1.7.14 (4).

We prove (2). Let  $G = \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^{\infty}}))$ . Consider the exact sequence  $0 \to \mathcal{P} \to H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta} \to \mathcal{Q} \to 0$ . By Proposition 6.3.2, we have  $(\mathcal{Q}_G)_{(\omega^i)} = 0$  if  $\theta \neq \omega^{-i}$ . Here  $(-)_G$  denotes the *G*-coinvariant. By the surjectivity of  $\Upsilon$ , the image of  $\mathcal{P}$  in  $(H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})_G$  is zero. Hence  $((H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta})_G)_{(\omega^i)} = 0$  if  $\theta \neq \omega^{-i}$ . By Nakayama's lemma, this proves  $(H_G)_{(\omega^i)} = 0$  if  $\theta \neq \omega^{-i}$ .

**Lemma 11.3.4.**  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], H_{\theta}(2))$  has no  $\Lambda$ -torsion.

*Proof.* This follows from Proposition 3.3.6 by Assumption 4 (section 6.1).  $\Box$ 

Let  $\beta$  be the element  $(1 - T^*(p))\{0, \infty\}$  of  $H_{\theta}^-$ .

**Lemma 11.3.5.** In  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], H_{\theta}(2)) \otimes_{\Lambda_{\theta}} Q(\Lambda_{\theta}), z_{p^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\beta)$  belongs to  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], H_{\theta}(2)).$ 

Proof. Recall that

$$z_{p^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\beta) = (\sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^{r}\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} T^{*}(p)^{-r} \{g_{0,a/p^{r}}, g_{0,1/p^{r}}\})_{r}$$

For integers c, d such that (c, 6Np) = (d, 6Np) = 1, we have

$$\sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{ cg_{0,a/p^r}, dg_{0,1/p^r} \} = (c^2 - 1)(d^2 - \langle d \rangle) \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{ g_{0,a/p^r}, g_{0,1/p^r} \} = (c^2 - 1)(d^2 - \langle d \rangle) \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{ g_{0,a/p^r}, g_{0,1/p^r} \} = (c^2 - 1)(d^2 - \langle d \rangle) \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{ g_{0,a/p^r}, g_{0,1/p^r} \} = (c^2 - 1)(d^2 - \langle d \rangle) \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{ g_{0,a/p^r}, g_{0,1/p^r} \} = (c^2 - 1)(d^2 - \langle d \rangle) \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{ g_{0,a/p^r}, g_{0,1/p^r} \} = (c^2 - 1)(d^2 - \langle d \rangle) \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{ g_{0,a/p^r}, g_{0,1/p^r} \} = (c^2 - 1)(d^2 - \langle d \rangle) \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{ g_{0,a/p^r}, g_{0,1/p^r} \} = (c^2 - 1)(d^2 - \langle d \rangle) \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{ g_{0,a/p^r}, g_{0,1/p^r} \} = (c^2 - 1)(d^2 - \langle d \rangle) \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{ g_{0,a/p^r}, g_{0,1/p^r} \} = (c^2 - 1)(d^2 - \langle d \rangle) \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{ g_{0,a/p^r}, g_{0,1/p^r} \} = (c^2 - 1)(d^2 - \langle d \rangle) \sum_{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z})^{\times}} \{ g_{0,a/p^r}, g_{0,1/p^r} \} \}$$

Since p > 3,  $c^2 - 1$  is a *p*-adic unit for some *c*. Since  $\theta \neq \omega^2$  by Assumption 4 (section 6.1),  $d^2 - \theta(d)$  is a *p*-adic unit for some *d*. This proves Lemma 11.3.5.

**Lemma 11.3.6.** The image of  $z_{1,p^{\infty},p^{\infty}}(\{0,\infty\}) \in \varprojlim_n H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p,\zeta_{p^n}], H_{\theta}(2))$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], H_{\theta}(2))$  coincides with  $z_{p^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\beta)$ .

Proof. By Proposition 2.2.2, the image of  $z_{1,p^{\infty},p^{\infty}}(\beta)$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], H_{\theta}(2))$  coincides with  $(1 - T^*(p))z_{p^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\beta)$ . This shows that the image of  $z_{1,p^{\infty},p^{\infty}}(\{0,\infty\})$  and  $z_{p^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\beta)$  become the same after we apply  $1 - T^*(p)$ . By Lemma 11.3.4, they coincide already before we apply  $1 - T^*(p)$ .

Let  $F_n$  be the unique subextension of  $\mathbb{Q}$  in  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{p^n})$  of degree  $p^n$ , let  $F_{\infty} = \bigcup_n F_n$ , and let  $\Gamma = \operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/\mathbb{Q})$ . So  $\Gamma \cong \mathbb{Z}_p$ .

Lemma 11.3.7. Assume (a) in 11.1.1.

- (1) We have  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], H_{\theta,E}(2)) = H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}(2)).$
- (2) As an  $\mathfrak{h}$ -module,  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], H_{\theta, E}(2))$  is generated by  $z_{p^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\beta)$ .
- (3)  $z_{1,p^{\infty},p^{\infty}}(\{0,\infty\})$  generates  $\lim_{n \to \infty} H^1(O_{F_n[1/p]}, \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}(2))$  as an  $\mathfrak{h}[[\Gamma]]$ -module.

*Proof.* By the assumption (a), the  $\mathfrak{h}$ -module  $\tilde{H}^{-}_{DM,\theta,E}(2)$  is free of rank 1 and generated by  $\{0,\infty\}$ . Hence we have a spectral sequence

$$E_2^{ij} = \operatorname{Tor}_{-i}^{\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}}(H^j(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta}(2)), \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}/I_{\theta}) \Rightarrow H^{i+j}(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], (\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta}/I_{\theta}\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta})(2)).$$

We have

$$\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta}/I_{\theta}\tilde{H}_{DM,\theta}=\mathcal{E}.$$

In the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{E}(2)) \to H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{R}(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{Q}(2)),$$
  
the map  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{R}(2)) \to H^2(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{Q}(2))$  is bijective because it is

$$\Lambda_{\theta} / (\xi) \to X_{p^{\infty}}^{-} \ ; \ 1 \mapsto (\{p, 1 - \zeta_{p^{r}}\})_{r}.$$

Hence

$$H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{E}(2)).$$

Since the image of  $z_{p^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\beta) \in H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{Q}(2)) \cong S_{\theta}$  is  $(\{p, 1 - \zeta_{p^r}\})_r$ , this shows that the image of  $z_{p^{\infty}}^{\sharp}(\beta)$  generates  $H^1(\mathbb{Z}[1/p], \mathcal{E}(2))$ . By Nakayama's lemma, Lemma 11.3.7 is proved.

(3) follows from (1) and (2) by Nakayama's lemma and by Lemma 11.3.6.  $\Box$ 

Lemma 11.3.8. We have an isomorphism

$$Col : \lim_{n} H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p F_n, \tilde{H}_{DM}(2)) \xrightarrow{\cong} M_{\Lambda, DM}[[\Gamma]].$$

*Proof.* (1) By 4.2.7, it is sufficient to prove  $\tilde{H}_{quo,DM}^{Fr_p=1} = 0$ . We have  $\tilde{H}_{quo,DM} \subset H_{quo} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda)$  and  $(H_{quo} \otimes_{\Lambda} Q(\Lambda))^{Fr_p=1} = 0$  by 3.3.3.

**11.3.9.** We prove Theorem 11.1.5. Define a variant  $\mathfrak{X}'$  of  $\mathfrak{X}$  and a variant  $\mathrm{Sc}'$  of  $\mathrm{Sc}$  by using  $\tilde{H}_{DM}$  instead of H in the definitions. We obtain long exact sequences as in 11.2.3 for  $\mathrm{Sc}'$  replacing H in 11.2.3 by  $\tilde{H}_{DM}$ .

By Lemma 11.3.3 (1) and by the Sc'-version of the long exact sequences in 11.2.3, we have an exact sequence

$$\lim_{n} H^{1}(O_{F_{n}}[1/p], \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}(2)) \to \varprojlim_{n} H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}F_{n}, \tilde{H}_{quo,DM,\theta,E}(2)) \to \mathfrak{X}_{\theta,E,(\omega^{-1})}(1) \\
\to \varprojlim_{n} H^{2}(O_{F_{n}}[1/p], \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}(2)).$$

By Theorem 11.1.2 and by Nakayama's lemma, we have  $\varprojlim_n H^2(O_{F_n}[1/p], \tilde{H}_{DM,\theta,E}(2)) = 0$ . Hence by (3) of Lemma 11.3.7, this exact sequence shows that

$$\varprojlim H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p F_n, \tilde{H}_{\text{quo}, \text{DM}, \theta, \text{E}}(2))/(z) \cong \mathfrak{X}'_{,\theta, E, (\omega^{-1})}(1),$$

where (z) denotes the  $\mathfrak{h}[[\Gamma]]$ -submodule of  $\varprojlim_n H^1(\mathbb{Q}_pF_n, \tilde{H}_{quo,\theta,E}(2))$  generated by  $z_{1,p^{\infty},p^{\infty}}(\{0,\infty\})$ .

By simple comparison, we have  $\mathfrak{X}'_{(\omega^{-1})} \stackrel{``}{=} \mathfrak{X}_{(\omega^{-1})}$  (use  $H^i(O_{F_{\infty}}[1/p], \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p) = 0$  for i = 1, 2.) By (2) of Lemma 11.3.8,

$$\lim_{n} H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p F_n, \tilde{H}_{quo,\theta, \mathcal{E}}(2))/(z) \cong M_{\Lambda, \theta, E}[[\Gamma]]/(\mathcal{M}(\{0, \infty\})) \cong (\mathbb{H}/(\mathcal{L}))_{\theta, E, (\omega^{-1})}.$$

**Corollary 11.3.10.** Assume that the condition (a) in section 11.1 is satisfied. Then for any prime ideal  $\mathfrak{p}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]$  which is the inverse image of a prime ideal of  $\mathfrak{h}[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}]]_{\theta,E,(\omega^{-1})}$ , the assumptions of Lemma 11.2.8 are satisfied and Conjecture 11.2.9 is true.

*Proof.* The condition (a) tells that  $\mathfrak{H}_{\theta,E}$  and  $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta,E}$  are Gorenstein. Hence by 7.1.4,  $\Upsilon$ :  $X_{p^{\infty},\chi} \to H_{\theta}/I_{\theta}H_{\theta}$  is surjective. By this and by Lemma 11.3.3, the assumptions of Lemma 11.2.8 is satisfied. Hence Theorem 11.1.5 tells that Conjecture 11.2.9 is true in this case.

## References

- AMICE, Y. and VÉLU, J., Distributions p-adiques associées aux séries de Hecke, Astérisque 24–25 (1975), 119–131.
- [2] BEILINSON, A., Higher regulators and values of L-functions, Current problems in mathematics 24 (1984), 181–238.
- BRUMER, A., On the units of algebraic number fields, Mathematica 14 (1967), 121-124.
- BUSUIOC, C., The Steinberg symbol and special values of L-functions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 360 (2008), 5999–6015.
- [5] COLEMAN, R., Local units modulo circular units, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 89 (1983), 1–7.
- [6] DELIGNE, P. and RAPOPORT, M., Les schémas de modules des courbes elliptiques, Lect. Notes in Math. 349, Springer (1973), 143–316.
- [7] FERRERO, B. and WASHINGTON, L., The Iwasawa invariant  $\mu_p$  vanishes for abelian number fields, Ann. of Math. **109** (1979), 377–395.
- [8] FONTAINE, J-M., Le corps des périodes p-adiques, With an appendix by P. Colmez. Astérisque 223 (1994), 59–111.
- [9] FONTAINE, J-M., Représentations p-adiques semi-stables, With an appendix by Pierre Colmez, Astérisque **223** (1994), 113–184.
- [10] FONTAINE, J-M., Représentations l-adiques potentiellement semi-stables, Astérisque 223 (1994), 321–347.
- [11] FUKAYA, T., The theory of Coleman power series for  $K_2$ , Journal of Alg. Geometry **12** (2003), 1–80.
- [12] FUKAYA, T., Coleman power series for  $K_2$  and p-adic zeta functions of modular forms, Doc. Math. Extra Vol. Kazuya Kato's fiftieth birthday (2003), 387–442.

- [13] FUKAYA, T. and KATO, K., A formulation of conjectures on p-adic zeta functions in noncommutative Iwasawa theory, Tr. St.-Peterbg. Mat. Obshch. Proceedings of the St. Petersburg Mathematical Society. 12 (2006), 1–85 (Translated in Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, 219).
- [14] GONCHAROV, A. B., Euler complexes and geometry of modular varieties, Geom. Funct. Anal. 17 (2008), 1872–1914.
- [15] GREENBERG, R., Iwasawa theory past and present, Adv. Stud. Pure Math. 30, Math. Soc. Japan (2001), 335–385.
- [16] HARDER, G. and PINK, R., Modular construierte unverzweigte abelsche p-Erweiterungen von  $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_p)$  und die struktur ihrer Galoisgruppen, Math. Nachr. **159** (1992), 83–99.
- [17] HIDA, H., Iwasawa modules attached to congruences of cusp forms, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Sup. (4) 19 (1986), 231–273.
- [18] HIDA, H., Galois representations into GL<sub>2</sub>(Z<sub>p</sub>[[X]]) attached to ordinary cusp forms, Invent. Math. 85 (1986), 545–613.
- [19] HIDA, H., Elementary theory of L-functions and Eisenstein series, Cambridge Univ. Press (1993).
- [20] KATO, K., Logarithmic structures of Fontaine-Illusie, Algebraic analysis, geometry, and number theory, Johns Hopkins Univ. Press (1989), 191–224.
- [21] KATO. K., Lectures on the approach to Iwasawa theory for Hasse-Weil L-functions via B<sub>dR</sub>, I, Arithmetic algebraic geometry (Trento, 1991), Lecture Notes in Math., 1553, Springer (1993), 50–163.
- [22] KATO, K., p-adic Hodge theory and values of zeta functions of modular forms, Astérisque 295 (2004), 117–290.
- [23] KATZ, N. M. and MAZUR, B., Arithmetic moduli of elliptic curves, Annals of Mathematics Studies 108, Princeton University Press, Princeton (1985).
- [24] KITAGAWA, K., On standard p-adic L-functions of family of elliptic cusp forms, Contemp. Math. 165 (1994), 81–110.
- [25] KUBERT, D. and LANG, S., Units in the modular function fields, II, Math. Ann. 218 (1975), 175–189.
- [26] KURIHARA, M., Ideal class groups of cyclotomic fields and modular forms of level 1, J. Number Theory 45 (1993), 281–294.
- [27] MANIN, Y., Parabolic points and zeta-functions of modular curves, Math. USSR Izvestija 6 (1972), 19–64.

- [28] MANIN, Y., Periods of cusp forms, and p-adic Hecke series, Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 92(134) (1973), 378–401, 503.
- [29] MAZUR, B., Notes on étale cohomology of number fields, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. 6 (1973), 521–556.
- [30] MAZUR, B., Anomalous eigenforms and the two-variable p-adic L-function, unpublished note.
- [31] MAZUR, B., TATE, J., and TEITELBAUM, J. On p-adic analogues of the conjectures of Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer, Invent. Math. 84 (1986), 1–48.
- [32] MAZUR, B. and WILES, A., Class fields of abelian extensions of Q, Invent. Math. 76 (1984), 179–330.
- [33] MAZUR, B. and WILES, A., On p-adic analytic families of Galois representations, Comp. Math. 59 (1986), 231–264.
- [34] MCCALLUM, W. and SHARIFI, R., A cup product in the Galois cohomology of number fields, Duke Math. J. **120** (2003), 269–310.
- [35] NEKOVÁŘ, J., Selmer complexes, Astérisque **310** (2006).
- [36] NORTHCOTT, D.G., *Finite free resolutions*, Cambridge Univ. Press (1976).
- [37] OCHIAI, T., On the two-variable Iwasawa main conjecture, Compos. Math. 142 (2006), 1157–1200.
- [38] OHTA, M., On the p-adic Eichler-Shimura isomorphisms for Λ-adic cusp forms, J. reine angew. Math. 463 (1995), 49–98.
- [39] OHTA, M., Ordinary p-adic étale cohomology groups attached to towers of elliptic modular curves, Compos. Math. 115 (1999), 241–301.
- [40] OHTA, M., Ordinary p-adic étale cohomology groups attached to towers of elliptic modular curves. II, Math. Ann. 318 (2000), 557–583.
- [41] OHTA, M., Congruence modules related to Eisenstein series, Ann. Sci. École Norm Sup. (4) 36 (2003), 225–269.
- [42] OHTA, M., Companion forms and the structure of p-adic Hecke algebras II, J. Math. Soc. Japan 59 (2007), 913–951.
- [43] PANCHISHKIN, A. A., A new method of constructing p-adic L-functions associated with modular forms, Mosc. Math. J. 2 (2002), 313–328.
- [44] PERRIN-RIOU, B. Théorie d'Iwasawa des représentations p-adiques sur un corps local, With an appendix by Jean-Marc Fontaine, Invent. Math. 115 (1994), 81–161.

- [45] RIBES, L. and ZALESSKII, P., Profinite groups, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics 40, Springer-Verlag (2000).
- [46] RIBET, K., A modular construction of unramified p-extensions of  $\mathbb{Q}(\mu_p)$ , Invent. Math. **34** (1976), 151–162.
- [47] ROHRLICH, D., L-functions and division towers, Math. Ann. 281 (1988), 611–632.
- [48] SAITO, T., Modular forms and p-adic Hodge theory, Inventiones Math. 129 (1997) 607-620
- [49] SHARIFI, R., Iwasawa theory and the Eisenstein ideal, Duke Math. J. 137 (2007), 63–101.
- [50] SHARIFI, R., Cup products and L-values of cusp forms, Pure Appl. Math. Q. 5 (2009), 339–348.
- [51] SHARIFI, R., A reciprocity map and the two-variable p-adic L-function, Ann. of Math. 173 (2011), 251–300.
- [52] SHARIFI, R., *Reciprocity maps in the setting of restricted ramification*, preprint (2011).
- [53] SHIMURA, G., An ℓ-adic method in the theory of automorphic forms (Unpublished (1968)).
- [54] SHIMURA, G., The special values of zeta functions associated to cusp forms, Communications in Pure and Applied Math. 29 (1976), 783–804.
- [55] SKINNER, C. and URBAN E., The main conjecture for  $GL_2$ , preprint.
- [56] TILOUINE, J., Un sous-groupe p-divisible de la jacobienne de  $X_1(Np^r)$  comme module sur l'algèble de Hecke, Bull. Soc. Math. Fr. **115** (1987), 329–360.
- [57] TSUJI, T., p-adic étale cohomology and crystalline cohomology in the semi-stable reduction case, Invent. Math. 137 (1999), 233–411.
- [58] VISHIK, M. M., Non-archimedean measures connected with Dirichlet series, Math. USSR. Sbornik 28 (1976), 216–228.
- [59] WASHINGTON, L., Introduction to cyclotomic fields, Second edition, Graduate Texts in Mathematics 83, Springer-Verlag, New York (1997).
- [60] WILES, A., On ordinary λ-adic representations associated to modular forms, Invent. Math. 94 (1988), 529–573.

### List of notation

Numbers p a prime number  $\geq 5, 0.26$  $\zeta_n, 0.26$ N an integer  $\geq 1$  which is prime to p, 1.5.1, 6.1.1 Special field  $K = \bigcup_r \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{Np^r}), 6.1.2$ Important homomorphisms  $\Upsilon, 6.4.3$  $\varpi$ , Theorem 5.2.3 Iwasawa modules  $X_{Np^{\infty}}, 6.4.1$ S, 5.2.6Operators Hecke operator T(n), dual Hecke operator  $T^*(n)$ , 1.2.3, 1.2.4 diamond operators,  $\langle a \rangle$  1.2.9,  $\langle \sigma \rangle$  1.2.9 (2)  $w_M$  (Atkin-Lehner operator), 1.4.2, 1.4.4, 1.5.9  $\varphi$  (Frobenius operator), 1.7.5  $\mathcal{H}$  upper half plane, 1.1.5 Modular curves  $X(m, M), Y(m, M), X_1(M), Y_1(M), 1.1$  $X'_1(M), 1.4$  $\psi_{\ell}$  (a morphism), 1.2.3 Cohomology of modular curves  $H^m_{\acute{e}t}(C)$  for a scheme C over  $\mathbb{Q}$ , 1.2.8 H, H, 1.5.1 $\tilde{H}_{DM}, 6.2.1$  $H_c, 1.8$  $H_{\rm sub}, H_{\rm quo}, H_{\rm quo}, 1.7.2$  $(-)^{\rm ord}, 1.2.10$  $(-)_E$  (Eisenstein component), 1.9.2, 6.2.3  $\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{R}, 6.3.1$  $\{\alpha, \beta\} \ (\alpha, \beta \in P^1(\mathbb{Q})), 2.3.3$  $[u:v]_r, 2.4.1$ Spaces of modular forms  $S_2(M), M_2(M), 1.1.7, S_k(M), M_k(M), 1.5.6$  $S_{\Lambda}, M_{\Lambda}, 1.5.11$ Pairings  $(, ), (, )_{\Lambda}, ((, ))_{\Lambda},$  section 1.6 *p*-adic *L*-functions in two variables

 $\mathcal{M}, 4.3, \quad {}^{s}\mathcal{M}, 4.3 \ (\mathcal{M} = {}^{1}\mathcal{M}), \quad \mathcal{L}, 4.4$  $\mathcal{M}_{s=0}$  4.3.7,  $\mathcal{L}_{s=0}$ , 8.2.1 Characters  $\omega, 1.8.2,$  $\kappa$ , 1.2.9, (2)  $\chi, 6.1.4$  $\theta, 6.1.4$ Rings Hecke algebras  $\mathfrak{h}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}}, \mathfrak{H}(M)_{\mathbb{Z}}, 1.2.6$  $\mathfrak{h} = \lim \mathfrak{h}(Np^r)^{\mathrm{ord}}, 1.5.1$ The version of  $\mathfrak{h}$  for the Hecke algebra of modular forms is  $\mathfrak{H}$ , 1.5.1  $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}_p[[\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times}]] = \varprojlim_n \mathbb{Z}_p[(\mathbb{Z}/Np^n\mathbb{Z})^{\times}], 3.1.1$ Q(R), 1.5.3 $\Lambda_{\psi}, O_{\psi}$  for a character  $\psi$  of  $(\mathbb{Z}/Np\mathbb{Z})^{\times}, 6.1.3$ I Eisenstein ideal, 1.9.1 Elements in Galois groups Frobenius automorphism  $\operatorname{Fr}_p$ ,  $\operatorname{Fr}_\ell$ , 1.7.4, 1.2.9 (1)  $\sigma_a, 2.4.3$ Other important notation

 $\hat{\otimes}, 1.7.3$ 

D(T), 1.7.4

T. Fukaya, K. Kato:

Department of Mathematics,

University of Chicago, 5734 S. University Avenue, Chicago 60637 Illnois, USA takako@math.uchicago.edu, kkato@math.uchicago.edu